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This information memorandum (the “Information Memorandum”) amends and replaces the information memorandum dated 19 May 2015 in
relation to the S$300,000,000 multicurrency medium term note programme (the “Programme”) of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(the “Issuer”). Under the Programme, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, the Issuer may from time to
time issue notes in bearer or registered form (the “Notes”). The maximum aggregate principal amount of all Notes from time to time
outstanding under the Programme will not exceed S$300,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to any duly authorised
increase. Notes issued under the Programme are guaranteed by all of the Issuer’s Subsidiaries (as defined below) other than the Other
Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries (as defined herein) and those incorporated or established under the laws of the People’s Republic of China (the
“Guarantors”).

Notes will be issued in series (each, a “Series”), with all Notes in a Series having the same maturity date and terms otherwise identical
(except in relation to issue dates, interest commencement dates, issue prices and related matters). Notes of each Series may be issued
in one or more tranches (each, a “Tranche”) on different issue dates. Details applicable to each particular Series or Tranche will be supplied
in the applicable pricing supplement (each, a “Pricing Supplement”), which will contain the aggregate principal amount of the Notes, interest
(if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable
to each Tranche. This Information Memorandum may not be used to consummate sales of Notes, unless accompanied by a Pricing
Supplement.

Application has been made to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) for permission to deal in and the listing
and quotation of any Notes which are agreed at the time of issue thereof to be so listed on the SGX-ST. Such permission will be granted
when such Notes have been admitted to the Official List of the SGX-ST. There is no assurance that an application to the SGX-ST for the
listing of the Notes of any Series will be approved. The approval in-principle from, and admission to the Official List of, the SGX-ST and the
listing and quotation of any Notes on the SGX-ST are not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, the Guarantors, their
respective subsidiaries, respective associated companies (if any) or respective joint venture companies (if any), the Programme or the
Notes. The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed or reports contained
herein. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme.

Notes of each Series to be issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) will initially be represented by interests in a temporary global Note or by
a permanent global Note, in either case in bearer form (each, a “Temporary Global Note” and a “Permanent Global Note”, respectively),
without interest coupons. The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Temporary Global Notes and Permanent Global Notes
(each, a “Bearer Global Note”) for other Bearer Global Notes and individual definitive Bearer Notes (“Definitive Bearer Notes”) are described
in “Forms of the Notes”. Definitive Bearer Notes will only be available in the limited circumstances as described herein.

Notes of each Series to be issued in registered form (“Registered Notes”) will initially be represented by interests in a global certificate
without interest coupons (each, a “Global Certificate”). Notes in definitive registered form will be represented by Definitive Note Certificates
(each, a “Definitive Note Certificate”), one Definitive Note Certificate being issued in respect of each holder’s entire holding of Notes of one
Series and will only be available in the limited circumstances as described herein. Bearer Global Notes and Global Certificates may be
deposited on the relevant date of issue (the “Issue Date”) with, or registered in the name of, or a nominee of, (a) The Central Depository
(Pte) Limited (“CDP”), (b) a sub-custodian for the Central Moneymarkets Unit Services (the “CMU”) operated by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority (“HKMA”), or (c) a common depositary (the “Common Depositary”) on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and
Clearstream Banking S.A., (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”), or any other agreed clearing system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the
Principal Paying Agent (as defined herein), the Trustee (as defined herein) and the Relevant Dealer(s) (the “CDP Cleared Notes”, the “CMU
Cleared Notes” and the “Non-CDP/CMU Cleared Notes”, respectively).

Investing in the Notes involves risk. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 15 for a discussion of such risks.

This Information Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this
Information Memorandum and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase,
of the Notes to be issued from time to time by the Issuer pursuant to the Programme may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the Notes
be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore
other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the “SFA”), (ii) to
a relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified
in Section 275, of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.
See “Subscription and Sale” for further details.

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), or any state securities laws in the United States or any other jurisdiction, and the Notes may include Bearer Notes that
are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. The Notes may only be offered and sold outside the United States to persons who are not U.S.
persons in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, Bearer Notes may not be offered,
sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Internal Revenue Code”)). See “Subscription and Sale” for further details.

Sole Arranger and Dealer

&) ocBC Bank

This Information Memorandum is dated 9 May 2017.
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NOTICE TO INVESTORS

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantors accepts responsibility for the information contained in this
Information Memorandum. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer and the Guarantors (having
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this
Information Memorandum is in accordance with the material facts and does not omit any material
fact likely to affect the import of such information. Where information not relating to the Group
herein is extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources, the sole responsibility
of the Issuer and the Guarantors has been to ensure that such information has been accurately
and correctly extracted from these sources.

This Information Memorandum is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed
to be incorporated herein by reference. See “Documents Incorporated by Reference” below for
further information.

No action has been or will be taken to permit a public offering of any Notes in any jurisdiction
where action would be required for that purpose. No Notes may be offered or sold, directly or
indirectly, and this Information Memorandum may not be distributed in any jurisdiction, except in
accordance with the legal requirements applicable in such jurisdiction.

Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or the Notes constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the
Guarantors, Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited (“OCBC”) as the sole arranger of this
Programme (the “Arranger”), any of the Dealers, The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch,
as trustee (the “Trustee”) or the Agents (as defined herein) to subscribe for or purchase, any
Notes. Subject as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the only persons authorised to
use this Information Memorandum in connection with an offer of Notes are the persons named in
the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Relevant Dealer.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than
those contained in this Information Memorandum, and any information or representation not
contained in this Information Memorandum must not be relied upon as having been authorised by
the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Arranger, any of the Dealers, the Trustee, the Agents or any other
person. Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum nor any sale of any Notes in
connection therewith shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation or create any
implication that the information contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date
hereof or that there has been no change in the affairs of any party mentioned herein since that
date.

No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made by any of the Arranger,
the Dealers, the Trustee or the Agents, and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any thereof
to the accuracy, adequacy, reasonableness or completeness of the information contained in this
Information Memorandum or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the
Notes, their distribution or their future performance.

Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or the Notes should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the
Guarantors, the Arranger, any of the Dealers, the Trustee or the Agents that any recipient of this
Information Memorandum should purchase any of the Notes. Each investor contemplating
purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the business, financial
condition and affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantors, their respective subsidiaries, associated
companies (if any) and joint venture companies (if any), and its own appraisal of the
creditworthiness of the Issuer, the Guarantors, their respective subsidiaries, associated
companies (if any) and joint venture companies (if any).




DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Information Memorandum must be read and construed in conjunction with each relevant
Pricing Supplement and all other documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference
in the Information Memorandum and in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Information
Memorandum and the relevant Pricing Supplement must, save as specified herein and therein, be
read and construed on the basis that such documents are so incorporated by reference and form
part of the Information Memorandum and the relevant Pricing Supplement. This Information
Memorandum must also be read and construed in conjunction with the Issuer’s most recently
published audited consolidated financial statements, and any interim consolidated financial
statements (whether audited or unaudited) published subsequently to such consolidated financial
statements from time to time and any supplement to or amendment to this Information
Memorandum issued by the Issuer, which shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part
of this Information Memorandum and which is deemed to modify or supersede the contents of this
Information Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in any such document is
inconsistent with such contents (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Copies of
documents deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Information Memorandum may be
obtained without charge from the head office of the Issuer.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION MEMORANDUM

If at any time, the Issuer is required to prepare a supplemental Information Memorandum, the
Issuer will prepare and make available an appropriate amendment or supplement to this
Information Memorandum or a further Information Memorandum.

CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS AND CONVENTIONS

As used in this Information Memorandum, unless the context otherwise requires, the term “the
Group” refers to Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and its consolidated Subsidiaries and
the term “Century Sunshine” or “the Issuer” refers to Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited.

In this Information Memorandum, references to “Latest Practicable Date” are to 28 April 2017,
references to “S$”, “SGD” and “Singapore dollars” are to Singapore dollars, the legal currency of
the Republic of Singapore, references to “HK$”, “HKD” and “H.K. dollars” are to Hong Kong
dollars, the legal currency of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China, and references to “RMB” and “Renminbi” are to the legal currency of the
People’s Republic of China.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

The Issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for each of the years ended
31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 included in this Information Memorandum have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Issuer’s audited consolidated financial
statements as of and for each of the years ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 have been
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, which expressed an unqualified opinion on such
financial statements. Except as otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, financial
information in this Information Memorandum is presented on a consolidated basis.



Solely for your convenience, this Information Memorandum contains translations of certain Hong
Kong dollar amounts into Singapore dollars at the exchange rate of HKD100 = S$17.95, which
was the average of buying and selling interbank rates at noon in Singapore published by the
Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) as at the Latest Practicable Date. These translations
should not be construed as representations that the Hong Kong dollar amounts represent such
Singapore dollar amounts or could be, or could have been, converted into Singapore dollars at the
rates indicated or at all.

This Information Memorandum includes certain figures relating to EBITDA. EBITDA is calculated
based on profit before income tax plus finance cost, depreciation and amortisation, realised and
unrealised loss on investment held for trading and share options granted to directors and
employees and any significant non-cash items minus realised and unrealised gain on investment
held for trading. EBITDA is not a standard measure under HKFRS, but is a widely used financial
indicator of a company’s ability to service and incur debt. EBITDA should not be considered in
isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows, net income or any other measure of
performance or as an indicator of the Issuer’s operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash
flows generated by operating, investing or financing activities. In evaluating EBITDA, the Issuer
believes that investors should consider, among other things, the components of EBITDA such as
revenue and operating expenses and the amount by which EBITDA exceeds capital expenditures
and other charges. The Issuer has included EBITDA because it believes it is a useful supplement
to cash flow data as a measure of the Group’s performance and its ability to generate cash flow
from operations to cover debt service and taxes. EBITDA presented herein may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Investors should not
compare the Issuer’s EBITDA to EBITDA presented by other companies because not all
companies use the same definition. Nevertheless, EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool,
and investors should not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for analysis of the Group’s
financial condition or results of operations, as reported under HKFRS. Due to these limitations,
EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to the Group to
invest in the growth of its business. The Issuer compensates for these limitations by relying
primarily on its HKFRS results and using EBITDA measures only supplementally.

Market data and certain industry forecasts used throughout this Information Memorandum have
been obtained based on internal surveys, market research, publicly available information and
industry publications. Industry publications generally state that the information they contain has
been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but that the accuracy and completeness of that
information is not guaranteed. Similarly, internal surveys, industry forecasts and market research,
while believed to be reliable, have not been independently verified. The Issuer takes responsibility
for only accurate reproduction and extraction of such summaries and data, but accepts no other
responsibility for such industry information, and none of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Arranger,
the Relevant Dealer(s), the Trustee, the Agents and their respectively directors and advisors make
any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of such industry information. In addition,
third-party information providers may have obtained information from market participants, and
such information may not have been independently verified. Accordingly, such information should
not be unduly relied upon.

Rounding adjustments have been made in calculating some of the financial and other information
included in this Information Memorandum. As a result, numerical figures shown as totals in some
tables may not be exact arithmetic aggregations of the figures that precede them.




FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Information Memorandum includes, and any amendment or supplement may include,
forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical facts included in
this Information Memorandum and any amendment or supplement regarding, among other things,
the future financial position and results of operations, business, strategy, plans, developments
and prospects of the Issuer and/or the Group may constitute forward-looking statements and
accordingly, are only predictions. Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the

use of forward-looking terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”,

“anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”, “continue” or similar terminology. However, these words are not the
exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements.

Specifically, statements under the captions “Summary”, “Risk Factors” and “Business” relating to
the following matters may include forward-looking statements relating to:

o the strategic, business and financial plans and objectives of the Group, including budgeted
and future capital expenditures, acquisitions and investments;

o the ability of the Group to be and remain competitive in each of its main business segments;

o the financial position, business strategy and budget of the Group, including projected
financial and operating data; and

o existing and future regulatory requirements applicable to the Group and its businesses.

These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements should therefore be considered in light of various important factors,
including those set out in this Information Memorandum. Factors that could cause actual results

to differ include, but are not limited to, the following:

. economic, social and political conditions in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China and
other countries in which the Group operates;

o increases or other changes in regulatory burdens and obligations in Hong Kong, the People’s
Republic of China and other countries, including dividend obligations, and environmental
regulations and compliance costs;

o accidents, natural disasters, and other catastrophes;

. demographic changes;

. changes in the Group’s future capital needs and the availability of financing and capital to
fund those needs;

o inability to realise anticipated growth opportunities or to implement the Group’s strategies;

o changes in the terms and conditions of the agreements under which the Group operates its
businesses and the ability of third parties to perform in accordance with contractual terms
and specifications;

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates;

o changes in laws and regulations and their interpretation, applicable taxes and tax rates, and
accounting standards or practices;



. changes in the Group’s ability to manage the risks described above and in the section
captioned “Risk Factors”; and

. other factors beyond the control of the Issuer, the Guarantors and/or the Group.

This list of factors is not exhaustive. Although the Group believes that the expectations of its
management as reflected by such forward-looking statements are reasonable based on
information currently available to it, no assurances can be given that such expectations will prove
to be correct. Additional factors that could cause the actual results, performance or achievements
to differ materially include, but are not limited to, those discussed under “Risk Factors”. Should
one or more of these uncertainties or risks, among others, materialise, the actual results of the
Group may vary materially from those estimated, anticipated or projected. In any event, these
statements speak only as of their dates, and the Group undertakes no obligation to update or
revise any of them, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements.

Vi



OVERVIEW OF THE ISSUER

This overview highlights information contained elsewhere in this Information Memorandum. This
overview is derived from, qualified by, and must be read in conjunction with, the more detailed
information and the consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Information
Memorandum. This entire Information Memorandum should be read carefully, including the
consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and related notes and “Risk Factors”.

OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading vertically integrated producer of ecological fertilisers and magnesium
products in the PRC, which are its two main business segments. The Group also produces and
sells metallurgical flux products. The Group holds 51.88 per cent. of the share capital in Group
Sense, whose subsidiaries are principally engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of
electronic products, as well as the provision of electronic manufacturing services. The Issuer is
listed on the HKSE and had a market capitalisation of HKD1,310.4 million (approximately S$235.3
million) as at the Latest Practicable Date. The chart below shows the Group’s total revenues,
including a breakdown by business segment, for the periods indicated.
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In relation to the Group’s business segments:

. Fertilisers Business. The Group produces and sells compound fertilisers (chemically
manufactured from various materials and compounds) and organic fertilisers (produced from
organic waste materials). Since 2012, the Group has been actively developing, producing
and promoting its silicon magnesium compound fertilisers, which are its niche products. The
Group has obtained exploration and mining rights to a serpentine mine in the Jiangsu




province of the PRC. Serpentine is a source of the magnesium and silicon that the Group
uses in the production of its silicon magnesium compound fertiliser. The abundant, quality
serpentine reserves also provide a source of auxiliary material for iron and steel smelting.
The Group’s fertiliser plant, which is located approximately one kilometre from the serpentine
mine, has five production lines with an aggregate annual production capacity of 850,000
tonnes of organic and compound fertilisers as the Latest Practicable Date. The building of a
new fertiliser production line at Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province, with an annual capacity of
1.4 million tonnes also commenced in August 2016. In addition, the new production line’s
self-owned cargo-handling terminal, coupled with the adjacent water source, is expected to
reduce the cost of production and transportation significantly. The first phase of this new
fertiliser plant is scheduled to be completed in late 2017, whilst the second phase is
scheduled to be completed in 2019. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Group’s fertilisers
are sold and distributed across 29 provinces in the PRC.

o Magnesium Products Business. The magnesium products that the Group produces include
basic magnesium products, such as general magnesium alloys and magnesium ingots, and
rare earth magnesium alloys. The Group has obtained exploration and mining rights to a
dolomite mine in the Jilin province of the PRC, from which it obtains the dolomite that it uses
to produce raw magnesium for its magnesium products. The Group also has an integrated
magnesium smelting, ingot manufacturing, alloy processing and product warehousing and
distribution plant, located in close proximity to the dolomite mine, with an annual production
capacity of 25,000 tonnes as of 31 December 2016. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the
Group has one of the largest rare earth magnesium alloy production lines in the PRC in terms
of production capacity.

In August 2015, the Group (via Group Sense) acquired a magnesium product manufacturer
located in Xinjiang Province, with an approved scale of annual production capacity of
1.2 million tonnes of semi-coke, 100,000 tonnes of magnesium alloy and 100,000 tonnes of
ferroalloy, as approved by the PRC’s supervisory authorities. Two established production
lines consist of annual production capacity of 15,000 tonnes magnesium ingot and 600,000
tonnes semi-coke respectively.

o Metallurgical Flux Business. As a secondary business, the Group also produces and sells
metallurgical flux that can be used for smelting iron and steel. The metallurgical flux is
produced from the serpentine that the Group produces from its serpentine mine.

J Electronics Business. The Group owns 51.88 per cent. of the share capital of Group Sense.
Some of Group Sense’s subsidiaries are engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of
original design manufacturing products, electronic dictionary products and personal
communication products, as well as the provision of electronic manufacturing services.

In April 2017, the Issuer and Group Sense jointly announced that a memorandum of
understanding was entered into between the parties on 18 April 2017, in relation to the possible
reorganisation involving the acquisition of the Issuer’s direct interests in Fullocean Group Limited,
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer, and China Rare Earth Magnesium, a direct
non-wholly owned subsidiary of Fullocean Group Limited, by Group Sense (the “Possible
Transaction”).

See “Business — Recent Key Developments” for a discussion on the Possible Transaction.




Competitive Strengths

The Issuer believes its competitive strengths include the following:

strong brand recognition and awareness of the Group’s products;
strategic partnerships and investors;

environmentally friendly products which cater to an increased demand for eco-friendly
products;

control and ready supply of high quality raw materials;
competitive cost structure;

experienced and established management team;

emphasis on and investment in research and development; and

responsiveness to specific needs of consumers.

For further details, please see “Business’.

Strategies

The Issuer believes its key business strategies include the following:

expansion through increase in production capacity;
expansion through acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic alliances;
expansion of sales coverage and increased market penetration;

adoption of marketing strategy emphasising product differentiation and the optimisation of
products mix; and

increased emphasis on products with high profit margins.

For further details, please see “Business’.

Corporate Information

The lIssuer is an exempted company incorporated in Cayman lIslands with limited liability on
21 January 2003. The Issuer’s registered address is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Issuer’s head office is located at Unit 2605,
26th Floor, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Issuer was listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market Board (“GEM”) of HKSE on 17 February 2004, and its listing was
transferred to the Main Board of the HKSE on 1 August 2008.




OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from and is qualified in its
entirety by, the remainder of this Information Memorandum and, in relation to the terms and
conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Trust Deed
and the Agency Agreement. Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes” shall have the same meanings in this summary.

A summary of the terms and conditions of the Programme and the Notes appears below. The
applicable terms of any Notes will be agreed upon by and between the Issuer and the Relevant
Dealer(s) prior to the issue of the Notes and will be set forth in the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes endorsed on, or incorporated by reference into, the Notes, as modified and supplemented
by the applicable Pricing Supplement attached to, or endorsed on, such Notes, as more fully
described below.

Issuer........ ... ... . ... Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited.

Guarantors .. . ............... Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, the initial Guarantors are (1) Capital Idea
Investments Limited, (2) Fullocean Group Limited, (3) Bright
Stone Group Limited, (4) Gold Strategy Investments Limited,
(5) Fly Union Limited, (6) New Bright Group Limited,
(7) Century Sunshine Ecological Technology Limited, (8) Blue
Atlantic International Limited, (9) Ming Xin Developments
Limited, (10) Path Rich Holdings Limited, (11) Step Grace
Limited, (12) Madrone Investment Management Limited,
(13) Century Bravo International Limited, (14) Hong Kong
Mg-Tech Metals Company Limited, (15) Mg-Tech
(International) Investments Ltd, (16) China Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Holdings Limited, (17) Long Xiang
Enterprises Limited and (18) Acronagrotrans Ltd.

Notwithstanding the above, the Guarantees given by:
e Capital Idea Investments Limited;
e Fullocean Group Limited;

e China Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Holdings
Limited,;

e Century Bravo International Limited;
e Mg-Tech (International) Investments Ltd; and
e Hong Kong Mg-Tech Metals Company Limited,

shall be automatically and unconditionally released and
discharged if (x) the ordinary shares of Fullocean Group
Limited are transferred to Group Sense (International) Limited
or any of its Subsidiaries, (y) no Event of Default or Potential
Event of Default has occurred or will occur as a result of such
transfer, and (z) the Issuer has delivered to the Trustee an
Officers’ Certificate, stating that all conditions precedent




Sole Arranger. . .............

Dealer(s)

Trustee. . ..................

Principal Paying Agent,

CDP Transfer Agent and CDP
Registrar in relation to the CDP
Cleared Notes . .............

CMU Lodging and Paying

Agent, CMU Transfer Agent and
CMU Registrar in relation to the
CMU Cleared Notes. . ........

Non-CDP/CMU Paying Agent in
relation to the Non-CDP/CMU
Cleared Notes ..............

Non-CDP/CMU Transfer Agent
and Non-CDP/CMU Registrar in
relation to the Non-CDP/CMU
Cleared Notes . .............

Relevant Calculation Agent . . ..

Description. . ...............

stipulated in (x) and (y) relating to such release and discharge
have been complied with and that such release and discharge
is authorised and permitted hereunder; whereupon, each of
such companies shall become an Other Non-Guarantor
Subsidiary.

Certain of the Group’s Subsidiaries are not, but in certain
circumstances could become, Guarantors. See Terms and
Conditions—3. Status and Guarantees—(b) The “Guarantees”
for further information.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited.
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited and/or such
other Dealer or Dealers as may be appointed by the Issuer in

accordance with the Programme Agreement.

The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch

To be appointed in respect of each Series of Notes where
required.

The Principal Paying Agent, the CDP Transfer Agent, the CDP
Registrar, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CMU
Transfer Agent, the CMU Registrar, the Non-CDP/CMU
Paying Agent, the Non-CDP/CMU Transfer Agent, the Non-
CDP/CMU Registrar and the relevant Calculation Agent, or
any of them, and shall include any other agent or agents as
may be appointed from time to time under the Agency
Agreement.

Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme.




Programme Size.............

Currencies ..

Use of Proceeds ............

Method of Issue . .. ..........

Issue Price. .

Maturity . ...

Specified Denomination. ... ...

Interest Basis

Up to an aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at
any one time of $$300,000,000 (or its equivalent in other
currencies) (the “Programme Limit”). The Issuer may increase
the amount of the Programme Limit in accordance with the
terms of the Programme Agreement.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, Notes may be issued in Singapore dollars, U.S.
dollars, Euros, Renminbi or any other currency agreed
between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s).

The Issuer intends to use the net proceeds for the issue of
each Tranche of Notes (after deducting issue expenses) for
general corporate purposes, including refinancing existing
borrowings, financing investments and/or acquisitions,
general working capital and capital expenditure requirements
of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, in each case with respect to
businesses relating to (1) magnesium and its ancillary
business (including power generation and semi-coke),
(2) fertiliser, (3) mining of dolomite and serpentine, and
(4) investment holding in connection with (1), (2) and (3), or
such other purposes as may be specified in the relevant
Pricing Supplement.

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated
basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each, a “Series”)
having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise
identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment
of interest and their Issue Price), the Notes of each Series
being intended to be fungible with all other Notes of that
Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each, a
“Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates. The specific
terms of each Tranche (which will be completed, where
necessary, with the relevant terms and conditions and, save
in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of
interest and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical
to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be
specified in the Pricing Supplement.

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount
or premium to their nominal amount.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, Notes shall have maturities of such tenor as may
be agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s).

Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified in
the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Notes may bear interest at fixed, floating, variable or hybrid
rates or such other rates as may be agreed between the
Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s) or may not bear interest.




Fixed Rate Notes . . .......... Fixed Rate Notes will bear a fixed rate of interest which will be
payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified
in the relevant Pricing Supplement and at maturity.

Floating Rate Notes. . ........ Floating Rate Notes which are denominated in Singapore
dollars will bear interest to be determined separately for each
Series by reference to S$ SIBOR or S$ Swap Offer Rate (or
in any other case such other benchmark as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s) prior to their
issue).

Floating Rate Notes which are denominated in other
currencies will bear interest determined separately for each
Series as set out in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes
and the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Variable Rate Notes.......... Variable Rate Notes will bear interest at a variable rate
determined in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes. Interest periods in relation to the Variable Rate
Notes will be agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant
Dealer(s) prior to their issue.

Hybrid Notes ............... Hybrid Notes will bear interest during the fixed rate period, to
be agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s), at
a fixed rate of interest which will be payable in arrear on
specified dates and, during the floating rate period to be
agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s), at the
rate of interest to be determined by reference to S$ SIBOR or
S$ Swap Offer Rate (or such other benchmark as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s)), as
adjusted for any applicable margin (provided that if the Hybrid
Notes are denominated in a currency other than Singapore
dollars, such Hybrid Notes will bear interest to be determined
separately by reference to such benchmark as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s)), in each case
payable at the end of each interest period to be agreed
between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s) and as set out
in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Zero Coupon Notes . ......... Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or
at a discount to it and will not bear interest.

Mandatory Redemption ... .... Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled,
each Note will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount on the
maturity date.

Optional Redemption and

Purchase .................. The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of
Notes will state whether such Notes may be redeemed or
purchased prior to their stated maturity at the option of the
Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the holders of the
Notes, and if so the terms applicable to such redemption.




Redemption upon a Change of
Control ....................

Redemption upon Cessation or
Suspension of Trading of the
Issuer’s Shares .............

Upon a Change of Control, the Issuer shall, at the option of
the holder of any Note, redeem such Note at 101.0% of the
Redemption Amount or (in the case of Zero Coupon Notes)
101.0% of the Early Redemption Amount, together with
interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for
redemption on the date falling 45 days after a Change of
Control (the “Change of Control Redemption Date”).

The Issuer shall within seven days after a Change of Control,
give notice (the “Change of Control Notice”) to the Trustee,
the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders of the
occurrence of the Change of Control and the Change of
Control Redemption Date (provided that any failure by the
Issuer to give such notice shall not prejudice any Noteholder
of such option). To exercise such option, the holder must
deposit such Note (together with all unmatured Coupons and
unexchanged Talons, if any) with the Principal Paying Agent
at its specified office, together with an Exercise Notice in the
form obtainable from the Principal Paying Agent or the Issuer
(as applicable) not later than 21 days after the Change of
Control Notice is given. Any Note so deposited may not be
withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement)
without the prior consent of the Issuer.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of one or more of
the following events: (i) the merger, take over, amalgamation,
or consolidation of the Issuer with, by or into another Person
who is not one of the Permitted Holders or the merger or
amalgamation of another Person who is not one of the
Permitted Holders with or into the Issuer, or the sale of all or
substantially all the assets of the Issuer to another Person
who is not one of the Permitted Holders; (ii) the Permitted
Holders are the beneficial owners of less than 30% of the total
voting power of the Voting Shares of the Issuer; (iii) any
person is or becomes the beneficial owner directly or
indirectly, of the total voting power of the Voting Shares of the
Issuer greater than such total voting power held beneficially
by the Permitted Holders; or (iv) the adoption of a resolution
relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer.

If on any date, (i) the ordinary shares of the Issuer cease to
be traded on the HKSE or (ii) trading in the ordinary shares of
the Issuer on the HKSE is suspended for a continuous period
of more than 10 market days (or, in the case of any
suspension of trading (x) pending the release of any
announcement in respect of any matter not involving the
matters described in Condition 10(g) of the Notes
(Bankruptcy, Insolvency etc.) which the Issuer is required to
disclose under the Listing Rules of the HKSE, or (y) for
purposes of compliance by the Issuer under The Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued by the




Redemption for Taxation

Reasons

Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong or under
any insider trading laws and regulations in Hong Kong, more
than 40 market days), the Issuer shall, at the option of the
holder of any Note, redeem such Note at its Early Redemption
Amount, together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the
date fixed for redemption on any date on which interest is due
to be paid on such Notes or, if earlier, the date falling 45 days
after (in the case of (i)) the date of cessation of trading or (in
the case of (ii)) the business day immediately following the
expiry of such continuous period of 10 market days or 40
market days, as the case may be.

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in
whole, but not in part, at any time (in the case of Notes other
than Floating Rate Notes) or on any Interest Payment Date (in
the case of Floating Rate Notes), on giving not less than 30
nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders and the
Principal Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 15 of the
Notes (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable) at its Early
Redemption Amount, together with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the date fixed for redemption, if, immediately
before giving such notice, the Issuer satisfies the Trustee that
(i) it has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts as
provided or referred to in Condition 8 of the Notes (Taxation)
or a Guarantor would be unable for reasons outside its control
to procure that the Issuer is able to make payment and in
making payment itself would be required to pay Additional
Amounts, in each case as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Taxing
Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8 of the Notes
(Taxation)), or any change in the application or official
interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or
amendment becomes effective (A) with respect to the Issuer
or any initial Guarantor, on or after 19 May 2015, or (B) with
respect to any future Guarantor, on or after the date such
future Guarantor becomes a Guarantor, and (ii) such
obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or, as the case
may be, the Guarantor) taking reasonable measures available
to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given
earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the
Issuer or such Guarantor would be obliged to pay such
Additional Amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were
then due, and provided further that where any such
requirements to pay such Additional Amounts are in
consequence of the laws and treaties of the PRC or any
political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein, the
Issuer will be permitted to redeem the Notes in accordance
with the provisions above only if the rate of withholding or
deduction in respect of which such Additional Amounts are
required is in excess of the Additional Amounts that the Issuer
would be required to pay if payments in respect of the Notes
were subject to deduction or withholding for PRC taxes at a
rate of 10.0%.




Status of the Notes ..

Status of the Guarantees. .. ...

Additional Guarantors

The Notes and Coupons constitute direct, general,
unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 4 of
the Notes (Covenants)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer
which will at all times rank pari passu among themselves and
at least pari passu in right of payment with all other present
and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer, save for such
obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are
both mandatory and of general application.

Each Guarantor has, in the Trust Deed, unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual payment of all
sums from time to time payable by the Issuer in respect of the
Notes and the Coupons. Each such guarantee (the
“Guarantee”) constitutes direct, general, unconditional,
unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 4 of the Notes
(Covenants)) unsecured obligations of such Guarantor which
will at all times rank at least pari passu with all other present
and future unsecured obligations of such Guarantor, save for
such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that
are both mandatory and of general application.

The Issuer will procure each of its future Subsidiaries (other
than Subsidiaries incorporated or established under the laws
of the PRC or any future subsidiary of Group Sense
(International) Limited), as soon as practicable and in any
event within 10 Business Days of becoming a Subsidiary, to
execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental trust deed
pursuant to which such Subsidiary will, jointly and severally
with the existing Guarantors, Guarantee the payment of all
sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust
Deed and the Notes. Each Subsidiary that guarantees the
Notes after the date of the Trust Deed, upon executing the
applicable supplemental trust deed, will be a “Guarantor”.

Notwithstanding the above, to the extent that:

(x) Group Sense (International) Limited or any of its
Subsidiaries conducts any of the Permitted Businesses
(other than the design and manufacture of electronic and
personal communications devices and products, or the
magnesium and its ancillary business (including power
generation, semi-coke and mining of dolomite) or
investment holding in connection with such business
through Fullocean Group Limited and/or its Subsidiaries)
as a result of a transfer by, or an acquisition from, the
Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Group Sense
(International) Limited or any of its Subsidiaries) of any
of such Permitted Businesses; or

(y) any of the existing or future PRC-incorporated
Subsidiaries of the Issuer (including, for the avoidance
of doubt, any PRC Non-Guarantor Subsidiary of Group
Sense (International) Limited after the occurrence of the
event specified in paragraph (x)) is or becomes
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Negative Pledge

permitted by applicable law to provide a Guarantee
without having to register such Guarantee with any
governmental authority in the PRC or without such
Guarantee being subject to any other limitation or
restriction,

the Issuer will procure that Group Sense (International)
Limited and all of its Subsidiaries that are not incorporated in
the PRC or such PRC-incorporated Subsidiary as referred to
in paragraph (y) (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any
PRC Non-Guarantor Subsidiary of Group Sense
(International) Limited after the occurrence of the event
specified in paragraph (x)), as soon as practicable, and in any
event no later than 10 Business Days of such transfer or
acquisition (in the case of paragraph (x)) or of becoming so
permitted (in the case of paragraph (y)), to execute and
deliver to the Trustee a supplemental trust deed pursuant to
which such Subsidiary will, jointly and severally with the
existing Guarantors, Guarantee the payment of all sums
expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed
and the Notes.

In addition, notwithstanding the above, to the extent that
Group Sense (International) Limited or any of Group Sense
(International) Limited’s Subsidiaries that are not
incorporated in the PRC guarantees any Indebtedness of the
Issuer or any of the Issuer’'s Subsidiaries (other than Group
Sense (International) Limited or any of Group Sense
(International) Limited’s Subsidiaries), the Issuer will procure
that Group Sense (International) Limited or such Subsidiary
that is providing such guarantee, as the case may be, as soon
as practicable and in any event no later than 10 Business
Days of providing such guarantee, to execute and deliver to
the Trustee a supplemental trust deed pursuant to which
Group Sense (International) Limited or such Subsidiary will,
jointly and severally with the existing Guarantors, Guarantee
the payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the
Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Notes.

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the
Trust Deed) the Issuer will not, and will procure that each of
the Principal Subsidiaries will not, create or permit to subsist
any Security Interest (other than a Permitted Security
Interest) upon the whole or any part of its present or future
undertaking, assets or revenues (including uncalled capital)
without at the same time or prior thereto (A) securing the
Notes equally and rateably with (or, if the obligation to be
secured by the Security Interest is subordinated in right of
payment to the Notes or any Guarantee, prior to) the
obligations so secured or (B) providing such other security for
the Notes as may be approved by an Extraordinary
Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of Noteholders.
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Financial Covenants. . ........ So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the
Trust Deed), unless otherwise specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement, the Issuer will ensure that (i) the
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth shall not at any time be less
than HKD1.8 billion (or its equivalent in foreign currencies),
(i) the ratio of Consolidated Gross Borrowings to
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth shall not at any time be
more than 2.0:1, and (iii) the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to
Consolidated Interest Expense shall not at any time be less
than 3.0:1.

Limitation on Incurrence of

Indebtedness .. ............. The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, Incur
any Indebtedness; provided that the Issuer or any Subsidiary
may Incur Indebtedness if, after giving pro forma effect to the
Incurrence of such Indebtedness and the receipt and the
application of the proceeds therefrom, (x) no Default has
occurred and is continuing and (y) the ratio of Consolidated
Gross Borrowings to Consolidated Tangible Net Worth would
not be more than 1.5:1.

Events of Default . . .......... Certain events will permit acceleration of the principal of the
Notes (together with all interest and any additional amounts
accrued and unpaid thereon). These events are set out in
Condition 10 of the Notes (Events of Default) and include
default with respect to the payment of principal of, premium,
if any, or interest on, the Notes.

Listing. . ... ... o o Application has been made to the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) for permission to
deal in and quotation of any Notes that may be issued
pursuant to the Programme and which are agreed at or prior
to the time of issue thereof to be so listed on the SGX-ST.
There is no assurance that an application to the SGX-ST for
the listing of the Notes of any Series will be approved. For so
long as any Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of
the SGX-ST so require, such Notes will be traded on the
SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of S$200,000 (or its
equivalent in any other currency).

The Notes may also be listed on such other or further stock
exchange(s) as may be agreed between the Issuer and the
Relevant Dealer(s) in relation to each Series. Unlisted Notes
may also be issued under the Programme. The relevant
Pricing Supplement will state whether or not the Notes of a
Series will be listed on any exchange(s) and, if so, on which
exchange(s) the Notes are to be listed.

Formof Notes . ............. The Notes may be issued in bearer or registered form, as
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Each Series of Bearer Notes will initially be represented by a
Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note which, in
each case, will be deposited on the Issue Date with CDP,
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CMU, or the Common Depositary on behalf of Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other agreed clearing
system. Interests in a Temporary Global Note will be
exchangeable, from the 40th day following the Issue Date, for
either interests in a Permanent Global Note or Definitive
Bearer Notes (as indicated in the applicable Pricing
Supplement) and, in the case of Notes to which the D Rules
(as defined below) apply, upon certification of non-U.S.
beneficial ownership as required by United States Treasury
regulations (“U.S. Treasury Regulations”). Interests in a
Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, unless
otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement,
only in the limited circumstances described therein, in whole
but not in part for Definitive Bearer Notes, upon written notice
to the Trustee. Any interest in a Temporary Global Note or a
Permanent Global Note will be transferable only in
accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being
of CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or
any other agreed clearing system, as appropriate.

Each Series of Registered Notes will, unless otherwise
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be
represented by a Global Certificate, which will be deposited
on or about its Issue Date with CDP, a sub-custodian of the
CMU, the Common Depositary and/or any other agreed
clearing system, and registered in the name of, or of a
nominee of, CDP, CMU, the Common Depositary and/or any
other agreed clearing system. Global Certificates will be
exchangeable for Definitive Note Certificates only in the
limited circumstances more fully described herein.

Bearer Notes will not be exchangeable for Registered Notes,
and Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer
Notes.

For so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the
rules of the SGX-ST so require, in the event that the
Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note is
exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes or, as the case may be,
the Global Certificate is exchanged for Definitive Note
Certificates, the Issuer will appoint and maintain a paying
agent in Singapore, where the Notes may be presented or
surrendered for payment or redemption. In addition, for so
long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of
the SGX-ST so require, in the event that the Temporary
Global Note or Permanent Global Note is exchanged for
Definitive Bearer Notes or, as the case may be, the Global
Certificate is exchanged for Definitive Note Certificates, an
announcement of such exchange shall be made by the Issuer
through the SGX-ST and such announcement will include all
material information with respect to the delivery of the
Definitive Bearer Notes or, as the case may be, the Definitive
Note Certificates, including details of the paying agent in
Singapore.
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Clearing Systems.. . ..........

Selling Restrictions ..........

Governing Law

The Notes will, if traded on the SGX-ST, have a minimum
board lot size of S$200,000 (or its equivalent in other
currencies) for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST.

Notes which are to be listed on the SGX-ST may be cleared
through CDP. Notes which are to be cleared through CDP are
required to be kept with CDP as authorised depository.

Notes may also be cleared in CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg and/or such other clearing system as may be
agreed between the Issuer, the Trustee and the Relevant
Dealer(s). Notes which are to be cleared through CMU,
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other
clearing system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the
Trustee and the Relevant Dealer(s) are required to be kept
with a sub-custodian of the CMU, the Common Depositary on
behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any
other agreed clearing system, as the case may be.

The offer and sale of Notes and the delivery of the Information
Memorandum is restricted in certain jurisdictions. See
“Subscription and Sale” and any additional selling and
transfer restrictions set out in the relevant Pricing
Supplement.

Bearer Notes will be issued in compliance with rules in
substantially the same form as United States Treasury
Regulations Section 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) for purposes of
Section 4701 of the Internal Revenue Code (the “D Rules”)
unless (i) the relevant Pricing Supplement states that Bearer
Notes are issued in compliance with rules in substantially the
same form as United States Treasury Regulations Section
1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) for purposes of Section 4701 of the
Internal Revenue Code (the “C Rules”) or (ii) Bearer Notes
are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C
Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not
constitute “registration required obligations” for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, which circumstances will be referred to
in the relevant Pricing Supplement as a transaction to which
the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982
(“TEFRA”) is not applicable.

The Programme and any Notes issued under the Programme
will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the
laws of Singapore.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Notes involves risks. Prospective investors should carefully consider all of
the information in this Information Memorandum and, in particular, the risks described below
before deciding to invest in the Notes. The following describes some of the significant risks that
could affect the Group and the value of the Notes. The risk factors set out below do not purport
fo be complete or comprehensive of all the investment considerations and risk factors that may be
involved in the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or any
decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes. Additional investment considerations and risk
factors which the Group is currently unaware of may also impair the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations or prospects. Additionally, some risks may be unknown to the
Group and other risks, currently believed to be immaterial, could turn out to be material. All of
these could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. In such cases, the Group’s ability to comply with its obligations under
the Trust Deed and the Notes may be adversely affected. Prospective investors should also
consider the information provided below in connection with the forward-looking statements in this
Information Memorandum and the warning regarding forward-looking statements at the beginning
of this Information Memorandum.

Limitations of this Information Memorandum

This Information Memorandum does not purport to nor does it contain all information that
a prospective investor in or existing holder of the Notes may require in investigating the
Issuer, the Guarantors or the Group, prior to making an investment or divestment decision
in relation to the Notes issued under the Programme

Neither this Information Memorandum nor any document or information (or any part thereof)
delivered or supplied under or in relation to the Programme or the Notes (or any part thereof) is
intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as
a recommendation by the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Arranger or any of the Dealers that any
recipient of this Information Memorandum or any such other document or information (or such part
thereof) should subscribe for or purchase or sell any of the Notes.

This Information Memorandum is not, and does not purport to be, investment advice. A
prospective investor should make an investment in the Notes only after it has determined that
such investment is suitable for its investment objectives. Determining whether an investment in
the Securities is suitable is a prospective investor’s responsibility, even if the investor has
received information to assist it in making such a determination. Each person receiving this
Information Memorandum acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Issuer, the
Guarantors, their respective subsidiaries, respective associated companies (if any) or respective
joint venture companies (if any), the Arranger or any of the Dealers or any person affiliated with
each of them in connection with its investigation of the accuracy or completeness of the
information contained herein or of any additional information considered by it to be necessary in
connection with its investment or divestment decision. Any recipient of this Information
Memorandum contemplating subscribing for or purchasing or selling any of the Notes should
determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Information Memorandum
and any such other document or information (or any part thereof) and its investment or divestment
should be, and shall be deemed to be, based solely on its own independent investigation of the
financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Issuer, the
Guarantors and the Group, the terms and conditions of the Notes and any other factors relevant
to its decision, including the merits and risks involved. A prospective investor should consult with
its legal, tax and financial advisers prior to deciding to make an investment in the Notes.
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Risks Relating to the Group’s Business

The industries in which the Group operates are highly competitive with intense price
competition

The industries in which the Group’s business segments operate are highly competitive. Pricing is
often the primary factor in determining the sales of the Group’s magnesium and fertiliser products.
Some of the Group’s competitors have larger operations, have greater resources, and/or have
greater brand recognition and greater geographical reach and/or lower capital costs. This allows
them to withstand industry downturns better, compete on the basis of price, and relocate, build,
and/or acquire additional assets, all of which may affect the Group’s revenue and profitability. The
Group expects to face increased competition, particularly in respect of its NPK compound
fertilisers and basic magnesium products (such as magnesium ingots and basic magnesium
alloys), and it cannot give any assurance that it will be able to continue competing successfully
with existing competitors and/or new entrants into the market.

If other competitors begin to enter specialty markets such as rare earth magnesium alloys, organic
fertilisers or silicon magnesium compound fertilisers, which the Group currently specialises in,
levels of competition in such markets may increase. While the Group believes it is able to maintain
its competitive edge in terms of product quality and branding, the Group may nevertheless need
to deploy alternative strategies in response to competitive pressures and to maintain market
share, for instance by adjusting its product mix and/or pricing strategies. Competition may also
limit the Group’s ability to increase prices in response to commodity and other input cost
increases, as its sales volumes could be adversely affected if it seeks to pass on cost increases
to customers.

As a result, the business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the Group
could be materially and adversely affected.

The Group may also need to increase spending on advertising and promotional activities to
protect existing market share or increase market share. The success of such increased spending
is subject to risks, including uncertainties about new customer acceptance. As a result, the Group
may not be able to maintain or enhance market share even with increased expenditure, which
could result in lower profitability. Also, if the Group is not able to maintain or improve the Group’s
brand image or value proposition, it could have a material effect on its market share, its business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group may not be able to maintain its competitiveness or to compete with new entrants
to the industries in which it operates as barriers to entry can be low for segments of these
industries

The Group’s basic magnesium products and some of the Group’s fertiliser products (mainly NPK
compound fertilisers) belong to segments of the magnesium and fertiliser industries respectively
for which barriers to entry are low. This is because, unlike the Group’s rare earth magnesium
products and other fertiliser products, such as its organic and silicon magnesium compound
fertiliser products, the technical barriers to entry are comparatively low in that there is less usage
of and need to invest in patented technology, and these are not comparatively niche products.

In the event the Group is unable to retain its customers or maintain its competitiveness vis-a-vis
its competitors or new entrants into the relevant segments of the magnesium and agricultural
industries, the Group may not be able to secure a sufficient number of contracts, and its business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected.
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The Group may not be able to manage future expansion of its business and/or the
anticipated benefits of acquisitions, which could put significant strain on its managerial,
operational and financial resources

From time to time, the Group may evaluate potential acquisitions or joint ventures that would
further its strategic objectives.

In relation to acquisitions, the Group may not be able to identify suitable candidates, consummate
a transaction on terms that are favourable to it, or achieve expected returns and other benefits.
Companies or operations acquired or joint ventures created by the Group may not be profitable
or may not achieve sales levels and profitability that justify the investments made.

Although the Group believes that its expansion plans and activities (as described in “The Group
— Business Strategy” and “The Group — Company Background”) may accelerate its achievement
of strategic goals, the realisation of anticipated benefits from such plans and activities depends
upon the subsequent performance of the acquired businesses and their successful integration into
the Group. While the Group conducts business, legal and financial due diligence in order to
identify and evaluate any material risks involved in its expansion activities/transactions, it may not
necessarily ascertain or accurately evaluate all such risks. It may thus not realise the intended
advantages of any given activity/transaction.

Among the financial and operational risks the Group may face include the diversion of
management attention from existing core businesses, difficulties in integrating or separating
personnel and financial and other systems, and negative effects on existing business
relationships with suppliers and customers. Future acquisitions could also result in potentially
dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, goodwill and/or
amortisation expenses related to certain intangible assets, and increased operating expenses, all
of which could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Please also see below on “Risks Relating to the Possible Transaction”.

The Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations prospects may be
adversely affected if Shandong Hongri continues to be unprofitable

On 1 April 2017, the Group completed the acquisition of 50.5 per cent. equity interest of Shandong
Hongri. See “The Group-Company Background” for further information relating to the Group’s
acquisition of such Shandong Hongri shares. There are various risks relating to the Group’s
acquisition of Shandong Hongri, such as:

Shandong Hongri has recorded losses in recent years.

Prior to the acquisition, Shandong Hongri recorded consolidated losses of HKD202.8 million in
2013, HKD34.3 million in 2014 and HKD133.5 million in 2015. In addition, it recorded unaudited
consolidated loss of HKD249.7 million in 2016. Losses in 2013 and 2014 were primarily
attributable to (a) assets impairment of obsolete assets invested by Shandong Hongri and its
subsidiaries prior to 2013, and (b) to the then existing corporate guarantees granted by Shandong
Hongri and its subsidiaries in favour of banks relating to loans advanced by such banks to
unrelated borrowers, which were non-operational and non-recurring in nature.

The production facilities of Shandong Hongri in Linyi City, Shandong Province was ordered by the
local government to suspend production in March 2015 due to the non-compliance of the
environmental standard for pollutant discharge during production. Production gradually resumed
from April 2015 to November 2015. In addition, in 2016, Shandong Hongri decided to temporarily
reduce production to approximately 20 per cent. of its plant capacity due to the lack of liquidity to
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maintain its operations following the 2015 suspension of production. Since then, Shandong Hongri
resumed its production capacity from approximately 40 per cent. in August 2016 to approximately
60 per cent. by September 2016 and approximately 90 per cent. by the date of completion of the
acquisition. These factors contributed to the losses in 2015 and 2016.

The Group has formulated a revised business plan and strategies for improving productivity and
business development of the Shandong Hongri business, and to integrate its operations with the
Group’s fertilisers business. However, there can be no assurance that the Group will be successful
in integrating the business of Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries.

The Group may not realise the expected benefits of its acquisition of Shandong Hongri.

The successful integration of Shandong Hongri’s business will require, among other things, the
following:

. integration of the Group’s and Shandong Hongri’s production, sales and marketing,
information and software systems and other operations;

. retention and integration of Shandong Hongri’'s management and other employees;

. development and maintenance of uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies within
the Group;

. coordination of ongoing and future research and development efforts and marketing
activities;

. retention of existing customers of the Group and of Shandong Hongri and attraction of
additional customers;

. retention of strategic partners and attraction of new strategic partners;
. minimise disruption of the Group’s ongoing business and distraction of its management; and
o downsize of expenses related to integration.

If the anticipated benefits of the acquisition are not realised or the combined Group is
unsuccessful in integrating Shandong Hongri’s business, the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries are subject to risks of default by third parties in relation to
bank loans granted to such third parties borrowers under existing corporate guarantees provided
by Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries.

Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries have provided corporate guarantees with respect to bank
borrowings by certain non-related third party corporate borrowers in the PRC. As of 30 June 2016,
the aggregate guaranteed amount was RMB220 million. These guarantees will expire during the
period from 19 July 2017 to 19 December 2017. Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries do not
intend to renew such guarantees upon expiry subject to bank consent.

The consolidation of the financial statements of Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries with the
Group’s future financial statements may result in the Group’s future financial statements not being
directly comparable with the Group’s historical financial statements.

The Group consolidates the financial statements of Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries from

1 April 2017 onwards. Therefore, the financial statements of the Group for 2014, 2015 and 2016
do not reflect the financial statements of Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries. In addition, the
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financial statements of the Group as of and for the six months ending 30 June 2017 and as of and
for the year ending 31 December 2017 will only reflect the financial statements of Shandong
Hongri and its subsidiaries for only three months and nine months, respectively.

The Issuer has included in this Information Memorandum the historical audited consolidated
financial information for Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries, which have been audited by
independent auditors HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. Such audited consolidated financial
statements of Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries were prepared in accordance with the HKFRS
(the “Shandong Hongri HKFRS Financial Statements”) for the purposes of the shareholders’
circular dated 27 September 2016 in relation to the acquisition of the 50.5 per cent. equity interest
in Shandong Hongri.

In addition, the Issuer has included in this Information Memorandum the unaudited consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and unaudited consolidated
statement of financial position of Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries as of and for the year
ended 31 December 2016, which have been prepared on a basis consistent with HKFRS but which
do not contain notes. Such financial statements are management accounts and have not been
audited nor reviewed by the Issuer’s auditor. Therefore, investors should not place undue reliance
on such financial statements. Shandong Hongri has not prepared, and has no intention of
continuing to prepare, audited consolidated financial statements of Shandong Hongri and its
subsidiaries in accordance with HKFRS for any period after 30 June 2016. Shandong Hongri is a
company incorporated in the PRC and prepares its financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC.

The Group faces various risks associated with technology changes — the Group may face
product substitution, may be unable to keep pace with technological developments or may
not successfully develop new products

Generally, the introduction of new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards may
render the Group’s existing technical processes and products obsolete and less marketable. The
life cycles of the Group’s processes and products may also be difficult to estimate. The Group’s
future success will depend on its ability to enhance its existing technical processes and products,
and to develop and introduce new technical processes and products which are able to keep pace
with technological developments and emerging industry standards and requirements and address
the increasingly sophisticated needs of end users.

For instance, in respect of the Group’s fertilisers business, new types of fertilisers or other
substituted products are constantly being developed as researchers seek ways to make plants
and crops stronger and more resistant to diseases and adverse weather conditions. The Group
cannot assure that it will always be able to respond rapidly enough to technological
advancements.

Further, the success of the Group’s research and development activities may be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to restrictions to its production or testing environments,
under-development of relevant technology and lack of understanding of relevant markets. Thus,
the Group cannot assure that it will be able to continuously and successfully develop new and/or
improved products or that when it launches new products, these will be commercially successful
and/or be able to meet the requirements of end users adequately. The failure of new products
and/or the failure to utilise the results of the Group’s research and development activities may
have an adverse impact on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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Cessation of favourable government policies relating to the magnesium industry will have
an adverse impact on the Group’s magnesium products business

In order to encourage the development of the magnesium production industry, the Ministry of
Finance and the Ministry of Land and Resources agreed to provide to the Group’s subsidiary,
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources, a RMB131.2 million grant to improve its production
technology and enhance its production capacity. Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources will
receive amounts under the grant on a reimbursable basis, based on the funds it has disbursed.
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources has, as at 31 December 2016, received
approximately HKD68.3 million in aggregate from the local government under the grant.

The Group cannot guarantee that it will continue to receive the remaining or any additional grants
or other financial assistance in the future.

The PRC government’s removal of incentives to the agricultural industry may adversely
affect the Group’s fertilisers business

The PRC government currently provides a number of incentives to farmers in the PRC, such as,
the exemption from value added tax. At the Latest Practicable Date, it is reported the PRC
government has provided approximately RMB1.0 billion in incentives to 100 selected counties (i.e.
approximately RMB10.0 million to each selected county), for the purpose of promoting the use of
organic fertilisers. This allows the Group’s end-customers, such as farmers, to have higher
disposable income, which can be spent on purchasing fertilisers for their crops. If such incentives
are reduced or removed, this could adversely affect the Group’s end-customers resulting in a
decline in demand for the Group’s fertiliser products and consequently, adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Demand for and supply of the Group’s products are subject to fluctuations which may
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects

The Group’s sales volumes and revenues attained across its business segments are attributable
to the sales of its products, which include organic and compound fertilisers and basic and rare
earth magnesium products. In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to
fluctuations in both supply and demand, which could have significant effects on the Group’s
products, and in turn, its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Market demand for the Group’s products depends largely on key factors such as general
economic conditions, (for the Group’s fertilisers business) agricultural requirements for fertiliser,
(for the Group’s magnesium products business) industry requirements for different magnesium
products, governmental policies for the agricultural and magnesium industries and weather
conditions in the PRC. On the other hand, market supply for the Group’s products depends on the
number of and entry into by producers, their production capacities, utilisation rates, profit margins
and governmental policies for the fertiliser and magnesium industries in the PRC. Thus, any
significant adverse fluctuation in the market demand for and supply of the Group’s products may
result in a decline in the prices of its products, and hence its business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group'’s intellectual property rights in the PRC may be infringed
The Group owns, has registered or is registering various, intellectual property rights. See
“TheGroup — Intellectual Property” for details of the Group’s intellectual property rights. However,

the Group cannot assure that the existing legal protection in the PRC will effectively prevent
unauthorised use of its trademarks or the misappropriation by third parties of the Group’s patents.
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Policing unauthorised use of the trademarks and proprietary technology of the Group may be
difficult, costly and ineffective, and there can be no assurance that any steps taken by the Group
will effectively prevent any such misappropriation or infringement from occurring.

Any failure to obtain or adequately protect the Group’s intellectual property rights, or any change
in law or other changes that serve to lessen or remove the current legal protections of the Group’s
intellectual property, could diminish the Group’s competitiveness and materially harm the Group’s
business.

Specifically, the Group’s products may also be subject to counterfeiting or imitation. The Group is
unable to guarantee that counterfeiting and misuse of the Group’s trademarks or name will not
occur in the future and, if it does occur, whether the Group will be able to detect and deal with it
effectively. Any occurrence of counterfeiting, imitation or misuse of the Group’s trademarks or
name could have a negative impact on the Group’s reputation and brand name, and lead to a loss
in consumer confidence in the Group’s brands. In addition, counterfeit and imitation products
could result in a reduction in the Group’s market share and result in an increase in its
administrative costs in respect of detection and prosecution.

Further, in respect of its magnesium products business, there remain applications for new patents
which are pending. If the Group fails in its application for securing any new patents, the Group may
not be able to prevent the unauthorised use of the Group’s technologies and methods, which could
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group may face intellectual property claims that may be costly to resolve or which limit
its ability to use intellectual property in the future

The Group has its own trademarks and proprietary technology and continues to develop new
products and technologies in the course of its business. Whilst the Group uses best efforts to
register its patents and trademarks with the corresponding authorities, the Group cannot ensure
that third parties will not assert infringement claims against it in the future or that these claims will
not be successful.

The Group could incur substantial costs and time and management resources may be diverted to
defend any such infringement claims. The Group may have to pay substantial damages and costs
should it be unsuccessful in its defense in any of these claims, and may further have to cease
production of the infringing product or usage of any infringing technology, or be required to enter
into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use any proprietary technology.
If the latter is required, the Group cannot assure that it will be able to enter into such agreements
on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

In the event that the Group has to defend infringement claims and is unable to resolve it
successfully, this could have adverse effects on the Group’s business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects.

The Group’s mining licenses may be subject to termination, renewal and other
uncertainties

The Group’s significant licenses are the licenses covering their serpentine and dolomite mines,
which gives it the right to mine serpentine and dolomite respectively. The Group’s mining license
for its dolomite mine is for a validity period of nearly 13 more years and its current license will
expire in November 2030. The Group’s mining license for its serpentine mine is for a validity
period of 8 years and its current license will expire on October 2020. The licenses for these mines
are presently renewable on the basis that there remain reserves by the time of their expiry.
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The PRC government can suspend or revoke the Group’s licenses if it fails to satisfy the
conditions or obligations under such licenses, including payment of royalties and taxes to the PRC
government or relevant governmental authorities and the satisfaction of certain mining,
environmental and health and safety requirements. There can be no assurance that the Group will
be able to achieve compliance with all applicable regulations at all times.

Should the Group’s mining license(s) be terminated by the PRC government, this will materially
and adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group may face various risks due to its reliance on raw materials suppliers

The Group relies on a number of major suppliers for significant raw materials such as ferrosilicon
and potash. If these major suppliers cease to supply the Group with its resources, the Group may
be unable to source for alternative suppliers in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable
terms, which could result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s business operations. Further,
if the Group’s major suppliers unilaterally increase their prices and the Group is unable to source
for cheaper alternative suppliers in a timely manner or pass on such cost increases to its
customers this could adversely affect the Group’s profit margins and profitability, and thus its
financial performance. Raw materials which the Group require in its production processes, such
as ferrosilicon and potash, are vulnerable to price fluctuations on a more regular basis.

The Group may face disruption to its business due to its reliance on its distributors for the
sales and distribution of the Group’s products

For the past three financial years ended 31 December, approximately 70.0 per cent. of the Group’s
sales have been conducted through distributors (with the remaining 30.0 per cent. being direct
sales). For instance, at the Latest Practicable Date, in respect of its fertilisers business, the Group
has a distribution network across 29 provinces in the PRC. After the acquisition of Shandong
Hongri, the Group’s distribution network has been expanded to cover most of the provinces in the
PRC except Tibet. Any substantial decrease in the businesses of the Group’s existing distributors
or disruption of the Group’s business relationships with these distributors could have a material
adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s business may be adversely affected by natural disasters, the occurrence of
epidemics and other acts of God

Natural disasters, epidemics and other acts of God which are beyond the Group’s control may
adversely affect the economy, infrastructure and livelihood of the people in the PRC. Several cities
in the PRC may, from time to time, be affected by flood, earthquake, rainstorm or drought.
Although the Group has not previously suffered any material damage or significant liabilities
arising from floods, earthquakes or other calamities, there can be no assurance that this will
continue to be the case. The occurrence of such natural calamities in the regions where the
Group’s operations are located could adversely affect its businesses in such regions. Any
significant disruption in the supply of public utilities or the occurrence of fire, flood or other
calamities could also result in an interruption to, delay in, or require the Group to cease its
operations. It is possible that this could result in additional expenditure which may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s fertilisers business may be adversely affected by outbreaks of crop diseases

The occurrence and effect of crop disease and pestilence can be unpredictable and devastating
to crops, potentially destroying all or a substantial portion of the affected harvest. Outbreaks of
crop diseases may restrict the Group’s ability to conduct its operations in that they can affect
demand for the Group’s fertilisers. Particularly, as a number of the Group’s fertilisers are meant
to be used for the cultivation of particular crop, such as tea, the outbreak of crop diseases
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affecting the particular crop for which the Group’s fertilisers are produced would be adversely
affected. This will in turn have a significant adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group is subject to a number of operating risks

The Group is subject to various risks inherent in the industries in which it operates, such as
accidents, power failures, outbreaks of natural diseases or natural calamities such as fires and
adverse weather conditions, which can result in severe consequences, including loss of human
life or serious injury, significant damage to the Group’s or its clients’ assets and equipment,
environmental pollution, personal injury litigation, political consequences, damage to the Group’s
reputation and third party claims.

In particular, adverse weather conditions such as droughts or floods could affect crop harvests
that could cause reduction in crop sales and income to farmers, which in turn could adversely
affect the prices and the level of demand for fertiliser products in the following planting season.
In such event, the Group’s performance in its fertilisers business segment could be adversely
affected.

The Group is also subject to equipment failure risks, which may require long periods to repair and
result in loss of revenue. The Group may be forced to cease part of its operations if any of its key
assets break down until it can replace and/or repair such key assets. A major system failure could
result in substantial loss of life and/or serious injury, damage to or loss of equipment and
protracted legal disputes and damage to the Group’s reputation.

In addition, while the Group’s dolomite and serpentine mines are open pit mines and mining
activities in such mines are considered relatively safer compared to underground mines, the
Group’s mining activities nevertheless remain susceptible to risks typically associated with such
activities, such as fire or explosion. Accidents occurring in the course of the Group’s production
activities may also result in casualties among the Group’s employees and further cause harm to
persons within the vicinity of the Group’s production facilities. The Group may not be adequately
insured for losses resulting from such disruptions. In the event that the Group is unable to resume
its mining or production activities on a timely basis or obtain timely replacement of damaged
equipment or inventory, this will have a significant adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s operations may be affected by work stoppage and other labour relations
matters

While the Group believes that it has good working relationships with its employees and has not
experienced any work stoppages, strikes or other labour problems that have resulted in materially
adverse effects to its operations as at the Latest Practicable Date, it cannot assure that such
events will not arise in the future. If the Group’s employees were to engage in such events, the
Group could face significant disruptions to its operations and/or higher labour costs, which it may
not be able to pass on to its customers and which may have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group is subject to environmental and operational safety laws

The Group’s businesses and the operations of its production facilities and mines are subject to
and are materially affected by regulation contained in state and local environmental and
operational safety laws and regulations in force in the PRC, including but not limited to laws and
regulations relating to the prescribed standards for the discharge of waste water, solid wastes,
effluent and gases. These laws and regulations empower the state and local governments to
impose penalties on companies which do not comply with these laws and regulations.

23



It may be the case that the Group may commence operations in respect of its projects and
production facilities without all licences, permits, reports, authorisations or other approvals
(collectively, the “Approvals”) in place, and some of the Group’s operations therefore may be
conducted without every Approval having been obtained. While the Group undertakes efforts to
obtain all Approvals relevant to the operation of its businesses, the Group has not obtained every
Approval it is required to obtain. There can be no assurance that the requirements to obtain such
Approvals may not be made more stringent in the future or that the current licences or permits held
by the Group will be renewed when they expire. As at the Latest Practicable Date, no material
issues have been raised by any local, municipal or other authorities in respect of these issues with
the extent of the Group’s Approval coverage.

The Group’s businesses are such that waste water, waste gas and coal slags are regularly
discharged as a result of its various production processes. Although the Group has obtained the
relevant permits for its production processes, it cannot assure that it will at all times be able to fully
comply with the laws and regulations promulgated by the state and local governments of the PRC
on an ongoing basis. Any failure to comply by the Group could subject it to warnings, fines and/or
other penalties imposed by the environmental protection administration or the relevant
governmental department empowered to conduct environmental supervision and management in
the PRC. Should such penalties be sufficiently severe (such as suspension or closure), the
Group’s business operations or financial performance may be adversely impacted. In any event,
the Group’s reputation could suffer as a result of any negative publicity from its failure to comply
with any laws or regulations.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group is not aware of any material violation to local
environmental regulations stemming from its business operations. However, should this occur, the
Group will be obliged to rectify the harm caused to the environment and pay compensation to
parties which have suffered direct losses as a result of the pollution. Further, should its production
facilities fail to meet other applicable environmental protection requirements from time to time, it
will be subject to fines and be required to take remedial measures. In such event, the Group may
also be required to suspend operations until it complies with the relevant environmental protection
requirements or in severe cases, the Group may be required to cease operations altogether. If any
of these events occur, the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may be adversely impacted.

In any event, the laws and regulations governing the Group are subject to amendment, including
changes in their interpretation or implementation. Further, new laws and regulations may be
introduced which might restrict the Group’s ability to conduct business or increase the cost of
doing business and thereby adversely affect its operations. These amendments, and/or new laws
and regulations, may require the Group to modify its production processes or upgrade its
equipment to meet more stringent requirements. The Group cannot predict the ultimate cost of
compliance or the impact thereof on its business operations. Any material increase in such costs
could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects. The Group is also required by various governmental agencies to obtain and maintain
certain permits, licences, certificates and other authorisations with respect to its operations. Some
of the conditions imposed by these governments and agencies may include requirements beyond
the control of the Group. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the Group will be able to fully
comply with new requirements or conditions imposed as a result of changes in laws and
regulations.

The Group may be unable to manage its capital resources

The Group intends to increase its production capacity and, where opportunities arise, to acquire
or invest in related businesses. See “The Group — Business Strategy” for further details. Such
expansion plans and the capital expenditure which results may strain the Group’s capital

resources.
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Globally, the financial markets and economic conditions have been volatile and have faced
disruption in recent years. If there is significant deterioration of global financial markets and
economic conditions in the future, the Group may be unable to obtain adequate funding under its
present credit facilities due to reluctance from or the inability of lenders to meet funding
obligations, market disruption events or increased costs, which may lead to an inability to obtain
funds at the interest rate agreed in its credit facilities. Such deterioration may also cause lenders
to be unwilling to provide the Group with new financing to the extent required to fund its ongoing
operations and growth. These factors may hinder the Group’s ability to access financing or result
in increased financing costs.

Additional equity financing will result in the dilution of the Issuer’s existing Shareholders while
additional debt financing may limit the Group’s ability to pay dividends or require the Group to seek
consents from relevant financial institutions or lenders, if necessary, for the payment of dividends.
It will also increase the Group’s vulnerability to general adverse economic and industrial
conditions, limit its ability to pursue its existing expansion plans, require the Group to dedicate
substantial portions of its cash flow from operations to payment of its debt, which would in turn
reduce the availability of the Group’s cash flow to fund capital expenditures, working capital and
other general corporate purposes. This in turn limits the Group’s flexibility in planning for or
reacting to changes in its businesses or industries.

If financing or refinancing is not available when needed, or is available only on unfavourable
terms, the Group may be unable to meet its obligations as they come due, or be unable to
implement growth strategies, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business
opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could harm the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group may be exposed to risks relating to debt financing

The Group may from time to time pledge its assets or the shares of its subsidiaries and associated
companies as security for debt financing. In the event that there is a default in repayment of any
loan instalments or interest payment, or if there is a breach of the agreement underlying the debt
financing, assets or shares pledged may be liable to forfeiture, and the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, the Group may be subject to certain covenants in connection with any future debt
financing that may, inter alia, limit or otherwise adversely affect its business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

The Group may be exposed to risks relating to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange risk
primarily with respect to HKD, USD and SGD. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign
operations.

At present, the Group’s management does not expect the net foreign currency risk from these
activities to be significant and hence, the Group does not presently hedge foreign exchange risks.
The Group periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities held in currencies other than HKD to
evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging instruments when
necessary.

Nevertheless, the impact of future exchange rate fluctuations in respect of any of the
abovementioned currencies on the Group’s liabilities cannot be accurately predicted and currency
controls may be imposed which may render any of the abovementioned currencies not readily
convertible or exchangeable.
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In addition, the Group’s financial statements are presented in and the Group’s reporting currency
is in HKD. Exchange rate gains or losses will arise when the assets and liabilities in any of the
abovementioned currencies are translated or exchanged into HKD for financial reporting or
repatriation purposes. Should any of these currencies depreciate against the HKD, the Group’s
reported financial results may be adversely affected.

The Group may be exposed to other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity securities, which
are concentrated on equity instruments listed in the PRC and on the Australian Securities
Exchange. As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the Group’s equity invesments on the
Australian Securities Exchange was approximately HKD5.6 million, while its equity investments in
the PRC were valued at HKD10.4 million.

The prices of the Group’s equity investments may be volatile and may fluctuate significantly in
response to, inter alia, the following factors:

o variations in the operating results of the companies invested in;

. changes in market valuations of similar companies;

. announcements by the companies invested in on any corporate actions;
. fluctuations in the stock market and the global economy;

. changes in regulatory environment in the relevant jurisdictions in which the companies
invested in operate;

o any involvement by such companies in litigation; and

o changes in securities analysts’ recommendations, perceptions or estimates of the
companies’ financial performance.

The Group may not have adequate insurance coverage

The Group maintains insurance coverage, where appropriate and subject to policy terms, limits
and exceptions, for certain fixed assets and machinery owned by the Group, protection and
indemnity, commercial general liabilities and workers’ compensation to adequate levels to reduce
some financial impact of any adverse incidents. However, the Group does not currently maintain
any insurance policies against loss of key personnel, and, in respect of its fertiliser products,
product liability claims. The Group’s insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover all losses
or liabilities suffered by it. In addition, certain risks, such as those related to biochemical damage,
are not insurable. There can be no assurance that the Group will not suffer losses in excess of the
insurance coverage or that the losses and damages suffered by the Group will be covered by
insurance.

The Group cannot assure that it will be able to continue to renew its insurance policies on the
same or commercially reasonable terms, at economically acceptable premiums, or at all. For
instance, more stringent environmental regulations have led in the past to increased costs for, and
in the future may result in the lack of availability of, insurance against risks of environmental
damage or pollution. A catastrophic mining disaster could exceed the Group’s insurance
coverage. Any deterioration of the security conditions in the regions where the Group or its
customers operate or past incidence of claims made against its insurance policies are also likely
to attract higher premiums for the coverage of the same risk in the future or, under certain
circumstances, withdrawal by the Group’s insurers from providing the insurance coverage.
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Furthermore, its insurance may be voidable by the insurers as a result of certain of the Group’s
actions, such as its production facilities failing to obtain required permits or licenses. In addition,
the Group cannot give any assurance that its insurance policies will cover all losses that it incurs,
or that disputes over insurance claims will not arise with its insurers. Any claims covered by
insurance would be subject to deductibles, and since it is possible that a large number of claims
may be brought, the aggregate amount of these deductibles could be material. In addition, the
Group’s insurance policies are subject to limitations and exclusions, which may increase the
Group’s costs or lower the Group’s revenues.

The Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially
adversely affected in the event of an uninsured loss, a loss that exceeds insured limits, a
succession of such losses or substantially higher insurance premiums.

The Group is dependent on its key management team and technical personnel

The Group attributes its success to the leadership and contributions of its executive directors, key
executives and other members of its management staff, in particular Mr. Chi Wen Fu (its
Chairman), Mr. Shum Sai Chit (its Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) and other
executive directors and senior executive management team members. Its continued success is
therefore dependent to a large extent on its ability to retain the services of its key executives and
management personnel, who are responsible for formulating and implementing growth, corporate
development and overall business strategies. The loss of their services without timely and suitable
replacement may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

There is also a limited supply of adequately skilled technical personnel in the PRC. Demand for
experienced personnel is intense and the search for personnel with the relevant skill sets can be
time consuming. The Group’s continued success depends largely on its ability to attract and retain
skilled technical personnel, particularly in light of its continued expansion plans. If the Group is
unable to attract and retain a sufficient number of suitably skilled and qualified personnel, its
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and
adversely affected.

The Group is exposed to risks arising from credit terms extended to its customers, and is
dependent on the creditworthiness of its clients

Although the Group continues to pursue a systematic credit policy where the experience of
material non-performing debts is minimal, the Group is nonetheless exposed to payment delays
and/or defaults by its customers who are granted credit terms. For FY20186, its trade receivables
of approximately HKD447.7 million accounted for approximately 21.6 per cent. of its current
assets. For FY2015, the Group’s trade receivables of approximately HKD472.5 million accounted
for approximately 20.0 per cent. of its current assets. For FY2014, the Group’s trade receivables
of approximately HKD314.9 million accounted for approximately 22.0 per cent. of its current
assets.

Therefore, the Group’s financial position and profitability are dependent on the creditworthiness
of its customers. Any material non-payment or non-performance by any of the Group’s key clients,
especially during periods of downturn, could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group is exposed to credit risks due to the inherent uncertainties in its customers’ business

environment. These include political, social, legal and economic risks, as well as those arising
from unanticipated events or circumstances. There is no guarantee that customers will make
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timely payments. If these customers cannot settle amounts due to the Group for work done and/or
services rendered, this may have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects of the Group.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets which may negatively impact the
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects

An impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets could adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. As at the 31 December 2016, the Group
has maintained goodwill, such as that arising from acquisition of a business and intangible assets
(such as synergies arising from business combinations, technical know-how and research and
development expenditure), amounting to HKD197 million, representing 6.2 per cent. of the
Group’s non-current assets.

The Group tests intangible assets (other than goodwill) with (1) indefinite useful lives or which
(2) are not yet available for use, on an annual basis as well as whenever the asset may be
impaired. These intangible assets are mainly amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Specifically in respect of technical know-how, expenditure on acquired
technical know-how is capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated
useful life of five years, from the date when the technical know-how is available for use.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each
of the relevant cash generating units, which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

Additional impairment charges may be incurred in the future that could be significant due to
various reasons, including restructuring actions or adverse market conditions that are either
specific to the Group or the broader industries in which the Group operates or more general in
nature and that could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects.

The Group may be involved in legal and other proceedings from time to time

In general, the Group is exposed to the risk of litigation by various parties such as suppliers,
customers, contractors, sub-contractors, employees, shareholders and other parties involved in
its business, including the risk of being joined as third parties to litigation actions or involvement
in frivolous claims.

These disputes may lead to legal and other proceedings, and may cause the Group to suffer
additional costs and time wastages. In addition, the Group may have disagreements with
regulatory bodies in the course of its operations, which may subject it to administrative
proceedings and unfavourable orders, directives or decrees that may result in financial losses.
There can be no assurance that these disputes will be settled, or settled on terms which are
favourable to the Group. In the event such disputes are not settled on terms which are favourable
to the Group, or at all, the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to the Possible Transaction

Group Sense may not be able to successfully acquire Fullocean and China Rare Earth
On 18 April 2017, the Issuer and Group Sense jointly announced that they had entered into the
Memorandum of Understanding in relation to the possible reorganisation involving the acquisition

of the Issuer’s indirect interests in Fullocean and China Rare Earth. The Issuer is effectively
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holding 90.95 per cent. of the shares of China Rare Earth, which is the immediate holding
company of the Issuer’s magnesium business (other than the existing magnesium business held
by Group Sense). (See also “Business — Recent Key Developments” for a discussion of the
Possible Transaction.) The Memorandum of Understanding does not create any legally binding
commitment between the parties to proceed with the Possible Transaction and is subject to the
relevant parties entering into definitive agreements. In addition, the Possible Transaction is
subject to the approval of the shareholders of Group Sense and the shareholders of the Issuer.
There can be no assurance that the Possible Transaction will take place.

Assuming the Possible Transaction occurs, the Group’s ability to influence the operations
of the magnesium business will be limited

The Possible Transaction will result in Group Sense acquiring one of the PRC’s largest rare earth
magnesium alloy production line with an annual capacity of 75,000 tonnes of magnesium
products, as well as a dolomite mine in Baishan City, Jilin Province. Until such time as the Possible
Transaction occurs, the Company has an indirect shareholding interest in Fullocean and China
Rare Earth that allows it to control the operations of the magnesium business. Group Sense, in
which the Group has a shareholding interest of 51.88 per cent. as of the Latest Practicable Date,
is a company listed on the HKSE and has its own independent board of directors and senior
management. Therefore, after the Possible Transaction occurs, the Group’s ability to influence the
operations of the magnesium business will become limited to exercising its rights as majority
shareholder of Group Sense.

Assuming the Possible Transaction occurs, the percentage of any dividends arising from
the magnesium business that the Group is entitled to receive may decrease

Until such time as the Possible Transaction occurs, the Issuer is entitled to receive 90.95 per cent.
of dividends receivable from the magnesium business held by China Rare Earth. After the
Possible Transaction, any dividends from the magnesium business held by China Rare Earth
would be paid to Group Sense and, to the extent that Group Sense declares a dividend, the Issuer
may be entitled to receive less than 90.95 per cent. of dividends from the magnesium business
held by China Rare Earth. If the magnesium business held by China Rare Earth accounts for
substantially all of the distributable profits of Group Sense, the amount of dividends that the Issuer
receives in connection with the magnesium business held by China Rare Earth would decrease
even if the total amount of dividends derived from the magnesium business held by China Rare
Earth remains the same, because minority shareholders of Group Sense would be entitled to such
Group Sense dividends. Such a decrease in dividends may not be evident in the revenue, gross
profit and profit for the period as reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements after
the Possible Transaction occurs because the Group will continue to fully consolidate the financial
statements of Group Sense and its subsidiaries.

Risks Relating to the PRC

Economic, political, legal and regulatory conditions in the PRC may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects

The Group conducts substantially all of its business in the PRC. The Group also derives
substantially all of its revenues from the PRC and most of its non-current assets are located in the
PRC. Consequently, the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
are subject to economic, legal and regulatory conditions in the PRC.

The PRC legal system is based on the PRC constitution and is made up of written laws,
regulations, circulars, administrative directives and guidelines. The PRC government is still

developing its legal system to, among other things, meet the needs of investors. At the same time,
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the PRC economy is undergoing development at a faster pace than its legal system, and thus
there is some degree of uncertainty which exists when considering how existing laws and
regulations apply to certain events or circumstances.

Some state and local laws and regulations, and the interpretation, implementation and
enforcement thereof, remain subject to policy changes. The Group cannot assure that the
introduction of new laws, changes to existing laws and regulations and the interpretation or
application thereof or delays in obtaining approvals from the relevant authorities will not have an
adverse impact on its business or prospects.

Further, there are limited precedents regarding the interpretation, implementation and
enforcement of various laws and regulations in the PRC. As the PRC is a civil law jurisdiction,
there is no strict concept of the binding nature of precedent cases on lower or future courts. Thus,
the outcome of dispute resolution processes may not be as consistent or predictable. At the same
time, it may be difficult to obtain swift or equitable enforcement of laws in the PRC, or obtain
enforcement of legal judgments by a court of another jurisdiction.

The Group’s business and operations in the PRC also entail the Group’s having to procure
licenses and permits from the relevant authorities. Thus, changes in such rules and regulations or
the implementation thereof may require the Group to obtain additional or renewed approvals,
licenses and permits in order for it to conduct such business and operations. The Group may have
to incur further expenses in order to obtain such additional or renewed approvals, licenses and
permits. This could have an impact on the Group’s financial performance as its business costs will
increase. Further, the Group cannot assure that such approvals, licenses and permits will be
granted to it promptly or at all. If the relevant authority delays in or refuses to grant the Group with
such approvals, licenses and permits, the Group’s business and operations in the PRC, and hence
its overall financial performance, may be adversely affected.

Lastly, the Group is also subject to economic and political conditions in the PRC that differ in
certain significant respects from those prevailing in other countries; in fact, the Group is
particularly susceptible to changes in the PRC’s political, economic and social conditions as its
revenue is currently wholly derived from its operations in the PRC. The PRC economy alone
differs from economies of many developed countries in a number of respects, including but not
limited to:

o extent of government involvement;
o level of development;

. significant but uneven growth rate geographically and among various sectors of the
economy;

. control of foreign exchange; and
. resource allocation.

For instance, since 1978, the PRC government has undertaken various reforms to the local
economic framework. These reforms can be unprecedented or experimental and will be refined
and modified from time to time. There is no assurance that the PRC government will not in the
future impose, for instance, restrictive foreign exchange controls that may affect the outward
remittance of funds, including interest or other payments payable on the Notes. The PRC
government could also introduce measures to control inflation and promulgate changes in interest
rates and bases for taxation. The Group’s business, cash flows, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects may be adversely affected by changes in government policies.
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Other political, economic and social factors may also lead to further reactionary reforms
introduced by the PRC government. Such adjustments may again have a material impact on the
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Significant and/or prolonged economic downturns in the PRC may adversely affect the
business operations and financial performance of the Group’s businesses

The Group’s financial results are affected by the level of business activity of its customers, which
is in turn affected by the level of economic activity in the industries and markets that they serve.
A decline in the level of business activity of the Group’s customers could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Currently, all of the Group’s business sales are made within the PRC. Accordingly, a prolonged
economic downturn or any significant slowdown in the economy of the PRC, in particular,
slowdowns in activity of the agricultural, magnesium, automotive and other heavy industry sectors
in the PRC, may lead to a slowdown in the Group’s customers’ business operations and
consequently, may result in the Group’s customers terminating their orders with the Group or
requiring less of the Group’s products. Any decrease in demand for the Group’s products may
compel the Group to reduce the price of the Group’s products. This may have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s geographic and market concentration and the general political and economic
conditions in which the Group operates may adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects

The Group derives its revenue and operating profits chiefly from its magnesium products,
fertilisers and metallurgical flux businesses and operations in the PRC and is consequently highly
dependent on the state of the PRC market. Thus, any natural disaster affecting provinces in the
PRC in which the Group operates or conducts its businesses or changes in the social, political and
economic environment of the PRC would have greater impact on the Group than if its operations
and businesses were more geographically diversified. Future political or economic instability or a
sustained domestic economic slowdown may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Higher labour costs and inflation in the PRC may adversely affect the Group’s businesses
and its profitability

Labour costs in the PRC have risen in recent years as a result of new labour laws being enacted
and social development. In June 2007, the PRC National People’s Congress enacted the Labour
Contract Law, which came into effect on 1 January 2008. The Labour Contract Law formalises
workers’ rights concerning overtime hours, pensions, layoffs and employment contracts and also
provides for specific standards and procedures for the termination of an employment contract.

The Group’s total staff costs were HKD94.5 million in FY2014, HKD195.3 million in FY2015 and
HKD198.3 million in FY2016 which, as a percentage of the Group’s total revenue in each of such
years, were 4.6 per cent., 7.8 per cent. and 7.7 per cent., respectively. Any material increase in
staff costs in the future could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Further, the PRC has faced increasing inflation. This may adversely affect the Group’s business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects given that it purchases raw materials from
suppliers in the PRC.
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The Group and payments under the Notes may be subject to the imposition of PRC
Enterprise Income Tax

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) and its attendant implementing rules,
enterprises established under the laws of foreign countries but whose “de facto management
bodies” are located within PRC territory are considered resident enterprises and will be subject to
the enterprise income tax at the rate of 25.0 per cent. on its global income.

If the Issuer were to be considered a PRC resident enterprise, the Issuer would be subject to PRC
enterprise income tax at the rate of 25.0 per cent. of its global income, which would adversely
affect the Issuer’s profitability and cash flow.

Further, under the EIT Law and implementing rules, PRC-sourced income of non-PRC resident
enterprises is generally subject to a 10.0 per cent. withholding tax. If the Issuer were to be
considered a PRC resident enterprise under the EIT Law and implementing rules, the Issuer will
be required to withhold income tax at the rate of 10.0 per cent. from the payment of interest in
respect of the Notes for any non-PRC enterprise Noteholder. Similarly, if the Issuer were to be
considered as a PRC resident enterprise under the EIT Law and the implementing rules, any gain
realised by non-PRC enterprise Noteholders from the transfer of the Notes may be regarded as
being derived from sources within the PRC and may be subject to up to 10.0 per cent. PRC
withholding tax.

Finally, as the Group conducts substantially all of its operations in the PRC, its PRC-sourced
income may be subject to PRC withholding tax. For instance, dividends paid by PRC resident
enterprises to non-PRC resident enterprise shareholders may be subject to a 10.0 per cent.
withholding tax. If the Issuer is considered a non-PRC resident enterprise, dividends it receives
from its PRC subsidiaries in the PRC will be subject to a 10.0 per cent. withholding tax, which
would reduce the amount of cash available to the Issuer to meet its payment obligations, including
principal and interest payments under the Notes.

The Issuer’s capital contributions or loans to its PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC
regulations

As the Issuer is an offshore entity, when it extends capital contributions or loans to its PRC
subsidiaries, these are subject to PRC regulations. For instance, the Issuer’s capital contributions
have to be approved by the PRC Ministry of Commerce or its local counterpart. The Group cannot
assure that the Issuer will be able to obtain necessary approvals promptly or at all. If these
approvals cannot be obtained, the Issuer’s ability to make equity contributions or provide loans to
its PRC subsidiaries or to fund their operations may be negatively impacted, which in turn will
adversely affect these subsidiaries’ liquidity and ability to fund their working capital and any
expansion activities and meet their obligations and commitments.

Non-enforceability of non-PRC judgments may limit the ability of investors to recover
damages from the Group

The Issuer is a public company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, but its operations and significant assets are all located within the PRC. The Issuer’s
directors and members of senior management are not residents of Singapore. Their assets are
also located throughout the world including the PRC.

As a result, unless legal proceedings are commenced in the PRC and service is effected through

diplomatic channels, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process outside of the
PRC.
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Thus, to the extent the investors are entitled to bringing legal action against the Issuer and/or the
Group, they may be limited in their remedies and any recovery in any PRC legal proceedings may
be limited depending on the relevant court’s discretion. To the extent any investors are entitled to
any recovery with respect to the Notes in any PRC legal proceedings, recovery might be limited
to payments in Renminbi.

Risks Relating to the Notes
An investment in the Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor must determine the suitability of an investment in the Notes in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

. have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Information Memorandum or any applicable supplement to this Information
Memorandum;

o have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of
its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment
will have on its overall investment portfolio;

. have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the currency in which its
financial activities are principally denominated;

. understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

. be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios
for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to
bear the applicable risks.

Notes to be issued under the Programme may be complex financial instruments. Sophisticated
institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone
investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance
yield with an understood, measured, and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios.
Each potential investor should not invest in the Notes which are complex financial instruments
unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will
perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact
such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio.

The structure of a particular issuance of Notes may have features which contain particular
risks for investors

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have

features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of
certain such features.
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Modlification, waivers and substitution

The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all
Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and
Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Conditions of the Notes also provide, inter alia, that the Trustee may, without the consent or
sanction of Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any
breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Notes if the Trustee is of the opinion
that such modification, waiver or authorisation will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of
Noteholders or (ii) determine without the consent of the Noteholders that any Event of Default or
Potential Event of Default (each as defined in the Trust Deed) shall not be treated as such.

Notes subject to optional redemption or repurchase

An optional redemption or optional repurchase feature is likely to limit the market value of the
Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem or repurchase Notes, the market
value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be
redeemed or repurchased. This also may be true prior to any redemption or repurchase period.
The Issuer may be expected to redeem or repurchase Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower
than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, Noteholders generally would not be able to
reinvest the redemption or repurchase proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest
rate on the Notes being redeemed or repurchased and may only be able to do so at a significantly
lower rate. Noteholders should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available
at that time.

Floating Rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with floating interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include
multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or
other similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for
securities that do not include those features.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a
fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The ability to convert the interest
rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes since the Issuer may be
expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the
Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes
may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to
the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates
on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be
lower than the prevailing rates on the Notes.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal
amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for
conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the
securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities
with comparable maturities.
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Notes where denominations involve integral multiples

In the case of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination
plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that Notes may
be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In
such a case, a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a nominal amount of
less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a Definitive Note in respect of such
holding (should Definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a nominal amount of
Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations. If Definitive
Notes are issued, Noteholders should be aware that Definitive Notes which have a denomination
that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult
to trade.

Investors may receive less interest or principal than expected as a result of exchange rate
risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the currency specified in the relevant
Pricing Supplement. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s
financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s
Currency”) other than such specified currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may
significantly change (including changes due to the devaluation of such specified currency or
revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the
Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the
Investor’s Currency relative to the currency in which the Notes are denominated would decrease
(i) the Investor’s Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor’s Currency equivalent
value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market
value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange
controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may
receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal. This risk is in addition
to any performance risk that relates to the Issuer or the type of Note being issued.

Enforcing rights under the Notes across multiple jurisdictions may prove difficult

The Issuer is incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, while its shares are listed on the
HKSE. The Guarantors are incorporated in different jurisdictions, including the British Virgin
Islands and Hong Kong. The Notes and the Trust Deed are governed by the laws of Singapore and
the Notes may be listed on the SGX-ST.

In the event of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar event, proceedings could be initiated in
jurisdictions outside Singapore (including in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands and
Hong Kong) in addition to proceedings in Singapore. Any such multi-jurisdictional proceedings
would be complex and costly for creditors and may result in greater uncertainty and delay
regarding the enforcement of investors’ rights. Investors’ rights under the Notes will be subject to
the insolvency and administrative laws of multiple jurisdictions, and there is no assurance that
investors will be able to effectively enforce their rights in any such complex multiple bankruptcy,
insolvency or other proceedings.

In addition, the bankruptcy, insolvency, administrative and other laws of such jurisdictions may be
materially different from, or be in conflict with, each other and those with which investors may be
familiar, including in the areas of rights of creditors, priority of governmental and other creditors,
ability to obtain post-petition interest and duration of proceedings. The application of these laws,
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or any conflict among them, could call into question whether any particular jurisdiction’s laws
should apply, adversely affect investors’ ability to enforce their rights under the Notes in the
relevant jurisdictions or limit any amounts that they may receive.

The Issuer is a holding company whose obligations under the Notes will be structurally
subordinated to all existing and future obligations of its subsidiaries; moreover, the Issuer
will be dependent upon payments from its Subsidiaries to provide it with funds to meet its
obligations under the Notes

The Issuer is a holding company and has no material business operations of its own. The Issuer
substantially depends upon dividends and other distributions and payments from its Subsidiaries
for its cash flow. In addition, substantially all of the Issuer’s assets are held by these entities. The
Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations under the Notes is largely dependent upon the flow of funds
from and among its Subsidiaries. The ability of these companies to pay dividends or other
distributions will depend on their respective distributable earnings, cash flow conditions,
restrictions that may be contained in their respective debt instruments, applicable law and other
arrangements. There is no assurance that such companies will be able to make dividend
payments and other distributions and payments in an amount sufficient to meet the Issuer’s cash
requirements or to enable it to meet its payment obligations under the Notes.

As a result, the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes will be effectively subordinated to all existing
and future obligations of its direct and indirect Subsidiaries. All claims of creditors of these
Subsidiaries, including trade creditors, lenders and all other creditors, will have priority as to the
assets of the Subsidiaries over claims of the Issuer and the Issuer’s creditors, including holders
of Notes. As of 31 December 2016, the Group had total borrowings of HKD1,573 million
(approximately S$282.4 million), which include bank loans, other borrowings, listed subordinated
notes and exchangeable bonds. Subject to compliance with the financial covenants therein, the
Trust Deed does not contain any restrictions on the ability of the Issuer or its respective
Subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness. In addition, issues of equity interests by the Issuer’s
Subsidiaries could dilute the shareholding interest of the Issuer in such subsidiaries.

The Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its debt service
obligations or the Guarantees

The Group’s ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance its obligations with respect
to, any indebtedness, including intercompany loans among group companies, the Notes and the
Guarantees, will depend on the Group’s financial and operating performance, which in turn will be
affected by general economic conditions and financial, competitive, regulatory and other factors
beyond its control. The Group’s businesses may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations
and future sources of capital may not be available to it in an amount sufficient to enable it to
service its indebtedness, including the Notes and the Guarantees, or to fund its other liquidity
needs. If the entities in the Group are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy its
respective debt obligations, they may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as
refinancing or restructuring its respective debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital
investments or seeking to raise additional capital. In addition, the Group may not be able to effect
any of these actions, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. The Group’s ability
to sell assets or restructure or refinance any indebtedness will depend on the condition of the
financing and capital markets and the Group’s financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of
any indebtedness could be at higher interest rates and may require the Group to comply with more
onerous covenants, which could further restrict its business operations. The terms of the Group’s
existing or future debt instruments, including the Trust Deed, may limit or prevent it from taking
any of these actions. The Group’s inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy any debt
obligations, or to refinance any indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms, would materially
and adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations and its ability to satisfy the
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Issuer’s obligations under the Notes or each Guarantor’s obligations under the relevant
Guarantee. Investors should also be aware that the entities in the Group forming the Guarantors
may change in accordance with the Trust Deed.

The Issuer may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to finance an offer to
repurchase the Notes or to redeem the Notes upon the occurrence of certain events
constituting a change of control triggering event, a cessation or suspension of trading of
shares or otherwise, as required by the Trust Deed governing the Notes

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a change of control triggering event or a
cessation or suspension of trading of the Issuer’s shares on the HKSE, the Issuer is required to
offer to repurchase all outstanding Notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 101% of the
Redemption Amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase or to redeem all
outstanding Notes at the Early Redemption Amount. If any such event triggering the Issuer’s
repurchase or redemption obligations were to occur, there is no assurance that the Issuer would
have sufficient funds available at such time to pay the purchase price of the outstanding Notes.

In addition, the change of control provision contained in the Trust Deed may not necessarily afford
investors protection in the event of certain important corporate events, including a reorganisation,
restructuring, merger, recapitalisation or other similar transaction involving the Issuer that may
adversely affect investors, because such corporate events may not involve a change in ownership
or control in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed, and even if they do, may not constitute
a “Change of Control” as defined in the Trust Deed. Except as described under Condition 6
(Redemption and Purchase) in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”, the Trust Deed does not
contain provisions that require the Issuer to offer to repurchase or redeem the Notes in the event
of a reorganisation, restructuring, merger, take over, recapitalisation or similar transaction.

The Notes are not secured

The Notes and Coupons of all Series shall constitute the lIssuer’s direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and unsecured obligation and shall at all times rank pari passu and rateably,
without any preference or priority among themselves, and at least pari passu with all its other
present and future unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations and priorities
created by law) from time to time outstanding.

In addition, the payment obligations of each Guarantor under the relevant Guarantee and the Trust
Deed constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of such
Guarantor and shall at all times rank at least pari passu with all other present and future
unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations and priorities created by law) of such
Guarantor.

Accordingly, on the winding-up or insolvency of the Issuer or, as the case may be, any Guarantor
at any time prior to maturity of any Notes, the Noteholders will not have recourse to any of the
specific assets of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the specific assets of that Guarantor or any
respective subsidiaries and/or associated companies (if any) as security for outstanding payment
or other obligations under the Notes and/or Coupons owed to the Noteholders, and there is no
assurance that there would be sufficient value in the Issuer’s assets or any Guarantor’s assets,
as the case may be, after meeting all claims ranking ahead of the Notes, to discharge all
outstanding payment and other obligations under the Notes and/or Coupons or Guarantee, as the
case may be, owed to the Noteholders.
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The Trustee may request Noteholders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or
pre-funding to its satisfaction

In certain circumstances, the Trustee may (at its sole discretion) request Noteholders to provide
an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to its satisfaction before it takes action on behalf
of Noteholders. The Trustee is not obliged to take any such action if not indemnified and/or
secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. Negotiating and agreeing to an indemnity and/or
security and/or pre-funding can be a lengthy process and may impact on when such actions can
be taken. In addition, the Trustee may not be able to take action, notwithstanding the provision of
an indemnity or security or pre-funding to it, in breach of the terms of the Trust Deed and in
circumstances where there is uncertainty or dispute as to the applicable laws or regulations and,
to the extent permitted by the agreements and the applicable law, it will be for the Noteholders to
take such action directly.

There has been no prior market for the Notes; the absence of a prior market in the Notes
may contribute to a lack of liquidity and the market price of the Notes following their
offering may be volatile

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. There
can be no assurance as to the liquidity of any market that may develop for the Notes, an investor’s
ability to sell its Notes or the prices at which it would be able to sell its Notes. The Notes could
trade at prices that may be lower than their initial offering price depending on many factors,
including prevailing interest rates, the financial condition and operating results of the Group and
the market for similar securities. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive
to interest rate, currency, credit or market risks, and/or are designed for specific investment
objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited
categories of investors. Neither the Issuer, any Guarantor, the Arranger nor any Dealer has any
obligation to make a market in the Notes. In addition, the market for debt securities has been
subject to disruptions that have caused substantial volatility in the prices of securities similar to
the Notes. There can be no assurance that the markets for the Notes, if any, will not be subject
to similar disruptions. Any disruptions in these markets may have a material adverse effect on
investors’ investment in the Notes.

Developments in other markets may adversely affect the market price of the Notes

The market price of the Notes may be adversely affected by declines in the international financial
markets and world economic conditions. Although economic conditions are different in each
country, investors’ reactions to developments in one country can affect the securities markets and
the securities of issuers in other countries, including Singapore. Since the global financial crisis
of 2008 and 2009, the international financial markets have experienced significant volatility. If
similar developments occur in the international financial markets in the future, the market price of
the Notes could be adversely affected.

The transfer of Notes is restricted, which may adversely affect their liquidity and the price
at which they may be sold

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been registered, and the Issuer is not obligated to
register the Notes and each Guarantor is not obligated to register its Guarantee under, the
Securities Act, or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction. In addition, this Information
Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus under the SFA. Accordingly, the Notes may
not be offered or sold except pursuant to an exemption from or a transaction not subject to, the
registration requirements of the Securities Act, the SFA and any other applicable laws. See
“Subscription and Sale” for further details of certain selling restrictions applicable. The Issuer has
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not agreed to, or otherwise undertaken, to register this Information Memorandum or the Notes
(including by way of an exchange offer) with the MAS or the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, and the Issuer has no intention to do so.

Favourable Singaporean taxation laws may be amended or revoked prior to the maturity of
the Notes

The Notes to be issued are, pursuant to the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 of Singapore (“ITA”), the
Income Tax (Qualifying Debt Securities) Regulations and the MAS Circular FSD Cir 02/2013
entitled “Extension and Refinement of Tax Concessions for Promoting the Debt Market” issued by
the MAS on 28 June 2013, intended to be “qualifying debt securities” for the purposes of the ITA,
subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions more particularly described in the section “Singapore
Taxation”. However, there is no assurance that such Notes will continue to enjoy the tax
concessions in connection therewith should the relevant tax laws or MAS circulars be amended
or revoked at any time.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

Investment activities may be subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or
regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used
as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase of any
Notes. If such an investor is a financial institution, it should also consult its legal advisers or the
appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable
risk-based capital or similar rules.

The Notes may be represented by Global Notes or Global Certificates and holders of an
interest in a Global Note or Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant
Clearing System(s)

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global Notes or Global
Certificates. Such Global Notes and Global Certificates will be deposited with a common
depositary for CDP, CMU, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or any other clearing system
(each of these, a “Clearing System”).

Risks Relating to Renminbi Notes

The Renminbi is not freely convertible and there are significant restrictions on remittance
of Renminbi into and outside the PRC

Renminbi is not freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC continues to regulate
conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies, despite significant reduction in control by
itin recent years over trade transactions involving import and export of goods and services as well
as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions.

However, remittance of Renminbi by foreign investors into the PRC for the purposes of capital
account items, such as capital contributions, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific
approvals from, or completing specific regulations or filing with, the relevant authorities and is
subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of Renminbi into
the PRC for settlement of capital account items are developing gradually.

In respect of Renminbi foreign direct investment (“FDI”), the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”)
promulgated the “Administrative Measures on Renminbi Settlement of Foreign Direct Investment”
(PP B T N R 455 558 1 /0 %) (the “PBOC FDI Measures”) on 13 October 2011 as part of
PBOC’s detailed Renminbi FDI accounts administration system. The system covers almost all
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aspects in relation to FDI, including capital injections, payments for the acquisition of PRC
domestic enterprises, repatriation of dividends and other distributions, as well as Renminbi
denominated cross-border loans. On 14 June 2012, PBOC issued a circular setting out the
operational guidelines for FDI. Under the PBOC FDI Measures, special approval for FDI and
shareholder loans from PBOC, which was previously required, is no longer necessary. In some
cases, however, post-event filing with PBOC is still necessary.

On 3 December 2013, the Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”) promulgated the “Circular on
Issues in relation to Cross-border Renminbi Foreign Direct Investment” (55X TR ART H
AR A R ER A ) (the “MOFCOM Circular?), which became effective on 1 January 2014, to
further facilitate FDI by simplifying and streamlining the applicable regulatory framework.
Pursuant to the MOFCOM Circular, the appropriate office of MOFCOM and/or its local
counterparts will grant written approval for each FDI and specify “Renminbi Foreign Direct
Investment” and the amount of capital contribution in the approval. Unlike previous MOFCOM
regulations on FDI, the MOFCOM Circular removes the approval requirement for foreign investors
who intend to change the currency of its existing capital contribution from a foreign currency to
Renminbi. In addition, the MOFCOM Circular also clearly prohibits the FDI funds from being used
for any investment in securities and financial derivatives (except for investment in the PRC listed
companies as strategic investors) or for entrustment loans in the PRC.

As the PBOC FDI Measures and the MOFCOM Circular are relatively new circulars, they will be
subject to interpretation and application by the relevant authorities in the PRC.

There is no assurance that the PRC government will continue to gradually liberalise control over
cross-border remittance of Renminbi in the future, that the pilot schemes for Renminbi
cross-border utilisation will not be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be
promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of
Renminbi into or outside the PRC. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated outside the PRC
in Renminbi, this may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of
the Issuer to source Renminbi to finance its obligations under Bonds denominated in Renminbi.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity
of the Notes and the Group’s ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the
Notes or make payments under the Guarantees

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the
availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC is limited. Although it is expected that the offshore
Renminbi market will continue to grow in depth and size, its growth is subject to many constraints
as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange.

There is no assurance that new PRC rules and regulations will not be promulgated or amended
in the future which will have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi offshore. The limited
availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the Notes. To the extent the
Group is required to source Renminbi in the offshore market to service the Notes or to make
payments under the Guarantee, there is no assurance that it will be able to source such Renminbi
on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Investment in the Notes is subject to exchange rate risks
The value of the Renminbi against the Singapore dollar, U.S. dollar, HKD or any other foreign

currency fluctuates and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic
conditions, and by many other factors.

40



In addition, although the Issuer’s primary obligation is to make all payments of principal, premium
and interest with respect to the Notes in Renminbi, if access to Renminbi deliverable in Hong Kong
becomes restricted to the extent that, by reason of any terms relating to inconvertibility,
non-transferability or illiquidity, it is unable, or it is impracticable for the Issuer, to pay principal,
premium or interest in Renminbi in Hong Kong, the terms of the Notes allow the Issuer to make
payment in U.S. dollars in New York at the prevailing spot rate of exchange, all as provided for in
the Conditions. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments may vary with the prevailing
exchange rates in the marketplace.

If the value of the Renminbi depreciates against the Singapore dollar, U.S. dollar, HKD or any
other foreign currency, the value of investors’ investment in Singapore dollar, U.S. dollar, HKD or
any other applicable foreign currency terms will decrease.

Payments in respect of the Notes will only be made to investors in the manner specified in
the Notes

All payments in Renminbi to investors in respect of the Notes will be made solely (a) when the
Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate, by transfer to a Renminbi bank
account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing CMU rules and procedures or
(b) when the Notes are in definitive form, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in
Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. If a Noteholder fails to maintain
a valid Renminbi account with a bank in Hong Kong and, accordingly, payments are unsuccessful,
it is possible that such amounts may be settled in U.S. dollars. The Issuer cannot be required to
make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by check or
draft or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC).

The Issuer will be discharged upon making payment to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent,
and a Noteholder may not bring any claim against it in respect of amounts so paid

So long as the Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate held on behalf of
CMU, each person for whose account interest in the Global Note or Global Certificate is credited
as being held in CMU, as notified by CMU to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent in a relevant
CMU Instrument Position Report or in any other relevant notification by CMU (which notification,
in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU as to the identity of any
account holder and the principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the case of
manifest error), will be the only person entitled to receive payments on the Notes represented by
such Global Note or Global Certificate. Such persons must look solely to the CMU Lodging and
Paying Agent for his share of each payment made by the Issuer in respect of such Global Note
or Global Certificate, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Note or Global
Certificate, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of CMU. The
Issuer will be discharged by payment to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, and such persons
will not have any claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so
long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate in respect of each
amount so paid. Noteholders are therefore exposed to the creditworthiness of the CMU Lodging
and Paying Agent and may suffer a loss in their investment if the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent
delays or fails to make the relevant payment to them upon receiving the relevant payment from the
Issuer.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Issuer intends to use the net proceeds for the issue of each Tranche of Notes (after deducting
issue expenses) for general corporate purposes, including refinancing existing borrowings,
financing investments and/or acquisitions, general working capital and capital expenditure
requirements of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, in each case, with respect to businesses relating
to (1) magnesium and its ancillary business (including power generation, semi-coke and mining of
dolomite), (2) fertiliser, (3) mining of serpentine, and (4) investment holding in connection with (1),
(2) and (3), or such other purposes as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions of the Notes to be issued by the Issuer, which,
as supplemented by the applicable Pricing Supplement or otherwise amended and completed,
and except for the text in italics, will be endorsed on, as the case may be, each Definitive Bearer
Note or Definitive Note Certificate (if issued). If the Pricing Supplement for any Notes specify
terms and conditions other than those set out below, the terms and conditions so specified shall,
fo the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following terms and conditions,
replace or modify the following terms and conditions for the purposes of such Notes. References
in the Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued
under the Programme.

This note is one of a series of notes (the “Notes”, which expression includes any further notes
issued pursuant to Condition 14 (Further Issues) and forming a single series therewith) of Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the “Issuer”). References herein to the “Notes” shall be
references to the Notes of this Series (as defined below) only. The Notes are (a) constituted by
and subject to, and have the benefit of, a trust deed dated 19 May 2015 (the “Original Trust
Deed” and, as amended and restated by an amending and restating trust deed dated 9 May 2017
(the “Amending and Restating Trust Deed”) and as further amended or supplemented from time
to time, the “Trust Deed”) between the Issuer, the guarantors named therein (the “Guarantors”)
and The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch as trustee (the “Trustee”, which expression
includes all persons for the time being appointed as trustee for the holders of the Notes under the
Trust Deed) and (b) are the subject of an agency agreement dated 19 May 2015 (as amended and
restated by an amending and restating agency agreement dated 9 May 2017 and as further
amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) between the Issuer, the
Guarantors, the Trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch as principal paying
agent, transfer agent and registrar in relation to each Series of Notes that are CDP Cleared Notes
(as defined below) (the “Principal Paying Agent”, the “CDP Transfer Agent” and the “CDP
Registrar”, respectively), The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch as lodging and paying
agent, transfer agent and registrar in relation to each Series of Notes that that are CMU Cleared
Notes (as defined below) (the “CMU Lodging and Paying Agent”, the “CMU Transfer Agent” and
the “CMU Registrar”, respectively), The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as paying
agent in relation to each Series of Notes that are Non-CDP/CMU Cleared Notes (as defined
below) and as calculation agent (the “Non-CDP/CMU Paying Agent” and “Calculation Agent”,
respectively), and The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch as transfer agent
and registrar in relation to each Series of Notes that are Non-CDP/CMU Cleared Notes (the
“Non-CDP/CMU Transfer Agent” and the “Non-CDP/CMU Registrar’ respectively).

As used herein, “CDP Cleared Notes” means Notes that have been or are to be deposited and
cleared with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), “CMU Cleared Notes” means Notes
which are cleared or, as applicable, to be cleared through the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service
(the “CMU”), and “Non-CDP/CMU Cleared Notes” means Notes that are cleared or, as applicable,
to be cleared and settled through Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking
S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”), or any other clearing system as may be agreed with the
Issuer from time to time other than CDP and CMU. Reference in these Conditions to the Principal
Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the Registrar shall, with respect to CDP Cleared Notes, be
deemed to be a reference to the Principal Paying Agent, the CDP Transfer Agent and the CDP
Registrar, respectively, with respect to the CMU Cleared Notes, be deemed to be a reference to
the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the CMU Transfer Agent and the CMU Registrar,
respectively, and, with respect to the Non-CDP/CMU Cleared Notes, be deemed to be a reference
to the Non-CDP/CMU Paying Agent, the Non-CDP/CMU Transfer Agent and the Non-CDP/CMU
Registrar, respectively, and (unless the context otherwise requires) all such references shall be
construed accordingly.
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Certain provisions of these terms and conditions (the “Conditions”) are summaries of the Trust
Deed, the Agency Agreement and applicable Pricing Supplement and are subject to their detailed
provisions. The Noteholders are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of
the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and Pricing Supplement applicable to them. Copies of the
Trust Deed, Agency Agreement and applicable Pricing Supplement are available for inspection
during normal business hours at the Specified Offices (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of the
Principal Paying Agent and any other Paying Agent. Copies are also available for inspection
during normal business hours at the registered office for the time being of the Trustee.

The Pricing Supplement for this Note is attached hereto or endorsed hereon and supplements
these Conditions and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so
specified or to the extent inconsistent with these Conditions, replace or modify these Conditions
for the purposes of this Note. References herein to the “applicable Pricing Supplement” are to
the Pricing Supplement attached hereto or endorsed hereon.

As used herein, “Series” means a Tranche of Notes, together with any further Tranche or
Tranches of Notes, which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and
(ii) identical in all respects (including as to listing) except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest
Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices. As used herein, “Tranche” means Notes which are
identical in all respects (including as to listing).

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE
(a) Form and Denomination

The Notes are issued either in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”) or in registered form
(“Registered Notes”).

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Variable Rate Note, a
Hybrid Note or a Zero Coupon Note, or a combination of any of the foregoing,
depending upon the Interest Basis specified hereon.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where
appropriate, a Talon) attached, other than in the case of Notes that do not bear interest,
in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due after the
Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and each
Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

The Notes will be issued in the denominations as specified hereon (a “Specified
Denomination”).

(b) Title

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the
Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure
to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement
(the “Register”). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required
by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to
be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue
and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or
on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate)
and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.
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In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note or the person
in whose name a Registered Note is for the time being registered in the Register (or, in
the case of joint holders, the first named thereof) and “holder” (in relation to a Note,
Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon or the person
in whose name a Registered Note is registered (or, in the case of joint holders, the first
named thereof), as the case may be, and capitalised terms have the meanings given to
them hereon, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not
applicable to the Notes.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by (i) a Global Note and such Global
Note is held by a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or CDP and/or the CMU or (ii) a Global Certificate and such Global Certificate is
issued in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg and/or of CDP or its nominee and/or the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as
operator of the CMU or its nominee, each person who is for the time being shown in the
records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or CDP and/or the CMU as the
holder of a particular principal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or
other document issued by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or CDP and/or the
CMU as to the principal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person
shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall
be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Principal Paying Agent, the Transfer
Agent, the Registrar, all other agents of the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee as
the holder of such principal amount of Notes other than with respect to the payment of
principal, interest and any other amounts in respect of the Notes, for which purpose the
bearer of the Global Note or, as the case may be, the registered holder of the Global
Cetrtificate shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Principal Paying Agent,
the Transfer Agent, the Registrar, all other agents of the Issuer, the Guarantors and the
Trustee as the holder of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the
Global Note or, as the case may be, the Global Certificate (and the expressions
“Noteholder” and “holder of Notes” and related expressions shall be construed
accordingly). Notes which are represented by the Global Note or, as the case may be,
the Global Certificate will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or CDP
and/or the CMU, as the case may be.

Notwithstanding the above, if a Note (whether in global or definitive form) is held
through the CMU, any payment that is made in respect of such Note shall be made at
the direction of the bearer or registered holder to the person(s) for whose account(s)
interests in such Note are credited as being held through the CMU in accordance with
the CMU Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time as notified to
the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position
Report or any other relevant notification by the CMU (which notification, in either case,
shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU as to the identity of any
accountholder and the principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the
case of manifest error) and such payments shall discharge the obligation of the Issuer
in respect of that payment under such Note. Each of such persons must look solely to
the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent for his share of each payment so made by the
Issuer in respect of such Note.
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2.

TRANSFERS OF NOTES

(a)

No Exchange of Notes

Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes may not be
exchanged for Registered Notes. Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not
be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.

Transfer of Registered Notes

Each Registered Note may, subject to the terms of the Agency Agreement and to
Conditions 2(c) (Formalities Free of Charge), 2(d) (Closed Periods) and
2(f) (Regulations Concerning Transfer and Registration), be transferred in whole or in
part in a Specified Denomination by lodging the relevant Certificate (with the endorsed
form of application for transfer in respect thereof duly executed and duly stamped where
applicable) at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. A Registered
Note may be registered only in the name of, and transferred only to, a named person
or persons. No transfer of a Registered Note will be valid unless and until entered on
the Register.

The Registrar will within five Business Days (as defined below) of any duly made
application for the transfer of a Registered Note, register the transfer and deliver a new
Certificate to the transferee (and, in the case of a transfer of part only of a Registered
Note, deliver a Certificate for the untransferred balance to the transferor), at the
Specified Office of the Registrar, or (at the risk and, if mailed at the request of the
transferee or, as the case may be, the transferor otherwise than by ordinary mail, at the
expense of the transferee or, as the case may be, the transferor) mail the Certificate by
uninsured mail to such address as the transferee or, as the case may be, the transferor
may request.

Formalities Free of Charge

Such transfer will be effected without charge subject to (i) the person making such
application for transfer paying or procuring the payment of any taxes, duties and other
governmental charges in connection therewith, (ii) the Registrar being satisfied with the
documents of title and/or identity of the person making the application and (iii) such
reasonable regulations as the Issuer may from time to time agree with the Registrar and
the Trustee.

Closed Periods

Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar will be required to register the transfer of any Note
(or part thereof) during the period of 15 days immediately prior to the due date for any
payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes.

Business Day
In these Conditions, “Business Day” means a day which is:

(iy forany purpose other than with respect to payments, a day (other than a Saturday,
Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks and foreign
exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including
dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in Singapore, in Hong
Kong and in the city in which the Principal Paying Agent’s or any other relevant
Agent’s Specified Office is located; or
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(i) if a payment is to be made on that day (A) in relation to any sum payable in
Singapore dollars, a day (other than Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public
holiday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle
payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in Singapore, (B) in relation to any sum
payable in a Specified Currency other than Singapore dollars, Renminbi and euro,
a day (other than Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency
deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified
Currency, (C) in relation to any sum payable in Renminbi, a day (other than
Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks in
Hong Kong are generally open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments
in Hong Kong, or (D) in relation any sum payable in euro, a day on which the Trans
European Automated Real Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET)
System, or any successor system thereto, (the “TARGET System”) is open.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note and such Global Note
is held by a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or by
CDP and/or by or on behalf of CMU, or a Global Certificate and such Global Certificate
is issued in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg and/or of CDP and/or of CMU or its respective nominee, “Business Day”
shall also include, in addition to the definitions in (i) and (ii) above, a day (other than a
Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) on which Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg, CDP and CMU, as applicable, are operating.

Regulations Concerning Transfer and Registration

All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the
detailed regulations concerning transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Agency
Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer to reflect changes in legal
requirements or in any other manner which is not prejudicial to the interests of
Noteholders with the prior approval of the Registrar and the Trustee. A copy of the
current regulations will be mailed (free of charge) by the Registrar to any Noteholder
who requests in writing a copy of such regulations.

Specified Denominations

No Registered Note may be transferred unless the principal amount of Notes
transferred and (where not all of the Notes held by a holder are being transferred) the
principal amount of the balance of the Notes not transferred are Specified
Denominations.

3. STATUS AND GUARANTEES

(a)

Status of the Notes

The Notes and Coupons constitute direct, general, unconditional, unsubordinated and
(subject to Condition 4 (Covenants)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer which will at all
times rank pari passu among themselves and at least pari passu in right of payment with
all other present and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer, save for such
obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of
general application.
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(b)

The Guarantees

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the initial Guarantors
are (1) Capital Idea Investments Limited, (2) Fullocean Group Limited, (3) Bright Stone
Group Limited, (4) Gold Strategy Investments Limited, (5) Fly Union Limited, (6) New
Bright Group Limited, (7) Century Sunshine Ecological Technology Limited, (8) Blue
Atlantic International Limited, (9) Ming Xin Developments Limited, (10) Path Rich
Holdings Limited, (11) Step Grace Limited, (12) Madrone Investment Management
Limited, (13) Century Bravo International Limited, (14) Hong Kong Mg-Tech Metals
Company Limited, (15) Mg-Tech (International) Investments Ltd, (16) China Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Holdings Limited, (17) Long Xiang Enterprises Limited and
(18) Acronagrotrans Ltd.

The following Subsidiaries are not Guarantors:

(i) all Subsidiaries incorporated or established under the laws of the PRC (together,
the “PRC Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries”);

(i) (1) Acme Century International Limited, (2) Zone Advance Limited, (3) China Clean
Energy Corporation Limited, (4) Century Sino Technology Limited, (5) Cai Wang
Investments Limited, (6) Forth Well Investments Limited, (7) Feijun Investments
Limited, (8) Group Sense (International) Limited and any of its Subsidiaries and
(9) Win Profit Holdings Ltd. (the “Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries” and,
together with the PRC Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, the “Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries”).

Notwithstanding the above, the Guarantees given by:

(A) Capital Idea Investments Limited;

(B) Fullocean Group Limited;

(C) China Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Holdings Limited;
(D) Century Bravo International Limited;

(E) Mg-Tech (International) Investments Ltd; and

(F) Hong Kong Mg-Tech Metals Company Limited

shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged if (x) the ordinary
shares of Fullocean Group Limited are transferred to Group Sense (International)
Limited or any of its Subsidiaries, (y) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default
has occurred or will occur as a result of such transfer, and (z) the Issuer has delivered
to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate, stating that all conditions precedent stipulated in
(x) and (y) relating to such release and discharge have been complied with and that
such release and discharge is authorised and permitted hereunder; whereupon, each of
such companies shall become an Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiary.

None of the existing PRC Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries or the Other Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries was required to provide a Guarantee on the date of the Amending and
Restating Trust Deed and, unless permitted by applicable law, none of the existing PRC
Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries will be required to provide a Guarantee at any time in the
future. In addition, none of (aa) the existing Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, (bb) any future
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Subsidiaries of Group Sense (International) Limited or (cc) unless permitted by
applicable law, any future Subsidiaries that may be incorporated or established under
the laws of the PRC will provide a Guarantee at any time in the future.

The Issuer will not permit the Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries (excluding Group
Sense (International) Limited and its Subsidiaries) to, in aggregate, account for 5 per
cent. or more of the consolidated profit before tax of the Group, based on the Group’s
most recently available audited annual consolidated financial statements. If the Other
Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries (excluding Group Sense (International) Limited and its
Subsidiaries) in aggregate account for 5 per cent. or more of the consolidated profit
before tax of the Group, it shall not be an Event of Default if, (xx) within 10 Business
Days of the publication of such most recently available audited annual consolidated
financial statements, the Issuer designates one or more of such Other Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries to become Guarantors, (yy) such Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries
execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental trust deed pursuant to which such
Other Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries will, jointly and severally with the existing
Guarantors, Guarantee the payment of all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer
under the Trust Deed and the Notes (whereupon it shall no longer be an Other
Non-Guarantor Subsidiary) and (zz) as a result, the remaining Other Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries (excluding Group Sense (International) Limited and its Subsidiaries)
account for less than 5 per cent. of the consolidated profit before tax of the Group.

The Issuer will procure each of its future Subsidiaries (other than Subsidiaries
incorporated or established under the laws of the PRC or any future Subsidiary of Group
Sense (International) Limited), as soon as practicable and in any event within 10
Business Days of becoming a Subsidiary, to execute and deliver to the Trustee a
supplemental trust deed pursuant to which such Subsidiary will, jointly and severally
with the existing Guarantors, Guarantee the payment of all sums expressed to be
payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Notes. Each Subsidiary that
guarantees the Notes after the date of the Trust Deed, upon executing the applicable
supplemental trust deed, will be a “Guarantor”.

Notwithstanding the above, to the extent that:

(x) Group Sense (International) Limited or any of its Subsidiaries conducts any of the
Permitted Businesses (other than the design and manufacture of electronic and
personal communications devices and products, or the magnesium and its
ancillary business (including power generation, semi-coke and mining of dolomite)
or investment holding in connection with such business through Fullocean Group
Limited and/or its Subsidiaries) as a result of a transfer by, or an acquisition from,
the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Group Sense (International)
Limited or any of its Subsidiaries) of any of such Permitted Businesses; or

(y) any of the existing or future PRC-incorporated Subsidiaries of the Issuer
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any PRC Non-Guarantor Subsidiary of
Group Sense (International) Limited after the occurrence of the event specified in
paragraph (x)) is or becomes permitted by applicable law to provide a Guarantee
without having to register such Guarantee with any governmental authority in the
PRC or without such Guarantee being subject to any other limitation or restriction,

the Issuer will procure that Group Sense (International) Limited and all of its
Subsidiaries that are not incorporated in the PRC or such PRC-incorporated Subsidiary
as referred to in paragraph (y) (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any PRC
Non-Guarantor Subsidiary of Group Sense (International) Limited after the occurrence
of the event specified in paragraph (x)), as soon as practicable and in any event no later

49



than 10 Business Days of such transfer or acquisition (in the case of paragraph (x)) or
of becoming so permitted (in the case of paragraph (y)), to execute and deliver to the
Trustee a supplemental trust deed pursuant to which such Subsidiary will, jointly and
severally with the existing Guarantors, Guarantee the payment of all sums expressed
to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Notes.

In addition, notwithstanding the above, to the extent that Group Sense (International)
Limited or any of Group Sense (International) Limited’s Subsidiaries that are not
incorporated in the PRC guarantees any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of the
Issuer’s Subsidiaries (other than Group Sense (International) Limited or any of Group
Sense (International) Limited’s Subsidiaries), the Issuer will procure that Group Sense
(International) Limited or such Subsidiary that is providing such guarantee, as the case
may be, as soon as practicable and in any event no later than 10 Business Days of
providing such guarantee, to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental trust
deed pursuant to which Group Sense (International) Limited or such Subsidiary will,
jointly and severally with the existing Guarantors, Guarantee the payment of all sums
expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Notes.

In addition, in accordance with Clause 5.9 (Release of Guarantees) of the Trust Deed,
a Guarantee given by a Guarantor with respect to a Series of Notes may be released:

(1) upon repayment in full of the Notes of such Series; or

(2) upon such Guarantor ceasing to be a Subsidiary in compliance with the Trust
Deed, so long as such Guarantor is simultaneously released from its obligations (if
any) in respect of any of the Issuer’s other Indebtedness or any Indebtedness of
any other Subsidiary.

Status of the Guarantees

Each Guarantor has, in the Trust Deed, unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the
due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by the Issuer in respect
of the Notes and the Coupons. Each such Guarantee constitutes direct, general,
unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 4 (Covenants)) unsecured
obligations of such Guarantor which will at all times rank at least pari passu with all
other present and future unsecured obligations of such Guarantor, save for such
obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of
general application.

4. COVENANTS

(a)

Negative Pledge

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) the Issuer will
not, and will procure that each of the Principal Subsidiaries will not, create or permit to
subsist any Security Interest (other than a Permitted Security Interest) upon the whole
or any part of its present or future undertaking, assets or revenues (including uncalled
capital) without at the same time or prior thereto (A) securing the Notes equally and
rateably with (or, if the obligation to be secured by the Security Interest is subordinated
in right of payment to the Notes or any Guarantee, prior to) the obligations so secured
or (B) providing such other security for the Notes as may be approved by an
Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of Noteholders.
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(b)

Financial Covenants

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), unless
otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer will ensure that:

(i) the Consolidated Tangible Net Worth shall not at any time be less than HK$1.8
billion (or its equivalent in foreign currencies);

(ii) the ratio of Consolidated Gross Borrowings to Consolidated Tangible Net Worth
shall not at any time be more than 2.0:1; and

(iii) the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Consolidated Interest Expense shall not at
any time be less than 3.0:1.

Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness

The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, Incur any Indebtedness;
provided that the Issuer or any Subsidiary may Incur Indebtedness if, after giving pro
forma effect to the Incurrence of such Indebtedness and the receipt and the application
of the proceeds therefrom, (x) no Default has occurred and is continuing and (y) the
ratio of Consolidated Gross Borrowings to Consolidated Tangible Net Worth would not
be more than 1.5:1.

Limitation on Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions
Except by reason of applicable law, rule, regulation or order, the Issuer will not, and will
not permit any Subsidiary to, create or otherwise cause or permit to exist or become

effective any encumbrance or consensual restriction on the ability of any Subsidiary to:

(iy pay dividends or make any other distributions on any Capital Stock of such
Subsidiary owned by the Issuer or any other Subsidiary;

(i) pay any Indebtedness or other obligation owed to the Issuer or any other
Subsidiary;

(iii) make loans or advances to the Issuer or any other Subsidiary; or

(iv) sell, lease or transfer any of its property or assets to the Issuer or any other
Subsidiary.

Limitation on Asset Sales

(i) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Principal Subsidiary to, consummate
any Asset Sale, unless:

(A) no Default will have occurred and be continuing or would occur as a result of
such Asset Sale;

(B) the consideration received by the Issuer or such Principal Subsidiary, as the
case may be, is at least equal to the Fair Market Value of the assets sold or

disposed of;

(C) at least 75% of the consideration received consists of cash or Replacement
Assets;
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(iii)

(D) within 365 days after the receipt of any cash proceeds from an Asset Sale,
the Issuer (or the applicable Principal Subsidiary, as the case may be) may
apply such cash proceeds to acquire Replacement Assets; and

(E) any cash proceeds from Asset Sales that are not applied or invested as
provided in Condition 4(e)(i)(D) will constitute “Excess Proceeds”. Excess
Proceeds of less than S$5 million (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) will be
carried forward and accumulated. When accumulated Excess Proceeds
exceed S$5 million (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof), within five days thereof,
the Issuer must make an offer to purchase Notes having a principal amount
equal to:

(1) accumulated Excess Proceeds, multiplied by

(2) afraction (x) the numerator of which is equal to the outstanding principal
amount of the Notes and (y) the denominator of which is equal to the
outstanding principal amount of the Notes and all pari passu
Indebtedness similarly required to be repaid, redeemed or tendered for
in connection with the Asset Sale, rounded down to the nearest
minimum Specified Denomination of such Notes.

The offer price in any offer to purchase must be equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the date of
purchase, and must be payable in cash.

If any Excess Proceeds remain after consummation of an offer to purchase Notes,
such remaining Excess Proceeds may be used for any general corporate purpose
not prohibited by these Conditions. If the aggregate principal amount of Notes (and
any other pari passu Indebtedness) tendered in such offer to purchase exceeds
the amount of Excess Proceeds, the Trustee will select the Notes (and such other
pari passu Indebtedness) to be purchased on a pro rata basis. Upon completion of
each offer to purchase, the amount of Excess Proceeds will be reset at zero.

Limitation on Business Activities

The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Principal Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly,
engage in any business other than Permitted Businesses.

Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

(i)

The Issuer will not, unless required by law, without the approval of the Noteholders
by way of an Extraordinary Resolution, undertake, permit or effect any
reorganisation, amalgamation, reconstruction, merger or consolidation with any
other Person, or any scheme of compromise or scheme of arrangement of the
Issuer (in each case in one transaction or a series of related or unrelated
transactions), unless:

(A) the Issuer will be the continuing Person following any such transaction;
(B) such transaction does not involve insolvency;

(C) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Default will have
occurred and be continuing;
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(h)

(D) such transaction does not have a material adverse effect on the Issuer or the
Guarantors; and

(E) each Guarantor, unless such Guarantor is the Person with which the Issuer
has entered into a transaction described in (i) above, shall execute and
deliver a supplemental Trust Deed confirming that its Guarantee shall apply
to the obligations of the Issuer in accordance with the Notes and the Issue
Documents.

(ii) No Guarantor will, unless required by law, without the approval of the Noteholders
by way of an Extraordinary Resolution, undertake, permit or effect any
reorganisation, amalgamation, reconstruction, take-over, merger or consolidation
with any other Person, or any scheme of compromise or scheme or arrangement
of such Guarantor (in each case in one transaction or a series of related or
unrelated transactions), unless:

(A) such Guarantor will be the continuing Person following any such transaction;
(B) such transaction does not involve insolvency;

(C) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Default will have
occurred and be continuing; and

(D) such transaction does not have a material adverse effect on the Issuer or
such Guarantor,

provided that this Condition 4(g) (Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets) will
not apply to any sale or other disposition that complies with Condition 4(e)
(Limitation on Asset Sales) or to any Guarantor whose Guarantee is
unconditionally released in accordance with Clause 5.9 (Release of Guarantees)
of the Trust Deed.

Use of Proceeds

The Issuer will only use the net proceeds from the issue of each Tranche of Notes for
general corporate purposes, including refinancing existing borrowings, financing
investments and/or acquisitions, general working capital and capital expenditure
requirements of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, in each case with respect to businesses
relating to (1) magnesium and its ancillary business (including power generation,
semi-coke and mining of dolomite), (2) fertiliser, (3) mining of serpentine, and
(4) investment holding in connection with (1), (2) and (3), or such other purposes as set
out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Notwithstanding the above, for so long as Group Sense (International) Limited and its
Subsidiaries that are not incorporated in the PRC are not Guarantors, the Issuer will not
make any Investment using all or any part of the net proceeds of any such issue, or
guarantee any obligation of Group Sense (International) Limited or any of its
Subsidiaries other than any guarantee that is existing (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, such existing guarantee of any obligation of a Subsidiary which will become a
Subsidiary of Group Sense (International) Limited if the Fullocean Sale occurs) as of the
date of the Amending and Restating Trust Deed.
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Definitions
In these Conditions, the following terms will have the meaning set out below:

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person (i) directly or indirectly
controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person,
(ii) who is a director or officer of such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person or of any
Person referred to in clause (i) of this definition or (iii) who is a spouse or any person
cohabiting as a spouse, child or step-child, parent or step-parent, brother, sister,
step-brother or step-sister, parent-in-law, grandchild, grandparent, uncle, aunt, nephew
or niece of such Person or of any Person described in clause (i) or (ii). For purposes of
this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,”
“controlled by” and “under common control with”), as applied to any Person, means the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Asset Sale” means any sale (including any sale or issuance of Capital Stock), transfer
or other disposition (including by way of merger, consolidation, sale and repurchase
transaction, or Sale and Leaseback Transaction) by the Issuer or by any of its Principal
Subsidiaries, in one transaction or a series of related or unrelated transactions and
whether at one time or over a period of time, of all or substantially all of its property or
assets, or any part of its property or assets which, either alone or when aggregated with
all other disposals required to be taken into account under the relevant Condition, would
have a material adverse effect on the Issuer; provided that “Asset Sale” will not include:

(i) sales, transfers or other dispositions of inventory, receivables and other current
assets in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s length basis and on normal
commercial terms;

(ii) any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of any property or equipment
that has become damaged, worn out, obsolete or otherwise unsuitable for use in
connection with the business of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries;

(iii) any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition to the Issuer or a Guarantor;

(iv) any disposal of the shares of TTG Fintech Limited or of the shares of Cai Wang
Investments Limited, Forth Well Investments Limited or Feijun Investments
Limited,;

(v) any disposal of the real property owned by, or of the shares of, Century Sunshine
(Zhangzhou) Ecological Technology Ltd;

(vi) any sale of the shares of Fullocean Group Limited to Group Sense (International)
Limited or any of its Subsidiaries in the manner announced by the Issuer in its
HKSE announcement dated 18 April 2017 (the “Fullocean Sale”); and

(vii) any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition approved by Noteholders by
way of an Extraordinary Resolution.

“Board of Directors” means the board of directors elected or appointed by the
shareholders of the Issuer or the relevant Principal Subsidiary, as the case may be, to
manage the business of the Issuer or the relevant Principal Subsidiary, as the case may
be, or any committee of such board duly authorised to take the action purported to be
taken by such committee.
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“Board Resolution” means any resolution of the Board of Directors taking an action
which it is authorised to take and adopted at a meeting duly called and held at which a
quorum of disinterested members (if so required) was present and acting throughout or
adopted by written resolution executed by every member of the Board of Directors.

“Capital Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any and all shares, interests,
participations or other equivalents (however designated, whether voting or non-voting)
in the equity of such Person, whether outstanding on the Programme Establishment
Date or issued thereafter, including, without limitation, all Common Shares and
Preferred Shares.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

(i) the merger, take over, amalgamation, or consolidation of the Issuer with, by or into
another Person who is not one of the Permitted Holders or the merger or
amalgamation of another Person who is not one of the Permitted Holders with or
into the Issuer, or the sale of all or substantially all the assets of the Issuer to
another Person who is not one of the Permitted Holders;

(i) the Permitted Holders are the beneficial owners of less than 30% of the total voting
power of the Voting Shares of the Issuer;

(iii) any person is or becomes the beneficial owner directly or indirectly, of the total
voting power of the Voting Shares of the Issuer greater than such total voting
power held beneficially by the Permitted Holders; or

(iv) the adoption of a resolution relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer.

“Commodity Hedging Agreement” means any spot, forward or option, commodity
price protection agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to
protect against fluctuations in commodity prices.

“Common Shares” means, with respect to any Person, any and all shares, interests or
other participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether voting
or non-voting) of such Person’s common or ordinary shares, whether or not outstanding
at the Programme Establishment Date, and including, without limitation, all series and
classes of such common or ordinary shares.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period or Test Period (as the case may be),
Consolidated Net Income for such period plus, to the extent such amount was deducted
in calculating such Consolidated Net Income:

(i) Consolidated Interest Expense,

(i) income taxes (other than income taxes attributable to extraordinary and
nonrecurring gains (or losses) or sales of assets), and

(iii) depreciation expense, amortisation expense and all other non-cash items
(including non-cash gains and losses on foreign exchange) reducing Consolidated
Net Income (other than non-cash items in a period which reflect cash expenses
paid or to be paid in another period), less all non-cash items increasing
Consolidated Net Income,

all as determined on a consolidated basis for the Issuer and its Subsidiaries in
conformity with GAAP.
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“Consolidated Gross Borrowings” means, in relation to the Group, an amount
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars) for the time being, calculated on a consolidated basis,
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong, equal to the
aggregate of:

(i) bank overdrafts and all other Indebtedness in respect of any borrowings;

(ii) the principal amount of the Notes or any notes, bonds or debentures of any
member of the Group whether issued for cash or a consideration other than cash;

(iii) the liabilities of the Issuer under the Trust Deed or the Notes;
(iv) all other Indebtedness whatsoever of the Group for borrowed moneys; and

(v) any redeemable preference shares which are not accounted for as “equity” under
generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong issued by any member of
the Group,

and, where such aggregate amount falls to be calculated, no amount shall be taken into
account more than once in the same calculation.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period or Test Period (as the case
may be), the amount that would be included in gross interest expense on a consolidated
income statement prepared in accordance with GAAP for such period of the Issuer and
its Subsidiaries, plus, to the extent not included in such gross interest expense, and to
the extent incurred, accrued or payable during such period or Test Period by the Issuer
and its Subsidiaries, without duplication, (i) interest expense attributable to any finance
or capital leases, (ii) amortisation of debt issuance costs and original issue discount
expense and non-cash interest payments in respect of any Indebtedness, (iii) the
interest portion of any deferred payment obligation, (iv) all commissions, discounts and
other fees and charges with respect to letters of credit or similar instruments issued for
financing purposes or in respect of any Indebtedness, (v) the net costs associated with
Hedging Obligations (including the amortisation of fees), and (vi) interest accruing on
Indebtedness of any other Person that is guaranteed by the Issuer or any Subsidiary;
provided that interest expense attributable to interest on any Indebtedness bearing a
floating interest rate will be computed on a pro forma basis as if the rate in effect on the
date of determination had been the applicable rate for the entire relevant period or Test
Period.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, with respect to any specified Person for any period
or Test Period (as the case may be), the aggregate of the net income (or loss) of such
Person and its Subsidiaries for such period or Test Period, on a consolidated basis,
determined in conformity with GAAP; provided that the following items will be excluded
in computing Consolidated Net Income (without duplication):

(i) the netincome (or loss) of any Person that is accounted for by the equity method
of accounting except to the extent of the amount of dividends or similar
distributions actually paid in cash to the specified Person or a Subsidiary of the
Person during such period or Test Period;

(ii) the net income (or loss) of any Person accrued prior to the date it becomes a
Subsidiary or is merged into or consolidated with the Issuer or any of its
Subsidiaries or all or substantially all of the property and assets of such Person are
acquired by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries;
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(iii) the net income of any Subsidiary to the extent that the declaration or payment of
dividends or similar distributions by such Subsidiary of such net income is not at
the time permitted by the operation of the terms of its charter or any agreement,
instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, law, rule or governmental regulation
applicable to such Subsidiary;

(iv) the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles;

(v) any net after tax gains (or losses) realised on the sale or other disposition of
(A) any property or assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary which is not sold in the
ordinary course of its business or (B) any Capital Stock of any Person (including
any gains (or losses) by the Issuer realised on sales of Capital Stock of the Issuer
or of Subsidiaries);

(vi) any translation gains or losses due solely to fluctuations in currency values and
related tax effects; and

(vii) any net after-tax extraordinary or non-recurring gains or losses.

“Consolidated Tangible Net Worth” means the amount (expressed in Hong Kong
dollars) for the time being, calculated in accordance with GAAP, equal to the aggregate
of:

(i) the amount paid up or credited as paid up on the outstanding issued share capital
of the Issuer; and

(ii) the amounts standing to the credit of the capital and revenue reserves (including
capital redemption reserve fund, revaluation reserves and profit and loss account)
of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis,

all as shown in the then latest audited or unaudited balance sheet of the Issuer and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis but after:

(A) excluding any sums set aside for future taxation;
(B) deducting:

(1) an amount equal to any distribution by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries out
of profits earned prior to the date of the latest audited or unaudited balance
sheet of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and which
have been declared, recommended or made since that date except so far as
provided for in such balance sheet and/or paid or due to be paid to the Issuer

and such Subsidiaries;

(2) all goodwill and other intangible assets (which, for the avoidance of doubt,
does not include any mining rights or land use rights of the Group); and

(83) any debit balances on consolidated profit and loss account.
“Currency Agreement” means any foreign exchange forward contract, currency swap
agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect against

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

“Default” means an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default.
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“Dollar Equivalent” means, with respect to any monetary amount in a currency other
than Singapore dollars, at any time for the determination thereof, the amount of
Singapore dollars obtained by converting such foreign currency involved in such
computation into Singapore dollars at the base rate for the purchase of Singapore
dollars with the applicable foreign currency as quoted by a leading bank selected by the
Issuer on the date of determination.

“Fair Market Value” means the price that would be paid in an arm’s-length transaction
between an informed and willing seller under no compulsion to sell and an informed and
willing buyer under no compulsion to buy, as determined in good faith by the Board of
Directors of the Issuer or the relevant Principal Subsidiary, whose determination will be
conclusive if evidenced by a Board Resolution.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong as in effect from
time to time which, as of the Programme Establishment Date, are the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards.

“guarantee” means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of any Person directly or
indirectly guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person and,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect,
contingent or otherwise, of such Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply
funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation of such
other Person (including those arising by virtue of partnership arrangements or to
maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise) or (ii) entered into for purposes of
assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the
payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or
in part); provided that the term “guarantee” will not include endorsements for collection
or deposit in the ordinary course of business. The term “guarantee” used as a verb has
a corresponding meaning.

“Guarantee” means any guarantee of the obligations of the Issuer under the Issue
Documents and the Notes by any Guarantor.

“Guarantor” means any initial Subsidiary (other than the Issuer) named herein and any
other Subsidiary which provides a Guarantee pursuant to the Trust Deed and the Notes;
provided that such term will not include any Person whose Guarantee has been
released in accordance with the Trust Deed and the Notes.

“Hedging Obligation” of any Person means the obligations of such Person pursuant to
any Commodity Hedging Agreement, Currency Agreement or Interest Rate Agreement.

“Incur’ means, with respect to any Indebtedness or Capital Stock, to incur, create,
issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become liable for or with respect to, or become
responsible for, the payment of, contingently or otherwise, such Indebtedness or Capital
Stock; provided that (i) any Indebtedness and Capital Stock of a Person existing at the
time such Person becomes a Subsidiary will be deemed to be Incurred by such
Subsidiary at the time it becomes a Subsidiary and (ii) the accretion of original issue
discount will not be considered an Incurrence of Indebtedness. The terms “Incurrence,”
“Incurred” and “Incurring” have meanings correlative with the foregoing.
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“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person at any date of determination
(without duplication):

(i) moneys borrowed;
(i) amounts raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility;

(iii) amounts raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes,
debentures, loan stock or similar instruments;

(iv) the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which
would, in accordance with GAAP, be treated as finance leases or capital leases;

(v) the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services
the payment of which is deferred primarily as a means of raising finance or
financing the acquisition of the relevant asset or service;

(vi) amounts raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale or
purchase agreement and the sale of receivables or other assets on a “with
recourse” basis) having the commercial effect of a borrowing;

(vii) any Hedging Obligation (and, when calculating the value of any Hedging
Obligation, only the mark to market value shall be taken into account);

(viii) any counter indemnity obligation in respect of any guarantee, indemnity, bond,
standby or documentary letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank
or financial institution;

(ix) the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity for any of the
items referred to in paragraphs (i) to (viii) above.

The amount of Indebtedness of any Person at any date will be the outstanding balance
at such date of all unconditional obligations as described above and, with respect to
contingent obligations, the maximum liability upon the occurrence of the contingency
giving rise to the obligations at such date, provided (1) that the amount outstanding at
any time of any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount is the face amount of
such Indebtedness less the remaining unamortised portion of the original issue discount
of such Indebtedness at such time as determined in conformity with GAAP, and (2) that
money borrowed and set aside at the time of the Incurrence of any Indebtedness in
order to prefund the payment of the interest on such Indebtedness will not be deemed
to be “Indebtedness” so long as such money is held to secure the payment of such
interest.

“Interest Rate Agreement” means any interest rate protection agreement, interest rate
future agreement, interest rate option agreement, interest rate swap agreement,
interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, interest rate hedge
agreement, option or future contract or other similar agreement or arrangement
designed to protect against fluctuations in interest rates, convert a fixed rate of interest
into a floating rate of interest, convert a floating rate of interest into a different floating
rate of interest, or lower interest currently paid on Indebtedness of any Person.

“Investment” means:

(iy any direct or indirect advance, loan or other extension of credit to Group Sense
(International) Limited or any of its Subsidiaries;
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(ii)

(iii)

any capital contribution to Group Sense (International) Limited or any of its
Subsidiaries;

any purchase or acquisition of Capital Stock (or options, warrants or other rights
to acquire such Capital Stock), Indebtedness, bonds, notes, debentures or other
similar instruments or securities issued by Group Sense (International) Limited or
any of its Subsidiaries; or

all other items that would be classified as investments (including purchases of
assets outside the ordinary course of business) on the balance sheet of Group
Sense (International) Limited or any of its Subsidiaries prepared in accordance
with GAAP.

“Permitted Businesses” means the businesses relating to (i) magnesium and its
ancillary business (including power generation, semi-coke and mining of dolomite) and
investment holding in connection with such business, (ii) fertiliser, (iii) mining
serpentine, (iv) investment holding in connection with (ii), and (iii), and (v) design and
manufacture of electronic and personal communications devices and products.

“Permitted Holders” means any or all of the following:

(i)

Mr Chi Wen Fu;
any Affiliate of the Person specified in clause (i); and
any Person both the Capital Stock and the Voting Shares of which (or in the case

of a trust, the beneficial interests in which) are owned 80% by Persons specified
in clauses (i) and (ii).

“Permitted Security Interest” means, in relation to the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the
Issuer:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

any Security Interest in existence on the date of the Trust Deed which has been
disclosed to the Trustee in writing on or prior to the date of the Trust Deed and any
subsequent Security Interest to be created for the purpose of the extension or
refinancing of the original Indebtedness related to such existing security, provided
that the amount secured may not be increased;

any Security Interest created by the Issuer or such Subsidiary in favour of another
Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Issuer to secure Indebtedness owed by such party
to the other;

any Security Interest granted upon or with regard to any property or asset of the
Issuer or such Subsidiary whether such property or assets are acquired by the
Issuer or such Subsidiary before or after the date of the Trust Deed for the sole
purpose of financing or refinancing the acquisition and/or development of such
property or assets, provided that the maximum principal amount secured by such
Security Interest does not exceed the purchase price or cost of development of
such property or asset (including transactional expenses) provided that this
paragraph (iii) shall not apply to any Security Interest to be granted by the Issuer
or any Subsidiary in relation to or in connection with the acquisition or proposed
acquisition of the Equity Interests (as defined and described in paragraph (vii)
below);
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(iv) any Security Interests or rights of set-off arising solely by operation of law and in
the ordinary course of its business, in respect of indebtedness which either (A) has
been due for less than 14 days or (B) is being contested in good faith and by
appropriate means;

(v) any pledge of goods and/or related documents of title, arising in the ordinary
course of business, as security for bank borrowings directly relating to the
purchase of the goods;

(vi) any Security Interest over (x) its bank accounts created to secure working capital
facilities granted in the ordinary course of business, provided that the total
outstanding balances of all bank accounts securing each working capital facility
does not exceed 35.0 per cent. of the principal amount of such working capital
facility, or (y) its accounts receivables created to secure working capital facilities
granted in the ordinary course of business;

(vii) if the Fullocean Sale occurs, any Security Interest created by the Issuer or such
Subsidiary over any Capital Stock of Group Sense (International) Limited issued to
the Issuer or such Subsidiary as consideration for the Fullocean Sale, where such
Security Interest is created in connection with an existing guarantee provided by
one of the Subsidiaries that is the subject of the Fullocean Sale (details of such
existing guarantee are to be provided in the Issuer’s shareholders’ circular relating
to the Fullocean Sale), provided that the Fair Market Value of such Capital Stock
does not exceed RMB200 million at the time such Security Interest is granted; and

(viii) any Security Interest the terms of which have been approved by the Noteholders
by way of an Extraordinary Resolution.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, firm, partnership, limited liability company,
joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organisation, judicial entity or
government (or any agency or political subdivision thereof), whether or not having
separate legal personality.

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China.

“PRC CJV” means any current or future Subsidiary that is a Sino-foreign cooperative
joint venture enterprise with limited liability, established in the PRC pursuant to the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Ventures adopted
on 13 April 1988 (as most recently amended) and the Detailed Rules for the
Implementation of the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Sino-foreign
Cooperative Joint Ventures promulgated on 4 September 1995, as such laws may be
amended.

“Preferred Shares” as applied to the Capital Stock of any Person means shares of
Capital Stock of any class or classes that by its terms is preferred as to the payment of
dividends, or as to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary
liqguidation or dissolution of such Person, over shares of Capital Stock of any other class
of such Person.

“Principal Subsidiary” means any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Issuer:

(i) whose profits before tax, as shown by the accounts of such Subsidiary, based
upon which the latest audited consolidated accounts of the Group have been
prepared, are at least 5.0% of the profits before tax of the Group as shown by such

audited consolidated accounts; or

61



(i) whose total assets, as shown by the accounts of such Subsidiary, based upon
which the latest audited consolidated accounts of the Group have been prepared,
are at least 5.0% of the total assets of the Group as shown by such audited
consolidated accounts; or

(iii) whose total revenue, as shown by the accounts of such Subsidiary, based upon
which the latest audited consolidated accounts of the Group have been prepared,
are at least 5.0% of the total revenue of the Group as shown by such audited
consolidated accounts; or

(iv) who itself has any direct or indirect Subsidiary which is a Principal Subsidiary
based on any one of the tests described in (i), (ii) or (iii) above,

provided that if any such Subsidiary (the “transferor”) shall at any time transfer the
whole or any part of its business, undertaking or assets to another Subsidiary or the
Issuer (the “transferee”) then:

(1) if the whole of the business, undertaking and assets of the transferor shall be so
transferred, the transferor shall thereupon cease to be a Principal Subsidiary and
the transferee (unless it is the Issuer) shall thereupon become a Principal
Subsidiary; and

(2) if a part only of the business, undertaking and assets of the transferor shall be so
transferred, the transferor shall remain a Principal Subsidiary and the transferee
(unless it is the Issuer) shall thereupon become a Principal Subsidiary.

Any Subsidiary which becomes a Principal Subsidiary by virtue of (1) above or which
remains or becomes a Principal Subsidiary by virtue of (2) above shall continue to be
a Principal Subsidiary until the date of issue of the first audited consolidated accounts
of the Group prepared as at a date later than the date of the relevant transfer which
show the profits before tax, total assets or, as the case may be, total revenue as shown
by the accounts of such Subsidiary based upon which such audited consolidated
accounts have been prepared, to be less than 5.0% of the profits before tax, total assets
or, as the case may be, total revenue of the Group, as shown by such audited
consolidated accounts. A report by the Auditors (as defined in the Trust Deed), who shall
also be responsible for producing any pro-forma accounts required for the above
purposes, that in their opinion a Subsidiary is or is not a Principal Subsidiary shall, in
the absence of manifest error, be conclusive.

Notwithstanding the above:

(w) solely for the purposes of Clause 7 (Representations and Warranties) and
Clause 8 (Covenants) of the Trust Deed and Condition 4(a) (Negative Pledge),
Condition 4(e) (Limitation on Asset Sales) and Condition 4(f) (Limitation on
Business Activities) only, Group Sense (International) Limited and each of its
Subsidiaries will be deemed not to be a “Principal Subsidiary”, even if it meets any
one of the tests in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above, until such time Group Sense
(International) Limited or any such Subsidiary is required to become a Guarantor
pursuant to Condition 3(b) (The Guarantees);

(x) if a Subsidiary of Group Sense (International) Limited does not conduct any
business relating to magnesium and its ancillary business (including power
generation, semi-coke and mining of dolomite) and is not an investment holding
company in connection with such business, such Subsidiary will be deemed not to

62



be a “Principal Subsidiary”, even if it meets any one of the tests in (i), (ii), (iii) or
(iv) above, until such time such Subsidiary is required to become a Guarantor
pursuant to Condition 3(b) (The Guarantees);

(y) if the Fullocean Sale occurs, upon the transfer of the ordinary shares of Fullocean
Group Limited to Group Sense (International) Limited or any of its Subsidiaries,
Capital Idea Investments Limited will be deemed not to be a “Principal Subsidiary”
with effect from the date of such transfer until the date of issue of the first audited
consolidated accounts of the Group prepared as at a date later than the date of
such transfer; whereupon the status of Fullocean Group Limited as a Principal
Subsidiary shall be determined in accordance with the tests in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv)
above; and

(z) each of Century Sunshine (Jiangxi) Ecological Technology Ltd and Century
Sunshine (Shanghai) Management Co., Ltd. will be deemed to be a “Principal
Subsidiary” for so long as it owns or holds shares of Jiangsu Azureblue Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

“Programme Establishment Date” means 19 May 2015.

“Replacement Assets” means, on any date, properties and assets (other than current
assets) that replace the properties and assets that were the subject of such Asset Sale
or in properties or assets (including the Capital Stock or debt instruments of any
Person) that will be used in the Permitted Businesses.

“Sale of Magnesium Business” means any sale (including any sale or issuance of
Capital Stock), transfer or other disposition (including by way of merger, consolidation,
sale and repurchase transaction, or Sale and Leaseback Transaction) by Group Sense
(International) Limited or by any of its Subsidiaries, in one transaction or a series of
related or unrelated transactions and whether at one time or over a period of time, of
all or substantially all of its property or assets, or any part of its property or assets
which, either alone or when aggregated with all other disposals required to be taken into
account under the relevant Condition, would have a material adverse effect on the
magnesium and its ancillary business (including power generation, semi-coke and
mining of dolomite); provided that “Sale of Magnesium Business” will not include:

(iy sales, transfers or other dispositions of inventory, receivables and other current
assets in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s length basis and on normal
commercial terms;

(ii) any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of any property or equipment
that has become damaged, worn out, obsolete or otherwise unsuitable for use in
connection with the magnesium and ancillary business (including power
generation, semi-coke and mining of dolomite);

(iii) any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition to the Issuer, a Guarantor, a
Principal Subsidiary, Group Sense (International) Limited or any other

Subsidiaries of Group Sense (International) Limited; and

(iv) any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition approved by Noteholders by
way of an Extraordinary Resolution.
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“Sale and Leaseback Transaction” means any direct or indirect arrangement relating
to property (whether real, personal or mixed) now owned or hereafter acquired whereby
the Issuer or any Subsidiary transfers such property to another Person and the Issuer
or any Subsidiary leases it from such Person.

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, assignment,
encumbrance, lien or charge of any kind (including, without limitation, any conditional
sale or other title retention agreement or lease in the nature thereof or any agreement
to create any mortgage, pledge, security interest, lien Interest, charge, easement or
encumbrance of any kind), or anything analogous to any of the foregoing under the laws
of any jurisdiction.

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any company (the “first Person”) at any particular
time, any other company (the “second Person”):

(i) whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the power to control,
whether by ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove
members of the governing body of the second Person or otherwise; or

(i) whose financial statements are, in accordance with applicable law and generally
accepted accounting principles, consolidated with those of the first Person.

“Test Period” means, in respect of each financial half year, each period of six months
ending on the last day of such financial quarter of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries.

“Voting Shares” means, with respect to any Person, Capital Stock of any class or kind
ordinarily having the power to vote for the election of directors, managers or other
voting members of the governing body of such Person.

“Wholly Owned” means, with respect to any Subsidiary of any Person, the ownership
of all of the outstanding Capital Stock of such Subsidiary (other than any director’s
qualifying shares or investments by foreign nationals mandated by applicable law) by
such Person or one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such Person; provided that
Subsidiaries that are PRC CJVs shall not be considered Wholly Owned Subsidiaries.

5. INTEREST
(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

(i) Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its calculation amount specified hereon
(or, if no such amount is so specified, the Specified Denomination) (the
“Calculation Amount”) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at
the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest. Interest will be payable in
arrear on the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified hereon
(each, an “Interest Payment Date”) up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

(i) Except as provided hereon, the amount of interest payable on each Interest
Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period shown on the face of such
Note ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount.
Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified hereon,
amount to the Initial Broken Amount and/or Final Broken Amount so specified.
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(iii)

Interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest
to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes and
multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the
resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency.

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Variable Rate Notes

(i)

Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note and Variable Rate Note bears interest on its calculation
amount specified hereon (or, if no such amount is so specified, the Specified
Denomination) (the “Calculation Amount”) from (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

(A) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) (each, an “Interest Payment Date”)
in each year specified hereon; or

(B) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified hereon, each date
(each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an
“Interest Payment Date”) which falls on the date following the number of
months or other period specified as the Interest Period in the applicable
Pricing Supplement after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case
of the First Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date,
provided that the Agreed Yield (as defined in Condition 5(b)(iii)(A)) in respect
of any Variable Rate Note for any Interest Period relating to that Variable Rate
Note shall be payable on the first day of that Interest Period.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which expression
shall, in these Conditions, mean the period from (and including) an Interest
Payment Date (or, in the case of the First Interest Payment Date, the Interest
Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or First) Interest Payment
Date).

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement
and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month on
which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date
would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business
Day Convention specified is:

(1) in any case where Interest Periods are specified in accordance with
Condition 5(b)(i)(B) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest
Payment Date (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a
Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (bb) below shall
apply mutatis mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to
the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event (aa) such Interest Payment Date shall be
brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (bb) each
subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the
month which falls in the Interest Period after the preceding applicable Interest
Payment Date occurred;

(2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be
postponed to the next day which is a Business Day;
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(3) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment
Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it
would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest
Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day; or

(4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall
be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Rate of Interest — Floating Rate Notes

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes
will be determined by reference to a Benchmark as stated, and in the manner
specified, in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The Calculation Agent will
determine the applicable Rate of Interest on the basis of the following provisions,
or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Where a Floating Rate Note is denominated in Singapore dollars and the
Benchmark specified is SIBOR, such Note will be a SIBOR Note, and where a
Floating Rate Note is denominated in Singapore dollars and the Benchmark
specified is Swap Rate, such Note will be a Swap Rate Note.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement
as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of
Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus
(as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any). For
the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest Period
means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the
Calculation Agent or other person specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent
or that other person were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap
transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA
Definitions as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche
of the Notes, published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. (the “ISDA Definitions”), and under which:

(1) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement;

(2) the Designated Maturity is a period equal to that Interest Period; and

(3) the relevant Reset Date is either (x) if the applicable Floating Rate
Option is based on the London inter bank offered rate (“LIBOR”) or on
the Euro-zone inter bank offered rate (“EURIBOR”) for a currency, the
first day of that Interest Period or (y) in any other case, as specified in
the applicable Pricing Supplement.

For the purposes of this sub paragraph (A), “Floating Rate”, “Calculation

Agent”, “Floating Rate Option”, “Designated Maturity” and “Reset Date”
have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.
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(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes that are Not SIBOR Notes
or Swap Rate Notes

)

(1

(1

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for
each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

(x) the offered quotation; or

(y) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal
place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered
quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate
which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen
Page as at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels
time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in
question (or such other time in any Relevant Financial Centre as may be
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any), all
as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered
quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or,
if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such
quotation) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest
quotation, one only of such quotation) shall be disregarded by the
Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean
(rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, sub-paragraph (1)(x)
applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen
Page or if sub paragraph (I)(y) above applies and fewer than three such
offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as
at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation
Agent shall request, if the Benchmark is LIBOR, the principal London
office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Benchmark is EURIBOR,
the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks, to
provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a
percentage rate per annum) for the Benchmark if the Benchmark is
LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), or if the Benchmark
is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Interest
Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks
provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of
Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such
offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent plus or minus
(as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any);

if paragraph (lI) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines
that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations,
subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic
mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as
communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the
Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were
offered, if the Benchmark is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m.
(London time) or, if the Benchmark is EURIBOR, at approximately
11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date,
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deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would
have been used for the Benchmark by leading banks in, if the
Benchmark is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the
Benchmark is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case
may be, plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing
Supplement) the Margin (if any); or, if fewer than two of the Reference
Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the Rate of
Interest shall be the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency
for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Benchmark, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in
the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been
used for the Benchmark, at which, if the Benchmark is LIBOR, at
approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Benchmark is
EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), on the relevant
Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or
banks is or are in the opinion of the Trustee and the Issuer suitable for
such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading
banks in, if the Benchmark is LIBOR, the London interbank market or, if
the Benchmark is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone interbank market, as the
case may be, plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing
Supplement) the Margin (if any); provided that, if the Rate of Interest
cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of
this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last
preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a
different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be
applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last
preceding Interest Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of
Interest relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin or
Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding
Interest Period); and

(IV) if the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes
is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than
LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be
determined as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(C) Screen Rate Determination for SIBOR Notes or Swap Rate Notes
() In the case of a SIBOR Note:

(aa) the Calculation Agent will, at or about the Relevant Time on the
relevant Interest Determination Date in respect of each Interest
Period, determine the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period
which shall be the offered rate for deposits in Singapore dollars
for a period equal to the duration of such Interest Period which
appears on Page ABSI on the monitor of the Bloomberg agency
under the caption “Swap Offer and SIBOR (ABSIRFIX)” and under
the column headed “SGD SIBOR” (or such other replacement
page thereof or such other Relevant Screen Page as may be
provided hereon) plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable
Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any);

(bb) if on any Interest Determination Date, no such rate appears on

the Page ABSI (or such other replacement page thereof), the
Calculation Agent will determine the Rate of Interest for such
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(cc)

(ee)

Interest Period which shall be the rate which appears on the
Reuters Screen ABSIRFIX01 Page under the caption “SIBOR
AND SWAP OFFER RATES — RATES AT 11:00 A.M. SINGAPORE
TIME” and under the column headed “SGD SIBOR?” (or such other
replacement page thereof or such other Relevant Screen Page as
may be provided hereon) plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any);

if no such rate appears on the Reuters Screen ABSIRFIX01 Page
(or such other replacement page thereof or such other Relevant
Screen Page as may be provided hereon) or if the Reuters Screen
ABSIRFIX01 Page (or such other replacement page thereof or
such other Relevant Screen Page as may be provided hereon) is
unavailable for any reason, the Calculation Agent will request the
principal Singapore offices of each of the Reference Banks to
provide the Calculation Agent with the rate at which deposits in
Singapore dollars are offered by it at approximately the Relevant
Time on the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the
Singapore inter-bank market for a period equivalent to the
duration of such Interest Period commencing on such Interest
Payment Date in an amount comparable to the aggregate
principal amount of the relevant Floating Rate Notes. The Rate of
Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean
(rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest 1/16 per cent.) of such
offered quotations, as determined by the Calculation Agent plus
or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the
Margin (if any);

if on any Interest Determination Date, two but not all the
Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such
quotations, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period
shall be determined in accordance with (cc) above on the basis of
the quotations of those Reference Banks providing such
quotations;

if on any Interest Determination Date, one only or none of the
Reference Banks provides the Calculation Agent with such
quotation, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period
shall be the rate per annum which the Calculation Agent
determines to be the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary,
to the nearest 1/16 per cent.) of the prime lending rates for
Singapore dollars quoted by the Reference Banks at or about the
Relevant Time on such Interest Determination Date plus or minus
(as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if
any); and

if paragraph (ee) above applies and the Calculation Agent
determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are quoting the
prime lending rates for Singapore Dollars on such Interest
Determination Date, the Rate of Interest shall be the Rate of
Interest determined on the previous Interest Determination Date.
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In the case of a Swap Rate Note:

(aa)

(cc)

the Calculation Agent will, at or about the Relevant Time on the
relevant Interest Determination Date in respect of each Interest
Period, determine the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period
which shall be the Average Swap Rate for such Interest Period
(determined by the Calculation Agent as being the rate which
appears on Page ABSI on the monitor of the Bloomberg agency
under the caption “Swap Offer and SIBOR (ABSIRFIX)” under the
column headed “SGD SWAP OFFER” (or such other page as may
replace Page ABSI for the purpose of displaying the swap rates of
leading reference banks or such other Relevant Screen Page as
may be provided hereon) at or about the Relevant Time on such
Interest Determination Date and for a period equal to the duration
of such Interest Period) plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any);

if on any Interest Determination Date, no such rate appears on
Page ABSI on the monitor of the Bloomberg agency (or such other
replacement page thereof or such other Relevant Screen Page as
may be provided hereon), the Calculation Agent will determine
the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period which shall be the
Average Swap Rate for such Interest Period (determined by the
Calculation Agent as being the rate which appears on the Reuters
Screen ABSFIX1 Page under the caption “SGD SOR RATES AT
11:00 A.M. LONDON TIME” and under the column headed “SGD
SOR” (or such other page as may replace the Reuters Screen
ABSFIX1 Page for the purpose of displaying the swap rates of
leading reference banks or such other Relevant Screen Page as
may be provided hereon) at or about the Relevant Time on such
Interest Determination Date and for a period equal to the duration
of such Interest Period) plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any);

if on any Interest Determination Date, no such rate is quoted on
Reuters Screen ABSFIX1 Page (or such other replacement page
thereof or such other Relevant Screen Page as may be provided
hereon) or if the Reuters Screen ABSFIX1 Page (or such other
replacement page thereof or such other Relevant Screen Page as
may be provided hereon) is unavailable for any reason, the
Calculation Agent will determine the Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period which shall be the Average Swap Rate for such
Interest Period (determined by the Calculation Agent as being the
rate (or, if there is more than one rate which is published, the
arithmetic mean of those rates (rounded up, if necessary, to four
decimal places)) for a period equal to the duration of such Interest
Period published by a recognised industry body where such rate
is widely used (after taking into account the industry practice at
that time), or by such other relevant authority as the Calculation
Agent may select) plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable
Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any);
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(dd) if on any Interest Determination Date, the Calculation Agent is
otherwise unable to determine the Rate of Interest under (aa),
(bb) or (cc) above, the Calculation Agent will request the principal
Singapore offices of the Reference Banks to provide the
Calculation Agent with quotations of their cost of funding
(including the cost occasioned by or attributable to complying with
reserves, liquidity, deposit or other requirements imposed on
them by any relevant authority or authorities) for the relevant
Interest Period and for an amount equal to the aggregate principal
amount of the relevant Floating Rate Notes for such Interest
Period by whatever means they determine to be most
appropriate. If two or more of such Reference Banks provide the
Calculation Agent with such offered quotations at or about
11.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the first business day following
such Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if
necessary, to four decimal places) of such offered quotations per
annum (expressed as a percentage) as determined by the
Calculation Agent plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable
Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any). If fewer than two
Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, the Rate of
Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the arithmetic
mean (rounded up, if necessary, to four decimal places) of the
rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated
to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the principal
Singapore offices of the Reference Banks of their prime lending
rates for Singapore dollars at approximately 11.00 a.m.
(Singapore time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date,
plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement)
the Margin (if any); and

(ee) if the final sentence of paragraph (dd) above applies and the
Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two Reference
Banks are quoting the prime lending rates for Singapore Dollars
on such Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest shall be
the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest
Determination Date.

(iii) Rate of Interest — Variable Rate Notes

(A)

(B)

Each Variable Rate Note bears interest at a variable rate determined in
accordance with the provisions of this Condition 5(b)(iii). The interest payable
in respect of a Variable Rate Note for each Interest Period relating to that
Variable Rate Note, which shall be payable on the first day of such Interest
Period, is referred to in this Conditions as the “Agreed Yield” and the rate of
interest payable in respect of a Variable Rate Note on the last day of an
Interest Period relating to that Variable Rate Note is referred to in these
Conditions as the “Rate of Interest”.

The Agreed Yield or, as the case may be, the Rate of Interest payable from
time to time in respect of each Variable Rate Note for each Interest Period,

subject as referred to in paragraph (D) below, shall be determined as follows:

(x) not earlier than 9.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the ninth Business Day
nor later than 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the fifth Business Day prior
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(©)

(D)

to the commencement of each Interest Period, the Issuer and the
Relevant Dealer (as defined below) shall endeavour to agree on the
following:

(1) whether interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note is to be paid
on the first day or the last day of such Interest Period;

(2) if interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note is agreed between
the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer to be paid on the first day of
such Interest Period, an Agreed Yield in respect of such Variable
Rate Note for such Interest Period (and, in the event of the Issuer
and the Relevant Dealer so agreeing on such Agreed Yield, the
Rate of Interest for such Variable Rate Note for such Interest
Period shall be zero); and

(8) if interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note is agreed between
the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer to be paid on the last day of
such Interest Period, a Rate of Interest in respect of such Variable
Rate Note for such Interest Period (an “Agreed Rate”) and, in the
event of the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer so agreeing on an
Agreed Rate, such Agreed Rate shall be the Rate of Interest for
such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period; and

(y) if the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer shall not have agreed either an
Agreed Yield or an Agreed Rate in respect of such Variable Rate Note
for such Interest Period by 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the fifth
Business Day prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, or if
there shall be no Relevant Dealer during the period for agreement
referred to in (x) above, the Rate of Interest for such Variable Rate Note
for such Interest Period shall automatically be the Fall Back Rate.

The Issuer has undertaken to the Principal Paying Agent and the Calculation
Agent that it will as soon as possible after the Agreed Yield or, as the case
may be, the Agreed Rate in respect of any Variable Rate Note is determined
but not later than 10.30 a.m. (Singapore time) on the next following Business
Day:

(x) notify, or cause the Relevant Dealer to notify, the Principal Paying Agent
and the Calculation Agent in writing of the Agreed Yield or, as the case
may be, the Agreed Rate for such Variable Rate Note for such Interest
Period; and

(y) cause such Agreed Yield or, as the case may be, the Agreed Rate for
such Variable Rate Note to be notified by the Principal Paying Agent to
the relevant Noteholder at its request.

For the purposes of paragraph (B) above, the Rate of Interest for each
Interest Period for which there is neither an Agreed Yield nor Agreed Rate in
respect of any Variable Rate Note or no Relevant Dealer in respect of the
Variable Rate Note shall be the rate (the “Fall Back Rate”) determined by
reference to a Benchmark as stated on the face of such Variable Rate
Note(s), being (in the case of Variable Rate Notes which are denominated in
Singapore dollars) SIBOR (in which case such Variable Rate Note(s) will be
SIBOR Note(s)) or Swap Rate (in which case such Variable Rate Note(s) will
be Swap Rate Note(s)) or (in any other case or in the case of Variable Rate
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Notes which are denominated in a currency other than Singapore dollars)
such other Benchmark as set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement for
such Variable Rate Note(s), in each case plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any).

(E) The Fall Back Rate payable from time to time in respect of each Variable Rate
Note will be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
provisions of Condition 5(b)(ii)(C) above (mutatis mutandis) and references
therein to “Rate of Interest” shall mean “Fall Back Rate”.

(F) Ifinterest is payable in respect of a Variable Rate Note on the first day of an
Interest Period relating to such Variable Rate Note, the Issuer will pay the
Agreed Yield applicable to such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period
on the first day of such Interest Period. If interest is payable in respect of a
Variable Rate Note on the last day of an Interest Period relating to such
Variable Rate Note, the Issuer will pay the Interest Amount for such Variable
Rate Note for such Interest Period on the last day of such Interest Period.

Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any
Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such
Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5(b)(ii)
is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest
Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any
Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such
Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5(b)(ii)
is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

(c) Interest on Hybrid Notes

(i)

Interest Rate and Accrual

Each Hybrid Note bears interest on its calculation amount specified hereon (or, if
no such amount is so specified, the Specified Denomination) (the “Calculation
Amount”) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date in respect
thereof and as shown on the face of such Note.

Fixed Rate Period

(A) In respect of the Fixed Rate Period shown on the face of such Note, each
Hybrid Note bears interest on its Calculation Amount from (and including) the
first day of the Fixed Rate Period at the rate per annum equal to the Rate of
Interest shown on the face of such Note payable in arrear on the Specified
Interest Payment Date(s) (each, an “Interest Payment Date”) shown on the
face of the Note in each year up to (and including) the last day of the Fixed
Rate Period if that date does not fall on an Interest Payment Date.

(B) The first payment of interest will be made on the Interest Payment Date next
following the first day of the Fixed Rate Period (and if the first day of the Fixed
Rate Period is not an Interest Payment Date, will amount to the Initial Broken
Amount shown on the face of such Note), unless the last day of the Fixed

73



()

Rate Period falls before the date on which the first payment of interest would
otherwise be due. If the last day of the Fixed Rate Period is not an Interest
Payment Date, interest from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment
Date (or from the first day of the Fixed Rate Period, as the case may be) to
(and including) the last day of the Fixed Rate Period will amount to the Final
Broken Amount shown on the face of the Note.

During the Fixed Rate Period, interest shall be calculated in respect of any
period by applying the Rate of Interest to the aggregate outstanding nominal
amount of the Hybrid Notes (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate
amount paid up) and multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count
Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the
relevant Specified Currency.

(i) Floating Rate Period

(A)

In respect of the Floating Rate Period shown on the face of such Note, each
Hybrid Note bears interest on its Calculation Amount from (and including) the
first day of the Floating Rate Period, and such interest will be payable in
arrear on each interest payment date (each an “Interest Payment Date”).
Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either specified hereon as Specified
Interest Payment Date(s) or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are
specified hereon, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls on
the date following the number of months or other period specified as the
Interest Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement after the preceding
Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after
the first day of the Floating Rate Period.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the
calendar month on which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any
Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business
Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

(1) the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (i) in the
case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the
relevant month and the provisions of (bb) below shall apply mutatis
mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next
day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event (aa) such Interest Payment Date shall
be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and
(bb) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business
Day in the month which falls in the Interest Period after the preceding
applicable Interest Payment Date occurred;

(2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date
shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day;

(8) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest
Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business
Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which
event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day; or
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(d)

(4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date
shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

(B) The period from (and including) the first day of the Floating Rate Period to
(but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period
from (and including) an Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the next
succeeding Interest Payment Date is herein called an “Interest Period”.

(C) The provisions of Condition 5(b)(ii) (Rate of Interest — Floating Rate Notes)
shall apply to each Hybrid Note during the Floating Rate Period as though
references therein to Floating Rate Notes are references to Hybrid Notes.

Interest on Zero Coupon Notes

In the case of Zero Coupon Notes, references to the amount of interest payable (other
than as provided below), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.
Where a Zero Coupon Note becomes repayable prior to its Maturity Date and is not paid
when due, the amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Early
Redemption Amount of such Note. Where a Zero Coupon Note is to be redeemed on its
Maturity Date, any overdue principal in respect of such Note shall bear interest at a rate
per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield specified on
such Note.

Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Calculation Agent will, on or as soon as practicable after each time at which the
Rate of Interest is to be determined on each Floating Rate Note, Variable Rate Note or
Hybrid Note, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period and the
relevant Interest Payment Date. The Principal Calculation Agent will also calculate the
amount of interest (the “Interest Amount”) payable on each Floating Rate Note,
Variable Rate Note or Hybrid Note for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate
of Interest to its outstanding nominal amount (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the
aggregate amount paid up) and multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count
Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub unit of the relevant
Specified Currency.

The Calculation Agent shall notify the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent of the
Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period, the Interest Amount and the relevant
Interest Payment Date as soon as practicable after determining the same but in any
event not later than four business days after each Interest Determination Date.

Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Principal Paying Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for
each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer
as soon as practicable after their determination but in no event later than the fourth
business day in the jurisdiction of the Principal Paying Agent (being a day (other than
a Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) on which banks and foreign exchange
markets are open for general business in the jurisdiction of the Principal Paying Agent)
thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may
subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of
adjustment) in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such
amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange or competent listing
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authority on or by which the relevant Floating Rate Notes, Variable Rate Notes or Hybrid
Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 15 (Notices).

Cessation of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such
Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the due date for its final redemption
unless, upon due surrender of the relevant Note, payment of principal is improperly
withheld or refused.

Default Interest

If on or after the due date for payment of any sum in respect of the Notes, payment of
all or any part of such sum is not made against due presentation of the Notes or, as the
case may be, the Coupons, the Issuer shall pay interest on the amount so unpaid (as
well after as before judgment) from such due date up to the earlier of (i) day of actual
receipt by the relevant Noteholders or, as the case may be, Couponholders and (ii) the
day which is seven days after the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee has notified the
Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh
day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment) in
accordance with Condition 15 (Notices). Such interest shall be at a rate per annum
determined by the Principal Paying Agent to be equal to two per cent. per annum above
(in the case of a Fixed Rate Note or a Hybrid Note during the Fixed Rate Period) the
Interest Rate applicable to such Note, (in the case of a Floating Rate Note or a Hybrid
Note during the Floating Rate Period) the Rate of Interest applicable to such Note or (in
the case of a Variable Rate Note) the variable rate by which the Agreed Yield applicable
to such Note is determined or, as the case may be, the Rate of Interest applicable to
such Note, or in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, as provided for in the relevant Pricing
Supplement. So long as the default continues then such rate shall be re-calculated on
the same basis at intervals of such duration as the Principal Paying Agent may select,
save that the amount of unpaid interest at the above rate accruing during the preceding
such period shall be added to the amount in respect of which the Issuer is in default and
itself bear interest accordingly. Interest at the rate(s) determined in accordance with this
paragraph shall be calculated on the Day Count Fraction shown on the face of the Note
and the actual number of days elapsed, shall accrue on a daily basis and shall be
immediately due and payable by the Issuer.

Calculation Agent

The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents
if provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as
defined in the Trust Deed). Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in
respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be
construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under the
Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the
Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period or to
calculate any Interest Amount, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall
(with the prior approval of the Trustee or an Extraordinary Resolution of holders of the
Notes) appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the inter-bank market
(or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most
closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation
Agent (acting through its principal Singapore office or any other office actively involved
in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its
duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

76



Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this
Condition 5 (Interest) whether by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent,
shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the
Issuer, the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent (if applicable), the
other Paying Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders, and (in the absence as
aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and the Couponholders
shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent (if applicable) in
connection with the exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such
provisions.

Definitions

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms
shall have the meanings set out below:

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in
accordance with Condition 5 (/nterest) for any period of time (from and including the first
day of such period to but excluding the last day of such period) (whether or not
constituting an Interest Period, the “Calculation Period”):

(iy if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

(A) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from
(and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the
Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date
(the “Accrual Period”) is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period
during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination
Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; or

(B) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the
Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends:

(1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination
Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of
(x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number
of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; and

(2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next
Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days
in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates
that would occur in one calendar year;

(i) if “Actual/Actual”’, “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” or “Actual/365” is specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Calculation
Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap
year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation
Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in
that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non leap year divided by 365);
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if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the
actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;

if “Actual/360” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual
number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360
calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[[360 x (Yo, = Y4)] + [30 x (My — My)] + (D, — Dy)]
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period,
unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last
day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1
is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360
calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[[360 x (Y, — Y4)] + [30 x (My - My)] + (D — D4)]
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
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(vii)

(viii)

“D4” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period,
unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last
day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which
case D2 will be 30;

if “‘30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number
of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as
follows:

[[360 x (Y, = Y4)] + [30 x (My — My)] + (D, - Dy)]
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D4” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period,
unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in
which case D1 will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last
day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of
February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case
D2 will be 30;

such other day count fraction as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

“Determination Period” means the period from (and including) an Interest
Determination Date to (but excluding) the next following Interest Determination
Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest
Payment Date is not an Interest Determination Date, the period commencing on
the first Interest Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Interest
Determination Date falling after, such date);

“euro” means the currency of the member states of the European Union that adopt
the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European
Community, as amended from time to time;

“Euro-zone” means the region comprising member states of the European Union

that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the
European Community, as amended;
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“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may
be specified hereon;

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and
Interest Period, the date specified as such hereon;

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal
London office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market and, in the case
of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks
in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent
or as specified hereon and, in the case of a determination of SIBOR or SOR, the
principal Singapore office of three major banks in the Singapore inter-bank market;

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon;

“Relevant Dealer’ means the Dealer party to the Programme Agreement referred
to in the Agency Agreement with whom the Issuer has concluded an agreement for
the issue of Notes pursuant to the Programme Agreement;

“Relevant Financial Centre” means the financial centre specified hereon or, if
none is so specified, Singapore;

“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part
of a particular information service as may be specified hereon;

“Relevant Time” means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local
time in the Relevant Financial Centre specified hereon or, if none is specified, the
local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine
bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the Relevant Currency in the
interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre or, if no such customary local
time exists, 11.00 a.m. in the Relevant Financial Centre and, for the purpose of this
definition “local time” means, with respect to the Euro-zone as a Relevant
Financial Centre, Central European Time;

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is
specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated; and

“sub-unit” means, with respect to any currency the lowest amount of such
currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with
respect to euro, means one cent.

6. REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

(a)

Scheduled Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note
will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner
specified in, the applicable Pricing Supplement in the relevant Specified Currency on
the Maturity Date specified hereon (in the case of a Note other than a Floating Rate
Note, Variable Rate Note or a Hybrid Note (during the Floating Rate Period)) or on the
Interest Payment Date falling in the Redemption Month specified hereon (in the case of
a Floating Rate Note, Variable Rate Note or a Hybrid Note (during the Floating Rate
Period)), subject as provided in Condition 7 (Payments).
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(b)

Redemption for Taxation Reasons

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any
time (in the case of Notes other than Floating Rate Notes) or on any Interest Payment
Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60
days’ notice to the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent in accordance with
Condition 15 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable) at its Early Redemption
Amount, together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption,
if, immediately before giving such notice, the Issuer satisfies the Trustee that:

(i) it has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts as provided or referred to
in Condition 8 (Taxation) or a Guarantor would be unable for reasons outside its
control to procure that the Issuer is able to make payment and in making payment
itself would be required to pay Additional Amounts, in each case as a result of any
change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Taxing
Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8 (Taxation)), or any change in the application
or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment
becomes effective (A) with respect to the Issuer or any initial Guarantor, on or after
the Programme Establishment Date, or (B) with respect to any future Guarantor,
on or after the date such future Guarantor becomes a Guarantor; and

(ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor) taking reasonable measures available to it,

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to
the earliest date on which the Issuer or such Guarantor would be obliged to pay such
Additional Amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due, and provided
further that where any such requirements to pay such Additional Amounts are in
consequence of the laws and treaties of the PRC or any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein, the Issuer will be permitted to redeem the Notes in
accordance with the provisions above only if the rate of withholding or deduction in
respect of which such Additional Amounts are required is in excess of the Additional
Amounts that the Issuer would be required to pay if payments in respect of the Notes
were subject to deduction or withholding for PRC taxes at a rate of 10.0%.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the
Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (x) a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer
stating that the obligation referred to in (ii) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking
reasonable measures available to it, and (y) an opinion of independent legal advisers
of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay
such Additional Amounts as a result of such change or amendment, and the Trustee
shall be entitled to rely on and accept such certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence
of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set out in (ii) above in which event it shall
be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders.

Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this Condition 6(b) (Redemption

for Taxation Reasons), the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes in accordance
with this Condition 6(b) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons).
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(c)

Redemption upon Cessation or Suspension of Trading of Shares

If on any date, (i) the ordinary shares of the Issuer cease to be traded on the HKSE or
(i) trading in the ordinary shares of the Issuer on the HKSE is suspended for a
continuous period of more than 10 market days (or, in the case of any suspension of
trading (x) pending the release of any announcement in respect of any matter not
involving the matters described in Condition 10(g) which the Issuer is required to
disclose under the Listing Rules of the HKSE, or (y) for purposes of compliance by the
Issuer under The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong or under any insider trading laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, more than 40 market days), the Issuer shall, at the option of
the holder of any Note, redeem such Note at its Early Redemption Amount, together
with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption on any date on
which interest is due to be paid on such Notes or, if earlier, the date falling 45 days after
the Effective Date (the “Suspension of Shares Redemption Date”).

The Issuer shall within seven days after the Effective Date, give notice to the Trustee,
the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders of the occurrence of the event specified
in this Condition 6(c) (provided that any failure by the Issuer to give such notice shall
not prejudice any Noteholder of such option). To exercise such option, the holder must
deposit such Note (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons, if
any) with the Principal Paying Agent at its specified office, together with an Exercise
Notice in the form obtainable from the Principal Paying Agent or the lIssuer (as
applicable) not later than 21 days after the Effective Date (the “Exercise Period”). Any
Note so deposited may not be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement)
without the prior consent of the Issuer.

In this Condition 6(c):

(1) “Effective Date” means (in the case of (i) above) the date of cessation of trading
or (in the case of (ii) above) the business day immediately following the expiry of
such continuous period of 10 market days or 40 market days, as the case may be;

(2) “HKSE” means the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited; and
(8) “market days” means a day on which the HKSE is open for securities trading.
Redemption Upon a Change of Control

Upon a Change of Control, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note,
redeem such Note at 101.0% of the Redemption Amount or (in the case of Zero Coupon
Notes) 101.0% of the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 6(i) below),
together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption on the
date falling 45 days after a Change of Control (the “Change of Control Redemption
Date”).

The Issuer shall within seven days after a Change of Control, give notice (the “Change
of Control Notice”) to the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders of
the occurrence of the event specified in this Condition 6(d) and the Change of Control
Redemption Date (provided that any failure by the Issuer to give such notice shall not
prejudice any Noteholder of such option). To exercise such option, the holder must
deposit such Note (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons, if
any) with the Principal Paying Agent at its specified office, together with an Exercise
Notice in the form obtainable from the Principal Paying Agent or the lIssuer (as
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applicable) not later than 21 days after the Change of Control Notice is given (the
“Exercise Period”). Any Note so deposited may not be withdrawn (except as provided
in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

If the Issuer is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as having an option to
redeem the Notes, the Issuer may, at any time during the Redemption Option Period,
having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) (which notices shall be irrevocable and shall
specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem the Notes on the Optional Redemption
Date(s) and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the
manner specified in, the applicable Pricing Supplement together, if appropriate, with
interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date(s). Any such
redemption must be of a nominal amount equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount or
a Maximum Redemption Amount, in each case as indicated in the applicable Pricing
Supplement. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the serial numbers of the
Notes to be redeemed will be published in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) not
less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. The Notes shall be selected for
redemption in such place as the Trustee may approve and in such manner as it deems
appropriate, subject to all applicable laws. So long as the Notes are listed on any Stock
Exchange (as defined in the Trust Deed), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of such
Stock Exchange in relation to the publication of any purchase of such Notes.

Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders

If the Noteholders are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as having an
option to redeem, the Issuer will, at the option of the holder of any Note, redeem such
Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount
specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Pricing
Supplement, together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the
Optional Redemption Date.

To exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must
deliver, at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business
hours of such Paying Agent on a Business Day that is not less than five nor more than
10 days prior to the Optional Redemption Date falling within the Redemption Option
Period specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, a duly completed and signed
redemption notice (a “Put Notice”) in the form obtainable from the Specified Office of
any Paying Agent and in which the holder must specify a bank account (or, if payment
is required to be made by cheque, an address) to which payment is to be made under
this Condition accompanied by this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent
concerned that this Note will, following delivery of the relevant Put Notice, be held to its
order or under its control.

If this Note is represented by a Global Note, to exercise the right to require redemption
of this Note the holder of this Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the
relevant Paying Agent of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, CDP and CMU (which may include notice being
given on his instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common
depositary for them, or by CDP to the Principal Paying Agent by electronic means or by
CMU to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent) in a form acceptable to Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg, CDP and CMU from time to time and, if this Note is
represented by a Global Note, at the same time present or procure the presentation of
the relevant Global Note to the relevant Paying Agent for notation accordingly.
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(9)

(i)

Purchase of Variable Rate Note at the Option of the Noteholder

Each Noteholder shall have the option to have all or any of his Variable Rate Notes
purchased by the Issuer at their Redemption Amount on any Interest Payment Date and
the Issuer will purchase such Variable Rate Notes accordingly. To exercise such option,
a Noteholder shall deposit any Variable Rate Notes to be purchased with the Principal
Paying Agent at its specified office together with all Coupons and any unexchanged
Talons, if any, relating to such Variable Rate Notes which mature after the date fixed for
purchase, together with a duly completed option exercise notice in the form obtainable
from the Principal Paying Agent within the Noteholders’ VRN Purchase Option Period
shown on the face hereof. Any Variable Rate Notes so deposited may not be withdrawn
(except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.
Such Variable Rate Notes may be held, resold or surrendered to the Principal Paying
Agent for cancellation. The Variable Rate Notes so purchased, while held by or on
behalf of the Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the
Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating
quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Conditions 10 (Events
of Default), 11 (Enforcement) and 12 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modifications and
Waivers).

Purchase

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase or procure others to
purchase for its account Notes (provided that they are purchased together with all
unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons, if any, relating to them) in the open
market or otherwise and at any price, provided that in any such case such purchase or
purchases is in compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives.

The Notes so purchased may be held or resold or surrendered for cancellation at the
option of the Issuer or otherwise, as the case may be in compliance with Condition 6(k)
(Cancellation of Notes) below. The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of
the Issuer or any such Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meeting of
the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of
calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of
Condition 12(a) (Meetings of Noteholders). Any purchase by tender shall be made
available to all Noteholders alike.

For the purposes of these Conditions, “directive” includes any present or future
directive, regulation, request, requirement, rule or credit restraint programme of any
relevant agency, authority, central bank department, government, legislative, minister,
ministry, official public or statutory corporation, self-regulating organisation, or stock
exchange.

Early Redemption Amount for Zero Coupon Notes

(i) The Early Redemption Amount in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, the Early
Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or formula, upon
redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(b) (Redemption for Taxation
Reasons) or Condition 6(c) (Redemption upon Cessation or Suspension of Trading
of Shares) or Condition 6(d) (Redemption Upon a Change of Control), or upon its
becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 (Events of Default), shall
be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note unless
otherwise specified hereon.
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(i) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (iii) below, the Amortised Face Amount
of any such Note shall be the scheduled Redemption Amount of such Note on the
Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal
to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as
would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if
they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded
annually.

(iii) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its
redemption pursuant to Condition 6(b) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons) or
Condition 6(c) (Redemption upon Cessation or Suspension of Trading of Shares),
or 101% of the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note
upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 6(d) (Redemption Upon a Change of
Control), or the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of such Note upon
its becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 (Events of Default), in
each case is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount in respect of such
Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined in
sub-paragraph (ii) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as
though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant
Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this
sub-paragraph will continue to be made (as well after as before judgment) until the
Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in
which case the amount due and payable shall be calculated based on the
scheduled Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with
any interest which may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c) (/nterest on Zero
Coupon Notes).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made
on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown on the face of the Note.

Early Redemption Amount for Notes Other Than Zero Coupon Notes

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note other than a Zero Coupon
Note shall be as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Cancellation of Notes

All Notes together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons, if any, which
are redeemed pursuant to Conditions 6(b) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons) to
6(f) (Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders) or submitted for cancellation
pursuant to Condition 6(g) (Purchase of Variable Rate Notes at the Option of the
Noteholders) or Condition 6(h) (Purchase) will be cancelled and may not be reissued or
resold.

PAYMENTS

(a)

Bearer Notes

(i) Principal and Interest
Payment of principal and interest in respect of each Bearer Note will, subject as
mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant

Bearer Note or Coupon, as the case may be, at the Specified Office of the Principal
Paying Agent:
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(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

(E)

in respect of payments denominated in U.S. dollars, at the option of the
holder, either by a U.S. dollar cheque drawn on, or by transfer to a U.S. dollar
account maintained by the payee with, a bank outside the United States of
America;

in respect of payments denominated in euro, at the option of the holder, either
by a euro cheque drawn on, or by transfer to a euro account maintained by
the payee with, a bank in the principal financial centre of any member state
of the European Union;

in respect of payments of denominated in Renminbi, by transfer to a
Renminbi account maintained by the payee with a bank in Hong Kong or
Singapore that processes payments in Renminbi, except that payments of the
U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the relevant Renminbi amount, determined in
accordance with Condition 7(h) (Payment of U.S. Dollar Equivalent), shall be
made by transfer to an account maintained by the payee with a bank outside
the United States of America;

in respect of payments denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S.
dollars, euro or Renminbi, at the option of the holder, either by a cheque
denominated in such Specified Currency drawn on, or by transfer to an
account in such Specified Currency maintained by the payee with, a bank in
the Relevant Financial Centre of such Specified Currency; or

as may otherwise be specified on such Note.

Unmatured Coupons and Unexchanged Talons

(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

Fixed Rate Notes and Hybrid Notes should be surrendered for payment
together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating to such Notes (and, in
the case of Hybrid Notes, relating to interest payable during the Fixed Rate
Period), failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing
unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that
proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum
of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) will be deducted from the
relevant amount due for payment. Any amount so deducted will be paid in the
manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a
period of five years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal
(whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 9
(Prescription)).

Subject to the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement upon the due
date for redemption of any Floating Rate Note, Variable Rate Note or Hybrid
Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (and, in the case of Hybrid
Notes, relating to interest payable during the Floating Rate Period) (whether
or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect
of them.

Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any unexchanged Talon
relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no
Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.

Where any Floating Rate Note, Variable Rate Note or Hybrid Note is

presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons relating to it, and
where any Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon
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(iii)

relating to it (and, in the case of Hybrid Notes, relating to interest payable
during the Floating Rate Period), redemption of such Note shall be made only
against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.

(E) If the due date for redemption or repayment of any Note is not a due date for
payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for
payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be,
shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of
the relevant Note.

Talons

If specified hereon, on or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon
forming part of the Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Note, the Talon forming
part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the
Principal Paying Agent on any business day in exchange for a further Coupon
sheet (but excluding any Coupons which may have become void pursuant to
Condition 9 (Prescription)) and, if necessary, another Talon for a further Coupon
sheet.

(b) Registered Notes

(i)

Principal and Interest

Payment of principal and interest in respect of each Registered Note will be made
to the person shown in the Register at the close of business on the Record Date
(as defined below) and, in the case of payment of principal, subject to the
surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Note
Certificate at the Specified Office of the Registrar or of any Paying Agent:

(A) inrespect of payments denominated in euro, at the option of the holder, either
by a euro cheque drawn on, or by transfer to a euro account maintained by
the payee with, a bank in the principal financial centre of any member state
of the European Union;

(B) in respect of payments of denominated in Renminbi, by transfer to a
Renminbi account maintained by the payee with a bank in Hong Kong or
Singapore that processes payments in Renminbi, except that payments of the
U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the relevant Renminbi amount, determined in
accordance with Condition 7(h) (Payment of U.S. Dollar Equivalent), shall be
made at the option of the holder, either by a cheque denominated in U.S.
dollars drawn on, or by transfer to an account in U.S. dollars maintained by
the payee with, a bank in New York City or outside the United States of
America;

(C) inrespect of payments denominated in a Specified Currency other than euro
or Renminbi, at the option of the holder, either by a cheque denominated in
such Specified Currency drawn on, or by transfer to an account in such
Specified Currency maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Relevant
Financial Centre of such Specified Currency; or

(D) as may otherwise be specified on such Note.
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All such cheques shall be mailed to the holder of the relevant Note at his address
appearing in the Register. However, upon application by the holder to the
Specified Office of the Registrar or any Paying Agent not less than 15 days before
the due date for any payment in respect of a Note, such payment may be made by
transfer to, in respect of payments denominated in euro, a euro account
maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of any
member state of the European Union, or in respect of payments denominated in a
Specified Currency other than euro or Renminbi, an account in such Specified
Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the Relevant Financial Centre of
such Specified Currency.

(i) Record Date

“Record Date” means the fifteenth day before the due date for the relevant
payment.

So long as the Notes are represented by a Global Certificate and the Global
Cetrtificate is registered in the name of, or in the name of a nominee of, a common
depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the “Record Date” for
such Notes shall be the close of business on the Business Day before the due date
for such payment.

(iii) Payments

Where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed, on the
business day preceding the due date for payment or, in the case of payments
referred of principal, if later, on the business day on which the relevant Note
Certificate is surrendered (or endorsed as the case may be) as specified in
Condition 7(b)(i) (Principal and Interest (Registered Notes)) at the risk and, if
mailed at the request of the holder otherwise than by ordinary mail, expense of the
holder.

Where payment is to be made by transfer to a bank account, payment instructions
(for value the due date, or, if the due date is not a business day, for value the next
succeeding business day) will be initiated, in the case of principal, on the later of
the due date for payment and the day on which the relevant Note Certificate is
surrendered (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsed) and, in the case of
interest and other amounts on the due date for payment.

Notes Held in the CMU

Payments of principal, premium and interest in respect of Notes held in the CMU will be
made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Note are credited
as being held with the CMU in accordance with the CMU Rules at the relevant time as
notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU in a relevant CMU
Instrument Position Report or any other relevant notification by the CMU, which
notification shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU (save in the case of
manifest error) and payment made in accordance thereof shall discharge the
obligations of the Issuer in respect of that payment. Each of such persons must look
solely to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent for his share of each payment so made by
the Issuer in respect of such Notes.
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(d)

Agents

The names of the initial Principal Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the Registrar
and their Specified Offices are set out below. The Issuer and each Guarantor reserve
the right under the Agency Agreement at any time by giving to the Principal Paying
Agent and any other agent concerned at least 60 days’ prior written notice, which notice
shall expire at least 30 days before or after any due date for payment in respect of the
Notes, to vary or terminate the appointment of or remove any Paying Agent, Transfer
Agent or Registrar and to appoint successor or additional Paying Agents, Transfer
Agents or Registrars, provided that it will at all times maintain:

(iy a Principal Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent;
(ii) one or more Calculation Agents where the Conditions so require;

(iii) for so long as any of the Notes is listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the
SGX-ST so require, a Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent with a Specified Office
in Singapore;

(iv) a Paying Agent and a Transfer Agent with a Specified Office in a European Union
member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to
European Union Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income
in the form of interest payments or any law implementing or complying with, or
introduced in order to conform to, such Directive;

(v) a CMU Lodging and Paying Agent in relation to Notes cleared through the CMU;
and

(vi) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes.

Notice of any such removal or appointment and of any change in the Specified Office
of any Paying Agent, Transfer Agent or Registrar will be given to Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) as soon as practicable.

Payments subject to Fiscal Laws

All payments in respect of the Notes are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or
other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the
provisions of Condition 8 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to
the Noteholders in respect of such payments.

Delay in Payment

Noteholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment in respect of any delay
in payment resulting from (i) the due date for payment not being a business day or (ii) a
cheque mailed in accordance with this Condition 7 (Payments) arriving after the due
date for payment or being lost in the mail.

Payment Day
If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note is not a Business Day, the
holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Business Day in

the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in
respect of such delay. Interpretation of Principal and Interest.
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Any reference in these Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed
to include, as applicable:

(i) any Additional Amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under
Condition 8 (Taxation);

(i) the Redemption Amount of the Notes;
(iii) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;
(iv) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes;

(v) inrelation to Notes redeemable in part, the Minimum Redemption Amount and the
Maximum Redemption Amount;

(vi) in relation to Notes redeemable in instalments, the Instalment Amounts;

(vii) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in
Condition 6(i)); and

(viii) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable
by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in these Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed
to include, as applicable, any Additional Amounts which may be payable with respect to
interest under Condition 8 (Taxation).

Payment of U.S. Dollar Equivalent

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, if an Inconvertibility, Non-
Transferability or Illiquidity occurs or if Renminbi is otherwise not available to the Issuer
as a result of circumstances beyond its control and such unavailability has been
confirmed by a Renminbi Dealer, following which the Issuer is unable to satisfy
payments of principal, premium or interest (in whole or in part) in respect of Notes when
due in Renminbi, the Issuer on giving not less than 10 days’ nor more than 30 days’
irrevocable notice to Noteholders prior to the due date for payment may settle any such
payment (in whole or in part) in U.S. dollars on the due date at the U.S. Dollar
Equivalent of any such Renminbi denominated amount. The due date for payment shall
be the originally scheduled due date or such postponed due date as shall be specified
in the notice referred to above, which postponed due date may not fall more than 20
days after the originally scheduled due date. Interest on such Notes will continue to
accrue up to but excluding any such date for payment of principal.

In such event, payments of the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the relevant Renminbi amount
shall be made in accordance with Condition 7(a)(i) or Condition 7(b)(i), as the case may
be, and, in addition, in the case of Notes that are held in the CMU, in accordance with
Condition 7(c) (Notes Held in the CMU). For the avoidance of doubt, no such payment
shall by itself constitute a default in payment within the meaning of Condition 10 (Events
of Default).
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For the purposes of the Conditions:

“Governmental Authority” means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency
or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental
authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the
financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong.

“lliquidity” means the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong becomes
illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to
satisfy its obligation to pay principal, premium or interest in respect of the Notes, other
than as a result of an event of Inconvertibility or Non-Transferability, as determined by
the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation
with two Renminbi Dealers.

“Inconvertibility” means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible (where
it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of
Notes denominated in Renminbi in the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong
Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to
comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless
such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the
Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law or regulation).

“Non-Transferability” means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for
the Issuer to deliver Renminbi between accounts inside Hong Kong or from any account
inside Hong Kong to an account outside Hong Kong, other than where such
impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or
regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation
is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event
beyond its control, to comply with such law or regulation).

“Rate Calculation Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or
gazetted public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for general business
(including dealings in foreign exchange) in Hong Kong and in New York.

“Rate Calculation Date” means the day which is five Rate Calculation Business Days
before the due date for payment of the relevant Renminbi amount under the Conditions.

“Renminbi Dealer” means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international
repute active in the Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong reasonably selected by
the Issuer.

“RMB Rate Calculation Agent” means the agent appointed from time to time by the
Issuer for the determination of the Spot Rate or identified as such in the relevant Pricing
Supplement.

“Spot Rate” for a Rate Calculation Date means the spot CNY/U.S. dollar exchange rate
for the purchase of U.S. dollars with Renminbi in the over-the-counter Renminbi
exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement on the relevant due date for payment, as
determined by the RMB Rate Calculation Agent at or around 11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) on such Rate Calculation Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters
Screen Page CNHFIX=. If such rate is not available, the RMB Rate Calculation Agent
will determine the Spot Rate at or around 11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Rate
Calculation Date as the most recently available CNY/U.S. dollar official fixing rate for
settlement on the relevant due date for payment reported by The State Administration
of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page
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RMB=SAEC. Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so
designated on the Reuter Monitor Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or
such other page as may replace that page for the purpose of displaying a comparable
currency exchange rate.

“U.S. Dollar Equivalent” of a Renminbi amount means the relevant Renminbi amount
converted into U.S. dollars using the Spot Rate for the relevant Rate Calculation Date
as determined by the RMB Rate Calculation Agent at or around 11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) on the Rate Calculation Date and promptly notified to the Issuer, the Guarantors,
the Trustee and the Paying Agents.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this
Condition 7(h) by the RMB Rate Calculation Agent will, in the absence of manifest error)
be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Trustee, the Agents and all Noteholders.

These provisions may be amended or supplemented in the relevant Pricing
Supplement.

TAXATION

All payments of principal, premium, if any and interest in respect of the Notes or under any
Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatsoever nature imposed, levied,
collected, withheld or assessed by or within any jurisdiction in which the Issuer or an
applicable Guarantor is incorporated, established or resident for tax purposes (or any
political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax) (each, as
applicable, a “Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction”) or any jurisdiction (including Singapore)
through which payments are made (or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax) (together with each Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction, as applicable,
a “Relevant Jurisdiction”), unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that
event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the applicable Guarantor shall pay such additional
amounts (the “Additional Amounts”) as will result in the receipt by the Noteholders of such
amounts as would have been received by them if no such withholding or deduction had been
required, except that no such Additional Amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note or
(if applicable) Coupon:

(a) Bearer Notes
In the case of Bearer Notes or Coupons:

(i) to orto a party on behalf of a holder where such holder is subject to such taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges by reason of his being connected
with a Relevant Jurisdiction otherwise than by reason only of the holding of such
Bearer Note or Coupon or the receipt of any sums due in respect of such Bearer
Note or Coupon (including, without limitation, the holder being a resident of, or a
permanent establishment in, a Relevant Jurisdiction); or

(ii) the relevant Bearer Note or Coupon is surrendered for payment more than 30 days
after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that the holder of
it would have been entitled to such Additional Amounts on surrendering such
Bearer Note or Coupon for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; or

92



10.

(b) Registered Notes
In the case of Registered Notes:

(i) to orto a party on behalf of a holder where such holder is subject to such taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges by reason of his being connected
with a Relevant Jurisdiction otherwise than by reason only of the holding of such
Registered Note or the receipt of any sums due in respect of such Registered Note
(including, without limitation, the holder being a resident of, or a permanent
establishment in, a Relevant Jurisdiction); or

(ii) if the relevant Note Certificate in respect of such Registered Note is required to be
surrendered and is surrendered more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as
defined below) except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled
to such Additional Amounts on surrendering such Note Certificate for payment on
the last day of such period of 30 days.

“Relevant Date” means whichever is the later of (i) the date on which such payment first
becomes due and (ii) if the full amount payable has not been received in by the Principal
Paying Agent or the Trustee on or prior to such due date, the date on which notice is
given to the Noteholders that the full amount have been so received and available for
payment. Any reference in these Conditions to references to “principal” shall be
deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Redemption
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal
payable pursuant to Condition 6 (Redemption and Purchase), “interest” shall be
deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to
Condition 5 (Interest) and any reference to “principal” and/or “premium” and/or
“Redemption Amounts” and/or “interest” and/or “Early Redemption Amounts” shall
be deemed to include any Additional Amounts which may be payable under these
Conditions.

PRESCRIPTION

Claims in respect of the Notes and the Coupons (which, for this purpose does not include
Talons) will become void unless the relevant Note is surrendered for payment as required by
Condition 7 (Payments) within a period of five years from the appropriate Relevant Date.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of not less than
25.0% in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary
Resolution (subject in each case to being indemnified or secured or pre-funded to its
satisfaction) shall, give notice to the Issuer that the Notes are and they shall immediately
become due and repayable at its Early Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with
accrued interest thereon, if any of the following events (each, an “Event of Default”) occurs:

(a) Non payment

The Issuer or any Guarantor, as the case may be, fails to pay any amount of principal
or premium, or Redemption Amount (whether becoming due and payable upon
redemption or otherwise) or Early Redemption Amount (in the case of Zero Coupon
Notes) in respect of the Notes on the due date for payment when the same becomes
due and payable either at maturity, by declaration or otherwise; or the Issuer or any
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Guarantor, as the case may be, is in default with respect to the payment of interest or
any Additional Amount payable in respect of any of the Notes and such default in
respect of interest or Additional Amounts continues for a period of five business days;

Breach of other obligations

The Issuer or any Guarantor, as the case may be, defaults in the performance or
observance of any of its other obligations under the Notes or the Issue Documents and
such default (i) is incapable of remedy or (ii) being a default which is capable of remedy,
remains unremedied for 14 days after the Trustee has given written notice thereof,
addressed to the Issuer and the Guarantors;

Breach of Representation and Warranties

Any representation, warranty or statement by the Issuer or any Guarantor in any of the
Issue Documents or any of the Notes or in any document delivered under any of the
Issue Documents or any of the Notes is nhot complied with in any respect or is or proves
to have been incorrect in any respect when made or deemed repeated, and the event
resulting in such default (i) is incapable of remedy or (ii) being a default which is capable
of remedy, remains unremedied for 14 days after the Trustee has given written notice
thereof, addressed to the Issuer and the Guarantors;

Cross Default

(i) Any present or future indebtedness (other than Indebtedness represented by the
Notes) of the Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries in
respect of borrowed moneys is not paid when due or (as the case may be) within
any originally applicable grace period;

(ii) any such indebtedness becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and
payable prior to its stated maturity otherwise than at the option of the Issuer, any
of the Guarantors or (as the case may be) the relevant Principal Subsidiary; or

(iii) the Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries fails to pay
when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee of any
such indebtedness (including any indemnity of such indebtedness or any
arrangement having a similar effect),

provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness, guarantees and
indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events referred to in Condition 10(d)
above has/have occurred individually or in the aggregate equals or exceeds S$10
million (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof);

Legal Process
One or more distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced
or sued out on or against the whole or any material part of the property, assets or

revenues of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any of the Principal Subsidiaries, and is not
discharged or stayed within 30 days of having been so levied, enforced or sued out;
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Security Enforced

Any security on or over all or any material part of the property, assets or revenues of the
Issuer, any Guarantor or any of the Principal Subsidiaries becomes enforceable, or any
secured party takes any step to enforce such security (including the taking of
possession, or appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person);

Bankruptcy, Insolvency etc.

(i) (A) The Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries is or
becomes (or is deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or unable to pay its debts
as they fall due, (B) any step is take for the appointment of an administrator,
liquidator (including a provisional liquidator), receiver, judicial manager, trustee,
agent or similar officer of the Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal
Subsidiaries or over the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking, assets and
revenues of the Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries,
or (C) the Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries, by
reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulty, begins negotiations or takes any
other step with a view to the readjustment, rescheduling or deferment of all or a
substantial part of (or of a particular type of) its indebtedness, or suspends or
threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a substantial part of (or of a
particular type of) its indebtedness, or proposes or makes a general assignment or
an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors, or enters into
an agreement or arrangement for the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment
of or declares a moratorium in respect of all or a material part of (or a particular
type of) its indebtedness (or any part which it will or might otherwise be unable to
pay when due); or

(ii) any step is taken for the winding up, liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer, any of
the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries (otherwise than, in the case of
a Principal Subsidiary, for the purposes of or pursuant to an amalgamation,
reorganisation or restructuring whilst solvent and where such an event does not
have a material adverse effect on the Issuer or any Guarantor); or

(iii) any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in Conditions 10(g)(i) and 10(g)(ii)
above;

Cessation of Business

The lIssuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries ceases or
threatens to cease to carry on all or any substantial part of its business or operations
or disposes or threatens to dispose of all or a substantial part of its property or assets
(except, in each case, (1) for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction,
amalgamation, voluntary winding up not involving insolvency, merger, consolidation or
reorganisation on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution before that event
occurs, (2) in the case of a Principal Subsidiary, where the property or assets of such
Principal Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer, Guarantor,
another Principal Subsidiary or (in relation to any Sale of Magnesium Business) Group
Sense (International) Limited or any other Subsidiaries of Group Sense (International)
Limited, or (3) where the disposal is made pursuant to and in accordance with
Condition 4(e) (Limitation on Asset Sales)). For the avoidance of doubt, the Fullocean
Sale shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Condition 10(h), but any Sale of
Magnesium Business shall constitute an Event of Default under this Condition 10(h)
unless one of the exceptions described in this Condition 10(h) applies;
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Invalidity or Unenforceability

(i)  Any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any necessary
consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or
registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done for the purposes
stated in Clause 7.3 (All Action Taken) of the Trust Deed is not taken, fulfilled or
done or any such consent ceases to be in full force and effect without modification
or is modified in a manner unacceptable to the Trustee or any condition in or
relating to any such consent is not complied with;

(ii) itis or will become unlawful for the Issuer or any Guarantor to perform or comply
with any of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes or any of the Issue
Documents; or

(iii) any of the Notes, any Guarantee of the Notes or any of the Issue Documents
ceases (or is claimed by the Issuer or any Guarantor not) to be the legal and valid
obligations of the Issuer or such Guarantor, binding upon it in accordance with its
terms, or is not (or is claimed by the Issuer or any Guarantor not to be) in full force
and effect;

Government Intervention

Any step is taken for all or any substantial part of the undertaking, assets and revenues
of the lIssuer, any of the Guarantors or any of the Principal Subsidiaries to be
condemned, seized, compulsorily acquired, expropriated, nationalised or otherwise
appropriated by any Person acting under the authority of any national, regional or local
government which has or would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer or the
Group taken as a whole;

Litigation

Any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding (other than those of a frivolous or
vexations nature or those which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate
proceedings) is current or pending against the Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of
the Principal Subsidiaries (i) to restrain the exercise of any of the rights and/or the
performance or enforcement of or compliance with any of the obligations of the Issuer
or the Guarantors under any of the Issue Documents or any of the Notes, or (ii) which
has or would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer or the Group as a whole;

Declared Company

The Issuer, any of the Guarantors or any of their respective Subsidiaries is declared by
the Minister of Finance to be a declared company under the provisions of Part IX of the
Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore; or

Analogous Events

Any event occurs which, under the law of any relevant jurisdiction, has an analogous or
equivalent effect to any of the events mentioned in the foregoing paragraphs.
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11.

12.

ENFORCEMENT

At any time after the Notes shall have become due and payable, the Trustee may, at its
discretion and without further notice to the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Noteholders or the
Couponholders, take any steps as it may think fit to enforce repayment of the Notes and/or
one or more Guarantees, together with accrued interest, and to enforce the provisions of the
Issue Documents, the Notes and the Coupons, but it shall not be bound to take any such
proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Noteholders or so requested in writing by Noteholders holding not less than 25.0% in
principal amount of the Notes outstanding and (b) it shall have been indemnified or secured
or pre-funded by the Noteholders to its satisfaction. No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be
entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound to
do so, fails to do so within a reasonable period and such failure shall be continuing. The
Trustee shall not be deemed to be responsible for the consequences of taking or refraining
from taking any such steps as set out in this Condition.

MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, MODIFICATION AND WAIVERS
(a) Meetings of Noteholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider
any matters relating to the Notes, including the modification of any provision of these
Conditions or the Trust Deed. Any such modification may be made if sanctioned by an
Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting may be convened by the Trustee, the
Guarantors or the Issuer, or by the Trustee (subject to its being indemnified, and/or
secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction against all costs and expenses) upon the
request in writing of Noteholders holding not less than one tenth of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding Notes. The quorum at any meeting convened to
vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or representing
a clear majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being
outstanding, or, at any adjourned meeting, one or more persons being or representing
Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding
so held or represented; provided, however, that certain proposals (including any
proposal (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes or any date for
payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the
principal amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce
the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of
calculating the rate or rates of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount
in respect of the Notes, (iv) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the
Redemption Amount or the Early Redemption Amount including the method of
calculating the Amortised Face Amount of the Notes, (v) to vary the currency or
currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, (vi) to take any steps that as
specified hereon may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution
to which the special quorum provisions apply, (vii) to modify the provisions concerning
the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the
Extraordinary Resolution, or (viii) to modify or cancel any Guarantee (each, a
“Reserved Matter”)) may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at
a meeting of Noteholders at which two or more persons holding or representing not less
than three quarters or, at any adjourned meeting, one quarter of the aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Notes form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly
passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders and the
Couponholders (if any), whether present at the meeting(s) or not.

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes
by the terms of the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.
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13.

14.

(b) Modification or Waiver without Noteholders’ consent

The Trustee may at its discretion (and is entitled to rely on and at the expense of the
Issuer, an external legal, financial or other professional advice or opinion for this
purpose) from time to time and at any time without any consent or sanction of the
Noteholders or Couponholders concur with the Issuer in making (a) any modification to
any of the Issue Documents (other than in respect of a Reserved Matter), the Notes or
the Coupons which in the opinion of the Trustee it may be expedient to make provided
the Trustee is of the opinion that such modification will not be materially prejudicial to
the interests of the Noteholders or Couponholders or (b) any modification to any of the
Issue Documents, the Notes or the Coupons if such modification is of a formal, minor,
administrative or technical nature or made to correct a manifest error or (i) an error
which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, is proven or (ii) to comply with mandatory
provisions of Singapore law or (iii) is required by any Stock Exchange or by any
depository and/or any clearing system in which the Notes may be held. Any such
modification shall be binding on the Noteholders and Couponholders and, unless the
Trustee otherwise agrees, the Issuer shall cause such modification to be notified to the
Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance with these Conditions.

In addition, the Trustee may, without the consent or sanction of the Noteholders or
Couponholders and without prejudice to its rights in respect of any subsequent breach,
condition, event or act, from time to time and at any time, but only if and in so far as the
Issuer and/or the relevant Guarantor has demonstrated to the Trustee’s satisfaction that
the interests of the Noteholders shall not be materially prejudiced thereby, waive or
authorise, on such terms and conditions (if any) as shall seem expedient to it, any
breach or proposed breach by the Issuer or any Guarantor of any of the covenants or
provisions contained in any of the Issue Documents (other than a breach or proposed
breach relating to the subject of a Reserved Matter.

REPLACEMENT NOTES, COUPONS AND TALONS

If a Note, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced,
subject to applicable laws, at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent (in the case
of Definitive Bearer Notes, Coupons and Talons) and at the specified office of the Registrar
(in the case of Definitive Note Certificates), or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent as
may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose
designation is given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices), on payment
by the claimant of the fees and costs (including the fees and costs of the Principal Paying
Agent) incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, undertaking,
security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or
destroyed Note, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment, there will be paid
to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Note, Coupon
or Talon) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Coupons or
Talon must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders and Couponholders
and in accordance with the Trust Deed, create and issue further Notes having the same
terms and conditions as the Notes of any Series in all respects (or in all respects except for
the first payment of interest) so as to be consolidated and form a single Series with the
Notes, and references in these Conditions to “Notes” shall be construed accordingly. The
Issuer may from time to time, with the consent of the Trustee, create and issue other Series
of notes having the benefit of the Trust Deed.
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15.

16.

NOTICES

Notices to Noteholders will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general
circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be The Business Times) or, if such publication
is not practicable, in any other leading English language daily newspaper of general
circulation in Singapore. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of
such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on
which publication is made. Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice
of the contents of any notice to the holders in accordance with this Condition 15 (Notices).

Notwithstanding the above, notices to Noteholders of Registered Notes may also be sent to
them by first class mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by airmail at
their respective addresses on the Register. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been
given on the fourth day after the date of mailing.

So long as any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate, and such
Global Note or Global Certificate is held (i) on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, or any other clearing system, except as provided in sub-clause (ii) or (iii) below,
notices required to be published in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) may be given by
delivery of the relevant notice to such clearing system for communication by it to the
Noteholders, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on
the seventh day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg, (ii) on behalf of the CMU, notices required to be published in accordance with
Condition 15 (Notices) may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the persons shown
in a CMU Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU on the second business day
preceding the date of dispatch of such notice as holding interests in the relevant Global Note
or Global Certificate, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the
Noteholders on the second day after the day on which the said notice was sent, and (iii) by
CDP, notices required to be published in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) may be
given by delivery of the relevant notice to the persons shown in the list of Noteholders
provided by CDP, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the
Noteholders on the second day after the day on which the said notice was sent, except that
if the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of such exchange so require, notice will
in any event be published in accordance with the previous paragraph.

TRUSTEE
(a) Indemnification

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to be indemnified and relieved from
responsibility in certain circumstances and to be paid its costs and expenses in priority
to the claims of the Noteholders. In addition, the Trustee is entitled to enter into
business transactions with the Issuer, any of the Guarantors and any entity relating to
the Issuer or any of the Guarantors without accounting for any profit and to act as
trustee for the holders of any other securities issued or guaranteed by, or relating to, the
Issuer, any of the Guarantors and/or any of their respective Subsidiaries.
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18.

19.

(b)

Exercise of power and discretion

In connection with the exercise of its functions the Trustee shall have regard to the
interests of the Noteholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences
of such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders, or the Noteholders or
Couponholders in respect of Notes of any particular Tranche or Series, and the Trustee
shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to
claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax
consequences of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders.

Confidentiality

Unless ordered to do so by a court of competent jurisdiction or unless required by the
rules of the SGX-ST, the Trustee shall not be required to disclose to any Noteholder or
Couponholder any confidential financial or other information made available to the
Trustee by the Issuer or any of the Guarantors.

No Responsibility

Each Noteholder and Couponholder shall be solely responsible for making and
continuing to make its own independent appraisal and investigation into the financial
condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and nature of the Issuer, and the
Trustee shall not at any time have any responsibility for the same and each Noteholder
and Couponholder shall not rely on the Trustee in respect thereof.

Reliance

The Trustee may rely without liability to Noteholders on any certificate or report
prepared by any expert, auditor, lawyer, banker, valuer, surveyor, broker, auctioneer or
professional entity, pursuant to these Conditions or the Trust Deed, whether or not
addressed to the Trustee, and whether or not their liability in respect thereof is limited
by a monetary cap or otherwise or all such liability is disclaimed.

AGENTS

In acting under the Agency Agreement, the Agent acts solely as agents of the Issuer and do
not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or
Couponholder.

CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act, Chapter 53B of Singapore.

GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

(a)

Governing law

The Trust Deed, the Notes, and if applicable, the Coupons and the Talons are governed
by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of Singapore.
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(b)

Submission to Jurisdiction

The Issuer and each Guarantor has in the Trust Deed (i) submitted irrevocably to the
non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Singapore for the purposes of hearing and
determining any suit, action or proceedings or settling any disputes arising out of or in
connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes, and if applicable, the Coupons and the
Talons; (ii) waived any objection which it might have to such courts being nominated as
the forum to hear and determine any such suit, action or proceedings or to settle any
such disputes and agreed not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or
appropriate forum; (iii) designated Tricor WP Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. at
80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898 to accept service of any process on its
behalf in Singapore; (iv) consented to the enforcement of any judgment; and (v) to the
extent that it may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets immunity from suit,
execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or
other legal process, and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be
attributed to itself or its assets or revenues such immunity (whether or not claimed),
agreed not to claim and irrevocably waived such immunity to the full extent permitted by
the laws of such jurisdiction.
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FORMS OF THE NOTES
Bearer Notes
Global Notes

Bearer Notes of each Tranche of a Series to be issued in bearer form will initially be represented
on issue by a Temporary Global Note without coupons, which may be deposited with CDP, CMU
or the Common Depositary and/or a depositary for any other clearing system. Upon initial deposit,
CDP, CMU or Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will credit each
subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has
subscribed and paid.

Interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable in whole or in part for interests in a
Permanent Global Note representing Bearer Notes of the relevant Tranche not earlier than 40
days after the later of the commencement of the offering of the relevant Tranche and the relevant
issue date, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Each Temporary Global Note,
Permanent Global Note and any Definitive Bearer Note, Talon and Coupon will bear the following
legend:

“Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United
States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code.”

Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “U.S.
Internal Revenue Code” or the “Code”), generally provide that U.S. beneficial owners, with certain
exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes, receipts, interest coupons or
talons thereon and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale,
disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Bearer Notes, receipts, interest
coupons or talons thereon.

Each of the persons shown in the records of CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or
any other clearing system (an “Alternative Clearing System”) as the holder of a Note represented
by a Global Note must look solely to CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any such
Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the
Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note and in relation to all other rights arising under such Global
Note, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of CDP, CMU,
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such Alternative Clearing System. Such persons will not
have any claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as
the Notes are represented by such Global Note and such obligations of the Issuer will be
discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid.

Amendments to the Conditions

Each Temporary Global Note and Permanent Global Note contains provisions that apply to the
Notes that it represents, some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.
The following is a summary of those provisions:

Payments. No payments will be made on the Temporary Global Note unless exchange of any
interest in the Temporary Global Note for the relevant interest in the Permanent Global Note or for
Definitive Bearer Notes, as the case may be, is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any
Temporary Global Note will only be made to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided)
to the effect that the beneficial owner of an interest in such Note is not a U.S. person or a person
who has purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations, has
been received by CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any Alternative

102



Clearing System, as applicable, and CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such
Alternative Clearing System, as the case may be, has given a like certification (based on the
certifications it has received) to the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent, as the case may be.
Payments of principal, premium and interest in respect of Notes represented by a Permanent
Global Note will be made against presentation and (if no further payment falls to be made on it)
surrender of it at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or of any other paying agent
provided for in the Conditions and, in the case of interest only, at an office outside the United
States and its possessions (or to or to the order of such other Paying Agent as shall have been
notified to the Noteholders for this purpose). The Principal Paying Agent shall endorse or cause
to be endorsed such payment or cause such payment to be endorsed in the appropriate schedule
to the Permanent Global Note, as the case may be, such endorsement being prima facie evidence
that the payment in question has been made.

Notwithstanding the above, if a Note is held through the CMU, any payment that is made in respect
of such Note shall be made at the direction of the bearer to the person(s) for whose account(s)
interests in such Note are credited as being held through the CMU in accordance with the CMU
Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging
and Paying Agent by the CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevant
notification by the CMU (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the
records of the CMU as to the identity of any accountholder and the principal amount of any Note
credited to its account, save in the case of manifest error) and such payments shall discharge the
obligation of the Issuer in respect of that payment under such Note.

Direct Rights. In relation to CDP Cleared Notes only, if an Event of Default occurs, each person
who is for the time being shown in the records of CDP as the holder of a particular principal
amount of such Notes represented by a Global Note may (subject as provided in the Global Note)
elect that direct rights (the “Direct Rights”) under the provisions of the Deed of Covenant shall
come into effect in respect of a principal amount of Notes up to the aggregate principal amount
represented by the Global Note. Such election shall be made by notice to the Principal Paying
Agent and presentation of the Global Note to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent for
reduction of the principal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note by such amount as may
be stated in such notice and by endorsement of the Principal Schedule of the Global Note of the
principal amount of Notes in respect of which Direct Rights have arisen under the Deed of
Covenant. Upon each such notice being given, the Global Note shall become void to the extent
of the principal amount stated in such notice, save to the extent that the appropriate Direct Rights
shall fail to take effect. No such election may however be made on or before the Exchange Date
(as defined below) unless the Noteholder elects in such notice that the exchange for such Notes
shall no longer take place.

Notices. So long as any Notes are represented by the Permanent Global Note and the Permanent
Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to Noteholders may be given by
delivery of the relevant notice (so long as the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, CDP or such Alternative Clearing System) to Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg, (subject to the agreement of CDP) CDP or such Alternative Clearing
System, as the case may be, or otherwise to the holder of the Permanent Global Note, or (so long
as the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of the CMU) to the persons shown in a CMU
Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU on the business day preceding the date of dispatch
of such notice as holding interests in the Permanent Global Note, rather than by publication as
required by the Conditions, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the
Noteholders on the second business day on which such notice is delivered to the persons shown
in the CMU Instrument Position Report; provided, however, that, so long as the Notes are admitted
to trading on the SGX-ST and its rules so require, notices will also be published in a leading
newspaper having general circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be The Business Times).

103



Meetings. The holder of the Permanent Global Note shall be treated as two persons for the
purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, as
having one vote in respect of each minimum Specified Denomination of Notes for which the
Permanent Global Note may be exchanged.

Trustee’s Powers. In considering the interests of Noteholders while the Permanent Global Note is
held on behalf of a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to
it by such clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of
its accountholders with entitlements to the Permanent Global Note and may consider such
interests as if such accountholders were the holders of the Permanent Global Note.

Prescription. The Permanent Global Note shall become void unless it is presented for payment
within a period of five years from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8
(Taxation) of the Notes).

Call Option. Any call option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions may be exercised by the
Issuer giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the
information required by the Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the
certificate numbers of Notes drawn in the case of a partial exercise of an option and accordingly
no drawing of Notes shall be required.

Put Option. Any put option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions may be exercised by
the holder of the Permanent Global Note giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent of the
principal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised within the time limits set out
in the Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the certificate numbers
of the Notes in respect of which the option has been exercised.

Purchase and Cancellation. Cancellation of any Note required by the Conditions to be cancelled
following its purchase shall be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Permanent
Global Note on its presentation to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent for notation in the
Principal Schedule. Notes may only be purchased by the Issuer, any of the Guarantors and any
of its respective Subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the right to receive all future
payments of interest thereon.

Exchanges for Permanent Global Note and for Definitive Bearer Notes

Interests in a Temporary Global Note are exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note
in bearer form or, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Definitive Bearer Notes in
bearer form not earlier than 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering of the
relevant Tranche and the relevant issue date, upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership
in the form set out in the Temporary Global Note.

Interests in a Permanent Global Note are exchangeable in whole but not in part for Definitive
Bearer Notes (i) if the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg or the Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for
business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so or
(ii) if the Permanent Global Note is held by or on behalf of CDP and (a) an event of default,
enforcement event or analogous event entitling an accountholder or the Trustee to declare the
Notes due and payable as provided in the Conditions has occurred and is continuing, (b) CDP is
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory
or otherwise), (c) CDP has announced an intention to permanently cease business and no
alternative clearing system is available or (d) CDP has notified the Issuer that it is unable or
unwilling to act as depository for the Notes and to continue performing its duties set out in its terms
and conditions for the provision of depository services and no alternative clearing system is
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available, or (iii) if the Permanent Global Note is held by or on behalf of the CMU and the CMU
is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory
or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so. Any
such exchange may be effected on or after an Exchange Date by the holder of this Permanent
Global Note giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent and by surrendering this Permanent Global
Note to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent on or after the Exchange Date.

“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 40 days after the day on which the notice
requiring exchange is given and on which commercial banks are open for business in Singapore,
in the case of exchange pursuant to (i) as provided in the preceding paragraph, a day on which
commercial banks are open for business in the cities in which Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg or, if relevant, the Alternative Clearing System, are located.

In exchange for the Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall deliver, or procure the delivery of,
duly executed and authenticated Definitive Bearer Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal
to the principal amount of this Permanent Global Note submitted for exchange (if appropriate,
having attached to them all Coupons and Talons in respect of interest that have not already been
paid on the Permanent Global Note), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and
stock exchange requirements and substantially in the form set out in the Trust Deed, to the
persons as the relevant clearing system shall direct in writing or, in the case of Notes cleared
through the CMU, as reflected in the CMU Instrument Position Report.

Registered Notes
Global Certificates

Registered Notes will be evidenced on issue by a Global Certificate and may be deposited with,
and registered in the name of or the name of a nominee for, CDP, CMU or the Common Depositary.
Upon such initial registration of the Global Certificate and the delivery thereof to CDP, a
sub-custodian of the CMU or the Common Depositary, CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as the case may be, will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes
equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. Interests in the Global
Certificate may be held through CDP, CMU, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or an
Alternative Clearing System, as the case may be, at any time. See “Clearance and Settlement” for
further details. Except in the limited circumstances described below, owners of interests in the
Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificated Registered Notes
in definitive form (the “Definitive Note Certificates”). Registered Notes are not issuable in bearer
form.

Each of the persons shown in the records of CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or
any Alternative Clearing System as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Certificate must
look solely to CDP, CMU, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any such Alternative Clearing
System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of
the underlying Registered Notes and in relation to all other rights arising under such Global
Certificate, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of CDP, CMU,
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such Alternative Clearing System. Such persons will not
have any claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as
the Notes are represented by such Global Certificate and such obligations of the Issuer will be
discharged by payment to the holder of the underlying Registered Notes in respect of each amount
so paid.
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Amendments to the Conditions

The Global Certificate contains provisions that apply to the Notes that it represents, some of which
modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The following is a summary of those
provisions:

Payments. Payments of principal, premium and interest in respect of Notes represented by the
Global Certificate will be made against presentation for endorsement and if no further payment
falls to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of the Global Certificate to or to the order of
the Principal Paying Agent. The Principal Paying Agent shall endorse or cause to be endorsed
such payment or cause such payment to be endorsed in appropriate schedule to the Global
Certificate, such endorsement being prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been
made.

Notwithstanding the above, if a Note is held through the CMU, any payment that is made in respect
of such Note shall be made at the direction of the registered holder to the person(s) for whose
account(s) interests in such Note are credited as being held through the CMU in accordance with
the CMU Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU
Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report or any other
relevant notification by the CMU (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence
of the records of the CMU as to the identity of any accountholder and the principal amount of any
Note credited to its account, save in the case of manifest error) and such payments shall
discharge the obligation of the Issuer in respect of that payment under such Note.

Direct Rights. In relation to CDP Cleared Notes only, if an Event of Default occurs, each person
who is for the time being shown in the records of CDP as the holder of a particular principal
amount of such Notes represented by a Global Certificate may (subject as provided in the Global
Certificate) elect that direct rights (the “Direct Rights”) under the provisions of the Deed of
Covenant shall come into effect in respect of a principal amount of Notes up to the aggregate
principal amount represented by the Global Certificate. Such election shall be made by notice to
the Principal Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the Registrar and presentation of the Global
Certificate to or to the order of the Registrar for reduction of the principal amount of Notes
represented by the Global Certificate by such amount as may be stated in such notice by
(i) endorsement of the Principal Schedule of the Global Certificate and (ii) notation in the Register
of the principal amount of Notes in respect of which Direct Rights have arisen under the Deed of
Covenant. Upon each such notice being given, the Global Certificate shall become void to the
extent of the principal amount stated in such notice, save to the extent that the appropriate Direct
Rights shall fail to take effect. No such election may however be made on or before the Exchange
Date unless the Noteholder elects in such notice that the exchange for such Notes shall no longer
take place.

Notices. So long as any Notes are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate
is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the
relevant notice (so long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, CDP or such Alternative Clearing System) to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg,
(subject to the agreement of CDP) CDP or such Alternative Clearing System, as the case may be,
or otherwise to the holder of the Global Certificate or (so long as the Global Certificate is held on
behalf of the CMU) to the persons shown in a CMU Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU
on the business day preceding the date of dispatch of such notice as holding interests in the
Global Certificate, rather than by publication as required by the Conditions, and any such notice
shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the second business day on which such
notice is delivered to the persons shown in the CMU Instrument Position Report; provided,
however, that, so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the SGX-ST and its rules so require,
notices will also be published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Singapore
(which is expected to be The Business Times).
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Meetings. The holder of the Global Certificate will be treated as being two persons for the
purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, as
having one vote in respect of each minimum Specified Denomination of Notes for which the Global
Certificate may be exchanged.

Trustee’s Powers. In considering the interests of Noteholders while the Global Certificate is held
on behalf of a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by
such clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its
accountholders with entitlements to the Global Certificate and may consider such interests as if
such accountholders were the holders of the Global Certificate.

Prescription. The Global Certificate shall become void unless it is presented for payment within a
period of five years from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8 (Taxation) of the
Notes).

Call Option. Any call option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions may be exercised by the
Issuer giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the
information required by the Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the
certificate numbers of Notes drawn in the case of a partial exercise of an option and accordingly
no drawing of Notes shall be required.

Put Option. Any put option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions may be exercised by
the holder of the Global Certificate giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent and the Transfer
Agent of the principal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised within the time
limits set out in the Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the
certificate numbers of the Notes in respect of which the option has been exercised.

Purchase and Cancellation. Cancellation of any Note required by the Conditions to be cancelled
following its purchase shall be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Global
Certificate.

Exchange for and Transfers of Definitive Note Certificates

The Global Certificate will become exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, in whole but not in
part, for Definitive Note Certificates (i) if the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg or the Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory
or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so,
(i) if the Global Certificate is held by or on behalf of CDP and (a) an event of default, enforcement
event or analogous event entitling an accountholder or the Trustee to declare the Notes due and
payable as provided in the Conditions has occurred and is continuing, (b) CDP is closed for
business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise), (c) CDP has announced an intention to permanently cease business and no
alternative clearing system is available or (d) CDP has notified the Issuer that it is unable or
unwilling to act as depository for the Notes and to continue performing its duties set out in its terms
and conditions for the provision of depository services and no alternative clearing system is
available, or (iii) if the Global Certificate is held by or on behalf of the CMU and the CMU is closed
for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so. Any
such exchange may be effected on or after an Exchange Date by the holder of the Global
Certificate giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the Registrar.
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In such circumstances, the Issuer will procure that the Registrar notifies the Noteholders as soon
as practicable after the occurrence of the relevant event and that such Definitive Note Certificates
will be registered in such names as the relevant clearing system shall direct in writing or, in the
case of Notes cleared through the CMU, as reflected in the CMU Instrument Position Report or
any other relevant notification by the CMU. The Global Certificate shall be exchanged in full for
Definitive Note Certificates and the Issuer will, without charge to the holder or holders thereof, but
against such indemnity as the Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatever
nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange, cause sufficient
Definitive Note Certificates to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion,
authentication and dispatch to the relevant Noteholders. A person having an interest in the Global
Certificate must provide the Registrar with a written order containing instructions and such other
information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver such
Notes.

The holder of a Definitive Note Certificate may transfer the Notes evidenced thereby in whole or
in part in the applicable minimum denomination by surrendering it at the specified office of the
Registrar, together with the completed form of transfer thereon. The Registrar will not register the
transfer of any Notes or exchange of interests in a Global Certificate for Definitive Note
Certificates for a period of 15 calendar days ending on the due date for any payment of principal,
premium or interest in respect of the Notes.

Singapore Dollar Equivalent

For the purposes of calculating the Singapore dollar equivalent of the principal amount of Notes
outstanding under the Programme from time to time, the Singapore dollar equivalent of the Notes
denominated in another currency shall be determined, at the discretion of the Issuer, either as of
the date of agreement to issue such Notes (the “Agreement Date”) or on the preceding day on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Singapore, in
either case on the basis of the Exchange Rate on the relevant date of calculation. As used herein,
the “Exchange Rate” means the spot rate for the sale of Singapore dollars against the purchase
of such other relevant currency in the Singapore foreign exchange market as quoted by any
leading bank selected by the Issuer at its discretion on the Agreement Date or on the preceding
day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in
Singapore.

The Singapore dollar equivalent of any Zero Coupon Note and any other Note issued at a discount
shall be calculated, in relation to the Specified Currency, in the manner above and with the
Exchange Rate so determined to apply in respect of any other Singapore dollar equivalent
determination for the same Notes and, in relation to the principal amount, by reference to the
amortisation yield formula as specified in the Conditions applicable to such Notes as of the same
dates as specified in the preceding paragraph or, if no formula is so specified, the principal amount
of the Notes. The Singapore dollar equivalent of a Note issued at a premium shall be calculated
in the manner specified above by reference to the net proceeds received by the Issuer from the
relevant issue of Notes.

General

Any reference herein to the Paying Agent, the Transfer Agent and the Registrar shall be deemed
to refer to The Bank of New York Mellon, Singapore Branch as paying agent, transfer agent and
registrar in relation to Notes which are to be cleared with CDP and to The Bank of New York
Mellon, Hong Kong Branch as lodging and paying agent, transfer agent and registrar in relation
to Notes which are to be cleared with CMU and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as
paying agent and The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch as transfer agent and
registrar, respectively, in relation to Notes which are to be cleared with a clearing system other
than CDP or CMU.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL REVIEW OF THE GROUP

The following tables set out the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2014 (“FY2014”), 31 December 2015 (“FY2015”) and 31 December 2016
(“FY2016”) respectively.

The selected consolidated financial information for FY2014, FY2015 and FY2016 in the tables
below are derived from the historical financial statements of the Group, which have been audited
by the independent auditors HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. The audited financial statements
of the Group have been drawn up in accordance with the HKFRS.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

(audited) (audited) (audited)
HKD’million (except earnings per share)

Revenue ....... ... .. .. .. ... 2,073 2,516 2,589
Costofsales ...... ... ... . .. (1,413) (1,730) (1,829)
Gross profit ...... ... . . 660 786 760
Gain on bargain purchase . . ................. - 29 -
Other gains or losses, net .................. 15 35 57
Selling and marketingcosts. . ................ (103) (114) (94)
Administrative expenses . ................... (63) (140) (159)
Net realised and unrealised gain on investment

held for trading. . . ......... ... ... .. ... ... 3 7 9
Share of profits and losses from joint ventures. . . - 2 2
Finance costs. .. ... ... . ... . ... .. ... (44) (87) (118)
Profit before incometax ................... 468 518 457

Income tax expense. . ... i (128) (155) (144)
Profit fortheyear......................... 340 363 313

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Issuer ... .................... 288 314 302

Non-controlling interests . ................... 52 49 11

Profit fortheyear......................... 340 363 313

Other comprehensive expenses, net of
income tax:

Iltems that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Net loss arising on revaluation of

available-for-sale investments during the year . .. (112) (22) (3)
Reclassification adjustments relating to disposal

of available-for-sale investments during the year . - - (3)
Exchange differences arising from translation of

foreign operations . ........ ... . L L. (55) (142) (279)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year,
netoftax.......... ... ... ... .. ... . ... ... (167) (164) (285)
Total comprehensive income for the year,

net of incometax......................... 173 199 28
Earnings per share (HK cents)

Basic . ... . 8.01 7.45 6.57
Diluted . ... 7.79 7.33 6.57
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position FY2014 FY2015 FY2016
(audited) (audited) (audited)
HKD’million
Non-current assets
Landuserights ........ ... ... . ... . ...... 141 173 207
Property, plant and equipment. ... ............ 1,443 1,863 2,093
Goodwill . . ... - 197 197
Intangible assets . . ....... .. ... ... . .. - 2 1
Investment properties. .. ... .. L. 135 125 114
Mining rights. . . ... ... ... 549 512 467
Payment of acquisition of patents . . ........... 56 54 50
Deposit for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment. . ... 35 11 -
Investments in joint ventures . . .. ............. - 4
Available-for-sale investments . . . ............. - 116 7
Pledged bank deposits. . . ................... - - 32
2,359 3,057 3,173
Current assets
Available-for-sale investments . . . ............. 30 11 71
Inventories . . . ... .. 182 248 227
Landuserights ............ ... ... ... ...... 3 4 5
Trade and other receivables, prepayments and
deposits . ... ... 384 607 857
Income tax recoverable . ........... ... . .... - 2 2
Investments held for trading. . . ............... 10 39 10
Amount due from a joint venture . ... .......... - 1 -
Bank and cash balances .. .................. 829 1,452 901
1,438 2,364 2,073
Less: Current liabilities
Trade and other payables .. ................. 311 335 294
Income tax payable . .......... ... ... .. .... 33 32 31
Borrowings . .. .. ... 304 153 320
Convertible bonds . ........ ... ... . ... ... 117 198 -
Derivative financial liabilities . ................ - - 33
765 718 678
Net currentassets . ....................... 673 1,646 1,395
Total assets less current liabilities. . ... ... ... 3,032 4,703 4,568
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position FY2014 FY2015 FY2016
(audited) (audited) (audited)
HKD’million
Less: Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds . ........................ 178 - -
Exchangeable bonds . ...................... - - 209
Other payable. . ....... ... ... ... . ... ...... - 110 121
Deferredrevenue . . ........... ... ... . ..... 70 70 66
Borrowings . . .. ... 292 1,043 1,011
Deferred tax liabilities .. .................... 125 116 106
665 1,339 1,513
Netassets............. ... ... ... ........ 2,367 3,364 3,055
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Issuer
Share capital . ......... ... ... ... ... 68 102 102
Reserves . ... 2,143 2,856 2,611
2,211 2,958 2,713
Non-controlling interests. . . . ............... 156 406 342
Totalequity. . ......... ... ... ... ... ... 2,367 3,364 3,055
Other Unaudited Financial Information FY2014 FY2015 FY2016
HKD’million
Profit before income tax. . ................... 468 518 457
Finance cost. ... ... .. ... . ... ... .. ... 44 87 118
Depreciation and amortisation . ... ............ 78 96 129
Net realised and unrealised gain on investments
held for trading. . . ......... ... ... ... ..., .. (3) (7) (9)
Share options granted to directors and
employees . ... ... 2 3 1
Gain on bargain purchase . .................. - (29) -
Consolidated EBITDA ..................... 589 668 696

(1) EBITDA is not a standard measure under HKFRS, but is a widely used financial indicator of a company’s ability to

service and incur debt. EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows,
net income or any other measure of performance or as an indicator of the Issuer’s operating performance, liquidity,

profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing activities. Investors should not compare the

Issuer’s EBITDA to EBITDA presented by other companies because not all companies use the same definition.
Nevertheless, EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and investors should not consider it in isolation from, or
as a substitute for analysis of the Group’s financial condition or results of operations, as reported under HKFRS. Due
to these limitations, EBITDA should not be considered a measure of discretionary cash available to the Group to

invest in the growth of its business. See “Presentation of Financial and Other Data” for further information.
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Financial Review of Results of Operations
FY2016 versus FY2015

Income Statement Review

Overview

The Group’s revenue for FY2016 increased by 2.9 per cent. from approximately
HKD2,515,602,000 in FY2015 to approximately HKD2,589,221,000 in FY2016. The Group
recorded a gross profit margin of 29.3 per cent. in FY2016 compared to 31.2 per cent. in FY2015.
In FY2016, revenue from the fertilisers business accounted for 54.0 per cent. of the total revenue
of the Group, as compared to 60.6 per cent. in FY2015, but decreased by 8.2 per cent. from
approximately HKD1,523,281,000 in FY2015 to approximately HKD1,399,088,000 in FY2016. In
FY2016, revenue from the magnesium product business accounted for 35.2 per cent. of the total
revenue of the Group, as compared to 30.2 per cent. in FY2015, and increased by 19.8 per cent.
from approximately HKD760,502,000 in FY2015 to approximately HKD910,984,000 in FY2016.

Operating Income and Gross Profit

In FY2016, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HKD2,589,221,000, representing an
increase of 2.9 per cent. compared to approximately HKD2,515,602,000 in FY2015.

In FY2016, sales volume of the fertilisers business increased by 4.6 per cent. compared to
FY2015. This is mainly due to the depreciation of the RMB (against the HKD) by approximately 6.0
per cent. in FY2016 from FY2015, in turn, causing the average prices of the Group’s fertiliser
products to decrease by 12.2 per cent. More specifically, prices of the organic fertilisers and Si-Mg
compound fertilisers remained fairly constant, however, prices of compound fertilisers, which are
highly sensitive to market fluctuation, dropped by approximately 13.5 per cent. Notwithstanding,
gross profit for the fertiliser business recorded an increase of 0.5 per cent. from 27.9 per cent. in
FY2015 to 28.4 per cent. in FY2016.

Sales volume of the magnesium business increased in FY2016 by approximately 50.6 per cent.
compared to FY2015. This is mainly attributable to Group Sense’s acquisition of Xinjiang
Tengxiang, a company principally engaged in the production and sale of magnesium ingot and
semi-coke, in late FY2015, thereby expanding the Group’s magnesium business. Further, in
FY2016, the Group also expanded the magnesium business by exporting magnesium products to
Europe and the USA. Since the sales volume of our basic magnesium products (with
comparatively lower gross profit margin) increased by approximately 98.1% year-on-year, the
overall gross profit of our magnesium business has been diluted to 29.0%.

Other Gains or Losses, net

In FY2016, Group Sense has completed the negotiation of adjustment to the purchase
consideration with the sellers for its acquisition of a magnesium project last year, thereby
recognising an increase in bargain purchase of approximately HKD21,564,000 (in aggregate the
gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition is approximately HKD28,746,000). Other net
gains or losses mainly comprised of interest income as well as income from the sale of scrap
materials, amounting to approximately HKD23,970,000 and HKD14,056,000 in FY2016
respectively, compared to approximately HKD12,094,000 and HKD11,679,000 in FY2015
respectively. However, in accordance to HKFRS, as the acquisition of Xinjiang Tengxiang was
completed in December 2015, the increase in the gain on bargain purchase was restated to be
recognised in FY2015 instead of FY2016.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses in FY2016 increased by 14.1 per cent. compared to FY2015 to
approximately HKD159,379,000. This increase is mainly due to operating expenses of Group
Sense’s new magnesium production base, which includes the upgrading of the existing production
facilities and in the first quarter of FY2016.

Interest Expenses

The Group’s interest expenses for FY2016 amounted to approximately HKD117,564,000,
representing an increase of approximately 34.5 per cent. compared to FY2015. The increase is
mainly attributable to the issue of Singapore dollar listed bonds in FY2015.

Margin

Profit for FY2016 amounted to approximately HKD313,052,000, representing a decrease of 13.8
per cent. compared to FY2015. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Issuer amounted
to approximately HKD302,334,000 in FY2016, representing a decrease of 3.9 per cent. from
FY2015.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Review

The Group’s liquidity in FY2016 was mainly derived from cash generated from business
operations and financing activities during the year. As at 31 December 2016, the total amount of
bank and cash balances of the Group was approximately HKD932,785,000, as compared to
approximately HKD1,452,515,000 as at 31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s total borrowings increased by approximately 10.5 per cent.
as compared to 2015, while net current assets decreased by approximately 15.3 per cent. as
compared to 2015. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated by total borrowings over total assets)
was approximately 29.4 per cent. in 2016 as compared to 25.7 per cent. in 2015.

The Group’s existing cash resources together with the steady cash flows generated from business
activities are sufficient to meet its business needs.

FY2015 versus FY2014
Income Statement Review
Overview

The Group’s revenue for FY2015 increased by 21.4 per cent. between FY2014 and FY2015 from
approximately HKD2,072,519,000 to approximately HKD2,515,602,000, while gross profit margin
in FY2015 decreased slightly from 31.8 per cent. in FY2014 to 31.2% in FY2015. This decrease
in the Group’s gross profit margin was mainly due to the relatively low gross profit margin of the
electronic products business of Group Sense, which had been acquired in FY2015.

Revenue from the fertilisers business reached approximately HKD1,523,281,000 in FY2015
(compared to approximately HKD1,277,282,000 in FY2014, accounting for approximately 60.6 per
cent. of the Group’s total revenue (compared to 61.6 per cent. in FY2014).

Revenue from the magnesium products business reached approximately HKD760,502,000 in

FY2015 (compared to approximately HKD696,904,000 in FY2014), accounting for approximately
30.2 per cent. of the Group’s total revenue (compared to 33.6 per cent. in FY2014).
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Operating Income and Gross Profit

The Group’s total revenue amounted to approximately HKD2,515,602,000 in FY2015 (compared
to approximately HKD2,072,519,000 in FY2014), representing a 21.4 per cent. increase from
FY2014. Between FY2014 and FY2015, sales quantities for the Group’s fertilisers business and
magnesium products business increased by 21.6 per cent. and 5.5 per cent. respectively.

Cost of sales for FY2015 increased by about 22.4 per cent. from FY2014, and amounted to
approximately HKD1,729,567,000 (compared to approximately HKD1,412,575,000 in FY2014).
Approximately 91.9 per cent. of the total cost of sales in FY2015 was attributable to the fertilisers
business and magnesium product business (compared to 98.4 per cent. in FY2014). In FY2015,
the Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised material cost and utilities cost.

Consolidated gross profit for FY2015 was approximately HKD786,035,000 (compared to
approximately HKD659,944,000 in FY2014:), representing a 19.1 per cent. increase from FY2014.
This is mainly due to the fact that the Group managed to improve product structure and optimised
the product mix, thereby improving the gross profit margin of the Group’s fertilisers business and
magnesium business.

Other Gains or Losses, net

Other net gains or losses amounted to approximately HKD35,381,000 (compared to
approximately HKD15,055,000 in FY2014), and mainly comprised of interest income and income
from the sale of scrap materials amounting to approximately HKD12,094,000 and HKD 11,679,000
respectively in FY2015 (compared to HKD8,544,000 and HKD1,092,000 respectively in FY2014).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses were approximately HKD139,742,000 in FY2015 (compared to
approximately HKD63,302,000 in FY2014), representing approximately 5.6 per cent. of the
Group’s total revenue (compared to approximately 3.1 per cent. in FY2014). Administrative
expenses mainly comprised staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses, audit and
professional fees and occupancy costs. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly due
to the Group’s acquisition of Group Sense, which incurred administrative and R&D expenses
amounting to approximately HKD63,462,000 and relating to its electronic products business.

Interest Expenses

The Group’s interest expenses amounted to approximately HKD87,390,000 in FY2015,
representing an increase of approximately HKD43,204,000 or 97.8 per cent. compared to FY2014.
The increase was mainly attributable to the issue of Singapore dollar listed bonds in FY2015.

Margin

Excluding the effect of gain on bargain purchase of approximately HKD28,746,000 (as highlighted
in “FY2016 versus FY2015 — Other Gains or Losses, net”), the Group’s profit for FY2015
amounted to approximately HKD334,323,000 (compared to approximately HKD339,641,000 in
FY2014), representing a decrease of approximately 1.6% year-on-year. The financial results for
FY2015 included the operating losses of approximately HKD24,685,000 (compared to HKD Nil in
FY2014) incurred from the electronic product business of Group Sense acquired on 26 February
2015.

The Group’s fertilisers business and magnesium product business recorded a combined profit of
approximately HKD359,008,000 in FY2015, representing an increase of approximately 5.7 per
cent. from FY2014.

114



Profit attributable to owners of the Company in FY2015 increased by approximately 9.2 per cent.
from FY2014, and amounted to approximately HKD314,479,000 (compared to HKD287,910,000 in
FY2014).

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Review

The Group’s liquidity in FY2015 was mainly derived from cash generated from business
operations and financing activities. As at 31 December 2015, total amount of cash and bank
balances of the Group was approximately HKD1,452,515,000, compared to approximately
HKD828,782,000 as at 31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s total borrowings increased by approximately 56.6 per cent.
as compared to 2014, while net current assets increased by approximately 141.7 per cent. as
compared to 2014. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated by total borrowings over total assets)
was approximately 25.7 per cent. in 2015, compared to 23.4% in 2014.
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BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading vertically integrated producer of ecological fertilisers and magnesium
products in the PRC, which are its two main business segments. The Group also produces
and sells metallurgical flux products. The Group holds 51.88 per cent. of the share capital in
Group Sense, whose subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of
magnesium products and the design, manufacture and sale of electronic products, as well as
the provision of electronic manufacturing services. The Issuer is listed on the HKSE and had
a market capitalisation of HKD1,310.4 million (approximately $$235.3 million) as at the
Latest Practicable Date. The chart below shows the Group’s total revenues, including a
breakdown by business segment, for the periods indicated.

Group’s Revenue
HKD3,000 -

HKD2,500 |

HKD2,000

HKD1,500

Millions

HKD1,000

HKD500 -

HKDO -
FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

B Magnesium products H Fertilisers  Metallurgical Flux ™ Electronics business

In relation to the Group’s business segments:

Fertilisers Business. The Group produces and sells compound fertilisers (chemically

manufactured from various materials and compounds) and organic fertilisers (produced
from organic waste materials). Since 2012, the Group has been actively developing,
producing and promoting its silicon magnesium compound fertilisers, which are its
niche products. The Group has obtained exploration and mining rights to a serpentine
mine in the Jiangsu province of the PRC. Serpentine is a source of the magnesium and
silicon that the Group uses in the production of its silicon magnesium compound
fertiliser. The abundant, quality serpentine reserves also provide a source of auxiliary
material for iron and steel smelting. The Group’s fertiliser plant, which is located
approximately one kilometre from the serpentine mine, has five production lines with an
aggregate annual production capacity of 850,000 tonnes of organic and compound
fertilisers as the Latest Practicable Date. The building of a new fertiliser production line
at Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province, with an annual capacity of 1.4 million tonnes also
commenced in August 2016. In addition, the new production line’s self-owned cargo-
handling terminal, coupled with the adjacent water source, is expected to reduce the
cost of production and transportation significantly. The first phase of this new fertiliser
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plant is scheduled to be completed in late 2017, whilst the second phase is scheduled
to be completed in 2019. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Group’s fertilisers are
sold and distributed across 29 provinces in the PRC.

Magnesium Products Business. The magnesium products that the Group produces
include basic magnesium products, such as general magnesium alloys and magnesium
ingots, and rare earth magnesium alloys. The Group has obtained exploration and
mining rights to a dolomite mine in the Jilin province of the PRC, from which it obtains
the dolomite that it uses to produce raw magnesium for its magnesium products. The
Group also has an integrated magnesium smelting, ingot manufacturing, alloy
processing and product warehousing and distribution plant, located in close proximity to
the dolomite mine, with an annual production capacity of 25,000 tonnes as of
31 December 2016. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has one of the largest
rare earth magnesium alloy production lines in the PRC in terms of production capacity.

In August 2015, the Group (via Group Sense) acquired a magnesium product
manufacturer located in Xinjiang Province, with an approved scale of annual production
capacity of 1.2 million tonnes of semi-coke, 100,000 tonnes of magnesium alloy and
100,000 tonnes of ferroalloy, as approved by the PRC’s supervisory authorities. Two
established production lines consist of annual production capacity of 15,000 tonnes
magnesium ingot and 600,000 tonnes semi-coke respectively.

Metallurgical Flux Business. As a secondary business, the Group also produces and
sells metallurgical flux that can be used for smelting iron and steel. The metallurgical
flux is produced from the serpentine that the Group produces from its serpentine mine.

Electronics Business. The Group owns 51.88 per cent. of the share capital of Group
Sense. Some of Group Sense’s subsidiaries are engaged in the design, manufacture
and sale of original design manufacturing products, electronic dictionary products and
personal communication products, as well as the provision of electronic manufacturing
services.

Production Bases of Fertiliser Business and Sales Network

Shandong Hongri:

e 820,000 tonnes of annual production capacity
through technological improvement

e Invented sulfur compound fertiliser patented
technology, named as “Father of sulfur
compound fertiliser ”

Jiangsu Azureblue:

e 850,000 tonnes production capacity

® Si-Mg fertiliser, Compound fertiliser, Organic
fertiliser

e Equipped with dedicated port

=
y i
Hubei | AnHui~,

Jiangxi TianRuiFengShou:

e 1,400,000 tonnes fertiliser production capacity
in Ruichang City to be completed in 2019

e Equipped with Yangtze River dedicated goods
loading and unloading ports

* Reduced production and transportation cost

drastically

(ia .m“-_Z'hejiang

D Fertiliser production bases and O Hainan
sales network
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Production Bases of Magnesium Business and Sales Network

Magnesium

Production Plants Development

e Current capacity of 25,000 tonnes
arbin Baishan e Completed capacity expansion of
50,000 tonnes in Phase 2 in 2H 2016

P

Baishan, Jilin Province
e Current capacity of 15,000 tonnes

Inner | @
olia gdijing
A Xinjiang e Expected to expand the overall capacity

DeiTianjin to 100,000 tonnes

i" Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous
Region

* Production facility
@ Sales Network

COMPANY BACKGROUND

The Group’s founder, Mr. Chi Wen Fu, first started the research and development of organic
fertiliser products in January 1998 by initiating research on microbial compound fertilisers.
Thereafter, in order to continue the research and development, production and sale of
organic fertiliser products in the PRC, Mr. Chi established Youxi Greenland (later known as
Green Land Bio-Products Co., Ltd., which has since been deregistered as of 17 July 2012)
in January 2000.

In the second half of 2000, the Group focused on conducting market research and analysis
on potential demands for the Group’s microbial compound fertiliser and organic fertiliser
products. The Group promoted its fertilisers to tea plantations at major tea producing districts
within the Fujian province in the PRC.

The Issuer was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 January 2003 as an investment
holding company for the Group, and was listed on the GEM of the HKSE. On 31 July 2008,
the Issuer’s shares were withdrawn from the GEM and since 1 August 2008, the Issuer has
been listed on the Main Board of the HKSE.

In September 2008, the Group began its first foray into the magnesium production industry:

. Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Capital Idea Investments Limited (“Capital Idea”),
the Group acquired an 80.0 per cent. interest in Fullocean Group Limited (“Fullocean”).
This acquisition was completed in December 2008.

. Fullocean in turn held shares representing 60.0 per cent. of the share capital in China
Magnesium Limited, which was subsequently renamed “China Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Holdings Limited” (“China Rare Earth Magnesium?”).

] China Rare Earth Magnesium had a direct shareholding interest of 100.0 per cent. in
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd. (“Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources”), a magnesium producer based in Baishan City, Jilin province in the PRC.

In 2009, 2013, 2016 and the first quarter of 2017, the Group had increased its effective

shareholding in China Rare Earth Magnesium to 56.6 per cent., 78.2 per cent., 87.95 per
cent. and 90.95 per cent. respectively. As Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources is a
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wholly-owned subsidiary of China Rare Earth Magnesium, the Group’s effective shareholding
in Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources is 90.95 per cent. as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

In December 2009, the Group acquired the exploration rights of a dolomite mine in Jilin
province in the PRC. It later acquired the mining rights to the mine in November 2010.

At the same time, the Group further developed its original fertilisers business. It began
devoting resources and research and development efforts in compound fertilisers to Jiangsu
Azureblue Technology Developments Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Azureblue”), based in Jiangsu
province in the PRC. Jiangsu Azureblue was established in 2007 as a joint venture between
Century Sunshine Ecological Technology Limited (“Century Sunshine Ecological”) and Lian
Yun Port De Mei New Energy Technology Limited (“Lian Yun”), which was a consultancy
company providing technical advice and consultancy services in the agricultural sector in
Jiangsu province in the PRC. The Group then increased its shareholding interest in Jiangsu
Azureblue from its initial 51.0 per cent. under the joint venture to 83.2 per cent. in 2008,
91.9 per cent. in 2014, 95.05 per cent. in 2015 and 100 per cent. in 2016.

The Group thereafter acquired a serpentine mine in Jiangsu province in September 2010 and
by March 2012, began producing and selling silicon magnesium compound fertilisers.

By the second half of 2012, the Group had shut down its fertilisers production plants in
Nanping, Fujian province and Jinxian, Jiangxi province, and concentrated its resources and
equipment at its production base in Jiangsu province.

The Group diversified into financial services in 2010 via the acquisition of interests in various
investment holding companies and companies dealing in securities. The Group subsequently
divested its financial services business in November 2012, to focus on its main magnesium
products and fertilisers businesses and maintaining its metallurgical flux business as a
secondary business.

On 28 January 2014, the Issuer and International Financial Corporation (“IFC”) entered into
a Share Subscription Agreement pursuant to which IFC agreed to subscribe for an aggregate
of 155,077,000 fully paid new shares in the Issuer at HKDO0.75 each. The subscription was
completed on 24 February 2014.

On 26 March 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of 51.88 per cent. of the entire
issued share capital of Group Sense, a company listed on the HKSE. The Group’s intention
is to use Group Sense as a separate listed platform through which it can focus and expand
on the magnesium products business.

On 24 July 2015, Blue Atlantic International Limited (a subsidiary of the Group) entered into
a contract with the People’s Government of Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province, the PRC, in
relation to the acquisition of land use rights of a land parcel with a site area of approximately
800 mu located at Chemical Industrial Park, Matou Town, Ruichang City. This land parcel is
being used for the establishment of fertiliser production facilities with a capacity of 1,400,000
tonnes, along with a self-owned cargo-handling terminal and other auxiliary facilities, to
further expand the production scale of the Group’s ecological fertiliser business. The first
phase of this new fertiliser plant is scheduled to be completed in late 2017, whilst the second
phase is scheduled to be completed in 2019. This acquisition is in line with the Group’s
strategic objective of developing its fertiliser business by expanding its production scale.
More specifically, the new fertiliser production facilities will cover the southern market, and
complement the northern market for products covered by the Jiangsu production base. This
will contribute to the further development of sales network of the Group and enhance its
client-base coverage.
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On 12 August 2015, Hong Kong New Materials Industry Investment Company Limited (“Hong
Kong New Materials”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Group Sense, entered into a
share transfer agreement with Gansu Tengda West Iron Resources Holding Group Co., Ltd.,
Hangzhou Boiler Group Co., Ltd. and Wang Jian Min pursuant to which Hong Kong New
Materials conditionally agreed to acquire the entire equity interest of Xinjiang Tengxiang
Magnesium Products Company Limited (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”) at a total consideration of
RMB72.28 million (equivalent to approximately HKD88.59 million). This acquisition is in line
with the Group’s intention for Group Sense to be positioned to conduct magnesium products
business and in particular, future development of chain model of circular economy in the
magnesium products business. Xinjiang Tengxiang is principally engaged in the production
and sale of magnesium ingot and semi-coke, and its production premises (which include
administration, research and development and housing facilities) are located at Hami City,
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, the PRC with a total area of approximately 679,121m?2.
Moreover, this acquisition also facilitates the resource integration of the Group and is part of
the Group’s efforts to achieve its strategic goal of becoming the leading magnesium
enterprise in both the PRC as well as globally.

On 3 August 2016, Long Xiang Enterprises Limited (“Long Xiang”), a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, entered into an acquisition agreement with Prosperous Rich
Holdings Limited and Acronagrotrans Limited to acquire the entire equity interest in
Acronagrotrans Ltd. at the cash consideration of US$1 (equivalent to approximately
HKD7.76). This acquisition enabled the Group to acquire an indirect 50.5 per cent. equity
interest in Shandong Hongri Acron Chemical Joint Stock Company, Ltd. (“Shandong Hongri”)
and its subsidiaries. Shandong Acron is a well-established and leading compound fertiliser
producer in the PRC. It has plant and production facilities in Linyi City, Shandong Province,
the PRC, with an aggregate annual production capacity of approximately 820,000 tonnes.
The acquisition is consistent with the Group’s development strategy, which can bring
long-term strategic benefits. For example, amongst other things, the Group will benefit from
Shandong Hongri’s product offerings with strong brand names (such as, #ifHX
(Yanyangtian) and 4 J7 41 (Dongfanghong)) and an established distribution network spanning
29 provinces and autonomous regions in the PRC. The acquisition was completed on 1 April
2017.

RECENT KEY DEVELOPMENTS

On 18 April 2017, the Issuer and Group Sense jointly announced that a memorandum of
understanding (the “Memorandum of Understanding”) was entered into between the parties
on 18 April 2017, in relation to the possible reorganisation involving the acquisition of the
Issuer’s indirect interests in Fullocean Group Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Issuer, and China Rare Earth Magnesium, a direct non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Fullocean Group Limited, by Group Sense.

The Issuer is the 100 per cent. holding company of Capital Idea Investments Limited, which
indirectly holds 90.95 per cent. of the shareholding in Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited as at the Latest Practicable Date. The magnesium production
base of the Group, excluding Group Sense (and its subsidiaries), is located in Baishan City,
Jilin Province, the PRC and the magnesium product business is operated under Baishan City
Tianan Magnesium Resources Company Limited.

Group Sense (and its subsidiaries) is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
magnesium-related products and electronic products.

Immediately after completion of the Possible Transaction, the Issuer’s interests in its
magnesium product business will be held through Group Sense, thereby facilitating a better

delineation of businesses within the Group.
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The Memorandum of Understanding does not create any legally binding commitment
between the parties to proceed with the Possible Transaction and is subject to the relevant
parties entering into definitive agreements. The terms of the Possible Transaction, including
but not limited to, the consideration and method of payment, are to be further negotiated. The
Issuer and Group Sense have agreed in the Memorandum of Understanding that if and to the
extent that the consideration for the Possible Transaction comprises any equity or equity
linked securities to be issued by Group Sense, the issue or conversion price per share of
Group Sense will not be more than HKDO0.40.

There can be no assurance that the Possible Transaction will be consummated. See also

“Risk Factors — Risks Relating to the Possible Transaction” for a discussion of the risks
relating to the Possible Transaction.

121



(0"d ou)
(epnuiog) 735 (OHd ou) (Otid ou) ST T (Oud =) (OHd ou)
[ 7 (i) T 7 I e AT TR T oS CBATE) HEA ] B THSEHFTRAT [ A T AT
«PaywIr p1] 0D ‘P17 0D 001S uior lﬂﬁ%«m&ma& 'y ABojouyos | d P M% P17 0D [edlwayo0iled
(reuoneusaiuy) $80IN0say wnissube 1BuoH Buopbueys Pi1 0 siesliie [ealbojoo3 (1xBuelr) juswidoensq AVOOULDS L Busibuo nsbuelr
asues dnoig ueuel] A0 ueysieg ’ 1pnT uenbunAuer] suysung Ainusn an|gainzy nsbuelp — :
%8819 %001 %S°0S %00+ %00 1 1%001} %€’ 16
(Buoy BuoH) 1%.'8
[BTEE (Buoy] Buop)
T4 W= ch ) EAZIES eS|
] pspwn Buoy| Buo U0 buoH . o)wi uolun A
sBulploH ABojouoa. (snidko) R seivsisias [T S T A Pewur o A3
wnissuBep 'pi] suesjoibeuIOY paNwIT [euoeuIBu| 6 Py 6 B -
yueg ajey eulyn onuepy enig ojouyoa] |eo160j00g %00 |
: aulysung Ainyuan
%6679 7 (Ing)
%00k %00+ %00+ pajwiI sjuawisaAu|
AB
(Ing) o1e4S ploY
%8¢'9¢ [ENZIERZE =2 %001}
paywiIy
dnoun ueaoo|n4
(Ing) %566 7 (Ing) (Ing) ine)
© (27 B e
Jown T 37 panwI
sjuswdojanaq uix Buiy ‘p1] sesudiajug buery buo opwi] dnoi ybug ma
(1Ing) PH 3 Buex Buet PEHWIT dnoio 4BLE MON dnoug euos Wbug
L | 7SR
%001 pajWIT SlusWISBAU| %00k %001 %00k
eap] [eyded
%00}

1SeIalUl BAOBYT |

papnjoul Jou ale saueIpiIsgns
[eLiaJeW-UoU pue juewod # N7 S AR R ACH 2 T
panwi sbuipjoH dnoug auysung Ainjua)

JSMH duj uo paisi]

:,81BQ 9|qedloeid 1se1e ay je se dnoun ay) Jo seiuedwod Buneiado pue Buipjoy Aey ay) 1o s}es mojeq LeYd ayL

JHNLONYHLS 31vHOdHOD v

122



5.

KEY MILESTONES

The Group’s key milestones are listed below:

2000

Youxi Greenland was established and carried out the business of research
and development, production and sale of organic fertiliser products.

2003

On 21 January 2003, the Issuer was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

2004

On 17 February 2004, the Issuer’s shares were listed on the GEM of the
HKSE.

2006

In November 2006, the Issuer received a seven-year loan of RMB120.0
million from IFC.

2007

The Group entered into a joint venture with Lian Yun and acquired a
51.0 per cent. interest in Jiangsu Azureblue, which operates a compound
fertiliser facility in Jiangsu province in the PRC.

2008

On 1 August 2008, the Issuer’s shares were transferred to and listed on the
Main Board of the HKSE.

In October 2008, the Group increased its equity interest in Jiangsu
Azureblue from 51.0 per cent. to 83.2 per cent.

In December 2008, the Group acquired an 80.0 per cent. equity interest in
Fullocean through its wholly-owned subsidiary Capital Idea. Through
Fullocean, the Group acquired effective shareholding interest in China
Rare Earth Magnesium, which in turn wholly owned Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources, which was a magnesium producer in Baishan City,
Jilin province in the PRC.

In the same month on 19 December 2008, the Group’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, Bright Stone Group Limited (“Bright Stone”), entered into a
memorandum of understanding to purchase the entire equity interest in
Gold Strategy Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (“Gold Strategy
Group”), which included Jiangsu Longteng Petrochemical Co., Ltd
(“Jiangsu Longteng”). Jiangsu Longteng carried out the business of
processing, exploration and sale of serpentine in the PRC and its principal
asset was a natural serpentine mine in Donghai county in Jiangsu province
in the PRC; it had acquired the mining rights to the same mine from the
Jiangsu Land and Resources Department in September 2007.

2009

In July 2009, the Group through Capital Idea acquired a further 4.5 per
cent. shareholding interest in Fullocean.

In September 2009, Fullocean acquired a further 7.0 per cent. interest in
China Rare Earth Magnesium. The Issuer thus effectively held a 56.6 per
cent. interest in China Rare Earth Magnesium.

In December 2009, the Group acquired, at a consideration of HKD29.4
million (approximately S$5.0 million), the exploration rights of a dolomite
mine in Jilin province in the PRC for the production of magnesium products;
it obtained mining rights in November 2010.
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2010

In 2010, the Group’s production base at Magnesium Industrial Park in
Baishan was designated as a “Demonstration Base for China Magnesium
Production” by the China Mining Association. The Group was the first to
receive such an honour in the magnesium industry.

In September 2010, the Group acquired, at a consideration of HKD367.0
million (approximately S$62.9 million), the abovementioned serpentine
mine in Jiangsu province for the production of silicon magnesium
compound fertilisers. At the time of acquisition, the serpentine mine
accounted for a market share of about 28.0 per cent. in the PRC market
and was a market leader in serpentine supply in the PRC.

Through its wholly owned subsidiary Fly Union Limited, the Group acquired
an effective shareholding interest of 91.3 per cent. in Jiangsu Longteng.

By 31 December 2010, the Group had completed its acquisition of the Gold
Strategy Group.

2011

The Group’s production of magnesium products commenced in July 2011.

On 31 October 2011, the Group established Lianyunguan Ludi Fertilisers
Co., Ltd. (EnELLHALE A RA ) (“Lianyungang Ludi?) and retained a
91.5 per cent. effective interest therein. This entity manufactures and sells
organic fertilisers and calcium magnesium fertilisers in the PRC.

In October 2011, the Group’s magnesium alloy enterprise was accredited
as one of the 40 comprehensive demonstration bases for applications of
mining resources by the PRC Ministry of Land and Resources and Ministry
of Finance.

2012

In January 2012, Baishan Municipal Committee of the People’s
Government of Jilin Municipality honoured the Group as one of the “Top 10
Enterprises in Science and Technology”.

In March 2012, the Group began production of its silicon magnesium
compound fertilisers.

In 2012, to improve utilisation of its facilities and raw materials, the Group
shut down its Nanping and Jinxian plants in the Fujian and Jiangxi
provinces in the PRC respectively in the same year. It then consolidated its
equipment to a production base in Jiangsu province in the PRC. The
production base began full production by the second half of 2012. As a
result, both the sales volume and gross profit margin for the Group’s
organic fertilisers increased by the year ended 31 December 2012.
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2013

In January 2013, Capital Idea acquired an additional 24.0 per cent.
shareholding interest in China Rare Earth Magnesium. The Issuer’s net
equity interest in China Rare Earth Magnesium increased by 21.66 per
cent. to 78.2 per cent. This meant that the Group’s effective shareholding
in Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources was also 78.2 per cent.

In May 2013, the Issuer was listed on the MSCI China Small Cap Index.

In July 2013, the Group announced that China Rare Earth Magnesium had
entered into a shares subscription agreement with Hong Kong Zhongke
Co., Limited (“Zhongke”) and John-May Co., Limited (“John-May”);
Zhongke and John-May subscribed to 3.0 per cent. of the enlarged capital
of China Rare Earth Magnesium. As Zhongke and John-May were
established by a reputable research institute in the PRC, Changchun
Institute of Applied Chemistry of the Chinese Academy of Sciences
(“CIAC”), the transaction introduced CIAC to the Group as a strategic
shareholder.

On 13 November 2013, the loan extended by the IFC in November 2006
was fully repaid.

2014

In 2014, the Group further increased its interest in Jiangsu Azureblue from
83.2 per cent. to 91.9 per cent. by acquisition of a minority equity stake.

On 28 January 2014, the Issuer and IFC entered into a Share Subscription
Agreement pursuant to which IFC agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of
155,077,000 fully paid new shares in the Issuer at HKDO0.75 each. The
subscription was completed on 24 February 2014.

In April 2014, the Group acquired a further 8.5 per cent. equity interest in
Lianyunguan Ludi, which then became a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group.

On 30 May 2014, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources entered into
a loan agreement, which was amended and restated on 7 December 2015
with IFC. IFC granted Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources a loan
for the principal amount in aggregate of US$27.0 million for seven years.

On 17 June 2014, the Issuer entered into a Subscription Agreement with
Gem Power International Limited (“Gem Power”, a subsidiary of CCB
International (Holdings) Limited) pursuant to which Gem Power agreed to
subscribe for convertible bonds of the Issuer in aggregate principal amount
of HKD115.0 million (approximately S$19.7 million). The subscription was
completed on 27 June 2014.

On 20 June 2014, the Issuer entered into a Subscription Agreement with
Greenhouse Century Limited (“Greenhouse”, a subsidiary of China
Everbright Asset Management), pursuant to which Greenhouse agreed to
subscribe for convertible bonds of the Issuer in an aggregate principal
amount of HKD180.0 million (approximately S$$30.9 million). The
subscription was completed on 27 June 2014.
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2015

On 6 January 2015, the Group announced that it would be acquiring,
through its subsidiary Ming Xin Developments Limited (“Ming Xin”), an
aggregate stake of 51.46 per cent. of Group Sense. It also announced that
Octal Capital Limited (“Octal Capital”’) and Get Nice Securities Limited
(“Get Nice Securities”) (being financial services firms) may, on behalf of
Ming Xin, make a potential unconditional mandatory cash general offer to
acquire all the issued shares of Group Sense.

On 3 February 2015, the Group held an extraordinary general meeting to
seek shareholders’ approval of the sale and purchase agreement and the
subscription of a total of 239,532,000 new shares in Group Sense. The
relevant resolutions were passed and announced on 23 February 2015.

On 13 February 2015, the Group’s subsidiary Century Sunshine Ecological
injected further capital of RMB63.6 million into Jiangsu Azureblue, and the
Group’s effective shareholding in Jiangsu Azureblue was increased to
95.05 per cent.

On 26 February 2015, the Group announced that the sale and purchase
and subscription transactions in respect of Group Sense’s shares were
completed. Octal Capital and Get Nice Securities proceeded to make the
mandatory cash general offer for a further 616,753,911 shares in Group
Sense on 5 March 2015.

On 26 March 2015, the Group announced the closure of the mandatory
cash general offer by Octal Capital and Get Nice Securities and that valid
acceptances for a total of 6,066,727 shares had been received,
representing approximately 0.42 per cent. of the entire issued share capital
of Group Sense as at the date of the announcement. This meant that,
taking into account these valid acceptances, the Group would be interested
in an aggregate of 745,598,727 shares in Group Sense, representing
approximately 51.88 per cent. of the entire issued share capital of Group
Sense as at the date of the announcement.

In June 2015, the Issuer issued 1,453,119,268 new shares to raise
HKD581.25 million before expenses.

On 4 June 2015 and 3 August 2015, the Issuer issued S$75 million and
S$50 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.20 per cent. notes due
2018 comprised in Series 001 under the Programme.

On 24 June 2015, Blue Atlantic International Limited (a subsidiary of the
Group) acquired the land use rights of a land parcel with a site area of
approximately 800 mu located at Chemical Industrial Park, Matou Town,
Ruichang City, to be used for the establishment of fertiliser production
facilities with a capacity of 1,400,000 tonnes,

On 12 August 2015, Hong Kong New Materials (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Group Sense) entered into a Share Transfer Agreement with
Gansu Tengda West Iron Resources Holding Group Co., Ltd. and Wang
Jian Min pursuant to which Hong Kong New Materials conditionally agreed
to acquire the entire equity interest of Xinjiang Tengxiang at a total
consideration of RMB72.28 million (equivalent to approximately HKD88.59
million).
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In August 2015, Group Sense raised approximately HKD287.44 million
before expenses by issuing 1,437,195,029 shares. Group Sense applied
approximately 70 per cent. of the net proceeds as funding for the
expansion and business development of Xinjiang Tengxiang.

2016 On 26 April 2016, the Issuer, Wan Tai Investments Limited (an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of CCB International (Holding) Limited) and
Mr. Chi Wen Fu (the Chairman and Executive Director of the Issuer)
entered into a subscription agreement for the issuance of fixed rate
exchangeable bonds in the principal amount of HKD232,000,000. The
relevant exchangeable bonds were issued on 4 May 2016.

On 3 August 2016, Long Xiang (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group) entered into an acquisition agreement with Prosperous Rich
Holdings Limited pursuant to which Long Xiang conditionally agreed to buy
the entire equity interest in Acronagrotrans Ltd. at the cash consideration
of US$1 (equivalent to approximately HKD7.76). Acronagrotrans Ltd. holds
50.5% of the issued shares of Shandong Hongri. The Group’s acquisition
of Shandong Hongri was completed on 1 April 2017.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group’s principal lines of business are its fertilisers business and magnesium products
business. The Group also produces and sells metallurgical flux. The Group’s businesses are
vertically-integrated, in that the Group controls its sources of raw materials, the production
processes and thereafter sells its products through distributors or to its customers directly.

The Group’s total revenue amounted to HKD2,072,519,000 (approximately S$372,086,000),
HKD2,515,602,000 (approximately S$451,634,000) and HKD2,589,221,000 (approximately
S$464,851,000) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 (“FY2014”), the financial
year ended 31 December 2015 (“FY2015”) and the financial year ended 31 December 2016
(“FY2016”) respectively. This represented a year-on-year increase of 21.4 per cent. in
FY2015 as compared to FY2014 and 2.9 per cent. in FY2016 as compared to FY2015.

The following diagram sets out the breakdown of revenue contributed by each of the Group’s
businesses in FY2016 and FY2015:

Revenue Contributed by Group’s Businesses in FY2016 and FY2015 (in HKD million)

Sales revenue breakdown by fertiliser products

2016 2015

B Compound Fertiliser (except Si-Mg Fertiliser) m Compound Fertiliser (except Si-Mg Fertiliser)
® Organic Fertiliser ®m Organic Fertiliser
Si-Mg Fertiliser Si-Mg Fertiliser

127



Sales revenue breakdown by magnesium products

2016 2015
® Rare Earth Magnesium Alloys B Rare Earth Magnesium Alloys
® Basic Magnesium Products B Basic Magnesium Products

The Group attained gross profit of HKD659,944,000 (approximately S$118,482,000),
HKD786,035,000 (approximately S$$141,119,000) and HKD759,861,000 (approximately
S$$136,420,000) for FY2014, FY2015 and FY2016 respectively. This represented a growth of
about 19.1 per cent in FY2015 as compared to FY2014 and a decrease of 3.3 per cent. in
FY2016 as compared to FY2015. The increase between FY2014 and FY2015 was mainly
due to increase in sales volumes for the Group’s flagship products.

The following diagram tracks the Group’s gross profit and gross profit margin from the
financial year ended 31 December 2012 (“FY2012”) to FY2016:
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The Group’s profit for the year amounted to HKD339,641,000 (approximately S$60,977,000),
HKD363,069,000 (approximately S$$65,183,000) and HKD313,052,000 (approximately
$$56,203,000) for FY2014, FY2015 and FY2016 respectively. This represented an increase
of 6.9 per cent. in FY2015 as compared to FY2014 and a decrease of 13.8 per cent. in
FY2016 as compared to FY2015.
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The profit for the year attributable to the owners of the company in turn amounted to
HKD287,910,000 (approximately S$51,689,000), HKD314,479,000 (approximately
$$56,549,000) and HKD302,334,000 (approximately S$54,279,000) for FY2014, FY2015
and FY2016 respectively. This represented a year-on-year increase of 9.2 per cent. in
FY2015 as compared to FY2014 and a decrease of 3.9 per cent. in FY2016 as compared to
FY2015.

The following diagram tracks the Group’s profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
company and the profit margin from FY2012 to FY2016:
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(a) Fertilisers Business

The Group’s fertilisers business covers two product categories, being compound fertilisers
and organic fertilisers. These in turn cater to the mass agricultural and organic markets
respectively. The Group’s fertiliser brands, such as, “Lu Di”, “Feng Shou”, “Le He He”, “Zhan
Lan”, “Yanyangtian” and “Dongfanghong” are well-received and recognised in 29 provinces
across the PRC. These fertilisers are specialty products with specific formulas addressing
different soil conditions and nutrient requirements of crops.

The table below sets out certain information relating to the Group’s fertilisers business for the

periods indicated.
FY2014 % FY2015 % FY2016 %

Revenue (HKD in millions,
except for percentages):

Compound fertilisers (excluding

Si-Mg fertilisers) . . . ............... 637 49.9 728 47.8 623 445
Si-Mg fertilisers . . . ........ .. ... 293 23.0 391 25.7 395 28.2
Organic fertilisers .. ............. 345 27 405 26.6 382 27.3
Others .. ...... .. ... .. ... . .... 2 0.2 1 0 - -

Total fertilisers revenue. .. .......... 1,277 100 1,523 100 1,399 100
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FY2014 % FY2015 % FY2016 %

Fertilisers business revenue as
a percentage of total revenue . ... .. N/A 61.6 N/A 60.6 N/A 54.0

Gross Profit Margin:

Compound fertilisers (excluding

Si-Mg fertilisers) . . .. .......... ... N/A 18.4 N/A 18.7 N/A 17.6
Si-Mg fertilisers . . . ......... ... .. N/A 33.5 N/A 34.9 N/A 35.9
Organic fertilisers ... ............ N/A 37.7 N/A 37.8 N/A 38.3
Fertilisers business . .. ........... N/A 271 N/A 27.9 N/A 28.4

Fertilisers and Opportunities for Growth

Given that the PRC is the world’s most populous country, the long term growth potential of
the fertiliser market, which supports the agriculture industry in the PRC, remains optimistic.
General market expectation is that demand for fertilisers in the PRC will grow as a result of
increasing demand for food, decreasing arable land and lower crop yields.

The Group’s fertiliser business benefits from favourable national policies of the PRC, such
as, the “National Agricultural Modernisation Plan (2016-2020), the “Outline of the
Development Plan of Food Industry under 13" Five Year Plan”, and the “National Rural
Economic Development Plan under the 13" Five Year Plan”, which promote agricultural
development. For example, during the first year of the 13" Five Year Plan, the PRC
government announced several plans in relation to the mid-to long-term development of the
agricultural industry. The principal strategies underlying these policies include ecology
preservation and fertiliser utilisation enhancement, which promotes the overall development
of the agricultural industry.

In February 2015, the Ministry of Agriculture issued a “Zero Fertiliser Growth by 2020
Resolution”, proposing a fertiliser efficiency rate of 40 per cent. or more by 2020, and strives
to reduce the use of chemical fertilisers. This policy sets out to increase the usage of
ecological fertilisers while at the same time reduce the usage of chemical or single nutrient
fertilisers, which reinforces the Group’s strategy to further develop its ecological compound
fertilisers. It also aims to boost the restructuring, transformation and upgrading of fertiliser
industry. In July 2015, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology also issued
“Guidance on the Transformational Development of the Fertiliser Industry” to promote
development of new fertilisers, with the aim of increasing the use of new fertilisers in the PRC
to 30 per cent. as compared to the then current rate of 10 per cent.

The development of the fertiliser industry is also accelerated by the favourable financial
policies by the PRC government. In February 2017, the Ministry of Agriculture issued “Fruit,
Vegetable and Tea-based Organic Fertilisers Replacing Chemical Fertilisers Programme”,
which provides subsidies of RMB1 billion to 100 counties within the PRC to replace chemical
fertilisers with organic fertilisers, primarily in the production of fruit, vegetables and tea. The
above policies pave the way in transforming the fertiliser industry in the PRC. With continual
modernisation supported by the PRC government, the use of environmental-friendly
ecological fertilisers is expected to become the dominant within the industry.

Compound Fertilisers
Chemical fertilisers are chemically manufactured from various materials such as nitrogen,

phosphorus, potassium, and other compounds such as calcium, magnesium and sulphur.
Where these chemical fertilisers contain more than one nutrient, they are known as
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compound fertilisers. Despite the abovementioned environmental concerns, these fertilisers
still have a strong role to play in the PRC market given that they specifically target
deficiencies in Chinese soil and promote faster growth rates in crops. Compared to organic
fertilisers, these fertilisers are also used primarily in cereal crops such as wheat, rice, grain
and corn to promote faster and more aggressive growth, whereas organic fertilisers are used
mainly in cash crops such as green food, vegetables and teas and in orchards.

The Group produces nitrogen-phosphorus-potassium (“NPK”) compound fertilisers and
silicon magnesium compound fertilisers.

The features of the sulphur-based NPK compound fertilisers are that they:

o are in granule form;

. contain nitrogen which aids in foliage growth and promotes seed and fruit production;
. contain phosphorous which aids in the development of roots and flowers;

. contain potassium which is key to the overall health of crops by aiding the building of
protein and photosynthesis and production resistance to disease;

J contain sulphur which contributes to increased crop yields by providing direct nutritive
value, while providing indirect nutritive value as soil amendments and improving the use
efficiency of nitrogen and phosphorus; and

] promote greater uniform distribution of the above essential plant nutrients.

Since March 2012, the Group has been actively developing, producing and promoting its
silicon magnesium compound fertilisers, which are its niche product. The Group focused on
producing this niche product because, according to estimations by the Chinese Academy of
Agricultural Sciences, more than 50.0 per cent. and 19.0 per cent. of the PRC’s rice paddy
fields lack silicon and magnesium respectively. The features of silicon magnesium compound
fertilisers are that they:

. contain silicon, which can improve crops’ drought tolerance, strength and disease
resistance, and is an important nutrient for high silicon-accumulating crops such as rice,
sugarcane, barley and maize; and

. contain magnesium, which promotes photosynthesis and is also used by plants in the
metabolism of carbohydrates, cell membrane stabilisation and the regulated uptake of
other nutrients.

Organic Fertilisers

Organic fertilisers are fertilisers that are ecologically friendly for use in the environment. The
Group produces organic fertilisers using the pile fermentation method on industrial wastes
from cattle farms.

While these organic fertilisers contain fewer nutrients compared to other fertilisers, they

appeal to environmentally conscious end users and consumers, have low risk of over-
fertilisation and also improve soils by aeration and absorption of water.
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In particular, the long-term use of chemical fertilisers in the PRC has led to calls by the PRC
central government for “scientific fertilisation” (for instance, through the use of fertilisers with
formulas targeting deficiencies in particular types of soil), in the face of environmental
problems and concerns such as soil acidification, deteriorating soil conditions and the
possibility of water contamination.

There has also been increased demand for organic or green food which will continue to boost
organic fertiliser consumption.

Production and Sales Results for Fertilisers

The Group is targeting for an increase in production capacity of 196 per cent. from FY2015
to FY2017. Annual capacity in FY2015 was recorded as 750,000 tonnes with actual sales
volume at 661,748 tonnes. Thereafter, the Group’s annual capacity increased to 850,000
tonnes in FY2016, with an actual sales volume of 692,197 tonnes, with the technical upgrade
of the Group’s production plant in Jiangsu which increased its capacity by 100,000 tonnes.
With the acquisition of Shandong Hongri as well as the completion of the first phase of the
new fertiliser production line at Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province, the Group expects that the
annual capacity of its production facilities for its fertilisers business to reach 2,220,000
tonnes by the end of FY2017. In the longer term, the Group aims to raise annual capacity to
2,550,000 tonnes and 3,250,000 tonnes by the end of FY2018 and FY2019 respectively.

More details on the Group’s production facilities and utilisation rates for its fertilisers
business are set out in the section “Production Facilities and Utilisation — Fertilisers
Business”.

The following diagrams set out the split in production between compound fertilisers (other
than silicon magnesium compound fertilisers), silicon magnesium compound fertilisers and
organic fertilisers in FY2016, and the targeted split in production in FY2017:

Actual Production in FY2016

B Compound Fertilisers
(excluding Silicon Magnesium
Compound Fertilisers)

B Silicon Magnesium
Compound Fertilisers

H Organic Fertilisers

29.5%

o,
24.4% 46.1%
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Targeted Production in FY2017

B Compound Fertilisers
(excluding Silicon Magnesium
Compound Fertilisers)

B Silicon Magnesium
Compound Fertilisers

 Organic Fertilisers

61 5% 15.80/0 22.70/0

The table below shows the sales volumes and average realised selling prices of the Group’s
fertiliser products for the periods indicated.

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

Sales Volumes (tonnes):

Compound fertilisers (excluding Si-Mg

fertilisers) . .. ... . 244,729 305,708 321,551
Si-Mg fertilisers. .. ....... ... .. L. 136,483 155,622 167,651
Organic fertilisers . .. ................. 163,144 200,418 202,995

Total . ... 544,356 661,748 692,197

Average Realised Selling Prices

(HKD per tonne):

Compound fertilisers (excluding Si-Mg

fertilisers) . . ......... .. . ... 2,601 2,380 1,937
Si-Mg fertilisers. .. ........ ... ... ... 2,153 2,508 2,353
Organic fertilisers . . ............ ... ... 2,115 2,018 1,880

Average Selling Price (HKD per tonne): .. 2,343 2,301 2,021

Average Realised Selling Prices

(RMB per tonne):

Compound fertilisers (excluding Si-Mg

fertilisers) . .. ... .. 2,062 1,915 1,657
Si-Mg fertilisers. .. ........ ... ... ... 1,707 2,017 2,013
Organic fertilisers . .. .......... ... ... 1,677 1,624 1,609

Average Selling Price (RMB per tonne): .. 1,858 1,851 1,729

The Group’s Key Assets in the Fertilisers Business

The Group’s Serpentine Mine in Donghai County in Jiangsu Province
The Group’s production of its silicon magnesium compound fertilisers benefits from the

Group’s acquisition of a serpentine mine situated in Donghai County in Jiangsu province in
the PRC.
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This mine has serpentine reserves of 55.0 million tonnes as of September 2010, when the
Group acquired the rights to the serpentine mine, based on a reserve report from the Joint
Ore Reserves Committee, which is a body that develops the Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, or the JORC Code. The Group
continues to monitor the serpentine extracted for its businesses. For FY2016, the Group
completed a serpentine output of 488,644 tonnes (compared to an output of 574,303 tonnes
in FY2015 and 539,823 tonnes in FY2014). During this period, the Group did not carry out
exploration activities but engaged in mining production activities and certain development
activities, including the construction of roads, drainage systems, and the installation of
equipment, for the mine. There was no material change in the ore reserve of the mine
between FY2014 and FY2016.

The Group’s subsidiary, Jiangsu Longteng, first acquired the mining rights to the serpentine
mine from the Jiangsu Land and Resources Department in September 2007. The mining
rights are to expire in October 2020. The license is presently renewable on the basis that
there remain reserves at the time of its expiry.

Serpentine is a source of magnesium, and is thus critical to the Group’s production of its
silicon magnesium compound fertilisers. It is also used in the Group’s metallurgical flux
business.

The Group’s Land in Ruichang City in Jiangxi Province for a New Fertiliser Production
Line

In July 2015, the Group acquired land covering an area of 800 mu within an industrial park
in Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province, on which the Group intends to build a new fertiliser
production line. The new fertiliser production line is expected to have an annual capacity of
1.4 million tonnes to expand its silicon magnesium compound fertilisers business, and will
also have a self-owned cargo-handling terminal, along with other auxiliary facilities. The first
phase of the new fertiliser production line with an annual capacity of 550,000 tonnes is
scheduled for completion in late 2017, and the second phase with an annual capacity of
850,000 tonnes is scheduled to be completed in 2019.

Other Assets and Advantages

The Group holds 8 patented technologies in its production of its fertilisers, and has registered
5 trademarks for its fertilisers business. The details of the trademarks are set out in the
section titled “Intellectual Property”.

The Group also invests heavily in research and development. Details of its research and
development efforts in respect of its fertilisers business are set out at the section titled
“Research and Development”.

(a) Magnesium Products Business

The Group’s magnesium products business includes mining, research and
development, processing, production and distribution and sales of basic magnesium
products and rare earth magnesium alloys, such that it has business activities in the
upstream of the value chain of the magnesium business industry, as illustrated in the
diagram below:
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The Value Chain of the Magnesium Business Industry

Upstream
(The Group is an integrated
platform from mining, Dolomite
processing to production
and distribution)

Magnesium Magnesium
Ingot Alloy

Midstream

(Car/high speed Semi-solid

processing

trains suppliers; Die-casting
alloy material
suppliers)

Metal products Additives/Restore
(Automobile', 3C?, (Aluminium alloy,
aerospace?, etc) desulfurisation)

Downstream
(End product users)

Notes:

(1)  Magnesium products produced for the automobile industry include gearboxes, steering columns, the
housing for drivers’ air bags, steering wheels, seat frames and fuel tank covers.

(2)  Magnesium products produced for the computers, consumer electronics and communications (“3C”)
industry include cameras, cell phones, laptops, portable media device housings and arms of hard
drives.

(8) Magnesium products are used in the aerospace industry in thrust reversers, engines, aircraft and
helicopter transmission casings and intercontinental ballistic missiles.

Source: ITIS, International Magnesium Association

The Group is one of the few integrated enterprises in the PRC’s magnesium industry.

The table below sets out certain information relating to the Group’s magnesium
products business for the periods indicated.

FY2014 % FY2015 % FY2016 %

Revenue (HKD in millions,
except for percentages):

Rare earth magnesium alloys. . . . 451 64.7 525 69.1 507 55.7
Basic magnesium products . . ... 217 31.2 215 28.3 375 41.2
Others. . ................... 29 4.1 20 2.6 28 3.1
Total magnesium products
revenue ... ............... 697 100 760 100 910 100
Magnesium products revenue as
a percentage of total revenue . .. N/A 33.6 N/A 30.2 N/A 35.2
Gross Profit Margin:
Rare earth magnesium alloys. . . . N/A 39.6 N/A 41.8 N/A 41.7
Basic magnesium products . .. .. N/A 16.6 N/A 15.8 N/A 11.8
Magnesium products business. . . N/A 32.1 N/A 34.2 N/A 29.0

Uses of Magnesium Products and Opportunities for Growth

The Group’s two main business products are basic magnesium products and rare earth
magnesium alloys.

Basic magnesium products include general magnesium alloys and magnesium ingots.
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Magnesium alloys are mixtures of magnesium with other metals, which can include
aluminium, zinc, manganese, silicon, copper and zirconium.

Magnesium alloys are the lightest structural metal to be developed, being a third lighter
than aluminium and only a quarter of the weight of steel. Their other properties include:

o high vibration and impact resistance;
] anti-radiation properties;

. resistance to creep;

o recyclable;

. high strength to weight ratios;

. high thermal stability, which means that, even when exposed to high temperatures
in production processes, magnesium alloys remain stable materials;

. excellent machinability, which means that, as a material, magnesium alloys require
little power to cut, can be cut quickly and can easily obtain a good finish;

o relative low cost on a per piece basis; and
U high resistance to corrosion.

These properties cause magnesium alloys to be in demand by industries such as the
automotive, 3C, aerospace, aviation, defense, biomedical, chemical and packaging
industries, as elaborated upon in the following paragraphs. As an illustration of major
users of magnesium globally, these include companies in the aerospace industry such
as Airbus, Bombardier, Embraer, the European Aeronautic Defence and Space
Company N.V., Korean Aerospace Industries, Boeing, Dassault Aviation, SpaceX and
Lockheed Martin, companies in the automotive industry such as Audi, General Motors,
BMW, PSA Peugeot Citroén, Daimler, Mercedes-Benz, Benteler, Porsche and Valeo,
and companies in the packaging industry such as Rexam, Ardagh Group, Crown,
Can-Pack S.A., Amcor and Ball.’

Magnesium alloys are commonly utilised in engineering design particularly due to their
light weight, which results in improved fuel efficiency, and aids in reducing carbon
dioxide emissions. This has led to their being an attractive replacement to aluminium
alloys in the aerospace, automobile and train industries.

In light of the above, magnesium products enjoy a promising global market:

. The European Union has mandated that the average carbon dioxide emission rate
of new cars be reduced from 130.0 grams per kilometre in 20152 to 95.0 grams of
carbon dioxide per kilometre in 2021. The usage of car parts and components
made out of magnesium alloy can help achieve this goal, given that is a 6.0 to
8.0 per cent. improvement in fuel economy for every 330 pounds reduction in
weight of a car.

Source: Constellium

Source: Magnesium Investing News
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. By 2020, global vehicle consumption is expected to reach 107.0 million." The
United States Automotive Materials Partnership (“USAMP”) has stated the 2020
strategic goal to substitute 340 pounds of magnesium components for 630 pounds
of current ferrous and aluminium parts, bring the total average vehicle magnesium
content to 350 pounds. The current usage is 10 to 12 pounds for an average
United States automaker. According to the USAMP’s strategic goal, magnesium
demand is expected to reach 17.0 million tonnes.?

In the PRC where the Group operates, due to the eco-friendly nature of magnesium
alloys, the demand for magnesium alloys is also fuelled by the promotion of energy
savings and emission reduction measures and the promulgation of policies supporting
the development of related industries:

. According to projections in the PRC government’s “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of
the Nonferrous Metals Industry”, the industry targets for magnesium output is
expected to reach 1,500,000 tonnes by 2020, growing at a compound annual
growth rate of 7.1 per cent., ranking the first in annual growth rate among
nonferrous metals.®

. “Development for Energy Saving and New Energy for Auto Sector (2012-2020)”
indicates average fuel consumption of cars to be reduced from 6.9 litres per
100 kilometres to 5.0 litres per 100 kilometres by 2020. This will be aligned with the
international level of weight reduction of between 16.5 to 22.0 per cent.*

Rare earth magnesium alloys are mixtures of certain rare earth metals such as cerium,
lanthanum and ytterbium to magnesium. Rare earth metals are a group of 17 elements
with close chemical characteristics, but with significant differences between them when
added to magnesium. Such rare earth magnesium alloys result in an even higher
strength material with a lower density than general magnesium alloys.

Rare earth magnesium alloys are thus important structural materials and are employed
particularly where low weight of construction is critical such as in the construction of
aircraft and space apparatus.

While the Group produces both basic magnesium products and rare earth magnesium
products, it has begun focusing on the development of the latter, principally because the
latter, relative to the former, are categorised as high-end products with higher
technological barriers to entry; rare earth magnesium products face less competition
than traditional magnesium ingots and yield a higher profit margin. The Group has
invested in research and development in order to compete in the magnesium products
business, and owns, has registered or is registering 12 patents in respect of its
magnesium products business.

Additionally, technological advances have resulted in the constant creation of new
materials and products. As one of the PRC’s seven emerging industries with strategic
importance and one of 10 prioritised industries set out in an initiative to
comprehensively upgrade Chinese industry (called “Made in China 2025”), new

RSB \V]

Source: Wardsauto
Source: USAMP
Source: PRC Government’s Thirteenth Five-Year Plan

Source: The PRC government’s “Twelfth Five-Year Plan of the New Material Industry”, Qianzhan Research Institute
(en.gianzhan.com), National Magnesium Industry Conference 2014
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materials serve as the foundation for the entire manufacturing transformation and
upgrading process. To this end, being a top-rated new material, magnesium alloys have
huge development potential.

Production and Sales Results for Magnesium Products

The Group is targeting for an increase in production capacity of 280 per cent. from
FY2015 to the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”). The Group’s actual
sales volume of magnesium products was 36,201 tonnes in FY2016 with an annual
capacity of 40,000 tonnes. With the completion of the Group’s phase 2 expansion plan,
it expects that the annual capacity of its production facilities for its magnesium products
to be 95,000 tonnes by FY2017. In the longer term, the Group aims to raise annual
capacity to 115,000 tonnes and 120,000 tonnes by the end of FY2018 and FY2019
respectively.

More details on the Group’s production facilities and utilisation rates for its magnesium
products business are set out in the section “Production Facilities and Utilisation —
Magnesium Products Business”.

The following diagrams set out the split in production between basic magnesium

products and magnesium and rare earth magnesium alloy products in FY2016, and the
targeted split in production in FY2017:

Actual Production in FY2016

e

48.0% 52.0%

B Basic Magnesium Products

B Magnesium and Rare Earth
Magnesium Alloy Products

Targeted Production in FY2017

46.5% 53.5%

B Basic Magnesium Products

B Magnesium and Rare Earth
Magnesium Alloy Products
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The table below shows the sales volumes and average realised selling prices of the
Group’s magnesium products for the periods indicated.

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016
Sales Volumes (tonnes):
Rare earth magnesium alloys ........ 11,442 12,407 13,171
Basic magnesium products . ......... 11,341 11,623 23,030
Total . ... 22,783 24,030 36,201
Average Realised Selling Prices
(HKD per tonne):
Rare earth magnesium alloys ........ 39,411 42,320 38,559
Basic magnesium products . ......... 19,143 18,516 16,284
Average Selling Price (HKD per
tonne):........ ... L 29,323 30,806 24,389
Average Realised Selling Prices
(RMB per tonne):
Rare earth magnesium alloys ........ 31,249 34,041 32,988
Basic magnesium products .......... 15,179 14,894 13,939
Average Selling Price (RMB per
tonne):........ ... L 23,250 24,780 20,870

Major end users of the Group’s magnesium products include clients in the automobile,
consumer electronics, military, aviation, medical and other industries.

The Group’s Key Assets in the Magnesium Products Business

Mining and Exploration Rights to Dolomite Mine in Baishan City, Jilin Province

In December 2009, the Group acquired the exploration rights to a dolomite mine in
Baishan City, Jilin province in the PRC. It later acquired the mining rights to the mine
in November 2010.

Dolomite is an anhydrous carbonate mineral composed of calcium magnesium
carbonate, and is used in the production of magnesium. The Group’s access to this
mine enables it to secure high quality raw materials for its magnesium products.

The Issuer expects the mine’s reserves to support the Group’s production activities for
a further 30 years; this takes into account that in order to produce one tonne of
magnesium, the Group requires 10.5 to 11 tonnes of dolomite. The Group’s mining
license is for a valid period of nearly 13 more years and is set to expire in November
2030. The license is presently renewable on the basis that there remain reserves at the
time of its expiry.

The dolomite mine has a dolomite reserve of 23.0 million tonnes as of November 2010,
when the Group acquired the mining rights to the mine, based on a reserve report from
China Ore Resources Committee (7'[E % ifif#H52), a PRC government body. The
Group is currently using 120 acres of land (phase 1) and produces one million tonnes
of ore per annum. It is one of the few open pit dolomite mines in the PRC. The Group
continues to monitor the dolomite extracted for its magnesium products business. For
FY2016, the Group completed a dolomite output of 448,449 tonnes, compared to
380,227 tonnes in FY2015 and 414,722 tonnes in FY2014. During this period, the
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(b)

Group did not carry out exploration activities but engaged only in development and
mining production activities for the mine. There was no material change in the ore
reserve of the dolomite mine between FY2014 and FY2016.

Magnesium Plant within Close Proximity of Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine also has the benefit of proximity to its magnesium
production premises. Thus, the Group’s cost of operation is lowered by operating an
integrated platform that carries out smelting, ingot manufacturing, alloy processing and
distribution of the magnesium alloys, from its Baishan City Tianan Resources
magnesium plant in the China Magnesium Industrial Park in the Hunjiang District of
Baishan City, Jilin province. The Group has maintained an interest in Baishan City
Tianan Resources since December 2008. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group
had increased its effective shareholding in Baishan City Tianan Resources to
90.95 per cent.

Magnesium Product Manufacturing Facility in Xinjiang Province

In August 2015, the Group (via Group Sense) acquired a magnesium product
manufacturer located in Xinjiang Province, with an approved scale of annual production
capacity of 1.2 million tonnes of semi-coke, 100,000 tonnes of magnesium alloy and
100,000 tonnes of ferroalloy, as approved by the PRC’s supervisory authorities. Two
established production lines consist of annual production capacity of 15,000 tonnes
magnesium ingot and 600,000 tonnes semi-coke respectively.

Please see the sections titled “Production Processes involved in the Group’s
Magnesium Products Business” and “Production Facilities and Utilisation — Magnesium
Products Business” below.

Other Assets and Advantages

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group owns 12 patented technologies in its
magnesium production. Details on the Group’s intellectual property rights are set out at
the section titled “Intellectual Property”.

The Group also invests heavily in research and development. Details of its research and
development efforts in respect of its magnesium products business are set out at the
section titled “Research and Development”.

Metallurgical Flux Business

The Group has a secondary metallurgical flux business. As abovementioned, this
business is supported by the Group’s abundant supply of serpentine which is an
indispensable source of auxiliary material for iron and steel smelting.

Serpentine can act as flux, which are used in the smelting process in order to purge
metal of chemical impurities such as phosphorus by forming a liquid slag, which allows
metal to be easily separated from the impurities.

The Group’s metallurgical flux business is a secure and stable source of income.
Revenue from this business amounted to HKD98,333,000 (approximately
S$17,654,000), HKD72,913,000 (approximately S$13,090,000) and HKD47,494,000
(approximately S$8,527,000), representing 4.7 per cent., 2.9 per cent. and 1.8 per cent.
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of the Group’s total revenue, in FY2014, FY2015 and FY2016 respectively. This also
represented a year-on-year decrease of 25.9 per cent. in FY2015 as compared to
FY2014 and 34.9 per cent. in FY2015 as compared to FY2016.

(¢) The Group’s Equity Investments

As a residual investment from its financial services business activities and through its
subsidiaries Forth Well Investments Limited and Feijun Investments Limited, the Group
holds 14,744,000 shares in the Australia-listed TTG Fintech Limited (“TTG Fintech”).
TTG Fintech is the developer of the world’s first open platform for financial network,
which connects the closed financial network to the Internet. It provides various
industries with cross-domain financial electronic authentication (or FEA) solutions,
handles the identification and authentication of users, transfers information across
different networks and clears and settles funds for different parties involved in the trade
process.

In the field of financial electronic authentication (or FEA) solutions, TTG Fintech owns
the intellectual property rights of many leading global inventions and offers its partners
(such as, China UMS, China UnionPay, ICBC, CGB, SPDB, PSBC, Alipay, Tencent,
Sina, Careland, China Unicom, China Telecom, China Mobile and Tourism
Administration of Guangdong Province) with R&D for their respective commercial
operations.

As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the equity investments was approximately
HKD5.6 million.

7. PRODUCTION PROCESSES INVOLVED IN THE GROUP’S FERTILISERS BUSINESS
(a) Organic Fertilisers

The production processes for the Group’s powdered and granular organic fertilisers and
organic-inorganic compound fertilisers are set out in the following diagrams:
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The above processes generally rely on a simple biochemical reaction (vide the pile
fermentation process) and involves organic materials such as industrial waste which
can be obtained at low procurement costs.

(b) NPK Compound Fertilisers

The production process for the Group’s sulphur-based NPK fertilisers can be set out as
follows:

Under low temperatures, potassium
chloride and sulphuric acid react to
produce potassium bisulphate solution

Potassium bisulphate solution is
mixed with phosphoric acid

The mixture is neutralised with ammonia to
obtain a mixture of potassium sulphate,
ammonium sulphate, ammonium dihydrogen
phosphate and ammonium hydrogen phosphate

A mixture of potassium sulphate,
ammonium sulphate, ammonium
dihydrogen phosphate and ammonium
hydrogen phosphate is obtained

Cooling, drying and granulation processes
are carried out

Granular sulphur-based NPK
compound fertiliser is weighed and
packed
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(c) Silicon Magnesium Compound Fertilisers

The production process for the Group’s silicon magnesium compound fertilisers can be
set out as follows:

Serpentine is extracted from
mines and is processed through a
jaw crusher and ball mill and
added to a slurry pond

Sulphuric acid is added to the
serpentine and the mixture goes
through a reaction tank

The mixture is added to
magnesium oxide and nitrogen-
phosphorus pentoxide-potassium
oxide in a mixing tank

Cooling, drying and granulation
processes are carried out

Silicon magnesium compound
fertiliser is weighed and packed

The above process relies on a simple chemical reaction and involves serpentine usage
which the Group can obtain from its own serpentine mine.

(d) Testing of New Fertiliser Products

Alongside the Group’s regular production processes, the Group also conducts testing of
new products on live agricultural plots. The Group approaches farmers and local
governments in the PRC to lease plots of their arable land for such testing to be carried
out. Due to the competitive nature of the fertiliser manufacturing industry in the PRC,
the Group consistently engages in such arrangements in order to develop new products
quicKkly.
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The use of various plots of arable land to test new products allows the Group to check
harvests which were grown with these new products against neighbouring plots of land
acting as controls. The Group also enters into arrangements with farmers who produce
specialty products and/or are in regions producing specialty products; for instance, the
Group would approach a farmer of a particular kind of tea in order to test its specialty
fertiliser which aids tea plant growth.

PRODUCTION PROCESSES INVOLVED IN THE GROUP’S MAGNESIUM PRODUCTS
BUSINESS

The Group’s production process for its magnesium products can be generally set out in the
following seven stages:

(1)

Mining process — the Group engages in mining activities in its dolomite mine; this
includes the process of drilling and blasting to mine dolomite, and thereafter processing
the mined dolomite into granular form.

Calcination — the dolomite, in granular form, is calcined into calcinated dolomite at
1,200 degrees Celsius. The calcined dolomite is then mixed with a reducing agent,
ferrosilicon, to produce raw magnesium through the process of deoxidisation.

Refining — a solvent is added to the raw liquid magnesium to purify and prevent
oxidisation. Thereafter, the liquid magnesium is cast into ingots, which with washing and
drying can be packed for sale.

Production of alloys — magnesium ingot is mixed with aluminium, zinc and various rare
earths in a smelting process. Specific formulas of different metals and rare earth

determine the characteristics of the resulting alloys.

Forging — thereafter, the alloys undergo plastic deformation under high pressure
exerted by metal forging machines.

Processing — alloys are forged and cast into specific shapes.

Anti-corrosive treatment — alloys then undergo alkaline washing, ultrasonic washing,
micro-arc oxidisation and drying. The final products are then ready for sale.
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The production process can also be seen in the following diagram:

Production Process For Magnesium Products Business

1. Mining dolomite

Transform the dolomite in the form
of granules

8. Final Product

Magnesium tire rims are light in

2. Calcination

Calcine the dolomite granules into
calcinated dolomite at 1200°C

Mix ferrosilicon (reducing agent)
with the calcined dolomite to
produce raw magnesium (98%)
through deoxidisation

7. Anti-corrosive
treatment

3. Refining

&

£ &
Add solvent in liquid magnesium
to purify and prevent oxidisation

Cast magnesium ingot (99.9%)
after washing and drying then
packed for sale

6. Processing

Ty

Mix magnesium ingot, aluminum,
zinc and various rare-earth in a
smelting process

Specific formulas of different
metals and rare-earth
determines characteristics of
alloys

5. Forging

Undergo plastic deformation
under high pressure exerted by
metal forging machines

Forge and cast alloys into
specific shape

Conduct alkaline washing,
ultrasonic washing, micro-arc
oxidisation and drying

weight (18-inch weights 6.7 kg,
16-inch weights below 5 kg). They
are expected to be widely used for
fuel efficiency improvement

PRODUCTION FACILITIES AND UTILISATION

The Group has obtained the relevant land use rights in respect of the land on which its
production facilities are built and maintained for both its fertiliser businesses and magnesium
products business. As at the Latest Practicable Date, these land use rights are for terms of
approximately 40 years.

(a) Fertilisers Business

The Group’s production base in Jiangsu province, consolidated as at late 2012, has the
following features:

° production plant, warehouse, employee accommodation, ancillary facilities with a
gross floor area of over 1,000 mu (approximately 666,700 square metres);

U five production lines;

o production capacity of 850,000 tonnes of organic and compound fertilisers as at
31 December 2016; and

U close proximity to the Group’s serpentine mine for efficient and lower cost
production of silicon magnesium compound fertilisers.

The Group’s new fertiliser production line in Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province, has its
construction split into two phases, with the first phase scheduled for completion in late
2017 and the second phase in 2019. This new fertiliser production line is expected to
have the following features:

o an annual capacity of 1.4 million tonnes;
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(b)

. a self-owned cargo-handling terminal with other auxillary facilities; and

. close proximity to three coastal economic areas (namely, the Yangtze River Delta,
the Pearl River Delta and the Southeastern part of Fujian) for efficient and lower
cost production and transportation.

Following the Group’s recent acquisition of Shandong Hongri, the Group has plant and
production facilities in Linyi City, Shandong Province, with an aggregate annual
capacity of approximately 820,000 tonnes.

The Group’s annual production capacity, annual production volume and average annual
utilisation rate for its facilities for FY2014 to FY2016, and its targeted annual production
capacity, annual production volume and average annual utilisation rate for its facilities
in FY2017 are as set out in the following table:

Fertiliser Production FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017

(targeted)
Production Capacity (000 tonnes) 750.0 750.0 850.0 2,220.0
Production Volume (’000 tonnes) 572.8 662.3 688.5 1,455.0
Utilisation Rates (%) 76.4 88.3 81.0 65.5

Magnesium Products Business

Through its subsidiary Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources, the Group operates
an integrated platform magnesium plant in the Hunjiang District of Baishan City, Jilin
province in the PRC. Its production facilities include a production plant, warehouse,
employee accommodation and ancillary facilities.

The acquisition of Xinjiang Tengxiang (via the Group’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,
Hong Kong New Materials) now means that the Group has additional production
premises (which include administration, research and development and housing
facilities) located at the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, the PRC, with a total area
of approximately 679,121m?.

As many heavy industries are based in the northeastern region of the PRC, the location
of the Group’s production premises is within 400 to 500 km of its customers (such as the
First Automobile Works Group and Jinbei). The lower transportation costs translate into
lower costs per tonne.

The Group currently has one of the biggest rare earth magnesium alloy production line

in the PRC in terms of production capacity, with a utilisation rate of 91.3 per cent., 98.0
per cent., and 71.5 per cent. in 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively.
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The Group’s estimated average annual maximum production capacity and the
estimated average annual utilisation rate for its facilities for FY2014 to FY2016, and its
targeted annual production capacity, annual production volume and average annual
utilisation rate for its facilities in the financial years ended 31 December 2016
(“FY2016”) and FY2017 are as set out in the following table:

Magnesium Production FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017
(targeted)
Production Capacity ('000 tonnes) 25.0 25.0 40.0 95.0
Production Volume (’000 tonnes) 22.8 24.5 28.6 50.0
Utilisation Rates (%) 91.3 98.0 71.5 52.6

10. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

For both of its two main business segments (i.e. its magnesium products business and its
fertilisers business), the Group has an established track record for producing innovative and
commercially viable products. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has 20 patents,
8 of which are for the fertilisers business and 12 of which are for the magnesium products
business.

In order to secure higher success rates in its research and development efforts, the Group’s
sales and marketing teams for each of its business segments work closely with its
distributors and end users. The teams identify trends in market demand based on feedback
from these distributors and end users, react to specific requests from the Group’s products’
end users, analyse results of market surveys conducted and reports in industry publications,
and also continuously seek to develop new products in order to maintain the Group’s
competitive edge.

(a) Fertilisers Business

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has a team of 85 personnel engaged in the
research and development of new fertiliser products as well as processing
technologies.

The Group’s research and development team also has the support of the Chinese
Academy of Agricultural Sciences; the team will consult the Chinese Academy of
Agricultural Sciences in the course of its development work.

The research and development of new fertiliser products for a particular crop includes
generally five stages:

(1) The relevant crop is analysed and examined in order to identify its nutritional
needs for growth.

(2) The soil type and climate of the area where the crop will be grown are analysed.

(3) Based on the information gathered on the crop, soil type and climate conditions,
the Group identifies appropriate raw material mix and production process of the
new fertiliser product.

(4) Prototype samples of the new fertiliser product are tested by applying them on

different types of soil in the area where the crop will be grown, together with
monitoring the different crop samples during their respective growth cycle.
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(b)

(5) Crops grown under the different conditions will be analysed and compared to
identify the most effective composition of the new fertiliser product and its
associated production process. The Group engages farmers and lease plots of
their arable land in order to conduct testing of the fertiliser products.

Due to differing crop types, soil and climate conditions, the entire process of developing
a new fertiliser product and the associated production process can take from a few
months to up to a year.

In compliance with the relevant PRC rules, after completion of testing on live
agricultural plots and before new products are allowed for distribution, the Group
registers its new fertilisers products with the PRC’s Ministry of Agriculture such as the
provincial-level agricultural commissions, as soon as they are developed, for
certificates to be issued to the Group for the production and distribution of such new
products.

In addition to research and development into new products and production processes,
the Group’s research and development teams also provide after-sales support and
training to its distributors and end users. For the Group’s major customers, in addition
to providing them with training on appropriate fertiliser application techniques, the
Group also examines their crops and provides specific technical advice and support
during the crops’ growth cycle. These services help to build and strengthen
relationships with customers, and also allow the Group to receive feedback on its
products for continuous development and improvement. This enables the Group to
ensure that it continuously improves the quality of its products.

Magnesium Products Business

In July 2013, the Group introduced the CIAC, one of the PRC’s most authoritative
national research institutes dealing with magnesium alloys, as a strategic shareholder
of the Issuer. In doing so, the Group drew upon the institute’s research on new materials
and rare earth magnesium alloys. For instance, the Group employs researchers with the
institute, Dr. Zhang Hongjie and Mr. Meng Jian, as its senior technology consultant and
senior rare earth magnesium alloys consultant respectively. Both these consultants
have extensive technical background and expertise in magnesium alloy smelting and
research and development in new materials:

o Dr. Zhang is an academician of the Chinese Academy of Sciences, Deputy Chief
Scientist of the National Rare Earth Research Project, an officer at both the Rare
Earth Resources Laboratory and the Rare Earth Professional Committee, and a
researcher at the CIAC.

. Mr. Meng is a professor and deputy office of the Rare Earth Resources Utilisation
of CIAC and the director of both the Chinese Nonferrous Metal Society and Jilin
Metal Institution. He is an industry expert at the China Magnesium Association,
having contributed substantially to the development and application of magnesium
alloys.

The Group is also a member of the “Strategic Alliance on Technology and Innovation”
of the Jilin magnesium industry, allowing it access to firsthand information on research
and development and market development in the PRC.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has a team of over 10 personnel engaged
in the research and development of new and/or improved magnesium products as well
as processing technologies.

The Group’s policy is to register its new products and technologies with relevant end
users, such as the First Automobile Works Group, as soon as they are developed.
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11. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has registered the following five
trademarks for its fertilisers business:

Country of
S/N Trademark Registration Category
1. ® PRC Supporting brand for all
7 product categories
LZHAMM
FE
2. : PRC Compound Fertilisers
: ( w3
3. r | PRC Silicon Magnesium
E"&D Organic Fertilisers
4. ® PRC Supporting brand for all
1 % product categories
-
WARYAMNMNGTIAP
5. , PRC Supporting brand for all
; 5’ f;{ product categories

There are no registered trademarks for its magnesium products business.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has 20 patents, 8 of which are for the
fertilisers business, and 12 of which are for the magnesium products business.

Country of Date of
S/N | Patent Registration | Registration No. | Application Status Valid Until
1. = 2K I5FXH | The PRC ZL 2012 2 20 November | Valid 20 November
0615679.1 2012 2022
2. T HURRA H1E The PRC ZL 2012 2 31 December | Valid 31 December
0739343.6 2012 2022
3. —HMAT KGR | The PRC ZL 2003 1 30 October Valid 30 October
A 4 S BR A 0427641.0 2012 2032
4. — a2 | The PRC ZL 2012 1 30 October Valid 30 October
h /K AR Y A 0423694.0 2012 2032
AT
5. —MEBRWIESE | The PRC ZL 2013 1 24 January Valid 24 January
SyEniE-yn 0026585.X 2013 2033
%
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Country of Date of

S/N | Patent Registration | Registration No. Application Status Valid Until

6. — MRS | The PRC ZL 2014 2 9 June 2014 Valid 9 June 2024
LR AN rNE 0302858.9

7. — R HifR% | The PRC ZL 2014 1 9 June 2014 Valid 9 June 2034
LiLEDE: T B 8 0251853.2
TEmAE A AL
EINAE

8. —MRKE AN | The PRC ZL 2014 1 9 June 2014 Valid 9 June 2034
A A 0251834.X
Rk K H A ik

9. KU F US| The PRC ZL 2005 1 28 October Valid 28 October
R L i i 5 R 0017229.7 2005 2025
TElEa T
%

10. | 4SS | The PRC ZL 2007 1 29 December | Valid 29 December
JEHR A& 0306657.0 2007 2027

1. | &M L& | The PRC ZL 2007 1 29 December | Valid 29 December
SR A 11 B 0306663.6 2007 2027
G

12. | —f & E# ML | The PRC ZL 2008 1 21 May 2008 | Valid 21 May 2028
= B M g- 0050481.1
Al-Mn/E# LA

13. | —FEWAIRS | The PRC ZL 2008 1 21 May 2008 | Valid 21 May 2028
i L e = 0050482.6
Mg-Al-Mn [
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12. COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

(a)

(b)

Strong Brand Recognition and Awareness of the Group’s products

Fertilisers Business

The Group’s fertilisers business includes the “Lu Di”, “Feng Shou”, “Le He He” and
“Zhan Lan” fertiliser brands, which are specialty products that are well-received and
recognised in the domestic PRC market. The Group has leveraged on cutting edge
technology and quality control to ensure that these fertilisers have established an
excellent reputation.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group’s fertilisers business is supported by a
sales and distribution network of over 29 provinces in the PRC.

Magnesium Products Business

The Group has been recognised for its magnesium products business segment; it was
honoured by the Baishan Municipal Committee of People’s Government of Jilin
Municipality as one of the top 10 enterprises in Science and Technology in February
2012.

Strategic Partnerships and Investors

The Group has fostered strategic partnerships and has sought strategic investors in the
course of expanding its businesses, including with the CIAC and the IFC.

In July 2013, the Group introduced the CIAC, is a leading, multidisciplinary chemistry
institute established in 1948 in Changchun, Jilin, as a strategic shareholder of the
Issuer. The CIAC’s strategic goal is to become a first-class comprehensive chemical
institute and an innovation centre in the fields of polymer and rare earth materials, and
it is one of the PRC’s most authoritative national research institutes dealing with
magnesium alloys and specialising in rare earth magnesium alloy development.

In doing so, the Group drew upon the institute’s research on new materials and rare
earth magnesium alloys.

The Group has also steadily maintained a relationship with its investor, the IFC. In
November 2006, the IFC first extended a seven-year loan to the Group, and in 2014, the
Issuer and IFC entered into a Share Subscription Agreement pursuant to which the IFC
subscribed for an aggregate of 155,077,000 fully paid new shares in the Issuer, and the
IFC further extended one of the Issuer’s principal operating PRC subsidiaries, Baishan
City Tianan Magnesium Resources, a loan for the principal amount of US$25.0 million
for seven years. The loan was extended to assist the Group in carrying out its expansion
plans for 2016, such as increasing production capacity of its fertiliser manufacturing
facility from 300,000 tonnes to 750,000 tonnes and increasing the production capacity
of its magnesium manufacturing facility from 16,000 tonnes to 75,000 tonnes.

The Group considers the IFC as a key strategic investor in the Issuer. The IFC is an
international organisation established by Articles of Agreement among its member
countries, and a member of the World Bank Group, which is in turn one of the world’s
largest sources of funding and knowledge for developing countries and comprises of
five closely associated institutions: the International Bank of Reconstruction and
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Development and the International Development Association, which together form the
World Bank, the IFC, the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency and the
International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes.

Environmentally Friendly Products Cater to Increased Demand for Eco-Friendly
Products

The Group’s organic fertiliser products do not contain any synthetic chemical additives
which are the main components of inorganic fertilisers. Prolonged application of such
synthetic chemical additives would lead to deterioration of soil conditions and water
pollution. Unlike inorganic fertilisers, organic fertilisers, including the Group’s products,
may facilitate the preservation of soil fertility and the prevention of some plant diseases.

The Group’s silicon magnesium compound fertiliser products address specific
deficiencies of silicon and magnesium in domestic soil found in the PRC and are thus
in line with the PRC government’s call to apply “scientific fertilisation” to reduce the
negative impacts of over-fertilisation using chemical fertilisers.

The Group’s magnesium products are in line with domestic and international efforts to
reduce carbons emissions into the environment, given that its magnesium products are
light weight and thus enable the reduction of fuel consumption in vehicles. Weight
reduction is a cost-effective means to reduce fuel consumption and greenhouse gas
emissions from the transportation sector; the USAMP estimates that for every 10.0 per
cent. of weight eliminated from a vehicle’s total weight, fuel economy improves by
seven per cent.

Control and Ready Supply of High Quality Raw Materials

The Group has mining rights over high quality upstream dolomite reserves which are
necessary for the production of its magnesium products. The Group also has mining
rights over high quality upstream serpentine reserves which are essential in the
production of its silicon magnesium compound fertiliser. Thus, the Group is less
dependent on other suppliers for these raw materials and can lower production costs.

Competitive Cost Structure

The Group’s new fertiliser production line at Ruichang City, Jiangxi Province will have
a self-owned cargo-handling terminal, and is adjacent to three coastal economic areas
(namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta and the southeastern part of
Fujian). This also results in lower transportation and production costs.

More importantly, the Group has ensured that it has a competitive cost structure by
refining its differentiation strategy for its products. For instance, the Group’s organic
fertilisers catered to the brisk demand for organic fertilisers in tea plantations in Fujian
province. The Group then developed new types of compound fertiliser products to avoid
homogenously competing against traditional large-scale fertiliser companies. This
allowed the Group to perform competitively against its peers in the last two years,
despite the entire fertiliser industry in the PRC facing a downturn due to overcapacity
and homogenous competition.

Similarly, the Group is able to benefit from lower transportation costs as a result of its

production facilities’ proximity to the Group’s sources of raw materials (i.e. its dolomite
mine in Jilin province and its serpentine mine in Jiangsu province in the PRC).
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(f)

(9)

Further, the Group has positioned its production facilities within the vicinity of relevant
end users. For instance, its production facilities in Baishan City in Jilin province is close
to heavy industries in the northeastern region of the PRC that use its magnesium
products. This results in a lower cost per tonne as transportation costs are reduced.

Experienced and Established Management Team

The Group’s key management team, which is led by Mr. Chi Wen Fu, its founder,
Mr. Shum Sai Chit, an Executive Director, and Ms. Chi Bi Fen, also an Executive
Director, is also familiar with the PRC business environment and magnesium and
fertiliser industries and is able to grasp market opportunities and focus on providing
customised products. Mr. Chi, Mr. Shum and Ms. Chi’s business and working
experience are set out in detail at the section “The Group — Board of Directors and Key
Executives”.

Emphasis on and Investment in Research and Development

The Group focuses on the research and development of new high-margin specialty
products to minimise homogenous competition in the sale of commoditised, lower
margin products. This is particularly important in the Group’s fertilisers business, where
traditional fertiliser products already saturate the PRC market. The advanced
technology the Group employs creates a substantial barrier to entry to any newcomers
to the market and is a hurdle for market players in replicating the Group’s niche areas.

The Group also focuses on research and development to improve its production
processes with an aim to increase profit margins.

The Group’s emphasis and investment in research and development has also led to it
being recognised for its employment of leading technological methods in production:

Fertilisers Business

In respect of its fertilisers business, the Group has been using its patented fertiliser
processor in the production of its organic fertilisers and silicon magnesium compound
fertilisers. This allows the Group to produce high quality fertiliser products in a more
efficient way compared to other producers in the PRC. For instance, by using the
Group’s organic fertiliser processor, raw materials such as industrial waste and grain
bran are treated and processed together with different types of processing bacteria.
With the effect of bacterial action and by the squeezing and grinding movement
stimulated by the processor, moisture can be taken out from the processing material
within three to five minutes. As a result, the overall production time is reduced and
hence, production efficiency is improved.

Magnesium Products Business

The Group has been recognised by the PRC government for its employment of leading
technological methods in production. In 2010, the Group’s production base at
Magnesium Industrial Park in Baishan was designated as a “Demonstration Base for
China Magnesium Production” by the China Mining Association. The Group was the first
to receive such an honour in the magnesium industry.

In October 2011, the Group’s magnesium alloy enterprise was accredited as one of the

40 comprehensive demonstration bases for applications of mining resources by the
PRC Ministry of Land and Resources and Ministry of Finance.
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There is a high technological barrier to entry for rare earth magnesium alloys
production, and thus there are few producers of these alloys. The Group has capitalised
on this to become one of the largest producers in the PRC of such alloys.

Together with its lower cost and ready access to the abundant and premium supply of
dolomite reserves, the Group’s leading position in production technologies in the
magnesium production industry distinguishes it from its peers in the fiercely competitive
market.

(h) Responsiveness to Specific Needs of Consumers

The Group prides itself in its responsiveness to specific needs of consumers and its
emphasis on product differentiation. As estimated by the Chinese Academy of
Agricultural Sciences, over 50.0 per cent. and around 19.0 per cent. of rice fields in the
PRC are deficient in silicon and magnesium respectively. The Group thus launched its
series of silicon magnesium compound fertilisers in March 2012, which facilitated
growth of the Group’s fertilisers business. In FY2016, sale of silicon magnesium
compound fertilisers accounted for 28.2 per cent. of the fertilisers business segment
revenue, with a gross margin of 35.9 per cent.

The Group’s responsiveness enables it to take advantage of the demand for specialised
fertilisers in the rapidly growing agricultural industry. For instance, according to the
National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, the total usage of compound fertilisers in PRC
has increased by 85.0 per cent. in the past 10 years, with the potential market size of
silicon magnesium compound fertilisers being up to 40 million tonnes.

The Group continues to focus on product and technological advancement by developing
new ecological fertilisers which cater for different nutritional needs of soil in various
regions in the PRC with an aim to further increase its market share.

This allows the Group to market its silicon magnesium compound fertiliser as a niche
product in the Chinese fertiliser industry which is, according to the National Bureau of
Statistics of the PRC, quite fragmented with over 3,000 chemical fertiliser
manufacturers and 1,000 organic fertiliser manufacturers, and nearly 80.0 per cent. of
market participants which are small local enterprises.

13. BUSINESS STRATEGY

(a) Expansion through Increase in Production Capacity

Fertilisers Business

The annual production capacity of the Group’s fertiliser production reached 850,000
tonnes as at 31 December 2016. In 2015, the Group (via its subsidiary, Blue Atlantic
International Limited) acquired the land use rights to a land parcel with a site area of
approximately 800 mu located at Chemical Industrial Park, Matou Town, Ruichang City,
to be used for the establishment of fertiliser production facilities with a capacity of
1,400,000 tonnes. Following the Group’s recent acquisition of Shandong Hongri, the
Group has plant and production facilities in Linyi City, Shandong Province, with an
aggregate annual capacity of approximately 820,000 tonnes.

More details on the Group’s plans to increase its production capacity and actual output

for its magnesium products business is set out at the section “Business Activities —
Fertilisers Business — Production and Sales results for Fertilisers Business”.
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(b)

Magnesium Products Business

Taking advantage of the high global demand for eco-friendly magnesium products, the
Group has sought to expand its magnesium products business by expanding its
magnesium production capacity. The Group carried out technical enhancements to its
production plants in late 2012, whereby its magnesium production increased from
16,000 tonnes in 2013 to 25,000 tonnes in 2014. Further expansion plans have
increased its magnesium production from 25,000 tonnes to 75,000 tonnes in 2016. The
acquisition of Xinjiang Tengxiang (via the Group’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,
Hong Kong New Materials) in 2016 now also means that the Group has additional
production premises (which include administration, research and development and
housing facilities) located at the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, the PRC, with a
total area of approximately 679,121m?,

More details on the Group’s plans to increase its production capacity and actual output
for its magnesium products business is set out at the section “Business Activities —
Magnesium Products Business — Production and Sales results for Magnesium Products
Business”.

Expansion through Acquisitions, Joint Ventures and Strategic Alliances

The Group intends to expand its business segments through acquisitions, joint ventures
and strategic alliances. Such acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic alliances in or
with complementary entities will provide the Group access to new markets, prospective
clients and greater economies of scale.

For instance, on 6 January 2015, the Issuer announced that Ming Xin, the Group’s
indirectly wholly-owned company, had entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement and
Subscription Agreement with Group Sense, another company listed on the HKSE, and
its controlling shareholders, respectively. Group Sense’s subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of original design manufacturing products,
electronic dictionary products and personal communication products, and the provision
of electronic manufacturing services. The Group completed the acquisition of a total of
51.88 per cent. of the share capital in Group Sense on 26 March 2015. The Group’s
intention is to use Group Sense as a separate listed platform through which it can focus
and expand on the magnesium products business. To implement this plan, on 18 April
2017, the Issuer and Group Sense jointly announced the Possible Transaction. See
“Business — Recent Key Developments” for further details.

On 12 August 2015, Hong Kong New Materials (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Group Sense) entered into a Share Transfer Agreement with Gansu Tengda West Iron
Resources Holding Group Co., Ltd. and Wang Jian Min pursuant to which Hong Kong
New Materials conditionally agreed to acquire the entire equity interest of Xinjiang
Tengxiang. Xinjiang Tengxiang is principally engaged in the production and sale of
magnesium ingot and semi-coke, and has existing production premises in the Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous Region, the PRC.

On 3 August 2016, Long Xiang (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group) entered
into an Acquisition Agreement with Prosperous Rich Holdings Limited pursuant to which
Long Xiang conditionally agreed to buy the entire equity interest in Acronagrotrans Ltd.
This acquisition was completed in April 2017 and resulted in the Group acquiring an
indirect 50.5 per cent. equity interest in Shandong Hongri and its subsidiaries.
Shandong Hongri is a well-established and leading compound fertiliser producer in the
PRC and has plant and production facilities with annual production capacity of
approximately 820,000 tonnes.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Expansion of Sales Coverage and Increased Market Penetration

The Group also intends to increase its sales coverage and market penetration by
continued business development activities in the PRC market, appointing additional
distributors, enhancing relationships with existing distributors and intensifying its
marketing efforts in the PRC.

Internally, the Group has recruited additional sales and marketing staff as necessary in
order to cope with the Group’s anticipated business expansion.

Adoption of Marketing Strategy Emphasising Product Differentiation and the
Optimisation of Products Mix

The Issuer believes that the Group’s marketing strategy emphasising product
differentiation has been effective. The Group’s specialised products from each of its two
main business segments, namely, organic fertilisers, silicon magnesium compound
fertilisers and rare earth magnesium alloys, have helped the Group secure market
shares in higher-end markets and improve its overall profitability.

The Group’s differentiation strategy has meant that it minimises homogenous
competition against traditional large-scale magnesium products and fertilisers
companies. For instance, for its fertilisers business, the Group has outperformed its
peers in the last two years, despite the PRC fertiliser industry experiencing a downturn
due to overcapacity and homogenous competition.

Further, the Group continually assesses market demand for its existing products to
determine an optimal product mix for its magnesium products and fertilisers business
segments. The Group has begun reaping the benefits of an improved product mix with
greater Group gross profit margin achieved.

Lastly, the Group continues to strengthen its research and development capabilities by
investing in advanced technology and recruiting additional professionals with relevant
skills and expertise to its research and development teams to facilitate the development
of new technologies and products.

Increased Emphasis on Products with High Profit Margins

The Group’s development of rare earth magnesium alloys allows it to reap higher profit
margins compared to the production and sale of basic magnesium products, given the
former’s advanced technological requirements and better performance on applications.

Further, the Group’s production of rare earth magnesium alloys has buffered it against
downturns in the commodities markets. For instance, in 2013, due to the downturn in
the global commodities market, basic magnesium products generally experienced
fluctuations in both prices and gross profit margins. However, rare earth magnesium
alloys maintained relatively stable gross profit margins.

Moving forward, the Group’s rare earth magnesium alloys business also bodes well with
the PRC’s strategic emphasis on new materials as an emerging industry, which is one
of 10 prioritised industries set out in an initiative to comprehensively upgrade the
Chinese industry (called “Made in China 2025”).
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14.

15.

16.

SALES AND MARKETING

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group’s sales and marketing team consists of over 100
personnel for its fertilisers business and over 350 personnel for its magnesium products
business.

The Group sells its products directly and through its distributors, who on-sell the Group’s
products to their customers, which include private enterprises, retailers and farmers (for its
fertilisers business). For the Group’s magnesium products business segment, as at the
Latest Practicable Date, its distribution network covers mainly three north-eastern provinces
in the PRC, being Liaoning, Jilin and Heilongjiang, where major automakers are based. In
respect of the Group’s fertilisers business, its distribution network covers 29 provinces in the
PRC as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The Group’s distributors are selected based on their market coverage, reputation,
creditworthiness, committed purchase volumes and pricing and payment terms.

The Group believes that, by selling its products directly to end users either through its sales
teams or appointed exclusive distributors, it is able to obtain information on the identity and
needs of its end users. This enables the Group to establish ongoing and direct business
relationships with such end users by providing technical training and after-sales services.
Technical training includes the provision of training on appropriate fertiliser application
techniques, examination of end users’ crops and the provision of technical advice and
support during such crops’ growth cycles.

The Group also engages in direct marketing efforts such as advertising and organising
special promotions, and conducting promotions and marketing at industry events and
conferences.

EMPLOYEES
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group employs approximately 2,610 employees.

The Group’s employees are not unionised. As at the Latest Practicable Date, there has not
been any labour disputes or significant change in the number of employees affecting the
normal operations of the Group.

QUALITY CONTROL
(a) AQuality Control over the Group’s Products

The Group places great emphasis on the quality of its products and has in place quality
assurance teams and quality control systems for each of its business segments. These
teams oversee the implementation of stringent quality control procedures at each stage
of the various production processes. Each production process is also checked by
designated employees to ensure that production procedures are strictly adhered to.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has yet to experience any material sales

returns by its customers and also has not experienced any product liability or other legal
claims due to issues with the quality of its products.
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(b) Quality Control at a Centralised Verification Centre for all Incoming Raw Material

To ensure the consistency and quality of incoming raw materials for production, the
Group only purchases raw materials from its qualified suppliers. The Group’s
manufacturing and procurement teams for each of its business segments identify such
suppliers based on criteria such as quality, price, delivery schedules and availability and
quality of after-sales services. These teams also review the qualifications of the Group’s
suppliers on an annual basis.

Thereafter, the Group’s manufacturing teams inspect incoming raw materials to ensure
that they are in accordance with the Group’s standards. Inspections are carried out on
a sampling basis. Where there is any defective raw material found, such materials will
be returned to the supplier for replacement.

17. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES TO THE GROUP

The local Jilin government has supported the development of the magnesium industry and,
in 2012, the Group’s Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources was provided financial
assistance by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Land and Resources in the form of
a RMB$131.2 million grant to improve production technology and capacity. Baishan City
Tianan Magnesium Resources will receive amounts under the grant on a reimbursable basis,
based on the funds it has disbursed. Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources has, as at
31 December 2016, received approximately HKD68.3 million in aggregate from the local
government under the grant.

18. AWARDS AND ACCREDITATIONS

The Group has received the following key awards from 2012 up to the Latest Practicable

Date:

Year of
Award Awarding Organisation Issue
ARl B AR AR = R N P2 AR ARl B AR AR = R N P 2012
20124FEIE R T M E R EERBSMF 20N | EREHIREREEEh2 2012
OSSN
201 24F B 2= R T ot = B S a0k LA HERWTTAVTE B Z e 2012
201 24F 4 Bl B HL T AR e p gy ARigE N RBUR 2012
20134 LI AE Al R BAO AR 7= GORMEE ) N T 2> 2013
?pwﬁrﬁﬁi‘iﬁ%ﬁibﬁtiﬂﬁg* EHMmF2 AR | ExBTREREEEhS 2013
4
201 44F RIS AL RigEIEE 2 2014
BRI S AT RE BRI BT S AT AN 2015
?msﬁﬁLiﬁmﬁé”gﬂﬁmA%%zki TE YT o B R 2 2016
4
ek B 2 IR R 2016
WRERET A A G A HERWTTATTAE B Z R o 2016
20164% B3 M NERE i R 158 T E SR Tl bh 2y CCTV-740iiiE | 2016

159



Shangdong Hongri has received the following key awards from 2012 up to the Latest
Practicable Date:

Year of
Award Awarding Organisation Issue
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19. COMPETITION
(a) Fertilisers Business

In general, the fertiliser industry in the PRC is highly fragmented with many players. In
respect of organic fertilisers, the Group enjoys the important advantages of:

o competitive production costs due to low transportation costs and proximity to its
market and customers; and

o an established and reliable sales and distribution network.

On the other hand, in respect of compound fertilisers, there are higher barriers to entry
such as significant capital investment requirements for establishing and maintaining
large scale production facilities. In particular, for its silicon magnesium compound

fertilisers, the Group has created a niche product which:

o capitalises on the proximity of its serpentine reserves to its fertiliser production
facilities to lower production and transportation costs; and

o involves the use of patented technology.

At the same time, the Group continues to rely on its established sales and distribution
network to promote this relatively new niche product, and also continues to invest in
technology innovation and industrial waste recycling process improvements to further

lower its production costs for compound fertilisers generally.

Importantly, the Group has invested in resource capabilities by acquiring its serpentine
mine and collaborating with the Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences.

The Group considers the following producers to be its main competitors for its
compound fertilisers:

. China XLX Fertiliser Ltd;
o Stanley Fertiliser Co., Ltd.;

o China BlueChemical Ltd.;
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(b)

o Sinofert Holdings Limited;

. Shenzhen Baitian Ecotypic Engineering Co., Ltd.;

o Anhui Sierte Fertilizer Industry Ltd;

U Jiangsu Jiujiujiu Technology Co., Ltd.; and

o Shindoo Chem-Industry Co., Ltd.

Magnesium Products Business

The PRC market for basic magnesium products is characterised by low barriers to entry
and high fragmentation. In this context, the main factor influencing competitiveness

would be production costs, and the Group has:

. capitalised on the ideal locations of both its dolomite mine and magnesium
production facilities to lower transportation costs;

. capitalised on its ownership of mining rights for dolomite to lower production costs;
and

o invested time and effort to achieve improved production efficiency and lower
production costs in order to gain an advantage over its competitors.

On the other hand, due to the high technological barriers to entry, there are few
producers of rare earth magnesium alloys.

The Group has invested in resource capabilities by acquiring its dolomite mine and
collaborating with the CIAC.

The Group considers the following producers to be major local players in the
magnesium industry:

. Nanjing Yunhai Special Metals Co., Ltd.;

. Shenmu Dongfeng Magnesium Co., Ltd.;

. Ding He Mining Holdings Ltd. (formerly known as CVM Minerals Limited); and
. Yinguang Magnesium Industry Group Co. Ltd.

The following are major international players in the magnesium industry:

o CD International Enterprises, Inc., which is based in the United States;

U Magontec Limited, which is based in Australia;

U Nevada Clean Magnesium Inc., which is based in the United States; and

o Magnesium Elektron Ltd, which is based in the United Kingdom.
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20. HEALTH, SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND QUALITY

21.

The Group is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities towards the Group’s shareholders and
employees, the community at large and the environment by conducting its business affairs
in a manner to achieve the highest quality of operation and service, with a strong focus on
safe working practices and care and awareness to avoid any harm to the Group’s employees,
contractors, customers and the environment.

The Group works with environmental specialists to help the Group understand and duly
comply with environmental norms and rules promulgated by the PRC government from time
to time. The Group implements training program for its employees to familiarise them with the
Group’s operations, particularly on new laws and regulations affecting the Group’s
environment protection measures. The Group has implemented a monitoring system to
monitor the status of waste discharge, which is subject to audits on a regular basis. The
accountability system has been enhanced by the Group by ensuring that general managers
are held accountable to the Group in respect of any such safety and environment concerns.

Other policies promulgated by the Group include:

. The Group strives to reduce emissions and discharges of waste which are known to
negatively affect the environment. It has put in place measures and procedures to
ensure that operations comply with relevant environmental regulations; and

. The Group implements safety-related programs and conducts safety-related training
and audits regularly. The Group has dedicated officers responsible for health and safety
and its personnel is provided with appropriate medical insurance cover.

INSURANCE

The Group has insurance coverage in respect of the following:

(a) General insurance on plant, machinery and inventory against all property risks, natural
calamities (including fire), theft and public liability claims;

(b) Insurance against product liability claims in respect of the Group’s magnesium products
business; and

(c) Relevant PRC social security contributions, personal accident and medical insurance
for employees.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND KEY EXECUTIVES
DIRECTORS

The Directors are entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management of the Group. The
particulars of the Directors are listed below:

Name Principal Occupation

CHI Wen Fu' Chairman/Executive Director

SHUM Sai Chit Executive Director

CHI Bi Fen' Executive Director

GUO Mengyong? Non-executive Director

KWONG Ping Man Independent Non-executive Director
SHENG Hong Independent Non-executive Director
LAU Chi Kit Independent Non-executive Director
Notes:

(1)  Ms. Chi Bi Fen is the sister of Mr. Chi Wen Fu.

(2)  Mr. Guo Mengyong is the brother-in-law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu.

The business and working experience of the Directors is summarised below:

Mr. CHI Wen Fu is the Chairman of the Group who is responsible for overall strategic planning and
key operating decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in which he was the
Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998, Mr. Chi originated an initial research on
organic agricultural production and funded an R&D project on microbial compound fertilisers. Mr.
Chi is a graduate of Chemical Analysis and Law. Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group who is responsible for business
operations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director of Go Modern Limited
which was principally engaged in manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In 1984,
Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing
and exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of Consumer Product Pricing and
Statistics. Mr. Shum joined the Group since January 2002. Mr. Shum is currently an executive
director of Group Sense.

Ms. CHI Bi Fen is the Vice-President of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Chi was the
Deputy General Manager of an electronics equipment company for over 17 years. She has
extensive experience in accounting, taxation and finance in the PRC for more than 15 years. She
is a graduate of Accounting and Finance. Ms. Chi joined the Group since March 2000. Ms. Chi is
currently an executive director of Group Sense.

Mr. GUO Mengyong is a Non-executive Director of the Issuer. He is the Deputy General Manager
of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development Company Limited and is responsible for
electronic engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology
Development Company Limited is principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors Factory as a Technician in 1976. From
1993 onwards, Mr. Guo worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as an Engineer and was later
promoted to the Deputy Factory Manager in 1996, in charge of technical quality control. In 2000,
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Mr. Guo joined Fujian Wireless Group Company as Deputy General Manager and was responsible
for quality management. He is a graduate of Industrial Enterprise Management. Mr. Guo joined the
Group since February 2011.

Mr. KWONG Ping Man has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Issuer since
September 2004. He is a Director of O’Park Corporate Services Limited which provides corporate
advisory services. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwong served as the Chief Financial Officer of
various companies for almost 7 years. Mr. Kwong has over 15 years of experience in accounting,
finance and administration. He obtained a Master’s Degree in Professional Accounting from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of CPA Australia, fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of Tang
Palace (China) Holdings Limited, Elegance Optical International Holdings Ltd., Royal Deluxe
Holdings Limited and Group Sense.

Mr. SHENG Hong has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Issuer since September
2010. He is a Director of Hadrian Manufacturing (Asia) Limited and Director of Operations and
General Manager of Hadrian (Shanghai) Trading Limited. The Hadrian Group is principally
engaged in production and sales of metal partitions and lockers. Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of
experience in management of corporation and investment. He was employed by China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to 1996. Mr. Sheng holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Engineering Mechanics from Tongji University, Shanghai.

Mr. LAU Chi Kit has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Issuer since April 2014.
Mr. Lau is also an executive director of Chinlink International Holdings Limited. He retired from
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (“HSBC”) in December 2000 after more
than 35 years of service. Among the major positions held in HSBC, he was the assistant general
manager and head of Personal Banking Hong Kong and assistant general manager and head of
Strategic Implementation, Asia-Pacific Region. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers (“Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s Executive Committee (from January
1999 to December 2000). He is currently the honorary advisor of the Institute’s Executive
Committee. He served as a member on a number of committees appointed by the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, including the Advisory Council on the Environment
(from October 1998 to December 2001), the Advisory Committee on Human Resources
Development in the Financial Services Sector (from June 2000 to May 2001), the Corruption
Prevention Advisory Committee of the Independent Commission Against Corruption (from January
2000 to December 2003), the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee (from August 2000
to October 2006), the Innovation and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects Vetting Committee
(from January 2000 to December 2004) and the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-
committee (from February 1990 to March 2006). He also served as chairman of the Business
Environment Council Limited (from September 1998 to December 2001). Currently, he is an
executive director of Chinlink International Holdings Limited and is also an independent
non-executive director of Highlight China loT International Limited (formerly known as Ford Glory
Group Holdings Limited), Royale Furniture Holdings Limited, Leoch International (Holdings)
Limited and Janco Holdings Limited.
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THE MANAGEMENT

The day-to-day operations are entrusted to the Executive Officers. An experienced and qualified
team of Executive Officers are responsible for the different functions of the Group. The particulars
of the Executive Officers are set out below:-

Name Principal Occupation

NGAN Sau Fung Joseph Managing Director

HU Jie Head of Fertilisers Business

ZHOU Jianhui Head of Fertilisers Business

WANG Yongxiang Senior Engineer

LUK Sai Wai, Simon Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
ZHANG Ren Sheng Group Director of Corporation Management
CHI Jing Chao' Chief Corporate Affairs Officer

LEE Man Ching Assistant to the Chairman

Note:

(1) Mr. Chi Jing Chao is the nephew of Mr. Chi Wen Fu.
The business and working experience of the Executive Officers is set out below:

Mr. NGAN Sau Fund Joseph is the Managing Director of the Group. He is responsible for
corporate finance and investor relations management, and also participates in risk management
and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Ngan has over 30 years of experience in the financial
industry, which includes working at The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited,
the Allied Banking Corporation and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, in the foreign exchange and
treasury businesses, corporate and retail banking, payment and cash management, as well as
credit and risk management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ngan was the Managing Director of
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, and was in charge of its enterprise banking business. Mr. Ngan
join the Group since March 2017.

Mr. HU Jie is responsible for the agriculture fertiliser business of the Group. Mr. Hu studied
Mechatronics and has over 20 years of experience in the fertiliser and mechatronics industries. He
was the Head of Mechatronics in a factory owned by Jiangsu Longteng Petrochemical Company
Limited and the Head of Fertiliser in a factory owned by Century Sunshine Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Mr. Hu
was also the General Manager of the Production Technology Department, the General Manager
of the Purchasing and Branding Department and the Head of the main chemical factory owned by
Century Sunshine Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Mr. Hu joined the Group since 2007.

Mr. ZHOU Jianhui is responsible for the safety environment management of the Group. Mr. Zhou
majored in Agriculture with over 20 years of experience in the mining and agricultural fertilisers
industries. Prior to joining the Group, he was the Technician at Donghai serpentine mine in
Jiangsu Province, the Deputy Manager of Jiangsu Le He He Fertiliser Company Limited, and the
Head of Fertiliser factory of Jiangsu Longteng Petrochemical Company Limited. Mr. Zhou joined
the Group in 2007.

Mr. WANG Yongxiang is a Senior Engineer of the Group. Mr. Wang majored in Planning and
Surveying of Mining Industry with over 20 years of experience in planning and mining. Prior to
joining the Group, he was the Production Technician and Engineer at Donghai serpentine mine in
Jiangsu Province, and the Head of Sulfuric Acid factory of Jiangsu Longteng Petrochemical
Company Limited. Mr. Wang joined the Group in 2007.
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Mr. LUK Sai Wai, Simon is the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.
Mr. Luk is responsible for the financial, management accounting and secretarial affairs of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luk was appointed as financial controller for several listed
companies in Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in finance and management. Mr.
Luk holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University and
a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration from the University of Strathclyde. He is an
associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the Society
of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk joined the Group in May 2010.

Mr. ZHANG Ren Sheng is the Director of Corporation Management of the Group and is
responsible for corporate management and planning. Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of experience
in corporate management and business planning. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from the School of Business of Wuhan University. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in
July 2008.

Mr. CHI Jing Chao is the Chief Corporate Affairs Officer of the Group and is responsible for its
overall corporate activities. Mr. Chi worked in various subsidiaries of the Group and has 10 years
of experience in corporate affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Administrative Management from the
College of Adult Education, Xiamen University. Mr. Chi joined the Group in August 2004.

Ms. LEE Man Ching is the Assistant to the Chairman of the Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of
experience in human resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accountancy and a Master’s Degree in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms. Lee joined the
Group in August 2004.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Issuer’s authorised share capital was HKD100,000,000,

consisting of 5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par

value HKDO0.02 each,

of which

HKD9,959,536.86, consisting of 4,597,976,843 ordinary shares, were issued and outstanding.

The following table sets forth the shareholding interests of the directors of the Issuer as of the

Latest Practicable Date.

Total Other Percentage
No. of Interests of Total
Personal Spouse Corporate Issued (options Issued
Director Interests Interests Interests Shares held) Shares
1. Mr. Chi Wen Fu 222,240,548 0 1,341,871,364 1,564,111,912 25,556,580 34.58
2. Mr. Shum Sai Chit 14,666,305 0 0 14,666,305 11,500,461 0.57
3. Ms. Chi Bi Fen 12,352,499 0 0 12,352,499 19,167,435 0.69
4. Mr. Guo Mengyong 2,625,000 0 0 2,625,000 3,833,487 0.14
5. Mr. Kwong Ping Man 0 0 0 0 6,389,145 0.14
6. Mr. Sheng Hong 1,775,000 0 0 1,775,000 3,611,316 0.12
7. Mr. Lau Chi Kit 0 0 0 0 6,389,145 0.14
Note:

(1)  These shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited (“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by
virtue of Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74 per cent. of the issued share capital of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise
or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meeting of Alpha Sino.

The following table shows the substantial shareholders (other than directors) of the Issuer owning,
in aggregate, five per cent. or more of the outstanding ordinary shares and shares that can be
converted from convertible bonds of the Issuer as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Name of Shareholder

Alpha Sino
International Limited

International Finance Corporation

Yang Yuchuan

Zou Li ("Ms. Zou”)

Best Equity
Holdings Limited

Notes:

Nature

Long position

Long position

Interest of controlled
corporation and
spouse interest

Interest of controlled
corporation

Beneficial owner

Number of

Shares

1,341,871,364

(Note 1(b))

793,526,275
(Note 1)

346,844,434
(Note 2)

309,914,999
(Note 3)

309,914,999
(Note 3)

Percentage of
issued share capital
of the Issuer as at
the Latest
Practicable Date

29.11%

17.22%

7.52

6.72%

6.72%

(1)  The IFC has an interest in an aggregate of 793,526,275 shares of which (a) 244,246,275 shares are beneficially
owned by it and registered in its name; and (b) pursuant to a share mortgage dated 10 July 2014, Alpha Sino, being
the substantial shareholder of the Issuer, had mortgaged 549,280,000 shares (representing approximately 12.0 per
cent. of the then issued share capital of the Issuer as at 30 June 2015) to IFC to secure repayment of a loan
extended by the IFC under a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014 entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources (a subsidiary of the Issuer).
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(2)

(©)

Mr. Yang Yuchuan has interest in an aggregate of 346,844,434 shares of which (a) 36,929,435 shares are
beneficially owned by his spouse, Ms. Lao Min, and registered in her name, and (b) 309,914,999 shares are deemed
corporate interests by virtue of his holding of 47.17% of the issued share capital of Best Equity, which entitled him
to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meeting of Best Equity.

These shares are held by Best Equity and are deemed corporate interests by virtue of Ms. Zou’s holding of 52.83
per cent. of the issued share capital of Best Equity which entitled her to exercise or control the exercise of one-third
or more of the voting power at general meeting of Best Equity.
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CLEARANCE AND SETTLEMENT
CDP

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CDP in Singapore, clearance will be
effected through an electronic book-entry clearance and settlement system for the trading of debt
securities (“Depositary System”) maintained by CDP. Notes that are to be listed on the SGX-ST
may be cleared through CDP.

CDP, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Singapore Exchange Limited, is incorporated under the laws
of Singapore and acts as a depositary and clearing organisation. CDP holds securities for its
accountholders and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between
accountholders through electronic book-entry changes in the securities accounts maintained by
such accountholders with CDP.

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CDP, the entire issue of the Notes is to
be held by CDP in the form of a Global Note or Global Certificate for persons holding the Notes
in securities accounts with CDP (“Depositors”). Delivery and transfer of Notes between Depositors
is by electronic book-entries in the records of CDP only, as reflected in the securities accounts of
Depositors. Although CDP encourages settlement on the third business day following the trade
date of debt securities, market participants may mutually agree on a different settlement period if
necessary.

Settlement of over-the-counter trades in the Notes through the Depositary System may only be
effected through certain corporate depositors (“Depositary Agents”) approved by CDP under the
Companies Act to maintain securities sub-accounts and to hold the Notes in such securities
sub-accounts for themselves and their clients. Accordingly, Notes for which trade settlement is to
be effected through the Depositary System must be held in securities sub-accounts with
Depositary Agents. Depositors holding the Notes in direct securities accounts with CDP, and who
wish to trade Notes through the Depositary System, must transfer the Notes to be traded from
such direct securities accounts to a securities sub-account with a Depositary Agent for trade
settlement.

CDP is not involved in money settlement between Depositary Agents (or any other persons)
because CDP is not a counterparty in the settlement of trades of debt securities. However, CDP
will make payment of interest and repayment of principal on behalf of issuers of debt securities.

Although CDP has established procedures to facilitate transfer of interests in the Notes in global
form among Depositors, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such
procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the
Principal Paying Agent or any other agent will have the responsibility for the performance by CDP
of its obligations under the rules and procedures governing its operations.

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
Each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg holds securities for their account holders and
facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions by electronic book-entry transfer

between their respective account holders, thereby eliminating the need for physical movements of
certificates and any risks from lack of simultaneous transfers of securities.
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Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each provides various services including safekeeping,
administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending
and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each also deals with domestic securities
markets in several countries through established depositary and custodial relationships.
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have established an electronic bridge between their two
systems which enables their respective account holders to settle trades with each other.

Account holders in Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are financial institutions throughout
the world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and certain other organisations. Indirect access to both Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg is available to other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship
with an account holder of either system.

An account holder’s contractual relations with either Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg are
governed by the respective rules and operating procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg and any applicable laws. Both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg act under
those rules and operating procedures only on behalf of their respective account holders, and have
no record of or relationship with persons holding through their respective account holders.
Distributions of principal with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear
or Clearstream, Luxembourg will be credited, to the extent received by the relevant Paying Agent,
to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg account holders in accordance
with the relevant system’s rules and procedures.

CcMu

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CMU in Hong Kong, clearance will be
effected through an electronic book-entry clearance and settlement system for the trading of debt
securities maintained by HKMA as operator of the CMU. Since the CMU operator can act only on
behalf of the CMU participants, who in turn may act on behalf of persons who hold interests
through them, or indirect participants, the ability of persons having interests in the Global
Certificate to pledge such interests to persons or entities that are not CMU participants, or
otherwise take action in respect of such interests, may be affected by the lack of definitive bond
certificates.

While the Global Note or Global Certificate representing the Notes is held by or on behalf of the
CMU operator, payments of interest or principal will be made to the persons for whose account a
relevant interest in such Global Note or Global Certificate is credited as being held by the CMU
operator at the relevant time, as notified to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU
operator in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report or in any other relevant notification by the
CMU operator (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the record of the
CMU as to the identity of any account holder and the principal amount of any Note credited to the
account, save in the case of manifest error). Such payment will discharge the Issuer’s obligations
in respect of that payment. Each of such persons must look solely to the CMU Lodging and Paying
Agent for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer in respect of such Global Note or
Global Certificate. Any payments by the CMU participants to indirect participants will be governed
by arrangements agreed between the CMU participants and the indirect participants and will
continue to depend on the inter-bank clearing system and traditional payment methods. Such
payments will be the sole responsibility of such CMU participants.

Payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to interests in the Global Note or
Global Certificate may be subject to various policies and procedures adopted by the CMU
operator from time to time. None of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Arranger, the Relevant
Dealer(s), the Trustee, the Agents or any of their agents will have any responsibility or liability for
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any aspect of the CMU operator’s records relating to, or for payments made on account of,
interests in the Global Note or Global Certificate, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any
records relating to such interests.

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by the Global Note or Global Certificate and such
Global Note or Global Certificate is held on behalf of the CMU operator, notices to holders of the
Notes may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the persons shown in a CMU Instrument
Position Report issued by the CMU operator on the business day preceding the date of despatch
of such notice as holding interests in the Global Note or the Global Certificate for communication
to the CMU participants. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of
the Notes on the second business day on which such notice is delivered to the persons shown in
the relevant CMU Instrument Position Report.

Indirect participants will have to rely on the CMU participants (through whom they hold the Notes,
in the form of interests in the Global Note or Global Certificate) to deliver the notices to them,
subject to the arrangements agreed between the indirect participants and the CMU participants.
The CMU operator is under no obligation to maintain or continue to operate the CMU and the CMU
operator is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform the procedures described above.
Accordingly, the CMU and such procedures may be discontinued or modified at any time. None of
the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Arranger, the Relevant Dealer(s), the Trustee, the Agents nor any
of their agents will have any responsibility for the performance by the CMU operator or the CMU
participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their
operations.
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REMITTANCE OF RENMINBI INTO AND OUTSIDE THE PRC

Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency. The remittance of Renminbi into and outside the
PRC is subject to controls imposed under PRC law.

Current Account Items

Under PRC foreign exchange control regulations, current account item payments include
payments for imports and exports of goods, payments for services, payments of income and
current transfers into and outside the PRC.

Prior to July 2009, all current account items were required to be settled in foreign currencies.
Since July 2009, the PRC has commenced a pilot scheme pursuant to which Renminbi may be
used for settlement of imports and exports of goods between approved pilot enterprises in five
designated cities in the PRC including Shanghai, Guangzhou, Dongguan, Shenzhen and Zhuhai
and enterprises in designated offshore jurisdictions including Hong Kong Macau and the ASEAN
region. On June 17, 2010, PBOC, MOFCOM, the Ministry of Finance, the General Administration
of Customs, the State Administration of Tax, and China Banking Regulatory Commission (“CBRC”)
jointly promulgated the Circular on Issues concerning the Expansion of the Scope of the Pilot
Program of Renminbi Settlement of Cross-Border Trades (Yin Fa (2010) No. 186) (the “Renminbi
Settlement Circular”), pursuant to which (i) Renminbi settlement of imports and exports of goods
and services and other current account items became permissible, (ii) the list of designated pilot
districts was expanded to cover twenty provinces, and (iii) the restriction on designated offshore
districts was lifted. Accordingly, any approved pilot enterprises in the designated pilot districts and
offshore enterprises are entitled to use Renminbi to settle imports and exports of goods and
services and other current account items between them. The pilot scheme was further extended
in August 2011 to cover all provinces and cities in the PRC. While the pilot scheme allows
enterprises to settle the import trade in goods, cross border service trade and other current
account activities in Renminbi, only limited number of enterprises could settle their export trade
in goods in Renminbi under the pilot scheme. On February 3, 2012, PBOC, MOFCOM, the Ministry
of Finance, the General Administration of Customs, the State Administration of Tax, and CBRC
jointly issued the Circular on Issues Concerning Administration over Enterprises Engaging in
Renminbi Settlement of Export Trade in Goods, extending the Renminbi settlement to cover all
duly qualified export enterprises trading in goods.

On 5 July 2013, PBOC promulgated the “Circular on Policies related to Simplifying and Improving
Cross-border Renminbi Business Procedures” (4 [E A RARTTOC T Wik is 55 A Rl 55 i R f o8 54
SCEURW3E %) (the “2013 Circular”), which sought to improve the efficiency of the cross-border
Renminbi settlement process. For example, where automatic fund remittance occurs, the bank
can debit the amount into the relevant account first and subsequently verify the relevant
transaction. As a new regulation, the Renminbi Settlement Circular and the 2013 Circular will be
subject to interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities. Local authorities may
adopt different practices in applying the Renminbi Settlement Circular and impose conditions for
settlement of Renminbi current account items.

Capital Account Iltems

Under PRC foreign exchange control regulations, capital account items include cross-border
transfers of capital, direct investments, securities investments, derivative products and loans.
Capital account payments are generally subject to approval of the relevant authorities in the PRC.
Before 2011 foreign investors (including any Hong Kong investors) are generally required to make
any capital contribution to foreign invested enterprises in a foreign currency in accordance with
the terms set out in the relevant joint venture contracts and/or articles of association as approved
by the relevant authorities. Before 2011, foreign invested enterprises or any other relevant PRC
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parties are also generally required to make capital item payments including proceeds from
liquidation, transfer of shares, reduction of capital, interest and principal repayment to foreign
investors in a foreign currency.

On June 3, 2011, the PBOC promulgated the “Circular on Clarifying Issues concerning
Cross-border Renminbi Settlement” (the “PBOC Circular’). The PBOC Circular provides
instructions to local PBOC authorities and relevant PRC banks on procedures for the approval of
Renminbi settlement activities for non-financial foreign direct investment into the PRC. The PBOC
Circular applies to all non-financial foreign direct investment into the PRC with Renminbi, which
includes investment by way of establishing a new enterprise, acquiring an onshore enterprise
(excluding round-trip investment), transferring the shares, increasing the registered capital of an
existing enterprise, or providing shareholder loan facilities in Renminbi. The domestic settlement
banks of foreign investors or foreign invested enterprises in the PRC are required to submit written
applications (which include, inter alia, requisite approval letters issued by the relevant MOC
authorities) to the relevant local PBOC authorities at sub-provincial level or above for approval.
The PBOC will determine whether to grant such approval on a case by case basis. In addition,
according to the PBOC Circular, application for direct investment with Renminbi in the projects
which are restricted or specially controlled by the state will not be accepted at present as foreign
direct investment with Renminbi is still at a trial stage. On 13 October 2011, PBOC issued the
PBOC FDI Measures, setting out procedures for PRC banking institutions to handle Renminbi
settlement relating to Renminbi foreign direct investment and borrowing by foreign invested
enterprises of offshore Renminbi loans. According to the PBOC RMB FDI Measures, special
approval for Renminbi FDI and shareholder loans from the PBOC which was previously required
is no longer mandatory.

On 3 December 2013, MOFCOM promulgated the MOFCOM Circular, which became effective on
1 January 2014, to further facilitate FDI by simplifying and streamlining the applicable regulatory
framework. Pursuant to the MOFCOM Circular, the appropriate office of MOFCOM and/or its local
counterparts will grant written approval for each FDI and specify “Renminbi Foreign Direct
Investment” and the amount of capital contribution in the approval. Unlike previous MOFCOM
regulations on FDI, the MOFCOM Circular removes the approval requirement for foreign investors
who intend to change the currency of its existing capital contribution from a foreign currency to
Renminbi. In addition, the MOFCOM Circular also clearly prohibits the FDI funds from being used
for any investment in securities and financial derivatives (except for investment in the PRC listed
companies as strategic investors) or for entrustment loans in the PRC.

As the above rules and regulations are relatively new circulars, they will be subject to
interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities. Further, if any new PRC regulations
are promulgated in the future which have the effect of permitting or restricting (as the case may
be) the remittance of Renminbi for payment of transactions categorised as capital account items,
then such remittances will need to be made subject to the specific requirements or restrictions set
out in such rules.
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TAXATION

The statements below are general in nature, are based on certain aspects of current tax laws in
Singapore, the Cayman lIslands, the British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong, and administrative
guidelines and circulars issued by the MAS and relevant Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands
and Hong Kong authorities in force as of the date of this Information Memorandum. These laws,
administrative guidelines or circulars, or the interpretation of these laws, guidelines or circulars,
may change at any time, and such change could be retroactive to the date of issue of the Notes.
These laws, guidelines and circulars are also subject to various interpretations and the relevant
tax authorities or the courts could later disagree with the explanations or conclusions set out
below. The statements below do not purport to be a comprehensive or exhaustive description of
all the tax considerations and consequences that may be relevant to a decision to subscribe for,
purchase, own, sell or dispose of the Notes and do not purport to deal with the tax consequences
applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers in securities or financial
institutions in Singapore which have been granted the relevant Financial Sector Incentive(s)) may
be subject to special rules or tax rates. Neither these statements nor any other statements in this
Information Memorandum are intended or are to be regarded as tax advice. Each prospective
investor is advised to consult its own professional tax advisers as to the Singapore, Cayman
Islands, British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong or other tax consequences of the acquisition,
ownership, sale or disposal of the Notes, including, in particular, the effect of any foreign, state or
local tax laws to which they are subject. None of the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Arranger and any
other persons involved in the Programme accepts responsibility for any tax effects or liabilities
resulting from the subscription for, purchase, holding or disposal of the Notes.

Singapore

Interest and other payments

Interest, discount income, “prepayment fee”, “redemption premium” and “break cost” (references
in this tax disclosure to the terms in quotation marks as defined in the Income Tax Act,
Chapter 134 of Singapore (the “ITA”)) derived by a holder of the Notes who is not resident in
Singapore and who does not have any permanent establishment in Singapore is not subject to tax,
as assuming that the Issuer is issuing the Notes outside Singapore and not through a branch or
otherwise in Singapore, such income is likely to be regarded as arising from a source outside
Singapore. If, however, such income should be regarded as being sourced in Singapore, they can
nonetheless be exempt from tax, including withholding of tax, if the Notes qualify as “qualifying
debt securities” for the purposes of the ITA as discussed below.

Subject to the following paragraphs, under Section 12(6) of the ITA, the following payments are
deemed to be derived from Singapore:

(a) any interest, commission, fee or any other payment in connection with any loan or
indebtedness or with any arrangement, management, guarantee, or service relating to any
loan or indebtedness which is (i) borne, directly or indirectly, by a person resident in
Singapore or a permanent establishment in Singapore (except in respect of any business
carried on outside Singapore through a permanent establishment outside Singapore or any
immovable property situated outside Singapore) or (ii) deductible against any income
accruing in or derived from Singapore; or

(b) any income derived from loans where the funds provided by such loans are brought into or
used in Singapore.

Such payments, where made to a person not known to the paying party to be a resident in
Singapore for tax purposes, are generally subject to withholding tax in Singapore. The rate at
which tax is to be withheld for such payments (other than those subject to the 15 per cent. final
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withholding tax described below) to non-resident persons (other than non-resident individuals) is
currently 17 per cent. The applicable rate for non-resident individuals is 22 per cent. with effect
from Year of Assessment 2017.

However, if the payment is derived by a person not resident in Singapore otherwise than from any
trade, business, profession or vocation carried on or exercised by such person in Singapore and
is not effectively connected with any permanent establishment in Singapore of that person, the
payment is subject to a final withholding tax of 15 per cent. The rate of 15 percent may be reduced
by applicable tax treaties.

Certain Singapore-sourced investment income derived by individuals from financial instruments is
exempt from tax, including:

(a) interest from debt securities derived on or after January 1, 2004;

(b) discount income (not including discount income arising from secondary trading) from debt
securities derived on or after February 17, 2006; and

(c) prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost from debt securities derived on or after
February 15, 2007,

except where such income is derived through a partnership in Singapore or is derived from the
carrying on of a trade, business or profession in Singapore.

References to “break cost”, “prepayment fee” and “redemption premium” in this Singapore tax
disclosure have the same meaning as defined in the ITA.

The terms “break cost”, “prepayment fee” and “redemption premium” are defined in the ITA as
follows:

(a) “break cost” means, in relation to debt securities, qualifying debt securities or qualifying
project debt securities, any fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early
redemption of the securities, the amount of which is determined by any loss or liability
incurred by the holder of the securities in connection with such redemption;

(b) “prepayment fee” means, in relation to debt securities, qualifying debt securities or qualifying
project debt securities, any fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early
redemption of the securities, the amount of which is determined by the terms of the issuance
of the securities; and

(c) “redemption premium” means, in relation to debt securities, qualifying debt securities or

qualifying project debt securities, any premium payable by the issuer of the securities on the
redemption of the securities upon their maturity.
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As the Programme as a whole was arranged by OCBC, which was a Financial Sector Incentive
(Standard Tier) Company or Financial Sector Incentive (Capital Market) Company or Financial
Sector Incentive (Bond Market) Company (each as defined in the ITA) at such time, any tranche
of the Notes (the “Relevant Notes”) issued as debt securities under the Programme on or prior
to 31 December 2018 would be, pursuant to the ITA and MAS Circular FSD Cir 02/2013 entitled
“Extension and Refinement of Tax Concessions for Promoting the Debt Market” issued by the MAS
on 28 June 2013, “qualifying debt securities” for the purposes of the ITA, to which the following
treatments shall apply:

(a) subject to certain prescribed conditions having been fulfilled (including the furnishing by the
Issuer, or such other person as the relevant authorities may direct, of a return on debt
securities for the Relevant Notes within such period as the relevant authorities may specify
and such other particulars in connection with the Relevant Notes as the relevant authorities
may require to the MAS and the inclusion by the Issuer in all offering documents relating to
the Relevant Notes of a statement to the effect that where interest, discount income,
prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost from the Relevant Notes is derived by a
person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any operation in Singapore
through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption for qualifying debt
securities shall not apply if the non-resident person acquires the Relevant Notes using funds
from that person’s operations through the Singapore permanent establishment), interest,
discount income (not including discount income arising from secondary trading), prepayment
fee, redemption premium and break cost (collectively, the “Specified Income”) from the
Relevant Notes paid by the Issuer and derived by a holder who is not resident in Singapore
and who (i) does not have any permanent establishment in Singapore or (ii) carries on any
operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore but the funds used
by that person to acquire the Relevant Notes are not obtained from such operation in
Singapore, are exempt from Singapore tax;

(b) subject to certain conditions having been fulfilled (including the furnishing by the Issuer, or
such other person as the relevant authorities may direct, of a return on debt securities for the
Relevant Notes within such period as the relevant authorities may specify and such other
particulars in connection with the Relevant Notes as the relevant authorities may require to
the MAS), Specified Income from the Relevant Notes paid by the Issuer and derived by any
company or body of persons (as defined in the ITA) in Singapore is generally subject to tax
at a concessionary rate of 10 per cent.; and

(c) subject to:

(i) the Issuerincluding in all offering documents relating to the Relevant Notes a statement
to the effect that any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee,
redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the Specified Income) derived from the Relevant
Notes is not exempt from tax shall include such income in a return of income made
under the ITA; and

(i) the Issuer, or such other person as the relevant authorities may direct, furnishing to the
MAS a return on debt securities for the Relevant Notes within such period as the
relevant authorities may specify and such other particulars in connection with the
Relevant Notes as the relevant authorities may require,

payments of Specified Income derived from the Relevant Notes are not subject to withholding of
tax by the Issuer.
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However, notwithstanding the foregoing:

(a) if during the primary launch of the Relevant Notes, the Relevant Notes are issued to fewer
than four (4) persons and 50 per cent. or more of the issue of the Relevant Notes is held
beneficially or funded, directly or indirectly, by a related party or related parties of the Issuer,
the Relevant Notes would not qualify as “qualifying debt securities”; and

(b) even though the Relevant Notes are “qualifying debt securities”, if, at any time during the
tenure of the Relevant Notes, 50 per cent. or more of the issue of the Relevant Notes which
are outstanding at any time during the life of their issue is held beneficially or funded, directly
or indirectly, by any related party(ies) of the Issuer, Specified Income derived from the
Relevant Notes held by:

(i) any related party of the Issuer; or

(i) any other person who acquires the Relevant Notes with funds obtained, directly or
indirectly, from any related party of the Issuer,

shall not be eligible for the tax exemption or concessionary rate of tax as described above.

The term “related party”, in relation to a person, means any other person who, directly or indirectly,
controls that person, or is controlled, directly or indirectly, by that person, or where he and that
other person, directly or indirectly, are under the control of a common person.

Notwithstanding that the Issuer is permitted to make payments of Specified Income in respect of
the Relevant Notes without deduction or withholding for tax under Section 45 or Section 45A of the
ITA, any person whose Specified Income (whether it is interest, discount income, prepayment fee,
redemption premium or break cost) derived from the Relevant Notes is not exempt from tax is
required to include such income in a return of income made under the ITA.

Under the Qualifying Debt Securities Plus Scheme (“QDS Plus Scheme”), subject to certain
conditions having been fulfilled (including the furnishing by the Issuer or such other person as the
relevant authorities may direct, of a return on debt securities in respect of the qualifying debt
securities in the prescribed format within such period as the relevant authorities may specify to the
MAS, and such other particulars in connection with the qualifying debt securities as the relevant
authorities may require), income tax exemption is granted on Specified Income derived by any
investor from qualifying debt securities (excluding Singapore Government Securities) which:

(a) are issued during the period from 16 February 2008 to 31 December 2018;
(b) have an original maturity of not less than 10 years;
(c) either —

(iy if they are issued before 28 June 2013, cannot be redeemed, called, exchanged or
converted within 10 years from the date of their issue; or

(i) if they are issued on or after 28 June 2013, cannot have their tenure shortened to less
than 10 years from the date of their issue, except under such circumstances as may be

prescribed by regulations; and

(d) cannot be re-opened with a resulting tenure of less than 10 years to the original maturity
date.
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In addition, the tax exemption on Specified Income from qualifying debt securities under the QDS
Plus Scheme will not apply to any Specified Income derived from qualifying debt securities issued
on or after 28 June 2013 that is derived on or after the date on which the tenure of any portion of
those qualifying debt securities is shortened to less than 10 years from the date of their issue,
where the shortening of the tenure occurs under such circumstances as may be prescribed by
regulations.

The MAS has also released MAS Circular FSD Cir 02/2013 entitled “Extension and Refinement of
Tax Concessions for Promoting the Debt Market” dated 28 June 2013, providing details in respect
of the refinement of the QDS Plus Scheme to allow debt securities with certain standard early
termination clauses to qualify for the QDS Plus Scheme at the point of issuance. Examples of
standard early termination clauses include clauses which provide for early termination due to a
taxation event, default event, change of control event, change of shareholding event or change in
listing status of an issuer. Subsequently, should the debt securities be redeemed prematurely due
to standard early termination clauses (i.e. before the 10th year), the income tax exemption granted
to qualifying income accrued prior to redemption will not be clawed back. Instead, the QDS Plus
status of the debt securities will be revoked prospectively for outstanding debt securities, if any.
The outstanding debt securities may still enjoy tax benefits under the “qualifying debt securities”
scheme if the other conditions for “qualifying debt securities” continue to be met. Debt securities
with embedded options with economic value (such as call, put, conversion or exchange options
which can be triggered at specified prices or dates and are built into the bond’s pricing at the
onset) which can be exercised within 10 years from the date of issuance will continue to be
excluded from the QDS Plus Scheme from the onset. The refinement of the QDS Plus Scheme will
take effect for debt securities that are issued on or after 28 June 2013.

However, even though the Relevant Notes are “qualifying debt securities” which qualify under the
QDS Plus Scheme, if, at any time during the tenure of the Relevant Notes, 50 per cent. or more
of the issue of the Relevant Notes which are outstanding at any time during the life of their issue
is held beneficially or funded, directly or indirectly, by any related party(ies) of the Issuer, Specified
Income derived from the Relevant Notes held by:

(i) any related party of the Issuer; or

(i) any other person who acquires the Relevant Notes with funds obtained, directly or indirectly,
from any related party of the Issuer,

shall not be eligible for the tax exemption under the QDS Plus Scheme as described above.
Capital Gains

Any gains considered to be in the nature of capital made from the sale of the Relevant Notes will
not be taxable in Singapore. However, any gains derived by any person from the sale of the
Relevant Notes which are gains from any trade, business, profession or vocation carried on by
that person, if accruing in or derived from Singapore, may be taxable as such gains are considered
revenue in nature.

Holders of the Relevant Notes who apply or are required to apply Singapore Financial Reporting
Standard 39 — Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“FRS 39”) for Singapore
income tax purposes may be required to recognise gains or losses (not being gains or losses in
the nature of capital) on the Relevant Notes, irrespective of disposal. Please see the section
below on “Adoption of FRS 39 Treatment for Singapore Income Tax Purposes”.
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Adoption of FRS 39 Treatment for Singapore Income Tax Purposes

The IRAS has issued a circular entitled “Income Tax Implications Arising from the Adoption of FRS
39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (the “FRS 39 Circular”) (last revised
on March 16, 2015). Legislative amendments to give effect to the FRS 39 Circular have been
enacted in Section 34A of the ITA.

Holders of the Relevant Notes who may be subject to the tax treatment under the FRS 39 Circular
should consult their own accounting and tax advisers regarding the Singapore income tax
consequences of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Relevant Notes.

The Accounting Standards Council has issued a new financial reporting standard for financial
instruments, FRS 109 — Financial Instruments, which will become mandatorily effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The IRAS has issued a consultation paper
“Proposed Income Tax Treatment Arising from the Adoption of FRS 109 — Financial Instruments”
on 1 July 2016 and the closing date for submission of comments was 1 August 2016. Holders and
prospective holders of the Relevant Notes should consult their own accounting and tax advisers
on the proposed tax treatment to understand the implications and consequences that may be
applicable to them.

Estate Duty

Singapore estate duty has been abolished with respect to all deaths occurring on or after
February 15, 2008.

Cayman Islands
Tax

The Cayman lIslands currently levy no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits,
income, gains or appreciations and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate
duty.

Pursuant to the Tax Concessions Law (1999 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the Issuer has
obtained an undertaking from the Governor-in-Council: (a) that no law which is enacted in the
Cayman Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits or income or gains or appreciations shall
apply to the Issuer or its operations; and (b) that the aforesaid tax or any tax in the nature of estate
duty or inheritance tax shall not be payable on the shares, debentures or other obligations of the
Issuer.

The undertaking is for a period of twenty years from 4 February 2003.

The Cayman lIslands are a party to a double tax treaty entered into with the United Kingdom in
2010 but otherwise is not party to any double tax treaties.

Stamp Duty
Certain stamp duties may be applicable, from time to time, on certain instruments executed in or
brought into the Cayman Islands. No stamp duty is payable in respect of the issue or transfer of

the Notes although duty may be payable if the Notes are executed in or brought into the Cayman
Islands.
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British Virgin Islands

As a company incorporated under the BVI Business Companies Act, the company is exempt from
all provisions of the Income Tax Act of the British Virgin Islands (including with respect to all
dividends, interests, rents, royalties, compensation and other amounts payable by the company
to persons who are not persons resident in the British Virgin Islands).

Capital gains realised with respect to any shares, debt obligations or other securities of a company
by persons who are not persons resident in the British Virgin Islands are also exempt from all
provisions of the Income Tax Act of the British Virgin Islands.

No estate, inheritance, succession or gift tax, rate, duty, levy or other charge is payable by
persons who are not persons resident in the British Virgin Islands with respect to any shares, debt
obligations or other securities of the company.

Hong Kong

The following summary of certain Hong Kong tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and
disposition of the Notes is based upon laws, regulations, decisions and practice now in effect, all
of which are subject to prospective change and possibly retroactive change. The summary does
not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant
to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and does not purport to deal with the
consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special
rules. Persons considering the purchase of the Notes should consult their own tax advisers
concerning the application of Hong Kong tax laws to their particular situation as well as any
consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes arising under the laws of
any other taxing jurisdiction.

Withholding Tax

No withholding tax in Hong Kong is payable on payments of principal (including any premium
payable on redemption of the Notes) or interest in respect of the Notes.

Profits Tax

Hong Kong profits tax is charged on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in
Hong Kong in respect of assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade,
profession or business. Under the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Chapter 112 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Inland Revenue Ordinance”) as it is currently applied, Hong Kong profits tax may be
charged on revenue profits arising on the sale, disposal or redemption of the Notes where such
sale, disposal or redemption is or forms part of a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong
Kong.

Interest on the Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax where such interest has a Hong Kong
source, and is received by or accrues to:

o a financial institution (as defined in the Inland Revenue Ordinance) and arises through or
from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong;

. a corporation carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong; or
o a person, other than a corporation, carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong,

and such interest is in respect of the funds of the trade, profession or business.
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Although no tax is imposed in Hong Kong in respect of capital gains, Hong Kong profits tax may
be chargeable on trading gains arising on the sale or disposal of the Notes where such
transactions are or form part of a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong.
Stamp Duty

No Hong Kong stamp duty will be chargeable upon the issue or transfer of a Note (for so long as
the register of Noteholders is maintained outside Hong Kong).

Estate Duty

Hong Kong estate duty has been abolished with respect to all deaths occurring on or after
11 February 2006.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in the Programme Agreement between the
Issuer and the Arranger, the Notes will be offered from time to time for sale through the Relevant
Dealer(s). The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the
time of such resale, as determined by the Relevant Dealer. The Programme Agreement also
provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated series that are underwritten by two or more Dealers.
The Programme Agreement further provides for the resignation of existing Dealers and the
appointment of additional Dealers.

The Issuer will pay each Relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them in respect of
Notes subscribed by it. The Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Arranger for its expenses incurred
in connection with the establishment of the Programme and the Relevant Dealer(s) for certain of
their activities in connection with the Programme.

The Issuer may from time to time agree with the relevant Dealer(s) that the Issuer may pay certain
third parties (including, without limitation, rebates to private banks as specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement).

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Arranger and the Dealers in connection with the offer and
sale of such Notes. The Programme Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement
that they make to purchase Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being
made to the Issuer.

The Dealers may from time to time purchase and sell Notes in the secondary market, but they are
not obligated to do so, and there can be no assurance that there will be a secondary market for
the Notes or liquidity in the secondary market if one develops. From time to time, the Dealers may
make a market in the Notes.

Application will be made to the SGX-ST for permission to deal in and quotation of any Notes that
may be issued pursuant to the Programme and which are agreed at or prior to the time of issue
thereof to be so listed on the SGX-ST. In connection with the offer and sale of each series of
Notes, the relevant Pricing Supplement will indicate whether or not and, if so, on which stock
exchange(s) the Notes will be listed. No assurances can be given that the Programme will qualify
for listing on a stock exchange. In addition, there is no assurance that if the Programme qualifies
for listing on a stock exchange and the relevant Pricing Supplement indicates that such series of
Notes will be listed on a stock exchange, that such Notes will trade from their date of issuance until
maturity (or early redemption).

In connection with the issue of any series of Notes, one or more Dealers named as Stabilising
Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager) in the relevant Pricing
Supplement may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price
of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no
assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising
Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date
on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant series of Notes is
made and, if begun, may be discontinued at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of
30 days after the issue date of the relevant series of Notes and 60 days after the date of the
allotment of the relevant series of Notes.
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Certain Matters Relating to the Dealers

Some of the Dealers and their affiliates may have, directly or indirectly, performed investment
and/or commercial banking or financial advisory or trustee services for the Issuer or its affiliates,
for which they may have received customary fees and commissions, and they expect to provide
these services to the Issuer and its affiliates in the future, for which they may also receive
customary fees and commissions.

The Dealers or certain of their affiliates may purchase the Notes and be allocated the Notes for
asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a view to distribution. The Dealers or
their affiliates may purchase the Notes for their own account and enter into transactions, including
credit derivatives, such as asset swaps, repackaging and credit default swaps relating to the
Notes and/or other securities of the Issuer or its subsidiaries, affiliates or associates at the same
time as the offer and sale of the Notes or in secondary market transactions. Such transactions
would be carried out as bilateral trades with selected counterparties and separately from any
existing sale or resale of any Notes issued pursuant to the terms of the Programme
(notwithstanding that such selected counterparties may also be purchasers of the Notes).

Following an issuance of the Notes, a Dealer may make a market in such Notes. However, such
Dealer is not obligated to do so, and any market-making activities by such Dealer with respect to
such Notes may be discontinued at any time without notice.

Selling Restrictions
General

The selling restrictions below may be modified or supplemented from time to time by the
agreement of the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s). Any such modification or supplement will be
set out in a Pricing Supplement or in a supplement to this Information Memorandum. The
Programme Agreement provides that the restrictions relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out
below) shall be deemed to be modified to the extent (if at all) of any change(s) in, or change(s)
in official interpretation of, applicable laws and regulations governing any of such restrictions
relating to any specific jurisdiction.

Each Dealer understands that no action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a
public offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Information Memorandum
or any other document or any Pricing Supplement, in any country or jurisdiction where action for
that purpose is required. Each Dealer has agreed that it will comply with all applicable securities
laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it subscribes for, purchases, offers,
sells or delivers Notes or any interest therein or rights in respect thereof or has in its possession
or distributes, this Information Memorandum, any other document relating to the Notes or the
Programme or any Pricing Supplement.

Singapore

This Information Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the MAS.
Accordingly, this Information Memorandum and any other document or material in connection with
the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes pursuant to the
Programme may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the Notes be offered or sold, or be made
the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons
in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a
relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in
accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275, of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to,
and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.
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Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased in reliance of an exemption under Sections 274 or
275 of the SFA, the Notes shall not be sold within the period of six months from the date of the
initial acquisition of the Notes, except to any of the following persons:

. an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA);

o a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA); or

J any person pursuant to an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) of the SFA,

unless expressly specified otherwise in Section 276(7) of the SFA.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person
which is:

J a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the
sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned

by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

. a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold
investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities (as defined in Section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights

and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after

that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275

of the SFA except:

o to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to
any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the
SFA;

o where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

. where the transfer is by operation of law;

. as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or

. as specified in Regulation 32 of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Shares
and Debentures) Regulations 2005 of Singapore.

British Virgin Islands

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that no invitation or offer has been or will be made on
behalf of the Issuer, directly or indirectly, to any person resident in the British Virgin Islands to
subscribe for any of the Notes.

Cayman Islands

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that Notes has not been or will not be offered or sold
to the public or to any member of the public in the Cayman Islands.
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European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each Dealer has represented and
agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent,
warrant and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive
is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not
made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by
this Information Memorandum as completed by the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation thereto
to the public in that Relevant Member State, except that it may, with effect from and including the
Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member
State:

. if the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes
may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant
Member State (a “Non-exempt Offer”), following the date of publication of a prospectus in
relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant
Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and
notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any such
prospectus has subsequently been completed by the relevant Pricing Supplement
contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the
period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Pricing
Supplement, as applicable, and the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose
of that Non-exempt Offer;

o at any time to any legal entity which is a “qualified investor” as defined in the Prospectus
Directive;

o at any time to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant
provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than
qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior
consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or

. at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in the second, third and fourth bullet points above
shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the
Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus
Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any
Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of
sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an
investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member
State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State and the
expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto,
including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member
State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State and the
expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.
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Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the
Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that:

. it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document,
any Notes other than (a) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance or (b) in
circumstances which do not result in the document being a “prospectus” as defined in the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong
or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of that Ordinance; and

. it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have
in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any
advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the
contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if
permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes
which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to
“professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of
Hong Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance.

People’s Republic of China

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that the Notes are not being offered or sold
and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the PRC (for such purposes, not including
the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan), except as permitted by the
securities laws of the PRC.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme
will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that:

. (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or
disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has
not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary
activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as
principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect
will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes
of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention
of Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) by the Issuer;

. it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause
to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any
Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA would not, if the Issuer was not
an authorised person, apply to the Issuer; and

o it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to such Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom.
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United States

The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act,
and the Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or
benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements
of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation
S.

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required
to agree, that except as permitted by the Programme Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver the
Notes (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion
of the distribution of an identifiable tranche of which such Notes are a part, as determined and
certified to the Principal Paying Agent by such Dealer (or, in the case of an identifiable tranche of
Notes sold to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers with respect to Notes of
an identifiable tranche purchased by or through it, in which case the Principal Paying Agent shall
notify such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certified), within the United States or to, or for
the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and that it will have sent to each Dealer to which it sells
Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice substantially to the
following effect:

“The Notes and the Guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and may not be offered and sold within the United
States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as part of their distribution at any time
or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering of the Notes and
the completion of the distribution of the Notes, except in either case in accordance with Regulation
S under the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by
Regulation S.”

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any identifiable tranche of
Notes, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer that is not participating in
the offering of such Notes may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

In respect to Bearer Notes, each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the
Programme will be required to agree, that Bearer Notes having a maturity of more than one year
are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or to United States persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax
regulations. Accordingly, Bearer Notes having a maturity of more than one year will be issued in
accordance with the provisions of U.S. Treasury Regulation § 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any
successor regulation for purposes of Section 4701 of the United States Internal Revenue Code),
unless the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that Notes will be issued in accordance with the
provisions of U.S. Treasury Regulation § 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor regulation for
purposes of Section 4701 of the United States Internal Revenue Code). Terms used in this
paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations
thereunder.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Authorisations

The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in the Cayman
Islands in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes. The issue of the Notes was
authorised by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 8 May 2017. Each
Guarantee has also been authorised by resolution of the Board of Directors of each relevant
Guarantor.

Information on Directors

Save as disclosed in this Information Memorandum under the section “Business — Board of
Directors and Key Executives”, the directors of the Issuer are not related by blood or marriage to
one another nor are they related to any substantial shareholder of the Issuer.

Save as disclosed below, no director of the Issuer is or was involved in any of the following events:

(a) a petition under any bankruptcy laws filed in any jurisdiction against such person or any
partnership in which he was a partner or any corporation of which he was a director or an
executive officer;

(b) a conviction of any offence, other than a traffic offence, or judgement, including findings in
relation to fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty, given against him in any civil proceedings
in Singapore or elsewhere, or being named subject to any pending proceedings which may
lead to such a conviction or judgement, or so far as such person is aware, any criminal
investigation pending against him; or

(c) the subject of any order, judgement or ruling of any court of competent jurisdiction, tribunal
or government body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from acting as an investment
adviser, dealer in securities, director or employee of a financial institution and engaging in
any type of business practice or activity.

On 6 October 2014, one Mr. Miao Xi Zhu lodged a claim in the High Court of Hong Kong against
Mr. Shum Sai Chit (an executive director of the Issuer), Mr. Chi Wen Fu (the Chairman and an
executive director of the Issuer), Capital Idea Investments Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Issuer) and Win Union Limited, regarding the acquisition of China Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Holdings from Mr. Miao in January 2013. The Group had acquired shares in China
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Holdings from Mr. Miao at a consideration of HKD32,089,382
(the “Sale Transaction”); Mr. Miao considered that he had been misled to enter into the Sale
Transaction at an undervalue. His claim against Mr. Shum, Mr. Chi, Capital Idea Investments
Limited and Win Union Limited was for losses arising from selling shares at an undervalue.

To the best knowledge of the Issuer, Mr. Miao’s allegations are unmerited. Prior to the completion
of the Sale Transaction, Mr. Miao was the second largest shareholder and director of China Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Holdings, with full knowledge of its overall operation and
development plans. The consideration for the Sale Transaction was determined after over a
month’s negotiation between the parties based on China Rare Earth Magnesium Technology
Holdings’ assets, liabilities and performance. Thus, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, Mr. Miao
was not misled into entering into the Sale Transaction at an undervalue.

Writs of summons were served on Mr. Chi and Mr. Shum on 16 October 2014 and 15 October 2014
respectively. To the best knowledge of the Issuer, Mr. Chi and Mr. Shum have engaged and
consulted solicitors, filed their respective defences to Mr. Miao’s claims in the High Court of Hong
Kong and will vigorously defend against Mr. Miao’s claims.
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, the writ of summons for the
litigation has not yet been served on Capital Idea Investments Limited. When Capital ldea
Investments Limited is served with the writ of summons, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, it will
also seek legal advice in relation to the claim and the necessary actions to be taken in this respect
and will vigorously defend against Mr. Miao’s claims.

Borrowings

Save as disclosed in the section “Index to Financial Statements”’, the Group had as at 31
December 2016 no other borrowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowings including bank
overdrafts and liabilities under acceptances (other than normal trading bills) or acceptance
credits, mortgages, charges, hire purchase commitments, guarantees or other material contingent
liabilities.

Working Capital

The directors of the Issuer are of the opinion that, after taking into account the present banking
facilities and the net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, the Issuer will have adequate working
capital for its present requirements.

Material Adverse Change

There has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer and
the Group since 31 December 2016.

Litigation

Save as disclosed below, neither the Issuer nor any of its subsidiaries is involved in any
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending
or threatened) which may have, or have had during the 12 months preceding the date of this
Information Memorandum, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer
or of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, IWOW Communications Pte Ltd (“IWOW?”) issued a legal
proceeding in Hong Kong against Group Sense PDA Limited (“GS PDA”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Issuer, for a sum of US$627,571 (approximately HKD$4,895,000, which is
approximately S$839,000). IWOW alleged that GS PDA was in breach of a service agreement
dated 3 December 2004 and failed to make payments in accordance with the service agreement.
In this connection, GS PDA also filed a claim against IWOW and alleged that IWOW was in breach
of the service agreement in failing to design and develop products in substantial conformance to
the functional specification as defined in the service agreement. Accordingly, GS PDA made a
counterclaim against IWOW for liquidated damages in the sum of US$100,000 and other damages
to be assessed together with interest and costs.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there has been no further progress noted in the claim and
counterclaim.

Documents on Display

For so long as any of the Notes is outstanding, copies of the following documents may be
inspected at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours:

o the constitutional documents of the Issuer;
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. the annual report and consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years
ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 including, in each case, the audit report relating
to such accounts;

. the Trust Deed;

o the Agency Agreement;

o the Deed of Covenant; and

this Information Memorandum and any supplements thereto.
Auditors

The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2014, 2015
and 2016, extracts of which are contained in this Information Memorandum, have been audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, Certified Public Accountants as stated in their reports. The
accountants’ report on the consolidated financial statements of Shandong Hongri and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 and for the period ended
30 June 2016, extracts of which are contained in this Information Memorandum, has been audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, Certified Public Accountants as stated in the reports. HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue
of this Information Memorandum with the references herein to its name and, where applicable,
reports in the form and context in which they appear in this Information Memorandum.

Certificates

Any certificate of the Auditors (as defined in the Trust Deed) or any other person called for by or
provided to the Trustee (whether or not addressed to the Trustee) in accordance with or for the
purposes of the Trust Deed may be relied upon by the Trustee as sufficient evidence of the facts
set out therein notwithstanding that such certificate or report and/or any engagement letter or
other document entered into by the Trustee in connection therewith contains a monetary or other
limit on the liability of the Auditors or such other person in respect thereof and notwithstanding that
the scope and/or basis of such certificate or report may be limited by any engagement or similar
letter or by the terms of the certificate or report itself.

Trustee

The functions, rights and obligations of the Trustee are set out in the Trust Deed.
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APPENDIX A

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT
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CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

™ I\

S$$300,000,000
Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme

Series No.: [®]
Tranche No.: [@]
[Brief Description and Amount of Notes]
Issue Price: [®] per cent.

Dealer[s]
[Insert Marketing Name of Dealer[s]]

The date of this Pricing Supplement is [e].
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This Pricing Supplement relates to the Tranche of Notes referred to above.

This Pricing Supplement, under which the Notes described herein (the “Notes”) are issued, is
supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Information Memorandum dated
[DATE] (as supplemented, amended or replaced from time to time, the “Information
Memorandum”) issued in relation to the S$$300,000,000 Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the “Issuer”). The Notes will be issued
on the terms of this Pricing Supplement read together with the Information Memorandum.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement which,
when read together with the Information Memorandum, contains all information with respect to the
Issuer, the Guarantors, the Group and the Notes that is material in the context of the issue and
offering of the Notes.

This Pricing Supplement does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer
or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or
to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation, and no action is being taken
to permit an offering of the Notes or the distribution of this Pricing Supplement in any jurisdiction
where such action is required.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived
from any of the Notes by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who carries on any
operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption
available for qualifying debt securities (subject to certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act,
Chapter 134 of Singapore (the “Income Tax Act”) shall not apply if such person acquires such
Notes using the funds and profits of such person’s operations through a permanent establishment
in Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium
or break cost derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described
above) shall include such income in a return of income made under the Income Tax Act.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), or any state securities laws in the United States or any other
jurisdiction, and the Notes may include Bearer Notes that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements.
The Notes may only be offered and sold outside the United States to persons who are not U.S.
persons in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S. In addition, subject to certain
exceptions, Bearer Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or
for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “Internal Revenue Code”)).

Signed:

Authorised Signatory



Terms and Conditions

The following items are the particular terms which relate to the Tranche of Notes the subject
of this Pricing Supplement. [Include whichever of the following apply]

= © © N o o ~ N =

11.

12.

13.

Series No.:

Tranche No.:

Specified Currency:

Aggregate Principal Amount:

Issue Price:

Issue Date:

Maturity Date:

Form (Condition 1(a)):

Specified Denomination(s) (Condition 1(a)):

Redemption Amount:

Interest Basis/Payment Basis (Condition 1(a)):

Fixed Rate Note:
(a) Calculation Amount (Condition 5(a)(i)):
(b) Rate of Interest (Condition 5(a)(i)):

(c) Interest Commencement Date
(Condition 5(a)(i)):

(d) Specified Interest Payment Dates
(Condition 5(a)(i)):

(e) Fixed Interest Period (Condition 5(a)(ii)):

(f) Fixed Coupon Amount (Condition 5(a)(ii)):

(g) Initial Broken Amount (Condition 5(a)(ii)):

(h) Final Broken Amount (Condition 5(a)(ii)):

(i) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(a)(iii)):
Floating Rate Notes/Variable Rate Notes:
(a) Redemption Month (Condition 6(a)):

(b) Calculation Amount (Condition 5(b)(i)):

(c) Interest Commencement Date
(Condition 5(b)(i)):

(d) Specified Interest Payment Dates
(Condition 5(b)(i)):

(e) Interest Period (Condition 5(b)(i)):
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[Number]

[Number]

[Currency]

[Amount]

[Price] per cent.

[Date]

[Date]

[Bearer Note/Registered Note]
[Currency and Amount(s)]

[Currency and Amount(s)]/[100%
of Specified Denomination]

[Fixed Rate/Floating Rate/Variable
Rate/Hybrid Rate/Zero Coupon]

[Currency and Amount]
[®] per cent. per annum
[Date]

[Date(s)]

[Number of months]

[Currency and Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[Currency and Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[Currency and Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[other basis]

[Month and Year]
[Currency and Amount]
[Date]

[Date(s)]

[Number of months or other
period]



14.

(f)

Business Day Convention
(Condition 5(b)(i)):

Interest Determination Date
(Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Benchmark (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Primary Source (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Relevant Screen Page (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Reference Banks (Condition 5(m)):

Relevant Time (Condition 5(m)):

Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(g)):

Relevant Financial Centre
(Condition 5(m)):

Reference Rate (Condition 5(m)):
Margin (Condition 5(b)(ii)):
Minimum Rate of Interest
(Condition 5(b)(v)):

Maximum Rate of Interest
(Condition 5(b)(v)):

Fallback provisions, rounding provisions
and any other terms relating to the
method of calculating interest, if different
from those set out in the Conditions:

Hybrid Notes:

(a)
(b)

—~ o~ o~
® O O
- = =

Fixed Rate Period (Condition 5(c)(ii)(A)):

Floating Rate Period
(Condition 5(c)(iii)(A)):

Redemption Month (Condition 6(a)):
Calculation Amount (Condition 5(c)(i)):

Rate of Interest (for Fixed Rate Period)
(Condition 5(c)(ii)(A)):

A-4

[Floating Rate
Convention]/[Following Business
Day Convention]/[Modified
Following Business Day
Convention]/[Preceding Business
Day Convention]/[specify any
other convention — include details]

[®] Business Days prior to the first
day of each Interest Period

[SIBOR]/[Swap
Rate]/[LIBOR]/[EURIBOR]/[Specify
other benchmark]

[ISDA Determination]/[Screen Rate
Determination]/[Reference Banks]

[Specify screen page]

[Name four for LIBOR/EURIBOR
and name three for SIBOR/Swap
Offer Rate]

[Specify time]

[Actual/Actual
(ICMA)]/[Actual/Actual]/[Actual/
Actual (ISDA)]/[Actual/365]/
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]/[Actual/360]/
[30/360]/[360/360]/[Bond Basis)/
[30E/360]/[Eurobond Basis]/
[30E/360 (ISDA)]/[Other basis]

[Specify if not Singapore]

[®] per cent. per annum
[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent.

[®] per cent.

(o]

[e]
(]

[Month and Year]
[Currency and Amount]

[®] per cent. per annum



(m)

Specified Interest Payment Dates (for
Fixed Rate Period) (Condition 5(c)(ii)(A)):

Initial Broken Amount
(Condition 5(c)(ii)(B)):

Final Broken Amount
(Condition 5(c)(ii)(B)):

Interest Determination Date (for Floating
Rate Period) (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Interest Period (for Floating Rate Period)
(Condition 5(c)(iii)(A)):

Specified Interest Payment Dates
(for Floating Rate Period)
(Condition 5(c)(iii)(A)):

Business Day Convention
(Condition 5(c)(iii)(A)):

Benchmark (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Primary Source (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Relevant Screen Page (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

Reference Banks (Condition 5(m)):
Relevant Time (Condition 5(m)):

Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(c)(ii)(C)
and Condition 5(g)):

Relevant Financial Centre
(Condition 5(m)):

Reference Rate (Condition 5(m)):
Margin (Condition 5(b)(ii)):

A-5

[Date(s)]

[Currency and Amount per
Specified Denomination]

[Currency and Amount per
Specified Denomination]

[®] Business Days prior to the first
day of each Interest Period

[Number of months or other
period]

[Date(s)]

[Floating Rate Business Day
Convention]/[Following Business
Day Convention]/[Modified
Following Business Day
Convention]/[Preceding Business
Day Convention]/[specify any
other convention — include details]
[SIBOR]/[Swap Rate]/

[LIBOR]/[EURIBORY/
[Specify other benchmark]

[ISDA Determination]/[Screen Rate
Determination]/[Reference Banks]

[Specify screen page]

[Named three]

[Specify time]

[Specify for Fixed Rate Period and
for Floating Rate Period, as

applicable, one or more of the
following.]

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]/
[Actual/Actual]/[Actual/Actual
(ISDA)Y/

[Actual/365]/[Actual/365 (Fixed)l/
[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[360/360]/
[Bond Basis]/[30E/360]/[Eurobond
Basis]/[30E/360 (ISDA)]/[Other
basis]

[Specify if not Singapore]

[®] per cent. per annum

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum



15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

(v) Fallback provisions, rounding provisions
and any other terms relating to the
method of calculating interest on Hybrid
Notes during Floating Rate Period, if
different from those set out in the
Conditions:

Zero Coupon Notes:

(a) Amortisation Yield (Condition 5(d) and
Condition 6(h)(ii)):

(b) Any other Formula/Basis of Determining
Amount Payable:

(c) Day Count Fraction (Condition 6(h)):
(d) Default Interest (Condition 5(j)):

Early Redemption Amount (Condition 6(i) or
Condition 6(j)):

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer
(Condition 6(e)):

(a) Redemption Option Period:

(b) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(c) Optional Redemption Amount:
(d) Minimum Redemption Amount:
(e) Maximum Redemption Amount:

Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders
(Condition 6(f)):

(a) Redemption Option Period:

(b) Optional Redemption Date(s):
(c) Optional Redemption Amount:

Purchase of Variable Rate Note at the Option
of the Noteholder (Condition 6(g)):

(a) VRN Purchase Option Period:

(b) Optional Purchase Amount:

A-6

(]

[Yield]

(]

[State basis]
[Specify]
[Specify]

[Yes/No]

[Specify maximum and minimum
number of days prior to Optional
Redemption Date for notice
period]/[Specify date range]

[Specify dates]/[Date to be
specified in notice to Noteholders]

[Amount]
[Amount]
[Amount]
[Yes/No]

[Specify maximum and minimum
number of days prior to Optional
Redemption Date for notice
period]/[Specify date range]

[Specify dates]/[Date to be
specified in Put Notice]

[Amount]
[Yes/No]

[Specify maximum and minimum
number of days prior to Optional
Redemption Date for notice
period]/[Specify date range]

[Amount]



20.

21.

Talons (Condition 7(a)(iii)):

(a) Talons for future Coupons to be attached
to Definitive Bearer Notes:

(b) Reference Date(s) or Interest Payment
Date(s) on which the Talons mature:

Additional Provisions Relating to the Notes:

Other Relevant Terms

1.

N

© N o o &

10.

11.
12.

13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.

20.
21.

Listing:
Clearing System(s):

Depositary/Custodian:

ISIN No.:

Common Code:

CMU Instrument Number:
TEFRA Rules Applicable:
Provisions for Bearer Notes:

(a) Exchange Date:

(b) Permanent Global Note:
(c) Definitive Bearer Notes:
Provisions for Registered Notes:

(a) Definitive Note Certificates Available on
Issue Date:

Use of Proceeds:

Syndicated:

If Syndicated:

(a) Lead Manager(s):

(b) Stabilising Manager:
Commissions and Concessions:
Private Bank Rebate:

Dealer(s) Subscribing for Notes:
Paying Agent(s) and Transfer Agent(s):
Calculation Agent:

Date of Calculation Agent Agreement:

Details of Any Variations to Programme
Agreement:

Details of Any Additional Selling Restrictions:
[Additional Information:]

A-7

[Yes/No]

[Date(s)]

[Give details]

[Yes — [Stock Exchange]/No]

[Not applicable]/[Euroclear]/
[Clearstream, Luxembourg]/
CDP/CMU/[Other clearing system]

[Common depositary for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg]/
CDP/CMU/[Other]

[Number]
[Number]
[Number]
[[Yes — [C Rules]/[D Rules]]/No]

[None/Date]
[Yes/No]
[Yes/No]

[Yes/No]

[Specify if different from use
disclosed in Information
Memorandum.]

[Yes/No]

[Name]

[Name]

[Specify]

[Specify]

[Legal Name(s) of Dealers]
[Names]

[Name]

[Date]

[Specify]

[Specify]
[Set out]
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Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
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SITH11% 11 Pedder Street
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ERTITRESTE Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CENTURY SUNSHINE
GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 226, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the "Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

BREEAER

Key audit matters

W E S R E

Impairment of trade receivables

F2RHEAMBIMKRM T4 XM 27

BREEHATEERRRITSTENS
How our audit addressed
the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements
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As of 31 December 2016, the Group had trade
receivables with gross amount of approximately
HK$448,255,000 and provision for impairment of
approximately HK$547,000. The determination as
to whether a trade receivable is collectable involved
high level of management’s judgement. Specific
factors management considered include the age
of the balances, location of customers, existence
of disputes, recent historical payment patterns
and any other available information concerning the
creditworthiness of counterparties. Management used
these information to determine whether a provision
for impairment is required either for a specific
transaction or for a customer’s balance overall.

BMAHEREYE ZREANRENGETEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on trade receivables
included:

o FMEEEEMRENG  SEAmETAEER
[& F3 AT (4 B 5 8 W AR 50 AT U (Bl 1% &) B A 38R
(WEERBRENE S EREFEST - EPARE
TR

Evaluating management’s impairment
assessment included testing, on a sample
basis, the underlying data used by
management to assess the collectability of
trade receivables, such as an aged trade
receivable analysis, payments from customers;
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EMESTTEEHEREATENT

HARETSE How our audit addressed
Key audit matters the key audit matters
EWE SR E (&)

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

o HUMBREMEENRRORNBRERET
AR UBREREFEEMNEEREDNR - &6
BRFEAER ZRARRNRNELR eE MR
ERESENFER

Testing the key aged balances where no
provision was recognised to check if there
were any objective evidences of impairment.
This included sample checking of payments
received subsequent to the year end date and
reviewing historical payment patterns;

o BEEMABEBBNEREZEWFAEAL I
BEREREEHESKOER - BT EZEFHE
HMBEZSEROER  TRPOELNTER
BAEFFHRENT R

Selecting a sample of the significant trade
receivable balances where a provision for
impairment was recognised and understood
the rationale behind management’s judgement.
In order to evaluate these judgements, we
checked the age of these balances, the
customers’ historical payment patterns and
any post year-end payments; and

o RIMLEREERERRET  BMATEEIEE
EREREEEANRERBEFEEAE —
B o
Assessing the overall provision for impairment,
we also considered the consistency of

management’s application of policy for
recognising provisions with the prior years.

HARR EEENARETRSEN -

We consider the management conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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BEEAER

Key audit matters

WE - BERRBRE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

F2HEAMBIMKRM T4 RME 7

BREEHATEERRRITSENS
How our audit addressed
the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

MR2016F12A831H EXEEME BE KR
% #72,098,569,000 " T EEFEEZEZITREY
1,074,664,000 % 7T - 1 & + # R 1 F 49 423,608,000
BT R ME M2 4582,532,00008 7 0 HEEN
HrEEEELEEmE  BELRRERENEZ B
bt REFEEFEN c RMERRLEE - REZY
¥ BERREBIESER MAHBERERLSE
TH BESERBEIRIGENLREERBE - flaL
WE - RRBAE - BEECEFZIMNEGHEMETH
E+REF BEREROAIKESE 2 BEIE-

As of 31 December 2016, the Group had
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$2,093,569,000, which mainly comprised
construction in progress of approximately
HK$1,074,664,000, leasehold land and building
of approximately HK$423,608,000 and plant and
machinery of approximately HK$582,532,000. A
recent history of losses of the subsidiaries of the
Group is an indicator of impairment for property, plant
and equipment and hence an impairment assessment
is required. We focused on this area because the
balance of property, plant and equipment was
significant and these assessment process is complex
and highly subjective which based on the selection
of appropriate comparables and assumptions such
as discount rate, future revenue. The Group engaged
an external valuer to perform the valuation for the
recoverable amount of the leasehold land and
building and plant and machinery.

BMBEEEERBERENGRFRE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment included:

o FMEBUMEENER  BEHREBIE

Evaluating the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
o REBMEMBETENERIERMGEMS T
HATERAN T ERBRBROBERE

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

o RERMHEBRITEORE
TR R

EABRRRERE

Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

o MRS AREEGFIEAMAEANGAZRED
MHRIZE -

Checking, on a sampling basis, the accounting
and relevance of the input data used.

HMBERBREINRABEFF

We found that the assumptions were supported by
the available evidence.
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BREEHATEERRRITSENS
How our audit addressed
the key audit matters

Refer to notes 4 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements

MN2016F12A31H BEEBEAEGFEIRER) D
227,387,000 87 ' BREERE/IEERLREBEER -
MR HERRETEBER - BFER MASE -
MEMER —BBHRRE FEEEIIREF & R #
EEMHZBY  WERERMRS THRETEEREZ
FIETKT - HIETRFEELN - WA ANTEERER,H
KM EEKRE R AERRA L E 2 EE TR
BZREKTE BHEHAEEEEREHRREE 2L
RgEBIFERE -

As of 31 December 2016, the Group had inventories
net of provision of approximately HK$227,387,000.
which comprised of fertiliser products, magnesium
products, metallurgical flux products and electronics
products. The electronic products are usually with
short life cycles, while other products are usually
with longer life span. The consumption of inventories
are subject to changing consumers’ demands
and market trends which increased the level of
judgement involved in estimating inventory provisions.
Judgement was required to assess the appropriate
level of provisioning for items which may be ultimately
obsoleted or sold below cost as a result of a
reduction in customers’ demand. Such judgements
included management’s expectations for future sales
and inventory liquidation plans.

F-6

HMEHEEEREFEREENET R

Our procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the carrying value of inventories
included:

o FTEARNEERE  BFBRIAR BENIE
FomEkERR - GRESEREMNFEEBE
FREEMRBLETHE  RAMERL —5 L@
BLERTEMERHEEL AN GERERA
MR BUOR

Assessing the process, methods and
assumptions used to determine the provision
for slow-moving, excess or obsolete items.
This included comparing management’s
calculations for consistency against those used
in the prior years and assessing the provision
policy adopted by management by reference
to past usage or sales history;

o MBS ABEEFREATREBERMNEEE
RERER  AAEREMERERYENTSE
RE - UFTEEFBEERE

Testing the reliability of the underlying
data used by management to calculate the
inventory obsolescence provisions by sample
checking of an inventory ageing analysis and
the subsequent sales orders and usage;
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FEREE ()

Carrying value of inventories (continued)

BRAEENPRERRETBENS Z
How our audit addressed
the key audit matters

BRFEFERETREZSFEEN A HER
B MR EERNEREE R

Testing the accuracy of the resultant
calculation by assessing the calculation
criteria and recalculating the provision for the
inventories based on those criteria; and

REREABE  ANXBBNHAME « R
FRRERNEMANEETAERRN TR
BEEE -

For those items which were identified as slow-
moving, excess or obsolete, we assessing
management’s calculation of net realisable
value by checking to the latest or subsequent
selling prices.

BMBERFEERESIREREXS -

We found the carrying values of the inventories was
supported by the available evidence.
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Carrying amounts of exchangeable bonds and derivative financial liabilities

FE2 R BT IMRMT T34 RTFESS

Refer to notes 34 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements

MR2016F12A31H EEEBEBH & B EHF L
208,504,000 7T R ATE € B & 549 32,600,000 8 7T
HERNBIHNITRBRESFNEBEREEZEER . B£ME
BEBBIMIINEIEE  UEZHEEBNMEE - EK
BHEEEEEEAHEOE THREER  2RERAKRA
R HEE -

As of 31 December 2016, the Group has
exchangeable bonds of approximately
HK$208,504,000 and derivative financial liabilities
of approximately HK$32,600,000 relating to the
conversion option of the exchangeable bonds issued
during the year. Independent external valuations
were obtained in order to support management’s
estimates. The valuations are dependent on certain
key assumptions that require significant management
judgement, including risk-free rates and dilution
effect.

F-8

HMAHERELERESBRERRGAENRERF
B

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of conversion option of the exchangeable
bonds included:

o FHEBIUFMEMAER BRI REEML

Evaluation of the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o RERMEAERESOBEERMGENE
FHEFTEAM AN BRBRRNEEREE - &

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the exchangeable bonds
and using our valuation experts; and

o DARET B A A A BUR &Y R AR RS
R o

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used.

HMERBRBRSIEABEIST -

We found the key assumptions were supported by
the available evidence.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the Other Information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other
Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the
Audit Committee for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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5o Bfimgm e ERN 2B RE A LA
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MR BEETERELE -

o HESAUBHMRMWEEINRSN &8
MAR  BREEE  UARGEAPBHRERZ
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e B HEEEAEBREFIHNUBEELS
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BBHEERER - RMEE HEERE
TR BERAT RAPAREAER

EERIBEE -

BREMERN  RPEEZZESBB TN
FEHBE - BREZH  BEXEZERES  8ER
IR AT BB H P BB 4% I O frT B2 KR B o

BMREABRZZESRIERH  FHBRRMAETE
FEBUMMNBRERBEREY  YHRLMEBR
BRI AEM KRR RS ERMBI AR
FEMEMER  AREERNERT - AN
B o

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Wong Sze Wai, Basilia.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Sze Wai, Basilia
Practising Certificate Number: PO5806

Hong Kong, 29 March 2017
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HZE2016F 12 A1 BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

B & FET FAET

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(=E75))

(Restated)

WA Revenue 7 2,589,221 2,515,602

HE KA Cost of sales (1,829,360) (1,729,567)

EH Gross profit 759,861 786,035

A BB R E Gain on bargain purchase - 28,746

H sk @855 Other gains or losses, net 9 57,399 35,381

HERMISHEREER Selling and marketing costs (93,911) (113,406)

THAX Administrative expenses (159,379) (139,742)
FHIEEBERAMNBERR Net realised and unrealised gain on

KRB EIFRE investments held for trading 8,791 6,875

EEEaERRMNREE Share of profits and losses of
joint ventures 1,695 1,760
Impairment of investment in a

R—RAEE AR ZIRERE

joint venture - (180)
FEfh — B A FE R Share of loss of an associate (1) 4)
Bi5 & A Finance costs 10 (117,564) (87,390)
B PRS2 A Profit before income tax 456,891 518,075
ISR Income tax expense 11 (143,839) (155,006)
FREF Profit for the year 12 313,052 363,069
Hih2mEBExX - MR Other comprehensive
FriE® - expenses, net of
income tax:
Higngamois Items that may be reclassified
BmcIEE - subsequently to profit or loss:
FRABMHAHEERE Net loss arising on revaluation
EEZBEFE of available-for-sale
investments during the year (3,138) (22,012)
FALEIHEEREZ Reclassification adjustments
EHOEAR relating to disposal of
available-for-sale investments
during the year (2,419) -
REGINEBFREEZ Exchange differences arising
fEHERE from translation of foreign
operations (279,303) (141,958)
FREMZEMAX - AR Other comprehensive
FriEs expenses for the year,
net of income tax (284,860) (163,970)
FRAEZHEWRALE Total comprehensive
income for the year 28,192 199,099
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BE2016F 12 431 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
M E FERT FHEIT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(&=5)
(Restated)
THALTEGFREF : Profit for the year
attributable to:
RATHERA Owners of the Company 302,334 314,479
eI RS Non-controlling interests 10,718 48,590
313,052 363,069
TIHALTEGFRZE Total comprehensive
WA (BI3) 4858 - income/(expenses)
for the year
attributable to:
FN/NETE ¥ =N Owners of the Company 44,908 173,586
IR = Non-controlling interests (16,716) 25,513
28,192 199,099
(E5))
(Restated)
BRER : Earnings per share:
—EARGEN) - basic (HK cents) 15(a) 6.571{licents 7.45 fllicents
. 16 ID) - diluted (HK cents) 15(b) 6.57flicents 7.33 {licents

BEFPH AT B A fR A BT B R — &P -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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M2016F 12 431 H
As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015
s FET T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(&=5)
(Restated)
IRBEE Non-current assets

4 fF A A Land use rights 16 206,746 172,739
M - BRERRE Property, plant and equipment 17 2,093,569 1,863,009
wEYZE Investment properties 18 114,001 125,436
ma Goodwill 19 197,368 197,144
EmAE Intangible assets 20 717 1,674
PR Mining rights 21 466,741 512,075
S B HEFKIE Payment for acquisition of patents 50,049 53,703

BEWE  BER Deposits for acquisition of

BRENES property, plant and equipment 372 10,688
REBERRZRE Investments in joint ventures 23 5,362 4,290
R—HEBE AR ZRE Investment in an associate 24 17 18
A ERE Available—for-sale investments 25 6,840 116,418
BARHIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 31,587 -

3,173,369 3,057,194
REBEE Current assets
AHEERE Available—for-sale investments 25 70,632 10,842
s Inventories 26 227,387 248,241
4 A A Land use rights 16 4,723 4,420
B 5 REMEWRFRIE Trade and other receivables,

ENRERES prepayments and deposits 27 856,906 607,036
AREFREH Income tax recoverable 1,706 1,826
RIEEERE Investments held for trading 28 10,415 38,726
ETMEE Derivative financial assets 29 - 7
Y —MEEERRIRIE Amount due from a joint venture 23 133 885
RITRIR S R Bank and cash balances 30 901,198 1,452,515

2,073,100 2,364,498
W OREBAE Less: Current liabilities

B 5 RE MR RIE Trade and other payables 31 294,447 335,408
FERT TSR Income tax payable 31,075 31,670
BE Borrowings 32 320,665 152,810
TEEmAatE Derivative financial liabilities 34 32,600 -
AR EH Convertible bonds 33 - 198,335
678,787 718,223
RBEERE Net current assets 1,394,313 1,646,275

EERERABERSE Total assets less current
liabilities 4,567,682 4,703,469

—
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2016124318
As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Mo FHExT FHT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(&=5)
(Restated)
W ERBERSE Less: Non-current liabilities
EEWA Deferred revenue 36 66,176 69,552
H fth E T 50 IE Other payable 31 121,000 110,000
AERES Exchangeable bonds 35 208,504 -
BE Borrowings 32 1,011,457 1,043,062
RIEFIAAE Deferred tax liabilities 37 106,079 116,333
1,513,216 1,338,947
EEFHE Net assets 3,054,466 3,364,522
AEAREEABERE Capital and reserves
Rf#E attributable to owners
of the Company
[N Share capital 38 101,756 101,986
= Reserves 2,610,945 2,856,310
2,712,701 2,958,296
JEERE R Non-controlling interests 341,765 406,226
A Total equity 3,054,466 3,364,522

EEER2017FE3 A20 B & RF#FIZEEH KN  The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 226
Fo2EB ZHEAMBEHE - A ~5EE  were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

REREE : directors on 29 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf
by:
MY E Mt
Chi Wen Fu Shum Sai Chit
BEE BE
Director Director
BEBTFT S B AL A B RS R R ) — 2R1p o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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HE2016FE 12 A1 BILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016

ADAREARE
Attributable to Owners of the Company
ExfiE  RER  BRE  MRAE  TERRS FER
BA (i) (Bik i) R BHEff  AHER  REEA gt 5]
Convertible
redemption Capital Statutory Share bonds Non-
Share Share  reserve Revaluation  reserve  reserve option Translation equity Other  Retained controlling
capital premium (note (i)  reserve (note (ii}) (note (iiil)  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve earnings Sub-total interests
T TR Tin TR & £ T TR Tin TR & TR Tin
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000
(@g5)  (mE5)  (8E)  (HEF)
(Restated) ~ (Restated)  [Restated)  (Restated)
R015E1 1R Asat 1 January 2015 67910 867,189 3499 2,1 13,666 106,999 5,652 98,021 16,779 (49,027 1087314 2210773 155,868 2,366,641
Efmgh Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - - - 314479 314,479 48,590 363,069
FREMZERR Other comprehensive expenses for
(MR AR« the year, net of income tax:
Net loss arising on revaluation of
available-for-sale investments
dutng th year - - -y - - - - - - Sy uss 2201
BEENERHESL  Exchange differences arising from
EfzE translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (128769 - - - (123769)  (18189) (141,95
ER2ARR)/ Total comprehensive (expenses)/
BAEE income for the year - - - (17,124) = - - (123,769) = - 314479 173,586 2513 199,099
REAREERN Issue of ordinary shares under
L8k open offer 29,062 545,015 - - = - = - - - - 574,017 - 574,017
RELRETET Issue of ordinary shares under
L2 bonus issue 059 (409 - - - - - - - - - 50) - 50)
WeEHEAT Acquisition of subsidlries - - - - - - - - - - - - 96,53 96,536
BiFERS Finel dvidend peld - - - - - - - - - - -
BETARES Redemption of convertiole bonds - - - - - - - - 4,336) - 4336 - - -
BRiERE Share option lapsed - - - - - - (2,128) - - - 2128 - - -
H2RER Transfer to reserve - - - - - 4R - - - - 4814 - - -
RRRERRTZ Issue of ordinary shares upon
22k exercise of share options 1,115 2411 - - - - (1,199) - - - - 23387 - 23,387
HEEERRAZZ Equity settled share-based
2 ransactions - - - - - - 2528 - - - - 2528 - 2528
—AHELRES Open offer of a subsidiary
LEEE - - - - - - - - - (931) - (931) 136889 136958
HBLEEE#ES Changes in ownership interest
89 in subsidieries - - - - - - - - - 5797 - 5797 8,580) (2.783)
Share cancellation (460) (8614) 460 - - - - - - - (460) (9,074) - (9,074)
2155128318 Asat 31 December 2015 and
01651418 1 January 2016 101,986 1420855 3,959 5,647 13666 153,141 4853 (25,748) 12,443 (44161) 1311655 2958296 406226 3364522
Efh| Proft for the year s - s - s = s = s - 302,33 30233 10,718 313,082
ERERRERR Other comprehensive expenses
(MBEER) for the year, net of income tax;
Net loss arising on revaluation of
EL/BRTE avalable-for-sel nvestments
during the year - - - (1,821) - - - - - - - (1,821)  (1,317)  (3,138)
EREETULERE  Rechssifcation adjustments relating
LERAEAE to disposal of available-for-sale
invstments during the year - - - (2,419) - - - - - - - (2,419) - (2,419)
BERERAESZ  Exchange differences arlsing from
EiEE translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (253,186) - - - (253,186)  (26,117) (279,303)
ERRE(RR)/ Total comprehensive (expenses)/
hAgE income for the year - - - (4240) - - - (253,186) - - 302,334 44,908  (16,716) 28,192
EHFS Final dividend paid - (59,774) - - - - - - - - - [59,774) - [59,774)
BETARES Redemption of convertiole bonds - - - - - - - - (12,443) - 12,443 - - -
BRIMBRE Share option lapsed - - - - - - 114 - - - M4 - - -
2254k Transfer to reserve - - - - - 35,645 - - B - (35,645) - B -
REEERRAZZ Equity settled share-based
5 ransactions - - - - - - 1,075 - - - - 1,075 - 1,075
KR ARAERS Changes in ownersfip inerest
i £ | in subsidieries - - - - - - - - - (021,593 - (027,593)  (47,745) (275,338)
HERG Share cancellaion (230)  (3,981) 230 - - - - - - - (230)  (4,211) - (4211)
ROIGE1ASIE  Asal 3t December 2016 101,756 1,357,100 4,189 1,407 13,666 188,786 4,214 (218,934 - (21,754 1,592,271 2,712,701 341,765 3,054,466
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notes:

(i) Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the Shares of the Company which was transferred from
the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

(ii) Capital reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been
acquired and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in
exchange therefore.

(i) Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements
and that for the purpose of certain safety production
activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and the relevant PRC
rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set
aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in
the PRC statutory financial statements as statutory reserve,
except where the reserve fund balance has reached 50%
of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can
only be used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous years’
losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or
to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/
or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not
available for distribution to shareholders.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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2016 2015
Bt e THET FHT
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
(lz&E3))
(Restated)
BEEE Operating activities

W BT 15 B4 AT A Profit before income tax 456,891 518,075
FTFIEB EL AR Adjustments for:

W LB Depreciation and amortisation 129,378 96,397

S ER Finance costs 117,564 87,390

HEWE - BERRED Net gain on disposal of property,

st plant and equipment (257) (290)

HIEEERENEERR Realised and unrealised gain

- & on investments held for trading (8,790) (6,875)

SN ON Dividend income (769) (200)

FBWA Interest income (23,970) (12,094)

BEEERD TR ZZH Equity settled share-based payments 1,075 2,528

SRITETAERAAEEZS Fair value change on financial derivatives 487 236

FEMRH = AR ER Share of loss of an associate 1 4

Bl JE U B 5 OB E KR Reversal of impairment and written off of

trade receivables (279) (229)

TERE Provision of inventories 7,058 2,374

EWE SHERE Impairment of trade receivables 784 206

AL ERERE Impairment of an available-for-sale investment 460 -

EVEEME Impairment of intangible assets 359 599

HE— R B A B RS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - (179)

HEAHREERE KR Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment (2,848) -

REJE SRR R Write back of long-aged accounts (3,059) -

18 (o] HL i & R IE R Reversal of written off of other receivables (5,495) -

Bl 0e Gain on bargain purchase 44(c) - (28,746)

BihEeERERA Share of profits of joint ventures (1,695) (1,760)

R—HEAERRIKERE Impairment of an investment in a joint venture - 180
BEEGEBAMEE Operating cash flows before movements

Bemne in working capital 666,895 657,616
HERFEEEREN Proceeds from disposal of investments

FT8 38 held for trading 39,750 45,075
El—FEEENRIFA Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a joint

WL/ (Em) venture 1,375 (855)
BEREEERE Purchase of investments held for trading (3,429) (67,585)
BERD,/ (M) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 2,620 (31,948)
Z 5 Kk E A EWKIE - Increase in trade and other receivables,

FE R RIS 12 prepayments and deposits (65,304) (205,616)
B REMBEMZKELM, D) Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 26,296 (95,786)
KEEBMELANES Cash generated from operations 668,203 300,901
FTSRR R Income tax refund 1,102 -
BRAEH Income tax paid (146,664) (158,677)
RETHAELEN Net cash generated from operating

REeFH activities 522,641 142,224
BRETE Investing activities

RATTFFORL /(B N) Decrease/(increase) in deposits with banks 56,867 (176,910)

BERIRITEFIEM Increase in pledged bank deposits (33,197) -

EEME  BERSRE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (479,013) (217,301)

EEME  BERSRE Decrease/(increase) in deposits for acquisition

g e,/ (35m) of property, plant and equipment 10,316 (10,688)

EHHE—RHKBAR Net cash inflow in respect of the disposal

MBERAFE of a subsidiary = 4

BUF & Interest received 26,464 7,733

B2 Dividend received 769 200

HEME - BEKEEN Proceeds from disposal of property,

FiS%IE plant and equipment 1,278 376

BERABKAR Additions to development costs - (361)
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2016
B s FHT FHT
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
(lg&E5))
(Restated)
WENBARZBe R FE Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 44 (63,212) (200,786)
BELMERERS Purchases of addition land use right (53,059) -
HEAHREEREMGHIE Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 68,864 -
ZEE A HHERERE Payments to acquire available-for-sale investments (22,245) (111,582)
A — R L1 B A A A B IR Advance of loans to a company
RAIZ RAIBNER subsequently acquired as subsidiary (233,780) (45,116)
BREZEHFANRESFE Net cash used in investing activities (719,948) (754,431)
MEED Financing activities
i KR FT 1S 08 Proceeds from new borrowings 379,016 182,287
HEEE Repayment of borrowings (201,318) (318,321)
BATRERERMGHEFE Net proceeds from issue of exchangeable bonds 229,504 -
ERFLE Interest paid (93,993) (57,886)
B RERE Final dividend paid (59,774) (21,797)
IR AT Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise
ZEmR of share options - 23,387
NG £o3 0oy Net cash outflow in respect of changes in
B RAETLFE ownership interest of subsidiaries (275,338) (64,840)
IR AL N Increase in deferred revenue 1,426 2,486
KAMBARZ —AIFHER Proceeds from loan from a non-controlling
BENEDTREIE shareholder of a subsidiary 11,000 82,000
EN—FNBAR—% Increase/(decrease) in an amount due to
FEVERR R R IEE I (R a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 216 (2,002)
BT EMABEEEN Proceeds from issue of listed
F1S 78 subordinated note - 699,314
XA FER AR E S TR Payment for redemption of convertible bonds (207,748) (123,625)
REARBEERITEER Proceeds from issue of ordinary
TS RIB shares under open offer - 574,077
BEARZEERT—HNE Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares of
DRI E AR A PTG T8 a subsidiary under open offer - 135,958
IREAT AR EE /TR AT EBARAIACA  Issue cost of ordinary shares under bonus issue - (50)
BRI KD X H5008 Payment for share repurchases (4,211) (9,074)
BMETE(FR),/FEEMN Net cash (used in)/generated
ReFE from financing activities (221,220) 1,101,914
ReRERRLER Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
CRD)/ #iFEE equivalents (418,527) 489,707
ENNRERERREEE Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 1,189,255 742,431
SEERBBHNEY Effect of foreign exchange rate chang (61,418) (42,883)
FRNBELREREEER Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 709,310 1,189,255
ReRERARLBEA DN Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
BREMBIRREINZ Bank and cash balances as stated
RITRA DR in the consolidated statement of
financial position 901,198 1,452,515
EHAEERERZ Pledged deposits with banks pledged
BEBBITTER as security for borrowings (25,116) (24,580)
BlERRBABE=MA Non-pledged deposits with bank with
ZEHRIRITER original maturity of more than
three months when acquired (166,772) (238,680)
BEBeREXRMIZ Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
RBeRkERREHER the consolidated statement of cash flows 709,310 1,189,255

BEMIHT B AR R B S IR A — &R 1D o

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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1.

—REHR

WRBEEEREAERAR(ARAD R
Hf@E AR (ABIAEE D ETERERE
ERED  SBEEMET - RIIEH X
BMEFEMES -

AKRA)TIFR2003F 1 A21 BIREREHS
RAEE22E (1961 F/AE3 KA R
B EHSEREAMRINERRERA
A e RRBMD R 2004 F2 A17 BRE
BHAXZMBERAR([HBRAT])AIER
(TRIZM]) M R 200847 A31H
B E N A E M Ll - 8200848
A1BRB  RNAFMHRME R ER
EH-EBERE  ARBZHKRERAF
ATEBRBRERAR AR ARKEBEE
TR EFEMK S 2 RF]

SaMBmRAABT(BIT)) BEA
EARBNDEEERR - BRIESHH
B [RIMASEH I FR(FET)
B

General Information

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in fertiliser
business, magnesium product business, metallurgical
flux business and electronic product business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. On 17 February 2004,
the Company’s shares were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and were
withdrawn from the GEM Board on 31 July 2008.
Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s shares have
been listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Alpha Sino International
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except
when otherwise indicated.
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretations (“new and revised
HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which are effective
for the Group’s financial year beginning on or after 1

January 2016.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28 (Amendments)

HKFRS 11 (Amendments)
HKFRS 14
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
(Amendments)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Accounting for Acquisition of
Interests in Joint Operations
Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

(Amendments)
HKAS 27 (Amendments) Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle include a number of amendments to various
HKFRSs, which are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 introduce specific
guidance in HKFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies
an asset (or disposal group) from held for sale to held
for distribution to owners (or vice versa), or when
held—for-distribution accounting is discontinued. The
amendments shall be applied prospectively.
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The amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosure — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities provide
additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing
contract is continuing involvement in a transferred
asset for the purpose of the disclosures required
in relation to transferred assets and clarify that the
offsetting disclosures (introduced in the amendments
to HKFRS 7 issued in December 2011 and effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) are
not explicitly required for all interim periods. However,
the disclosures may need to be included in condensed
interim financial statements to comply with HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the high
quality corporate bonds used to estimate the discount
rate for postemployment benefits should be issued in
the same currency as the benefits to be paid. These
amendments would result in the depth of the market
for high quality corporate bonds being assessed
at currency level. The amendments apply from the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented
in the financial statements in which the amendments
are first applied. Any initial adjustment arising should
be recognised in opening retained earnings of the
earliest comparative period presented.

The amendments to HKAS 34 clarify the requirements
relating to information required by HKAS 34 that is
presented elsewhere in the interim financial report.
The amendments require that such information be
incorporated by way of a cross reference from the
interim financial statements to the other part of the
interim financial report that is available to users on
the same terms and at the same time as the interim
financial statements.

The application of the said amendments to HKFRSs
has had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures clarify that the exemption from
preparing consolidated financial statements is available
to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment
entity, even if the investment entity measures all
its subsidiaries at fair value in accordance with
HKFRS 10. The amendments also clarify that the
requirement for an investment entity to consolidate a
subsidiary, whose main purpose is to provide services
and activities that are related to the investment
activities of the investment entity parent, applies
only to subsidiaries that are not investment entities
themselves.

The application of these amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 has had no material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as
the Group is not an investment entity and does not
have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture that
qualifies as an investment entity.

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for

Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations
The amendments to HKFRS 11 provide guidance on
how to account for the acquisition of a joint operation
that constitutes a business as defined in HKFRS 3
Business Combinations. Specifically, the amendments
state that the relevant principles on accounting
for business combinations in HKFRS 3 and other
standards (e.g. HKAS 36 regarding impairment testing
of a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill
on acquisition of a joint operation has been allocated)
should be applied. The same requirements should
be applied to the formation of a joint operation if and
only if an existing business is contributed to the joint
operation on its formation by one of the parties that
participate in the joint operation.
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A joint operator is also required to disclose the
relevant information required by HKFRS 3 and other
standards for business combinations.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 apply prospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016. The application of these amendments to
HKFRS 11 has had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to HKAS 1 are designed to further
encourage companies to apply professional judgment
in determining what information to disclose in their
financial statements. For example, the amendments
make clear that materiality applies to the whole
of financial statements and that the inclusion of
immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of
financial disclosures. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that companies should use professional
judgment in determining where and in what order
information is presented in the financial disclosures.

The application of these amendments to HKAS 1 has
had no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit entities from
using a revenue-based depreciation method for items
of property, plant and equipment. The amendments
to HKAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that
revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortisation
of an intangible asset. This presumption can only be
rebutted in the following two limited circumstances:

. when the intangible asset is expressed as a
measure of revenue; or

. when it can be demonstrated that revenue and
consumption of the economic benefits of the
intangible asset are highly correlated.
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The amendments apply prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
Currently, the Group uses the straight-line method
for depreciation for its plant and equipment. The
directors of the Company believe that the straight-
line method is the most appropriate method to reflect
the consumption of economic benefits inherent in the
respective assets and accordingly, the application of
these amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 has
had no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in

Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to account for
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in its separate financial statements:

b at cost;

. in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (or HKAS 39 for entities that have
not yet adopted HKFRS 9); or

. using the equity method as described in HKAS
28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

The accounting option must be applied by category of
investments.

The amendments also clarify that when a parent
ceases to be an investment entity, or becomes an
investment entity, it shall account for the change from
the date when the change in status occurred.

In addition to the amendments to HKAS 27, there
are consequential amendments to HKAS 28 to avoid
a potential conflict with HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of these amendments to HKAS 27 will
have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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The application of the other new and revised HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and position for the
current and prior years and on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle®
Clarification and Measurement of

EEUBHREEL  BEUERSEN2014F
(1B3IK) Z2016 FRE TRk
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1 201741 A1 Bz FMia80 4 = R
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FIERTE) sk & FRHFE R AR -

Share-based Payment
Transaction?
HKFRS 4 (Amendments) Insurance Contracts?

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets

(Amendments) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers?
Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers?

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16 Leases®

HKAS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative'

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

for Unrealised Losses'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018 (as appropriate).
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in
2010 to include requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and in 2013 to include the new
requirements for general hedge accounting. Another
revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014
mainly to include a) impairment requirements for
financial assets and b) limited amendments to the
classification and measurement requirements by
introducing a fair value through other comprehensive
income measurement category for certain simple debt
instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are relevant to the
Group are described as follows:

e All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent reporting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are
measured at their fair values at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the
fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with
only dividend income generally recognised in
profit or loss.
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With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities
attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’
credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount
of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or
loss was presented in profit or loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model,
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model
under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model
requires an entity to account for expected credit
losses and changes in those expected credit
losses at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types of hedge accounting.
However, greater flexibility has been introduced
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge
accounting, specifically broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-
financial that are eligible for hedge accounting.
In addition, the effectiveness test has been
overhauled and replaced with the principle
of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also
no longer required. Enhanced disclosure
requirements about an entity’s risk management
activities have also been introduced.
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The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 9 in the future may impact
the amounts reported and disclosures made in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the effect until a detailed review has been completed.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to HKFRS 10:

F-30

An exception from the general requirement of full
gain or loss recognition has been introduced into
HKFRS 10 for the loss control of a subsidiary
that does not contain a business in a transaction
with an associate or a joint venture that is
accounted for using the equity method.

New guidance has been introduced requiring that
gains or losses resulting from those transactions
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains
and losses resulting from the remeasurement at
fair value of investments retained in any former
subsidiary that has become an associate or a
joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method are recognised in the former
parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.
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Amendments to HKAS 28:

. The requirements on gains and losses resulting
from transactions between an entity and its
associate or joint venture have been amended
to relate only to assets that do not constitute a
business.

. A new requirement has been introduced that
gains or losses from downstream transactions
involving assets that constitute a business
between an entity and its associate or joint
venture must be recognised in full in the
investor’s financial statements.

* A requirement has been added that an entity
needs to consider whether assets that are sold
or contributed in separate transactions constitute
a business and should be accounted for as a
single transaction.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of these amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 will have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes
a single comprehensive model for entities to use in
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:
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. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price

. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have
a material impact on the amounts reported and
disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until
the Group performs a detailed review.

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential
impact of the other new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application but is not yet in a position to state
whether the other new and revised HKFRSs, will
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position.
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Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(*CO”).

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap 622) regarding preparation of
accounts and directors’ reports and audits became
effective for the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2016. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding
annual accounts have been amended with reference
to the new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs.
Accordingly the presentation and disclosure of
information in the consolidated financial statements for
the financial year ended 31 December 2016 have been
changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial
year ended 31 December 2015 is presented or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
based on the new requirements. Information previously
required to be disclosed under the predecessor CO or
Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended
Listing Rules is not disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

U Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

U Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

* is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

. the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

. voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

. rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

. any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meeting.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to being their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivables. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.

Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.
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A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decision
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.
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When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5.

Changes in the Group’s Ownership

Interests in Existing Subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Company had directly disposed of the
related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.
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